
 111 E. COMMERCIAL STREET 
 WILLITS, CALIFORNIA 95490 

(707) 459-4601 TEL 
(707) 459-1562 FAX 

  

  Page 1 of 2 

WILLITS CITY COUNCIL 
AGENDA 

OCTOBER 26, 2016  ♦  6:30 P.M.  ♦  COUNCIL CHAMBERS 
 
 
1. OPENING MATTERS – a) Call to Order; b) Pledge to Flag; c) Roll Call 

 
2. PUBLIC COMMUNICATIONS 

Council welcomes participation in its meetings. Comments shall be limited to three (3) minutes per person so that everyone 
may be given an opportunity to be heard. To expedite matters and avoid repetition, whenever any group of persons wishes 
to address the Council on the same subject matter, the Mayor may request that a spokesperson be chosen by the group. 
This item is limited to matters under the jurisdiction of the City Council which are not on the posted agenda. Public criticism 
of the City Council, Commission, Boards and Agencies will not be prohibited. No action shall be taken. 
 

3. PUBLIC MATTERS 
a. Presentation, Discussion and Possible Direction Regarding the Willits Main Street Corridor 

Enhancement Plan 
b. Presentation, Discussion and Possible Direction Regarding the Downtown Willits Streets & 

Alley Connectivity Study 
 
4. CONSENT CALENDAR 

Matters listed under the Consent Calendar are considered to be routine by the City Council and will be enacted by a 
single motion and roll call vote by the City Council. Items may be removed from the Consent Calendar upon request of a 
Councilmember and acted upon separately by the City Council. 
 

The following items are recommended for approval, as follows: 
a. City Council Minutes: 
 September 14, 2016 
 October 12, 2016 

b. Disbursements Journal(s): 
 Warrant Nos. 28757-28761, Totaling $17,570.70 
 Warrant Nos. 29330-29399, Totaling $406,082.95 

c. Approve Professional Services Contract with Bartle Wells Associates to Conduct Rate and 
Capacity Fee Studies for Water and Wastewater, in an Amount Not to Exceed $45,300 

 
5. INFORMATIONAL REPORTS 

Matters that do no require action by the City Council but are of public interest. 
 

a. Water Consumption/Revenue Chart – September 2016 
 
6. RIGHT TO APPEAL 

Persons who are dissatisfied with the decisions of the City Council may have the right to a review of that decision by a 
court. The City has adopted Section 1094.6 of the Code of Civil Procedure, which generally limits to 90 days the time within 
which the decisions of the City boards and agencies may be judicially challenged. 
 

7. COMMISSIONS, AGENCIES AND AUTHORITIES 
The Willits City Council meets concurrently as the City of Willits Planning Commission and City of Willits Successor Agency.  

 
8. CITY MANAGER REPORTS AND RECOMMENDATIONS 

a. Discussion and Possible Action to Adopt Resolution Authorizing the Execution of a Shared 
Services Agreement Between the City of Willits and Brooktrails Township Community 
Services District for the Procurement, Use, Maintenance, and Storage of a ROVVER X 
Camera System for the Purposes of Detecting Wastewater Inflow and Infiltration (I&I) 



Willits City Council Agenda – October 26, 2016  Page 2 of 2 

b. Verbal Reports – No Action 
 

9. DEPARTMENT RECOMMENDATIONS 
a. Administration (City Clerk, Finance, Human Resources, Legal) 
b. Public Safety 
c. Community Development (including Planning, Building, Code Enforcement) 
d. Public Works & Engineering (including Engineering, Water and Wastewater Systems) 

 
10. CITY COUNCIL AND COMMITTEE REPORTS 

a. Mendocino Council of Governments (MCOG) 
b. Local Agency Formation Commission (LAFCO) 
c. Mendocino Transit Authority (MTA) 
d. Mendocino Solid Waste Management Authority-Joint Powers Authority (MSWMA-JPA) 
e. League of California Cities 
f. Water & Wastewater Systems Committee 
g. Revit-ED Committee 
h. Finance Committee 
i. Ad Hoc Committees 
j. Other Committee Reports 
 Economic Development and Financing Corporation (EDFC) 
 North Coast Railroad Authority (NCRA) 
 Commercial Cannabis Industry Policy Development Working Group 

 
11. COUNCIL MEMBER REPORTS AND RECOMMENDATIONS 

 
12. ENACTMENT OF ORDINANCES 

 
13. GOOD & WELFARE 

 
14. CLOSED SESSION NOTICE 

a. Conference with Legal Counsel Pursuant to Government Code §54956.9b – Anticipated 
Litigation 

b. Conference with Real Negotiators Pursuant to Government Code §54956.8 – Parcel Nos. 
11666 and 12329. Negotiating Parties: Adrienne Moore, City Manager; Under Negotiation: 
Compensation to Be Paid to City for Caltrans’ Proposed Acquisition of Above Identified 
Properties by Eminent Domain  
 

15. ADJOURNMENT 
 
I hereby certify under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of California that the foregoing agenda was 
posted on the bulletin board at the main entrance of the City of Willits City Hall, located at 111 East Commercial 
Street, Willits, California, not less than 72 hours prior to the meeting set forth on this agenda. 
 
Dated this 21st day of October, 2016. 
Cathy Moorhead, City Clerk 



Item No. 3a 
Meeting Date: October 26, 2016 

 
AGENDA SUMMARY REPORT 

 
To:   Honorable Mayor and Council Members 

From:  Dusty Duley, City Planner 

Agenda Title: PRESENTATION, DISCUSSION AND POSSIBLE DIRECTION REGARDING THE WILLITS 
MAIN STREET CORRIDOR ENHANCEMENT PLAN 

Type:  Presentation    Consent    Regular Agenda    Public Hearing    Urgent   Time: 60 min. 

Summary of Request: Staff is seeking direction from the Council and public on the draft Willits Main 
Street Corridor Enhancement Plan. 

The Main Street Corridor Enhancement Plan identifies a new achievable vision to transition Main Street to 
a complete community street that addresses motorized and non-motorized safety, traffic calming, 
pedestrian and bicycle improvements, landscaping, public art, and the creation of a streetscape that lends 
to the support of successful downtown businesses. 

The Plan provides a framework of plan concepts for both short and long-term changes to the Main Street 
corridor and clarifies phasing, levels of costs and resources for implementation of the approved concepts. 
Staff notes that the design concepts for the approximate 1 mile section of Main Street to be relinquished 
back to the City, essentially from its intersection with Highway 20 to the northern city limits, was previously 
approved by the Council at the September 14, 2016 meeting. Approved concepts have been forwarded to 
Caltrans for inclusion in their relinquishment designs. Note that the full plan covers the entire approximate 3 
mile stretch of Main Street within the City limits including that portion of Main Street from its intersection 
with Highway 20 to its departure from City limits to the south. 

Extensive public input received through an online survey, Advisory Group meetings, stakeholder meetings 
and the five-day long Main Street Corridor Planning Fair, has identified the importance of and community 
support for implementing measures to improve motorized and non-motorized safety, pedestrian and bicycle 
improvements as well as lighting, landscaping and creation of a streetscape that support the economic 
vitality of local businesses. 

A number of potential improvements within the public right of way have been identified and are shown in 
the Conceptual Designs. Reconfigurations of the roadway, bike lanes, bulb outs, enhanced crosswalks, 
lighting, landscaping and other improvements are proposed to support community goals identified 
throughout the community engagement process. 

Staff and consultants are seeking comments from the public and Council prior to completing revisions and 
bringing a final draft of the Study back to the Council for approval consideration. 
 

Recommended Action:  Staff recommends the Council receive a presentation on the Willits Main Street 
Corridor Enhancement Plan and provide opportunity for public comment.  
 

Alternative(s):  None recommended. 
 

Fiscal Impact:  There is no fiscal impact associated with the Study itself. The Study was prepared utilizing 
funds that were made available through the Caltrans Sustainable Transportation Planning Grant. 



Personnel Impact:  Staff time as necessary to facilitate completion of the Study. 

Reviewed by:     City Manager    City Attorney    Finance Director    Human Resources    Risk 
 

Council Action:    Approved    Denied    Other: ________________________________________ 

Records:  Agreement    Resolution #_________    Ordinance #_________    Other _________ 

 



CORRIDOR  
ENHANCEMENT PLANENHANCEMENT PLAN

SSSWILLITSWWWWWW STSLLLILLLLITTSSTTTIILLLLLLLLIIWWWWWWW SSSSTTTTIILLLLLLLLIIIWWWWWWWW
 NNNAAAAAMAMAMMMMMM NNNNNNNNNNNIIIAAAMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMM NNNNNNNNNNNNAA NNNNNNNNNNIIIAAAMMMMMMMMMAA

STREETSTSTSTSTT TEEETRRERREETEEEEEETTTTOOOCCCCCCCOCOCCOSSSSSSSS TTTTCCCCCCEEEEEEEEERRRRTTTTSSSSS RRRSSSSSS TTTTCOCCOCOCCCCOOOCCCCCCCCCOCOCEEECCCCCEEEEEERRRRTTTTS RRR

The City of Willits  | Public Draft





TABLE OF CONTENTS

Chapter 1: Introduction ........................................................... page 13 

Plan Purpose + Overview

Community Outreach + Engagement

Chapter 2: Existing Conditions Summary .................page 24

Relevant Plans + Projects

Corridor Conditions

Chapter 3: Design Strategies + Concepts ................page 38

Framework Plan

Corridor-Wide Recommendations

Design Strategies + Concepts

Chapter 4: Implementation .........................................page 64

Overview

Initial Phase

Future Phases 

DIY Streetscape 

Technical Appendix .....................................................page 78

30% Layout Drawings + Cost Estimate

Technical Memorandum: Existing Circulation Assessment and Improvement Evalua-
tion for Main Street and Downtown Willits 

City Council Meeting Minutes

Design Charrette Comments 



LIST OF FIGURES

Chapter 1: Introduction ........................................................... page 13

......

Chapter 2: Existing Conditions Summary .................page 24

Figure 2.1: Corridor Wide Diagram
Figure 2.2: Downtown Diagram
Figure 2.3: Existing Conditions Diagram
 

Chapter 3: Design Strategies + Concepts ................page 38

Figure 3.1: Framework Diagram
Figure 3.2: District Recommendations
Figure 3.3: Conceptual Plan Diagram
Figure 3.4: Conceptual Illustrative Plan 1.1
Figure 3.5: Conceptual Illustrative Plan 1.2
Figure 3.6: Conceptual Illustrative Plan 1.3
Figure 3.7: South of Highway 20 Diagram
Figure 3.8: Conceptual Plan of Main Street
Figure 3.9: Remco/ Walnut Circulation

Chapter 4: Implementation .........................................page 64

....



LIST OF TABLES

Chapter 1: Introduction ........................................................... page 21 

....

Chapter 2: Existing Conditions Summary .................page 24

....

Chapter 3: Design Strategies + Concepts ................page 38

.....

Chapter 4: Implementation .........................................page 64

Table 1.1: Phasing and Funding



Willits Main Street Corridor Enhancement Plan8

Acknowledgements 
CITY OF WILLITS 

Bruce Burton, Mayor

Dusty Duley, Planner

Holly Madrigal, Council Member

Adrienne Moore, City Manager

Ron Orenstein, Council Member

Jeremy Ronco, Engineer

Larry Stranske, Council Member

Madge Strong, Council Member

Rod Wilburn, Public Works Director

ADVISORY GROUP 

Tatiana Ahlstrand

Marcy Barry

Bruce Burton

Phil Dow

Alan Falleri

Gerry Gonzalez

Greta Kanne

Carl Magaan

Linda Matz

Adrienne Moore

Jan Rodriguez

Pete Swanton

Rod Wilburn

Tom Woodhouse

LOCAL GOVERNMENT 
COMMISSION 

Alison Pernell, Project Manager 

Josh Meyer, Directory Community Planning 
Programs 

Paul Zykofsky, Associate Director

WRT

John R. Gibbs, Principal 

Jillian Nameth Zeiger, Project Manager            

Alana Sanders, Landscape Designer                  

Rohit Tak, Urban Designer 

FEHR AND PEERS 

Daniel Jacobson, Senior Transportation 
Planner

 Kendra Rowley, Senior Engineer/Planner 

GHD

Bill Silva, Principal                                                  

Matt Wargula, Project Manager

Special Th anks to Placeworks. 



9Technical Appendix

A SPECIAL THANK YOU TO 
BUSINESSES WHO CATERED 
THE PLANNING FAIR 

RESTAURANT:

Lou Celaya, Adam’s Restaurant

Adrian & Evelyn Fisher, Niko’s Gyros

Tom Mann, Brickhouse Coff ee

April & Caroline, Food PREP Table

Kim Moss, Kemmy’s Pies/ Pete Swanton

Darlene, JD Redhouse

Jaynene Johnson, Zocalo Collective 

Leslie Williams, Good Earth Kitchen

Michelle Costa, Mendocino Fermented Foods

Caroline Radice,,Black Dog Farm

FARM/ PRODUCER:

Michael Foley, Green Uprising Farm

Ruthie King, Grange Farm School

Hunter Flynn, Tequio Community Farm

Caroline Radice, Black Dog Farm

Ana Cox, Shamrock Artisan Goat Cheese

Caprise Becker, Spice of Life

Brandon Gatto, Covelo Organics

Charlene Ford, Ford Ranch Beef

Tim Becker, Balsamics from Spice of Life

Alex, Cinnamon Bear Farm

Bill & Jane,  Floodgate Farm

Irene, Irene’s Garden

Gowan,  Fortunate Farm

Doug Mosel, Mendocino Grain 





CHAPTER 1: 
INTRODUCTION

PLAN PURPOSE + OVERVIEW

COMMUNITY OUTREACH + ENGAGEMENT



Willits Main Street Corridor Enhancement Plan12



13Chapter 1: Introduction

Plan Purpose + 
Overview
Willits is a community that lies at the center of scenic Mendocino 
County. From the date of Willits’ incorporation in 1888, the City’s 
Main Street has been the primary north-south transportation corridor, 
as well as a link to State Route 20 (Highway 20) to the coast at Fort 
Bragg. It has also been part of U.S. Route 101 (Highway 101), serving 
as a major state highway since the 1920’s, passing through the center 
of town. Th roughout its history, Main Street has functioned to move 
high volumes of regional through-traffi  c, generating safety and access 
challenges for local motorists, pedestrians, bicyclists, transit riders, and 
businesses

Caltrans is in the process of completing a new segment of Highway 101 
that will detour around the City of Willits. Th e bypass is expected to 
reduce traffi  c congestion in the City and its downtown. Th is presents 
a once in a lifetime opportunity to transform Main Street into a more 
pedestrian-oriented environment and business-friendly district with 
enhanced community character. 

In preparation for the opening of the Willits bypass, the City of Willits 
and a group of Main Street merchants worked with two non-profi t 
organizations, the Local Government Commission and North Coast 
Opportunities, Inc., to submit a Caltrans Sustainable Transportation 
Planning Grant proposal to plan for the future of Main Street. Th e 
proposal was submitted with 42 letters of support from community 
organizations, businesses, and local leaders. In 2015, Caltrans awarded 
the grant to the City, in partnership with the Local Government 
Commission (LGC), to prepare a corridor plan for the entire three-mile 
stretch of Main Street within the City limits. Th rough a competitive bid 
process, the City and LGC brought a multi-disciplinary design team on 
board led by Wallace Roberts and Todd (WRT), with technical support 
from Fehr and Peers transportation consultants and GHD Engineers. 

Th e Willits Main Street Corridor Enhancement Plan is funded through 
a Caltrans Sustainable Transportation Planning Grant (fi scal year 
2015-2016). Grant funding totalled $170,670 and the City of Willits 
contributed $22,112 in local matching funds.

An extensive community engagement process was conducted to generate 
ideas for immediate and future projects following the opening of the 
Highway 101 bypass. Th e consultant team translated the community 
input into design concepts and assessed their feasibility. Th e resulting 
plan articulates a long-term vision and near term improvements for 
the Willits Main Street corridor. It addresses motorized and non-

motorized safety, traffi  c calming, pedestrian and bicycle improvements, 
landscaping, public art, and the creation of a streetscape that supports 
vibrant downtown businesses.

Th e opening of the Willits Bypass has the potential to change the 
character of Main Street by diverting higher speed through traffi  c and 
trucks from the downtown area, and by “localizing” the northerly 
portion of Main Street once relinquishment is complete. Th e Highway 
20 portion of Main Street will remain a state highway and will continue 
to serve as the southerly gateway to the community. Th is Willits 
Main Street Corridor Enhancement Plan provides a framework of 
plan concepts for both short and long-term changes to the Main 
Street corridor, and clarifi es phasing, levels of costs and resources for 
implementation. Specifi c recommendations are provided in Chapter 3: 
Design Strategies and Chapter 4: Implementation. 



Willits Main Street Corridor Enhancement Plan14

Community 
Outreach + 
Engagement 
Th e concepts in this plan were generated through a public 
participatory design process, or “charrette,” that engaged hundreds 
of community members over the course of a week in April 2016. 
Th e technical feasibility of concepts was evaluated through analysis 
of traffi  c data, fi eld observations, engineering templates, and 
conversations with business-owners, City offi  cials, residents and 
stakeholders. In the months that followed, concepts developed 
through the charrette were brought back to the community for review 
and comment during a Sneak Preview of Main Street event, and 
presentations were made during numerous City Council meetings. 
Highlights of the community engagement and design process are 
presented below.

ONLINE SURVEY 

In February 2016, LGC assisted the City with a Preliminary Survey of 
Main Street Issues. Th e survey was administered on-line and printed 
surveys were available through the Willits Weekly. Local media and the 
project website (www.willitsmainstreetplan.com) promoted the survey to 
the community at large. Respondents were asked to rate the importance 
of issues on Main Street using a scale (not important to very important). 
Results from the survey indicated three issues of primary importance: 
pedestrian and bicycle safety, supporting local businesses on Main 
Street, and intersection safety. Of 348 respondents, over two-thirds 
indicated that these three issues were “very important”. Other issues 
considered “important” or “moderately important” by the majority of 
respondents included: landscaping/greening on Main Street, public art, 
traffi  c calming, places to sit and gather, off -street parking (parking lots), 
natural storm-water management, and access to transit/bus stops. Issues 
of least importance to survey respondents were truck parking, gateway 
treatments (like the Willits Arch), and on-street parking. Survey results 
became a starting point for discussion of Main Street issues and helped 
focus design eff orts during the week-long charrette.

PROJECT ADVISORY GROUP 

A local Advisory Group was formed to guide the project, provide 
input to the project team, and to help organize the charrette, dubbed 
the “Main Street Planning Fair”. Th e Advisory Group fi rst met in 
November 2015 to kick off  the project. Th e group provided technical 
and community-based information critical to the success of the planning 

Th e Advisory Group met several times over the course of this project. 

Th e results of the online survey. 



15Chapter 1: Introduction

eff ort, assisted with outreach, and helped act as the “eyes and ears” of 
the community. Group members included local merchants; service club 
representatives; staff  from the City, Mendocino County of Governments, 
and Caltrans; and the consultant team. Many of the Advisory Group 
members volunteered their time to promote, attend, and clean up aft er 
community events. 

MAIN STREET CORRIDOR PLANNING 
FAIR 

From April 18-22, 2016, the project team held focus group meetings, 
walking assessments, meetings with local agencies to vet preliminary 
concepts, open public studios to review the work in progress, and two 
large community workshops. Ideas generated during Planning Fair 
events became the basis for discussion and exploration by the design 
team, the results of which are found within this plan.

Focus Group Meetings 

During the Planning Fair, focus group meetings were held to gather 
input from stakeholders. Th e project team met with seniors, local 
agencies and organizations, and Main Street business owners to learn 
from local users about opportunities and challenges on Main Street, and 
exchange ideas about potential design solutions.

Walking Assessments 

Walking assessments of the project area were conducted on April 18, 
2016 prior to the fi rst community workshop. Over 150 people gathered 
at the Old Rexall (90 S Main St.) building on Main Street to join walking 
groups throughout the Main Street corridor and discuss strengths, 
problems and ideas for change. 

One group boarded a bus donated by Mendocino Transit Authority and 
headed to the southern part of the corridor, south of the Highway 20 
intersection. Concerns about pedestrian and bicycle accessibility, high 
speeds, and an informal school crossing near the railroad tracks were 
raised.  A disabled participant had serious challenges navigating the 
sidewalk, which underscored the need for improved pedestrian facilities 
along the southerly portion of the corridor. 

Th ree other walking groups departed the Old Rexall building on foot 
to explore and discuss the northern segment of the corridor that will be 
relinquished to the City. Discussion focused on supporting a pedestrian- 
and bicycle-friendly downtown environment, traffi  c calming techniques, 
and desired safety improvements at the intersections.

Walking Assessment of South Main Street. 

Flyers in English and Spanish promoted Planning Fair events. Th ey were mailed out with the City’s 
water bill and distributed electronically and in hard copy through local organizations and social 
media.



Willits Main Street Corridor Enhancement Plan16

Downtown: Where 

people want to 

come because its 

vibrant and 

beautiful and 

easy to access! 

A safe place for 

pedestrians and 

bicyclists . . . easy  

access to food, 

shops and services.  

A beautiful 

environment that 

attracts tourists 

and encourages 

people to socialize. 

A thriving pedestrian-oriented shopping & cultural center with street art and shady places to sit. 

Not a Highway. A downtown. 

Community Workshops 

Immediately following the Walking 
Assessments, the Planning Fair’s opening 
workshop was held at the Old Rexall Building.  
Approximately 250 people  were in attendance. 
North Coast Opportunities, Inc. organized 
a showcase of locally-sourced and prepared 
food samplings. Aft er the food was served, 
participants wrote their long-term vision for 
Main Street on note cards. Volunteers were 
invited to read their visions aloud. Common 
themes included: walkability, bikeability, 
safety, family-friendly environment, and 
thriving downtown businesses.

Participants were then asked to write their val-
ues on sticky notes. Like values were arranged 
in groups on a wall to indicate those the com-
munity holds in common. Top community 
values included:

• Natural Environment/Clean Air/Trees/
Green

• Art/Creativity

• Community/People

• Small Local Businesses

Following the opening input activities, project 
team members presented design tools utilized 
in comparable places and similar conditions to 
improve pedestrian- and bicycle-accessibility, 
improve safety for all roadway users, support a 
vibrant Main Street business climate, and build 
on Willits’ sense of place by incorporating 
public art, street trees, and places to sit and 
gather.            

Participants then gathered around a 28 foot 
long map of the Main Street Corridor to 
design their ideal Main Street. Using pens, 
sticky notes, and ideas from the presentation, 
community members reconfi gured streets 
and intersections, suggested trees to save, 
identifi ed desired locations for safe pedestrian 
crossings, and enthusiastically identifi ed 
locations for roundabouts, gateways, art 
installations and signage.

Note cards from the visioning exercise at the opening workshop. 

Walking Assessment of North Main Street. 



17Chapter 1: Introduction

On April 20 and 21, the public was invited to 
attend evening open houses at the Old Rexall 
building to see the designs in progress, check 
the work of the team, and continue to provide 
input as ideas and concepts were developed. 
At least 50 people attended each open house, 
and feedback was used to help refi ne and fi ne 
tune evolving plans.

Th e Planning Fair’s closing workshop was held 
on April 22, 2016 at the Old Rexall building, 
and was attended by over 125 people.  Scoops 
Catering provided hors d’hourves, continuing 
the theme of local fl avor. Th e project team 
presented concepts developed throughout 
the week, including a roundabout at Brown’s 
Corner, medians at strategic locations along 
the corridor, enhanced pedestrian crossings, 
traffi  c calming treatments, and continuous 
bike lanes throughout the corridor. 

LGC presents as part of the fi nal workshop. 

Th e design team leads a discussion on the corridor map at a design table at the opening workshop. 



Willits Main Street Corridor Enhancement Plan18

LIVING PREVIEW

On May 19, 2016, the project team and 
volunteers organized a follow-up event to the 
week long Planning Fair. Th e Sneak Preview of 
Main Street was a live demonstration project 
that temporarily mocked up traffi  c calming 
and place-making treatments. Bulbouts, 
bicycle lanes, landscaping, public art, and 
benches were temporarily installed on East 
Commercial Street to simulate elements of the 
Main Street plan and to gather public input. 
Over the course of three and half hours, at 
least one hundred people walked through the 
Sneak Preview and many provided comments. 

Th e Noyo Th eatre screened two free showings 
of Th e Prowler – a drama produced by the 
1939 class of Willits High School and set in 
historic downtown Willits. Th e Little Lake Fire 
department navigated the mocked-up designs 
with the City’s largest fi re truck. Adjustments 
to some of the bulb outs were made to 
accommodate the turning movements of the 
fi re truck.

Willits Main Street Corridor 
SNEAK PREVIEW

Government Commission, and funded by a Caltrans 
Sustainable Transportation Planning Grant.

Help Make Main Street Ours! 

MORE INFORMATION 
visit willitsmainstreetplan.com 
or call City Hall at (707) 459-4601

THURSDAY, MAY 19
3:00 – 6:30 PM
Location: 
Street to Humboldt Street], Willits, CA

Free Showing of The Prowler at the  
Noyo Theatre

3:00 PM and 5:00 PM 
The Prowler is a drama produced by the 1939 class of 
Willits High School, and is set in historic downtown Willits.

Little Lake Fire Department navigates 
proposed changes with their largest 

4:00 PM

Come and experience the “Sneak 
Preview”: a demonstration of 
the proposed changes to Main 
Street.

improvements for Main Street.  

Th e largest fi retruck in Willits navigates a proposed sidewalk bulb-out during the Sneak Preview. 

Flyer for the Sneak Preview Event. 



19Chapter 1: Introduction

Special Th anks...
to these individuals 
and organiza  ons that 
contributed  me, energy 
and resources to the Main 
Street Planning Fair and 
Sneak Preview of Main Street 
events:

Al Canepa

Alan Falleri

Brickhouse Coff ee

Greta Kane

Linda Matz

Mendocino Transit Authority

North Coast Opportuni  es

Noyo Theatre

Roots of Mo  ve Power

Scoops Catering

Solid Waste of Willits

Spare  me Supply

Pete Swanton

Walk and Bike Mendocino

Willits Chamber of 
Commerce

Willits Economic Localiza  on

Tom Woodhouse

A bulb-out that was mocked-up to replicate improvements on Main Street that include benches, planting and shade trees. 

A bicyclist tries out a mocked-up bicycle lane at the Living Preview 



Willits Main Street Corridor Enhancement Plan20

OUTCOMES + CONCLUSIONS

Th e Willits Main Street Planning Fair and Sneak Preview of Main Street 
events engaged hundreds of people from the community – including 
residents, business-owners and local agency stakeholders – in envision-
ing and designing their ideal post-bypass Main Street. Th e residents 
were supportive of the ideas presented including overall concepts such 
as: 

• Crossing Islands 

• Buff ered Bicycle Lanes 

• Green Streets 

• Wayfi nding 

• Public Art 

Th e ideas generated through the process described above became the 
basis for this Willits Main Street Corridor Enhancement Plan. Designs 
and recommendations are detailed in the chapters that follow.

At the end of the charrette, public comments were scanned, recorded, and reviewed by the design 
team.

Post-it notes from Willits residents indicated what they value most about their community. 



21Chapter 1: Introduction

image

Businesses in downtown activate the street with retail displays on the sidewalk. 





CHAPTER 2: 
EXISTING 

CONDITIONS 
SUMMARY

RELEVANT PROJECT + PLANS

CORRIDOR CONDITIONS



Willits Main Street Corridor Enhancement Plan24

SUMMARY OF PAST PLANNING 
PROJECTS 

Several planning documents informed the Willits Main Street Plan. 
Th ese documents address Main Street and its relationship to downtown 
Willits and the greater region. Th ey address transportation and mobility 
issues, economic growth and regional development, and placemaking 
along the Main Street corridor and the surrounding area. 

WILLITS DOWNTOWN SPECIFIC PLAN (2000) 

Th e Willits Downtown Specifi c Plan provides an overall strategy for 
expansion, reuse and revitalization of Downtown Willits. Th e plan 
addresses issues on downtown Main Street related to parking strategies, 
placemaking, and design ideas. Parking strategies include encouraging 
more legible parking lot signage and considering reuse of parking lots 
that border Main Street. Th e plan outlined the necessity for public 
gathering spaces on downtown Main Street as potential development 
sites. Design ideas for Main Street include bulbouts and intersection 
improvements at the Post Offi  ce, at Main and Wood Street, a gateway 
median north of Oak Street, and improved crosswalks on Main and 
Commercial Street. 

WILLITS CIRCULATION AND PARKING 
IMPROVEMENT STUDY (2002) 

Th e Willits Circulation and Parking Improvement Study focuses on 
several specifi c issues concerning Main Street. Th is study outlines 
safety issues south of Highway 20 including pedestrian access near the 
railroad tracks at the Willits arch and bicycle, pedestrian and vehicular 
coordination at the Main/Baechtel Road Intersection. Th e plan suggests 
a roundabout at Highway 20. North of Highway 20, the study outlines 
pedestrian safety issues at Main/Mendocino and Main/Valley. Th e plan 
also outlines the need for a left  turn pocket at the Commercial/Main 
intersection. In terms of parking, the study concluded that occupancy 
tends to be higher during the week (82% capacity), however there is no 
demonstrated need for added parking spaces. 

BAECHTEL ROAD- RAILROAD AVENUE 
CORRIDOR COMMUNITY DESIGN STUDY (2003) 

While this study focused on Baechtel Road, it also described 
interventions that create a stronger relationship to South Main Street 
entry points. Th is project shows how a bicycle and pedestrian trail 

system connects through Main Street at intersections including Baechtel 
Road and Commercial Street. At North Baechtel Road, the plan shows 
a new crossing at Main Street including a pedestrian crosswalk, and 
planted median. At South Baechtel Road, this plan proposes a “Gateway 
to Willits Roundabout,” in order to mitigate circulation issues at this 

intersection and provide a gateway for the city. 

WILLITS BICYCLE AND PEDESTRIAN SPECIFIC 
PLAN (2009) 

Th e bicycle and pedestrian plan provides specifi c observations for 
conditions on Main Street. Th e plan details how less experienced 
bicyclists divert off  of Main Street because of the broken grid and 
safety hazards. Th e plan illustrates that 80-90% of bicycle-vehicular 
and pedestrian-vehicular accidents are on Main Street. Th e 
recommendations include at least 8’ sidewalks on Main Street due to less 
demand for on-street parking.  

SAFE ROUTES TO SCHOOL PLAN (2009) 

Th is plan focuses on circulation issues and alternatives for schools in 
Willits, several of which are located on or near Main Street. On the west 
side of N. Main Street at Sanhedrin High School, the plan recommends 
the needs for signage and sidewalk construction. Sidewalks are also 
missing near Willits High School, and they are encouraged in this plan. 
Class 2 bicycle lanes are recommended for all of N. Main Street in order 
to provide a safe route to schools and provide connections with those off  
of Main Street as well. 

CALTRANS PROJECTS

Since 2012, the City of Willits has been coordinating with Caltrans on 
a relinquishment agreement that terminates their ownership of Main 

Street north of Highway 20 and returns it to the City’s jurisdiction.

BYPASS PROJECT

Th e fi rst step in relinquishing Main Street ownership is the construction 
of a freeway bypass. At the time this document is being written, the 
bypass is scheduled to open in fall of 2016, diverting highway traffi  c 
from Main Street and the entire city. Th e bypass returns to its original 
alignment north of City limits.

Relevant Plans and Projects 



25Chapter 2: Existing Conditions Summary

RELINQUISHMENT PLANS

Th e Caltrans relinquishment project is defi ned by a relinquishment 
agreement (the “agreement”) made eff ective between the City 
and Caltrans on January 25, 2012.  Th e agreement outlines the 
responsibilities of Caltrans to bring the to-be-relinquished portion 
US Highway 101/Main Street to a “state of good repair”. Th e project is 
broken up into three parts: 1) Crosswalks/sidewalks/ADA accessibility 
from SR 20 to Sherwood Road, 2) pedestrian accessibility improvements 
in front of Willits High School, and 3) major improvements to the 
Sherwood Road/Main Street intersection.  Th e agreement is provided in 
the Technical Appendix of this report.

Th roughout the course of the grant-funded Willits Main Street Corridor 
Enhancement project, the project team met with the relinquishment 
team to identify opportunities to coordinate the two projects. Th e fi rst 
meeting occurred concurrent with the fi rst Advisory Group meeting on 
November 5, 2015 at the Willits city council chambers.  In addition to 
the Advisory Group, the relinquishment project manager and engineer 
were in attendance. During that meeting, both projects were discussed 
including budgets, timelines, constraints and opportunities. Ultimately, 
the following strategic areas of focus were identifi ed as opportunities for 
design goals to be merged:

• New street tree locations

• Street light locations

• Street furniture locations

• Traffi  c calming (such as bulb-outs)

• Striping of travel lanes, parking, bike lanes

• Widening constrained sidewalk areas

• Road diets

• Green street concepts

Th e relinquishment team returned to Willits for the Main Street project’s 
third Advisory Group Meeting. Th ey accepted the invitation to attend 
charrette events and they agreed to receive and review the charrette 
recommendations for inclusion in the relinquishment project as deemed 
feasible. 

Th e conceptual designs resulting from the charrette were provided to the 
relinquishment team on August 22nd.  

With conceptual designs having been thoroughly vetted with the 
community and  approved by the City Council, the City will continue to 
work with Caltrans to incorporate our conceptual designs with Caltrans’ 
relinquishment project designs.  Th e City is in on-going discussions 
with Caltrans to enter into a cooperative agreement whereby both 
parties will agree to share the cost of the work for the relinquishment 
project.  Th ere are a number of improvements that Caltrans will pay 
for as outlined in the previously referenced relinquishment agreement.  

Th is aerial shows the progress of construction of the Willits Bypass project and its route diverting 
around the Main Street corridor. 

Costs associated with additional improvements identifi ed in the City’s 
approved conceptual designs are expected to be borne by the City.  
Caltrans is also exploring opportunities to potentially assist the City 
with some of the complete streets elements found in our conceptual 
designs consistent with their own directives and polices.  An executed 
cooperative agreement is required prior to the exchange of any eff ort, 
funding, or materials.   Construction of the relinquishment project s 
currently scheduled to begin  in January 2018.



Willits Main Street Corridor Enhancement Plan26

image

image

OVERVIEW 

Th e Willits Main Street project spans a 
three-mile stretch from Main Street and 
Southern Baechtel Road to Willits city limits 
at Casteel Lane to the north. Currently, this 
entire corridor is part of State Route 101. 
However, the bypass project will result in a 
decommissioned segment from Highway 20 
north to where the bypass reconnects.

Th e development character changes along the 
Main Street corridor. Th e Downtown portion 
of the corridor from Valley Street in the south 
to Commercial Street in the north is an active 
retail and shopping district with restaurants, 
cultural attractions, and entertainment 
destinations like the historic movie theater 
and Willits Center of the Arts. Th e streets 
and mid block alleys found in this portion of 
Main Street create a very walkable district. 
A concentration of more vehicular centric 
development exists with a concentration at 
the Highway 20 intersection and South Main 
Street. South of the Highway 20 intersection, 
the corridor is characterized by shopping 
centers, some fast food restaurants, large 
setbacks from the highway, and undefi ned 
pavement areas. Large vacant lots north of the 
Commercial and Main street intersection are 
interspersed with residential and vehicular 
centric retail. 

Schools on Main Street include Willits High 
School and Sanhedrin High School in the 
north and Willits Charter High School in the 
south. Students walk and ride their bicycles 
along Main Street to commute to and from 
school. However, sidewalks are incomplete 
and bicyclists oft en ride on the sidewalk due to 
lack of safe street facilities.

Tourist attractions and welcoming features 
are found on the corridor including the 
Skunk Train that takes riders from Willits to 

Downtown Main Street has pedestrian scale signage and a well connected street grid, however, the highway traffi  c volumes and number 
of eighteen wheelers creates noise, traffi  c and pollution, making the street uncomfortable for bicyclists and pedestrians. 

Th e far northern portion of Main Street has similar characteristics to the Southern portion. 

Corridor Conditions 



27Chapter 2: Existing Conditions Summary

FIGURE 2.1: CORRIDOR-WIDE DIAGRAM 

0’                1000’       2000’                   
N

1

42

53

17

7

14

10

18

8

15

20

101

11

19

6

13

9

WILLITS HIGH SCHOOL

HARRAH SENIOR CENTER

HEAD START SCHOOL

COMMERCIAL SHOPPING CENTER

BROOKSIDE ELEMENTARY SCHOOL

FRANK HOWARD MEMORIAL 
HOSPITAL

SAN HENDRIN SCHOOL

WILLITS CENTER FOR THE ARTS

WILLITS CITY HALL

WILLITS CHAMBER OF COMMERCE

WILLITS ELEMENTARY CHARTER 
SCHOOL
MENDOCINO COUNTY MUSEUM & 
WILLITS LIBRARY

SAFEWAY SHOPPING CENTER

WILLITS RODEO GROUNDS

BLOSSER LANE ELEMENTARY

POST OFFICE

BAECHTEL GROVE MIDDLE 
SCHOOL

MARIPOSA MARKET

WILLITS CHARTER SCHOOL

1

17

4

7

10

14

2

18

5

8

11

15

3

19

6

9

13

12

16

20 20

16

12

101 BYPASS

CITY OF WILLITS BOUNDARY

DOWNTOWN WILLITS

RAIL LINES
CREEKS
MAIN STREET

HIGHWAY 20

COMMERCIAL STREET
EXISTING BIKE LANES
PROPOSED CLASS I 
BIKE LANES
PROPOSED CLASS II 
BIKE LANES
PROPOSED CLASS III 
BIKE LANES
SCHOOLS

CIVIC FACILITIES

SHOPPING/ RETAIL

SENIOR HOMES

HOSPITALS

LEGEND

M
AIN

 STREET

COMMERCIAL STREET

REDWOOD MEADOWS SENIOR 
APARTMENTS



Willits Main Street Corridor Enhancement Plan28

FIGURE 2.2: DOWNTOWN DIAGRAM

0’                                                       1000’                     
N

DOWNTOWN WILLITS

RAIL LINES

CREEKS

MAIN STREET

HIGHWAY 20

COMMERCIAL STREET

EXISTING BIKE LANES
PROPOSED CLASS I 
BIKE LANES
PROPOSED CLASS II 
BIKE LANES
PROPOSED CLASS III 
BIKE LANES
SCHOOLS

PARKS AND OPEN SPACE

HIGHWAY 20 PARKHIGHWAY 20 

E. VALLEY ROAD CENTRAL VALLEY ROAD

W. COMMERCIAL STREET E. COMMERCIAL STREET
M

AIN
 STREET

1

17

4 7

10

14

2

18

5

8

11

15

3

6

913
12

16

WILLITS HIGH SCHOOL

MARIPOSA MARKET

BROOKSIDE ELEMENTARY SCHOOL

SAFEWAY

SAN HEDRIN HIGH SCHOOL

WILLITS CITY PARK

WILLITS CENTER MENDOCINO COLLEGE

WILLITS LIBRARY

MENDOCINO COUNTY MUSEUM

SPORTS FIELDS

RECREATION GROVE PARK

WILLITS COMMUNITY THEATRE

WILLITS ELEMENTARY CHARTER SCHOOL

OLD REXAL PHARMACY BUILDING

WILLITS CITY HALL

JD REDHOUSE & CO. BUILDING

NOYO THEATRE

U.S. POST OFFICE

1

17

4

7

10

14

2

18

5

8

11

15

3

6

9

13

12

16

LEGEND



29Chapter 2: Existing Conditions Summary

Willits Main 
Street Events... 
Willits is home to several 
outdoor events, including 
weekly farmers markets, art 
fairs and other fes  vals. The 
largest of the Main Street 
outdoor events is Willits 
Fron  er Days, a series of 
events that takes place over 
several days and includes 
a Rodeo and Fourth of July 
Parade down Main Street. 

image

image

Th e lively retail and restaurants in downtown are complemented by outdoor planters, retail displays and pedestrian signage. 

Th is rapid fl ashing beacon on South Main Street was an important safety improvement. 

Fort Bragg and several hotels and motels in 
the southern portion of Main Street. Small 
gateway signs in the far north and south 
identify entrances to Willits. Th e iconic Willits 
arch just south of Highway 20 is known 
throughout the region. It spans the street with 
a sign that reads “Gateway to the Redwoods.” 



Willits Main Street Corridor Enhancement Plan30

DISTRICT CONDITIONS 

OVERVIEW 

For the purposes of this study, the Main Street 
corridor is organized into two districts: north 
of Highway 20 and south of Highway 20 
based on the observed character of the two 
segments. A majority of the portion that is 
north of Highway 20 is part of the highway 
relinquishment, while the Southern portion 
will remain under Caltrans ownership. Th is 
section will detail key existing conditions for 
each portion. 

FIGURE 2.3: EXISTING CONDITIONS DIAGRAM

SOUTH OF HIGHWAY 20

THETHETHETH INININTERTEERTE SECS TIOION AN AT BT BTT ROWROWWNS NS NS NSS CORCORCORCORNERNERNNERR 
ISIS I CHACHAHAAALLLLEL NGINGG FORR VEVEVVEV HICHIHICIHI LESLESS ANANANAA DD
PPEDEDESTESTESS RIANS. ITT IS THTHE SE SOUTOUTU HEHERHERHERNNNNN

‘GA‘GATEWTEWEWWAAY’ TOO WILLILL TS YETET HAHAAH S MS MS MS MS INININIMALMALMALLA  
SIGSIGIGGGNNNAGE. E

THETHTHE FOFFFOURUR LANLANEE STREREET ET SECSECTIOTI N IN IIS WS WS WWIDE 
SOUSOUSOUUTHTHTHH OF OFOF OF HIGHIGIGHWAWAHWAWAAY 2Y 2Y 20, 0, ENCENCN OUROURRAGAGAGIG NG
VEHVEHVEHVEV ICLICLICLICC ESESES SS TO TOTO T EXCEXCEEDEEDEE TTHTHE SE SPEEEED LD LLIMIIIMM T.

PEDPEDPEDPEDEESESTE RIARIAIAIAAN IN MPRPROVEMENNTS TS AREARARR NNEEDEEDD
AT THITH S HIGHGHH USU E INTERSECTICTICTIT ON.OOO  

ATAAT AT NORNNNN TH H BAEBAEEECHTEL ROAOAAD, , THET RE EEAAAAT
AREAREAREAR  GATEWTEWAY Y Y ANDA WAAYFINDIDND NGN

OPPOPPOPPPPORORTORTO TUNIN TIES THAT INNCORCORPORPORATEATET  
THETHETHTHT CRCRCRCREEKEEKEEEK THTHTHHAT CROCROSSEES S MS AINAIN STSTS REEREET. 
PEDPEDPEPEDPE ESTESTTESTTRIARIARIR N INN IN MPRPROVEMENMENE TSTSS AREARE ALALSO SO 

NEEEDEDDEDDEDD . . 

PRIVATE FRONOO TAGES ARE OFOFTENTENN 
UNDEFINED PAAP VEMENTN ARAREASEAS FOFOOOORRRR

PARKING. SIDEWAW LKS ARRE NE NARRARRRROW OW OW AAAND
UNCOMFORTTABLBLE.E.

ACCACCACCACCC ESSESSSESS FOFOFORR MIDD
SOUSOUSOOUTHTHH OFOF TTHTHE HIGHGHGH

IS IS ISIS CRCRICRICR TICTICAL ALA FOR CC
FROM

Baechtel Road 



31Chapter 2: Existing Conditions Summary

DOWNTOWN CORE 

NORTH OF HIGHWAY 20

DDDD 

DDLE LE SCHSCHHSCHOOOLOOLO SSTSTTUDEUDEDEUDUD NTNTSNTS 
HWWHWAY AYAYA 2020 2200 INTTTERSERSERSR ECTECTECECTIONONNONN 
CIRCUULATLALAL IONIONONON TOTOTOO ANANANNANND D DDD

M SM SM SM SCHOCHCHOCHOCHOOOOOOL OL

THETHETHETHET MAMAMAARIPRIPRIPPPOSAOSAOSAOSA MAMAMAMAMARKERKERKERKEET AT AT AAREAREAREAREARE ISISISS A A A 
HIHHIGHIGH UH UUSEEE ZONZONZONZONZONE FE FE F F FOROROROROR VEHVEHHVEHHICLCICLCICLES ESEESS ANDANDANDNA  

PEDEDD TESTESTESTES RIARIARIAIANS.NS.NSNS.

THETHETHETHH CRCRCRCRREEKEEEEEK CRCROSSOOO ING ISI ANA OPPPORORORPORO TUNTUNTTTT ITYYITYIT  
FORFORFOR PLPLPLLACEAAA MAKMAKINGNG THTTHATATATAA CELCELC EBREBREBRE ATEATATATT SS

THETHTHETHETHE NANANANANATURRAL AL CCHARACACCA TERTERTERET ANANANANANND RR R RREGIEGIGIONAONOO AL
ECOECOECOCOC LOGLOGLOGLOGGYYY.Y.

THTHETHE ININININTERTERTEREE SECSESECE TIOTIOON AAT VT VT VT ALLALLALLALLEYEY YEE STRSTRTRTRREETEETEETEETT  
IS IS I BUSBUSBUSBUSY WY WY WY WWITHITHITHH FREQUUUENTENTENTENT CCCOONFLNFNFLNFLF ICTTICTICTC S SS

BBEBBEBETWEEWEEWEEEEEEN VN VN VN VEHEHHHIE CLES AAND DDD PEDPEDPEDESTESTSS RIARIARRIAANS.S.S.

WWIDDWIDW E SIDEDIDEIDEWWALKS IN THE DOD WNTW OWN 
CORCORCORCORE PPPE RORROVRO IDEE OPO PORTUNITIES FOR 

FURFURFURFFURNISNISNISNI HINHINHINHING AGG ND ND PLAPLACEMME AKIA NG. 

SIDIDSIDDEWAEWAEWAEWALKLKSSL ARRE LE LLLACACACACKAC ING IN THE HHIGHIGHGHGHGH 
SCHOOLOOLOOLOOL ARARRREA.EA STSTTTUUDEU NTS WALKK ONONON THETHETHET  

HIGHIGHIGHIGHWAHWAHWAHWAY SY SHOUHH LDELDER.R.R.R.R

WELWELW COMCOMINGINGG SIGNAAGE GE IS IS LACLAACL KINKINKINK G AAT THE
NORNORTHETHERNRN CITCITC Y LY LY LIMTMTMTTS.S.S.S

Hi
gh

w
ay

 2
0

W
. O

ak
 S

t.

Al
am

ed
a 

Av
e. Ca

lif
or

ni
a 

St
.

E.
 S

an
 F

ra
nc

isc
o 

Av
e.

W
. V

al
le

y 
St

.

E.
 V

an
 L

an
e

E.
 C

om
m

er
ci

al
 S

t.

St
at

e 
St

.

Ca
st

ee
l L

n.
 



Willits Main Street Corridor Enhancement Plan32

NORTH OF HIGHWAY 20

Th e area north of Highway 20 consists of a 
curving section leading to downtown Willits 
and the area north of Commercial where 
Willits High School is located.

Th e southern portion of downtown Willits 
spans from Highway 20 to Valley Street. Th is 
area includes some highly-used retail that is 
set-back from the street including Mariposa 
Market and other local businesses. Th ere are 
some areas of Main Street, notably between 
California Street and West Valley Street that 
have constrained sidewalks making it diffi  cult 
for pedestrians to maneuver. Th e West and 
East Valley intersections are dangerous for 
pedestrians, vehicles and bicycles, due to the 
lack of hierarchy and clear sight lines. 

Th e downtown core north of Valley Street 
to Commercial Street is a walkable retail 
corridor. Civic minded merchants activate 
the sidewalk with planters, decorations 
and pedestrian scale signage. Sidewalks are 
adequate in this zone with a range of 10-12 
foot sidewalks. Still, narrow pinch points exist. 
Crosswalks at intersections are well used by 
pedestrians, however safety improvements are 
needed to address lighting, traffi  c calming, and  
sight lines. 

Th e character of Main Street changes north of 
Downtown. Larger, vacant parcels are more 
prevalent in this portion. Th e intersection 
at State Street is a known confl ict point 
for pedestrians and vehicles. Willits High 
School is the main landmark in this zone, 
however inconsistent sidewalks and outdated 
signage should be updated so that there is an 
accessible route for bicyclists and pedestrians 
to the high school. Th e northern-most 
gateway in Willits sits northwest of the Casteel 
Lane intersection. It is not visible to vehicles 
and lacks the prominence necessary for a city 
gateway entry.

image

image

Th e crosswalks on Van Lane are well used despite reported safety concerns about lighting and vehicle speeds.

An attractive and merchant sponsored example of pedestrian scale activation in the Downtown Core. 



33Chapter 2: Existing Conditions Summary

image

image

Th e lack of sidewalk in front of Willits High School creates an accessibility challenge. 

Trees planted on a narrow stretch of sidewalk, illustrated above, create barriers for pedestrians. 

image

image

Historic buildings line the Downtown Core and give the area a historic character. 

Sidewalks in the southern portion of downtown confl ict with driveways and vehicular visibility. 



Willits Main Street Corridor Enhancement Plan34

SOUTH OF HIGHWAY 20

Th e southern portion of Main Street extending 
from the City limits north to the Fort Bragg 
Highway 20 intersection marks the fi rst 
impression of the town to visitors heading 
north. In fact several hotels are mixed into 
the mixture of retail, academic, and industrial 
uses. Th e roadway is wide and uses tend to 
be set back behind parking lots. Trees and 
beautifi cation planting is scarce. Narrow 
sidewalks, higher vehicle speeds, and little 
shade all contribute to an unpleasant walking 
environment. Businesses along the southern 
corridor are popular and their success is 
important to the economic health of the city as 
well as to the convenience of residents. 

Th e corridor south of Highway 20 contrasts 
with the character of the downtown core. Th e 
street network is less fi ne-grain, amenities 
are clustered at a few key intersections, and 
architecture and design of parcels is vehicle-
oriented. Generally, the pedestrian experience 
is unpleasant on this stretch of Main Street, 
with a lack of street trees and pedestrian 
crossings. No bike lanes exist on this segment. 
Vehicles are traveling on this portion of the 
corridor at speeds higher than the posted 
limit, encouraged by the multiple, wide lanes. 
Outside lanes in some areas are greater than 
15 feet compared with standard 11 foot lanes.

Several intersections occur in the segment. 
Northern Baechtel Road is currently a high 
traffi  c zone and lacks adequate crossings 
for pedestrians. At Gregory Lane, the rapid 
fl ashing beacon is well-used by pedestrians 
and located in a  cluster of motels, restaurants, 
and a charter school. Southern Baechtel Road, 
an area known as “Brown’s Corner” is a four 
way intersection that lacks gateway character 
and is a challenging place for drivers. Th ough 
it is the southern city limits, signage near 
this intersection lacks identity, but has the 
potential to be a major gateway for the town. 

image

image

Th is view of South Main shows wide lanes and unevenly spaced signals that leads to increased speeding by vehicles. 

Th e intersection at Brown’s Corner is confusing for vehicles and lacks wayfi nding for pedestrians. 



35Chapter 2: Existing Conditions Summary

image

Pedestrian scale signage and sidewalks with vegetation are rare on South Main. 

Th is is the current entrance sign for the southern portion of Willits. It lacks character and has low 
visibility. 

image

image

Th e intersections in the Southern Portion of Main Street are long and lack pedestrian refuges. 

Th e rapid fl ashing beacon at Gregory Lane is well used by pedestrians. 





CHAPTER 3: 
DESIGN 

STRATEGIES + 
CONCEPTS

FRAMEWORK PLAN

CORRIDOR-WIDE RECOMMENDATIONS

DISTRICT RECOMMENDATIONS



Willits Main Street Corridor Enhancement Plan38

OVERVIEW 

Th is chapter focuses on design strategies and 
concepts for the entire corridor. First, the 
chapter focuses on general design guidelines 
that can be applied at any point along the 
corridor. Th en, it breaks the corridor down 
further into the areas that were described 
in the existing conditions portion of the 
document: north of Highway 20 and south of 
Highway 20. 

Framework Plan 

FIGURE 3.1: FRAMEWORK DIAGRAM

SOUTH OF HIGHWAY 20

Baechtel Road 

Th is framework plan shows broad conceptual 
design changes that impact Main Street. Th e 
following pages detail the conceptual design 
interventions through plans, 3d models, 
sections, and perspectives. In some cases, the 
conceptual designs are ideas that should be 
supported with additional circulation studies. 
However, the overall intent of the design is 
conveyed from the charrette process and 
subsequent meetings with City staff , agencies 
and subconsultants. 

Main Street



39Chapter 3: Design Strategies + Concepts

NORTH OF HIGHWAY 20

Hi
gh

w
ay

 2
0

W
. O

ak
 S

t.

Al
am

ed
a 

Av
e. Ca

lif
or

ni
a 

St
.

E.
 S

an
 F

ra
nc

isc
o 

Av
e.

W
. V

al
le

y 
St

.

E.
 V

an
 L

an
e

E.
 C

om
m

er
ci

al
 S

t.

St
at

e 
St

.

Ca
st

ee
l L

n.
 

BULBOUTS 

GATEWAY FEATURES 

MEDIAN 

MAIN STREET 

ROAD DIET 

INTERSECTION REDESIGN 

Main Street

N



Willits Main Street Corridor Enhancement Plan40

Several interventions along Main Street should be implemented on a 
larger, corridor-wide scale. Th is will allow for continuity along the three-
mile length, and in some cases, can be applied to other major streets in 
Willits. 

Gateways: Gateways are an important community asset. Th ey 
establish identity for a corridor, project a sense of branding and 
place-making to visitors, and generally create a sense of positive civic 
pride. 

• Gateway locations should be strategically placed so that they are 
predominant at main entries along the corridor. Gateways are 
eff ective at roundabouts, along medians, and sidewalk extensions. 

• At main entries, gateways should establish an identity and include 
key directional signage for major destinations such as downtown, 
museums, and parks.

• Gateway features can include monuments, special landscaping, 
signage, public art or monuments that display the character of 
Willits. 

Bicycle Circulation: Currently, there are no on-street bicycle facilities 
on Main Street. However, the bypass improvements present an 
opportunity to introduce corridor-wide bicycle circulation that is 
good for the environment, personal health, and that helps to reduce 
automobile traffi  c. 

• Bicycle lanes with painted buff ers should be included continuously 
along Main Street from Browns Corner to the high school. Lane 
markings should clearly designate the area for cyclists and include 
green color surfaces at points of confl ict with vehicles.

• Bicycle parking should be strategically planned on Main Street. 
Bicycle racks should be installed in front of key businesses in the 
downtown core, at other important landmarks, and well-used 
commercial and institutional uses along the corridor. 

Pedestrian Safety Measures : In order to create a more walkable Main 
Street, pedestrian safety interventions are extremely important for 
this plan. Th ese measures not only protect pedestrians, but also help 
visibility with bicycles and vehicles, providing opportunities for 
placemaking. 

• Where possible, pedestrian crossing distance should be shortened 
to minimize confl icts with bicycles and vehicles. Th is can be 
accomplished with sidewalk extensions, bulbouts, and mid-block 
refuges. 

Corridor-Wide Recommendations

Th is bicycle lane shows a wide buff er to the right, which can be accomodated on South Main Street. 

Th is gateway marker on Castro Valley Boulevard provides a consistent identity for the corridor. 



41Chapter 3: Design Strategies + Concepts

Electric Vehicle charging stations could exist near street parking or in a parking lot.  

Th is rapid fl ashing beacon and pedestrian refuge creates high pedestrian visibility. 

• Crosswalks on Main Street should be clearly striped in order to 
reinforce the pedestrian right of way. High visibility markings such 
as continental style banding is recommended. Lighting should be 
provided at crosswalks for nighttime visibility. 

• A minimum sidewalk clear zone width of 5 feet should be enforced 
on all Main Street sidewalks. Th is is in line with ADA requirements 
and creates a comfortable environment for pedestrians. “Pinch 
points” where buildings or planting extends into the sidewalk 
should be corrected. In all areas, sidewalks of 10-12 feet or more 
are ideal to allow for trees, furniture, and space for merchants to 
occupy their immediate frontage. 

• Midblock crossings should be installed and reinforced where there 
is a pedestrian desire line. Th e crosswalk should be striped and 
components such as medians and rapid fl ashing beacons should be 
incorporated as necessary. 

• Leading pedestrian intervals are critical at some intersections to 
reduce confl icts between vehicles and pedestrians. Th is would give 
pedestrians a 3-7 second head start to enter the intersection making 
them more visible.

EV Vehicles: Electric vehicles will continue to dominate the 
transportation scene in the future and should be accommodated 
along the corridor due to demand from Willits residents and visiting 
tourists. 

• EV charging stations should be placed at strategic points along the 
corridor to allow people to charge at areas that may include the 
Highway 20 intersection, near the entrance and exits to the bypass, 
and entrances and exits along the 101 freeway.  

• Charging stations should exist in places that minimize multi-modal 
confl icts including parking spots along Main Street and in public 
parking lots with dedicated parking spots. 

• Signage for EV charging stations should be placed at several points 
along the corridor to create visibility for the amenity. 

Transportation Facilities: In addition to being a thoroughfare for 
pedestrians, bicyclists and vehicles, Main Street should continue to 
have a robust transit infrastructure. 

• Main Street bus lines should continue to operate along the corridor. 
If need increases, levels of service should refl ect that. 

• Bus stops along the corridor should refl ect the identity and 
character of Willits. Th ey should use local material and architecture 
whenever possible, contributing to the placemaking of the street. 

• When necessary, bus stops should have dedicated sidewalk 
extensions to mitigate accessibility issues. 



Willits Main Street Corridor Enhancement Plan42

Low Impact Development (LID): Main Street has a fantastic 
opportunity to become a more resilient street that capitalizes 
on its stormwater management potential. Several of the street 
infrastructure interventions can also introduce LID concepts that 
will benefi t the community in the future. 

• In places such as bulbouts and sidewalk extensions, bioswales 
should be installed to treat and slow runoff  from roadways and 
the sidewalk. Th e planting should be robust enough to withstand 
pedestrian traffi  c and vehicular emissions, while also absorbing and 
treating runoff . 

• Flow-through planters should be installed to capture stormwater 
from the sidewalk. 

• Pervious pavement in parking lots and sidewalks can assist with 
stormwater management and can off er solutions where there are 
current drainage issues. 

Beautifi cation: Beautifying Main Street will not only instill a sense 
of pride for citizens and merchants, it will project a well-maintained 
attraction for visitors. 

• One important way to beautify Main Street is through planting 
and maintaining a consistent tree canopy. Not only do trees 
provide shade, but they also create a positive scale and identity for 
the street. Street trees for Willits should be selected for aesthetic 
purposes, climate appropriateness, and for success in urban 
environments.  Preparation of soil for trees and proper planting is 
key to their success and to minimize sidewalk damage. Structural 
soil, soil trenches, and structural cells are important features to 
establishing healthy trees that give return on the investment.

• Street furnishings including tree grates, trash cans, street lights, 
and seating should have a similar material vocabulary that refl ects 
the character of Willits and capitalizes on its rich history. Street 
lights should be spaced out and scaled to illuminate the sidewalk 
for pedestrians and also meet roadway illumination requirements. 
Seating and trash cans should be strategically placed in high traffi  c 
pedestrian areas.

• Directional signage in Willits can enhance continuity along the 
corridor and attract visitors to beautiful elements that may have 
been hidden previously. Like street furnishings, signage should be 
standardized to match the aesthetic of the town and complement 
other street amenities. 

• Currently, facades of historic buildings in Willits range widely 
from recently restored, to minor repair needs, to potential for 
greatness. Beautifi cation strategies should help improve facades and 
create opportunities for more pedestrian signage and street level 
activation, emphasizing buildings in the Downtown Core. 

Th is rain garden provides shade, a buff er from the street, and stormwater treatment. 

Th is bus shelter precedent matches the architectural style and material of Downtown Willits. 



43Chapter 3: Design Strategies + Concepts

Public art, like this metal horse in Healdsburg, CA are great examples for placemaking ideas in 
Willits. 

Pedestrian scale signage and street level activation contribute to street character in Astoria, OR. 

Arts and Culture: Willits is a town that has a rich history, with 
several cultural assets on or in the vicinity of Main Street. Th is 
corridor should capitalize on its opportunity as an arts and cultural 
destination. 

• Th e Mendocino County Museum, Willits Center for the Arts, the 
Skunk Train, Roots of Motive Power, and the Willits Library are 
all cultural landmarks and destinations that are within walking 
distance of downtown Main Street. Currently, these attractions are 
not visible on the corridor, however, their artifacts and art pieces 
should be incorporated into sidewalk extensions, medians, and 
gateways in order to display the culture of Willits. Th ese could be 
stationary pieces or rotating displays based on theme, time of year, 
or important moments in history. 

• Historic signage and artifacts should be integrated into the public 
realm of Main Street. Whether it is through building placards, 
stand-alone signs or artifacts, historic moments can be captured 
at key places along the corridor, instilling not only pride in place, 
but also providing educational information to tourists and younger 
generations of Willits. 

• A more robust arts and cultural programming component should 
be implemented on Main Street. While Frontier Days is a main 
attractor for tourists and citizens, it only happens once a year. 
Events along Main Street should be planned for several times of 
the year and integrate cultural landmarks and businesses along the 
corridor. In the segment where Main Street has returned to City 
of Willits ownership, street closures can occur more frequently for 
events to activate the street and invite pedestrians and bicyclists. 



Willits Main Street Corridor Enhancement Plan44

NORTH OF HIGHWAY 20 

OVERVIEW

Th e conceptual designs north of Highway 
20 are divided into four distinct districts: 
Highway 20 to Valley Street, Valley Street to 
Wood Street, Wood Street to Commercial 
Street (also referred to as the downtown 
core) and north of Commercial Street. Th ese 
districts are divided based on similar corridor 
conditions and design interventions. 

District Recommendations

FIGURE 3.2: DISTRICT RECOMMENDATIONS 

Highway 20 to Valley Zone 

Va
lle

y 
St

.

W
oo

d 
St

.

M
en

do
ci

no
 

Av
e

Mariposa
 Market

O
ak

 S
t.

Al
am

ed
a 

Av
e.

M
on

ro
e 

E.
 S

an
 

Fr
an

ci
sc

o 

Ca
lif

or
ni

a 
St

.

Hi
gh

w
ay

 2
0

Fr
an

kl
in

 A
ve

.

Highway 20 to Valley Zone 

Valley to Wood Zone
Wood to 
Commercia



45Chapter 3: Design Strategies + Concepts

Valley to Wood Zone Wood to Commercial Zone North of Commercial Street 

N
0’      120’      240’   360’
SCALE: 1”= 120’

Willits 
High 

School

Av
e.

St
at

e 
St

.

Co
m

m
er

ci
al

 S
t.

Va
n 

Ln
.

Highway 101

Sh
er

w
oo

d 
Rd

.

Ca
st

ee
l 

Ln
.

al Zone North of 
Commercial 
Zone



Willits Main Street Corridor Enhancement Plan46

HIGHWAY 20 TO VALLEY

Design recommendations for the segment of Main Street north of 
Highway 20 to Valley Street address goals to create a more walkable 
portion of Main Street introducing beautifi cation initiatives that link 
the Highway 20 intersection to downtown. Th e enhancements are 
intended to announce the downtown, drawing regional visitors into 
the central business district of Willits. During the charrette process, 
concern was expressed over intersections in this zone and the desire for 
improvements that would slow down traffi  c. Bicycle lanes with painted 
intersection transitions and buff ers and consistent street lighting are 
proposed along the entirety of this section.

Specifi c improvements are proposed in the segment. Starting just south 
of Oak Street, a new median with a gateway opportunity is proposed. 
Th e location is visible from the Highway 20 intersection. Additionally, 
a lit banner structure that spans both sides of the street is proposed 
above the median. Th e changeable vinyl banner, supported by structural 
light poles on either side, can be used to display community events, city 
news, etc. Th e intersection at Oak Street has been improved to include a 
repainted, visible crosswalk for pedestrians. South of Alameda, a planted 
center median is proposed including canopy trees that provide shade, 
beautifi cation and a more intimate sense of scale to the street. 

Pedestrian crosswalks at Alameda and Monroe have been repainted 
to create more visibility for pedestrians and implement important 
connections to Main Street. A median and rapid fl ashing beacon are 
suggested at the Mariposa Market shopping center as this is a high traffi  c 
area for cars and pedestrians. To ensure clear sight lines and safety, ta 
crosswalk in this area should be studied in further detail. An improved 
crosswalk and pedestrian refuge are located on the south intersection 
of Main Street at E. San Francisco Avenue. Th e creek crossing under 
Main Street provides an opportunity to illustrate natural assets along the 
corridor. Designs incorporate signage, colored paving, and decorative 
railings that announce the creek and natural system below.

FIGURE 3.3: CONCEPTUAL PLAN FROM OAK STREET TO VALLEY STREET FIGURE 3.3: CONCEPTUAL PLAN FROM OAK STREET TO VALLEY STREET 

Banner
Median

Pavement Striping

Al
am

ed
a 

Av
e.

E.
 O

ak
 S

t.

W
. O

ak
 S

t.



47Chapter 3: Design Strategies + Concepts

Proposed Street Section at Mariposa Market

5’9”
Bike Lane

5’9”
Bike Lane

7’6”
Sidewalk

7’6”
Sidewalk

3’
Bike Buff er

3’
Bike Buff er

11’
Drive Lane

11’
Drive Lane

10’
Landscaped Median

Median

Colored Asphalt at 
Bridge

0’      30’     60’      90’   120’
SCALE: 1”= 120’

N

Mariposa Market

M
on

ro
e 

St
.

E.
 S

an
 F

ra
nc

isc
o 

Av
e.

Example of  Cloth Banner that spans the street with light poles as structural bases. 



Willits Main Street Corridor Enhancement Plan48

VALLEY STREET TO WOOD STREET 

Th e segment of Main Street from Valley Street to Wood Street/Alley is 
located on the southern border of the downtown core of Main Street. 
Its curve creates a unique experience in the northbound direction as 
the downtown core is revealed and several larger historic buildings 
line the corridor. In this section, more pedestrian foot-traffi  c, active 
retail frontage at the street edge and bicyclists were observed in existing 
conditions analysis. Overall treatments include regularly spaced street 
trees, lights, and bike lanes with buff ers. A critical improvement is the 
widening of sidewalks where they are too narrow for wheelchairs and 
pedestrians to safely pass. Th e Valley intersection is a focused area of 
improvement to enhance safety. 

Th e Valley intersection (actually two intersections due to the off set 
condition) was the subject of much discussion and study during 
the charrette. Concerns about pedestrian safety were as strongly 
communicated as were frustrations by drivers navigating the busy and 
complicated intersection. Th is study reconfi gures the intersections to 
improve sight lines and expand pedestrian access. On the west side, 
Valley is angled to meet Main Street at a ninety degree angle and corner 
radii are adjusted to grant more space for accessible ramps. Th is also 
dramatically shortens the crossing distance. Left  hand vehicle turns 
to northbound Main Street are prohibited, instead directed to the 
right. Th is removes the confl ict with pedestrians in the crosswalk and 
simplifi es vehicle movements at the East Valley intersection. Th e raised 
median which physically blocks left  turns is mountable to emergency 
vehicles and any large vehicles requiring larger turning radius. Th e 

crosswalk across Main Street is located in the most central position, 
aff ording direct access to the Post Offi  ce. Sidewalks and the narrowest 
pinch points are maximized to the greatest extent possible. Other safety 
and traffi  c measures including a traffi  c signal at Valley Street were 
discussed. It would require a special study and if implemented would be 
a high cost item. 

Th e Downtown Streets and Alleys project is also studying potential 
Post Offi  ce parking lot adjustments that could aff ect Main Street. As a 
result, these recommendations are preliminary until further study is 
conducted. Setting up a pilot test using low cost materials would allow 
the City to study the intersection’s function with limited investment.

Valley street has been studied before. Stated in the Willits Circulation 
Memo in the Technical Appendix of this document, the Downtown 
Specifi c Plan made similar recommendations including prohibiting left  
turns from West Valley Street onto Main Street and constructing a raised 
median that still allows northbound left  turns onto West Valley Street. 

Th e proposed bulbout and sidewalk extension at the southwestern side 
of Wood Street creates an opportunity for a potential art or artifact 
location in front of the historic JD Redhouse building. Th e northern 
bulbouts at Wood Street/Alley and Main Street are wide enough for 
seating and mature trees. Th e sidewalk design north of Wood Street/
Alley is consistent with the rest of the downtown core described in 
subsequent pages.

FIGURE 3.4: CONCEPTUAL ILLUSTRATIVE PLAN FROM  VALLEY STREET TO WOOD STREET 

W
. V

al
le

y 
St

.

E.
 V

al
le

y 
St

.

Widened Sidewalk

Widened Sidewalk

US. Post Offi  ce



49Chapter 3: Design Strategies + Concepts

View Looking North of the Valley/Main Intersection 

Art Installations 
and Displays on 
Main Street 
There are several areas, 
including the sidewalk 
extension in front of JD 
Redhouse on Main and Wood 
Street and intersec  ons of 
the downtown core that have 
space for Sculptures, Signage 
and Artwork. The displays can 
be permanent or rotated on a 
seasonal or otherwise basis. 
A street art program can be 
coordinated by one of the 
many ac  ve ins  tu  ons in 
Willits. 

0’                 40’                 80’             120’
SCALE: 1”= 80’ N

JD Redhouse

W
oo

d 
St

.

W
oo

d 
Al

le
y

Poten  al Art/
Ar  fact Loca  on

Zone with Decora  ve 
Paving, Street Trees, 
Furnishings



Willits Main Street Corridor Enhancement Plan50

WOOD STREET TO COMMERCIAL STREET 

Th e Dowtown Core spans from Wood Street to Commercial Street. 
Local retail, restaurants, and public institutions are concentrated in 
this walkable district making up the heart of Willits. Small streets and 
alleys east and west of downtown link to Main Street and also provide 
amenities that include galleries, theaters, bars and restaurants. Th e 
sidewalks in this section of Main Street are adequate at about twelve feet, 
with occasional building setbacks that allow for additional activation or 
planting by the adjacent business. 

Th e conceptual design creates a series of legible spaces that heighten 
the sense of place and safe movement of people. Th e street is lined with 
canopy trees and lights that suggest arrival in the downtown. Th e wide 
sidewalks are enhanced with bulbouts and a continuous sidewalk zone 
for street trees, furnishing, pedestrian scale lighting, and decorative 
paving. Th e street trees mid-block will provide a consistent canopy. At 
the bulbouts, trees can be larger given the amount of soil and space for 
planters. Furnishings such as benches and bike racks should provide 
utility and comfort while reinforcing the town identity.  Benches made 
of simple wood beams with industrial metal braces are shown in the 
illustration. Th ese could be made locally and would refl ect Willits’ 
heritage. Crosswalks are well marked with “continental” style banding. 
Accessible curb cuts are in line with the sidewalk path of travel and 
confi gured in some locations to incorporate additional planting. Along 

this section of Main Street, there are several opportunities for art 
installations and gathering spaces as noted in the plan. Th is area also 
provides the most potential in terms of stormwater treatment, as there 
are planted bulbouts at almost every corner.

At Van Lane and Main Street, the current east- west pedestrian “desire 
line” and well-used crosswalk could be transformed into a raised 
intersection that links the plaza on the eastern side and a series of inter-
connected alleys on the western side. Th e crosswalk would continue 
the same paving pattern as the sidewalk zone downtown, providing a 
textured, raised surface to help with visibility. A plaza on the east side 
of Van Lane is proposed to transition between the sidewalk and public 
parking lot. It could be designed to expand, creating a larger place of 
gathering during special events and parking at other times. Th is could 
be a location for the historic artifacts such as the Babcock Bells to be 
displayed and enjoyed by visitors.

Parking is placed continuously along the corridor in a parallel layout 
between corner bulbouts at Main Street. Bike lanes with buff ers are 
also consistent, connecting cyclists from the south northward through 
downtown to the high school and areas to the north. Bike racks located 
in the sidewalk furnishing zone respond to the fact that cycling will 
increase in popularity and businesses will benefi t from the improved 
access.

FIGURE 3.5: CONCEPTUAL ILLUSTRATIVE PLAN FROM  WOOD STREET TO COMMERCIAL STREET 

W
oo

d 
Al

le
y

W
oo

d 
St

.

JD Redhouse

Zone with Decora  ve 
Paving, Street Trees, 
Furnishings

Poten  al Art/
Ar  fact Loca  on

E.
 M

en
do

ci
no

 S
tr

ee
t

W
. M

en
do

ci
no

 S
tr

ee
t



51Chapter 3: Design Strategies + Concepts

image

A view looking south on Main Street towards Ardella’s illustrating a furnishing zone with generous trees, benches, planting and artifacts. 

0’                 40’                 80’              120’
SCALE: 1”= 80’

N

Raised Intersec  on

Brickhouse Coff ee

W
. C

om
m

er
ci

al
 S

t.

E.
 V

an
 L

an
e

W
. V

an
 L

an
e

E.
 C

om
m

er
ci

al
 S

t.

Plaza

Poten  al Art/ 
Ar  fact Loca  on



Willits Main Street Corridor Enhancement Plan52

WOOD STREET TO 
COMMERCIAL STREET CONT’D

Th e Commercial intersection is improved for 
vehicle and pedestrian safety. A left  turn signal 
phase is added on the east side. Countdown 
ped phases and pedestrian advance intervals 
are also recommended. On the west side, 
right turns to southbound Main Street are 
aff orded through slight adjustment in the 
size of the bulbout. Stop bars are pulled back 
to accommodate larger vehicles and trucks 
making turns. Bicycle lane markings continue 
through the intersection. 

image

image

A view looking north on Main Street at Mendocino Avenue.  

A view looking south on Main Street at the Commercial intersection, illustrating the raised intersection at Van Lane. 



53Chapter 3: Design Strategies + Concepts

Placemaking on 
Main Street 
Each bulbout intersec  on in 
the downtown core off ers 
areas for Placemaking. 
This means that the 
character of Willits can be 
manifested in furnishings, 
art, trees, tree grates, and 
street lights. Materials 
should be introduced that 
are consistent with the 
vocabulary of Willits and 
Mendocino County materials 
including wood beams, 
logs, and industrial metal 
fabrica  ons.

image

image

A detailed view of the Main Street/Mendocino Avenue intersection. 

A view of the intersection at Wood Street showing pedestrian scale, decorative street lights with wood poles. 



Willits Main Street Corridor Enhancement Plan54

NORTH OF COMMERCIAL 

Th e conceptual design on Main Street north 
of Commercial focuses on providing safe 
access to the high school, businesses, and 
nearby neighborhoods. Th e Main Street bike 
lanes continue to the high school. Downtown 
character treatments such as street trees, 
lighting, and sidewalk improvements extend 
to State Street and Sherwood Road. A more 
rural condition where trees are located in 
clusters and lighting shift s to a less pedestrian 
scaled decorative fi xture, extends north from 
Sherwood.

At the State Street intersection, a new median 
is proposed in the center of Main Street as 
a pedestrian refuge with a Rapid Flashing 
Beacon to help with pedestrian visibility. Th e 
median could also serve as a potential art/
artifact location as it is the northern entryway 
to the downtown core. 

Improvements at Willits High School are 
designed to create a more accessible route for 
students and faculty who bike and walk to 
school. Th e sidewalk gap that currently exists 
in front of the high school has been replaced 
with a 10 foot wide sidewalk and consistent 
tree canopy to buff er from vehicles. A two-
way bicycle crossing at Main Street has been 
designed so that bicyclists can safely cross to 
go south on Main Street or turn into the high 
school if they are traveling from Sherwood 
Road or a northern neighborhood. Th e two-
way, off -street bicycle lane gives direct access 
to Willits High School. Th ere is opportunity 
for stormwater treatment in this area.

Th is on street two way bicycle lane has proven to be a comfortable place for children and adults to use. Th e planned two way bicycle 
lane will be off -street, creating an even larger buff er for bicyclists. 

FIGURE 3.6: CONCEPTUAL ILLUSTRATIVE PLAN NORTH OF COMMERCIAL STREET

St
at

e 
St

.

Rapid Flashing Beacon 
and Poten  al Art/
Ar  fact Loca  on



55Chapter 3: Design Strategies + Concepts

Safe Routes to 
School 
These photos showcase two 
bicycle design interven  ons 
that will support the Safe 
Routes to School Plan (2009) 
and are loosely applied to 
the Main Street conceptual 
design illustrated below. 

A bicycle crossing at intersection is essential at Sherwood Road. Th e example here shows how pedestrians and bicyclists can cross the 
street safely. 

Sh
er

w
oo

d 
Rd

.

N0’      30’     60’      90’   120’
SCALE: 1”= 120’

Two-Way Bicycle Lane 
Crossing

Two-Way, Off  Street 
Bicycle Lane to Access 
Willits High School 



Willits Main Street Corridor Enhancement Plan56

SOUTH OF HIGHWAY 20

OVERVIEW

Beautifi cation, identity, access, and safety 
emerged as priorities for the southern 
corridor. From civic gateway treatments 
at Browns Corner to median planting and 
decorative lighting, strategies for improving 
the character of the corridor are proposed. 
While the automobile is the primary means of 
getting around currently, recommendations 
to enhance mobility options focus on bicycle 
and pedestrian access. Transit access is also 
addressed. Th e addition of bike lanes gives 
residents real choices in safe alternatives to the 
car. Th e projected volumes of vehicles using 
the corridor aft er the bypass is opened can be 
easily accommodated in a single lane in each 
direction. Th is section demonstrates how the 
excess width could be reassigned to planting 
and or safe bicycle access. 

As this portion of Main Street is still within 
Caltrans Right of Way, designs will be required 
to accommodate requirements including, 
ADA accessibility, and Highway Design 
Manual requirements related to the Surface 
Transportation Assisstance Act (STAA). 

image

Th is gateway in Portland, OR uses local materials and identity to display civic identity. Th ese concepts can be applied to several 
gateways south of Highway 20, including the roundabout at Brown’s Corner. 

A center median and bicycle lane with a wide buff er display two possibilities for South Main Street. 

GATEWAY SIGNAGE CASE STUDY 



57Chapter 3: Design Strategies + Concepts

FIGURE 3.7: SOUTH OF HIGHWAY 20 CONCEPTUAL DIAGRAM

buffered bicycle lane 

crosswalk 

intersection improvements 

gateway 

wayfinding 

road diet

Ba
ec

ht
el

 R
oa

d 

Gregory Lane 

North Baechtel Road

To Fort Bragg

South of Highway 
20 Conceptual 
Diagram
The diagram highlights 
opportuni  es to address 
civic iden  ty at the entrance 
to Willits as well as safety 
improvements along the two 
mile plus stretch. 



Willits Main Street Corridor Enhancement Plan58

TYPOLOGIES 

Th ree potential confi gurations or typologies 
are shown for the southern segment. Each 
addresses character and access concerns raised 
by the community. A particular confi guration 
can be implemented in a phased strategy from 
near to long term or one approach may be 
built for perpetuity. It is possible that multiple 
confi gurations can be combined to respond to 
particular opportunities and constraints along 
the segment.

Th e fi rst typology is a low cost solution 
to address the lack of bike lanes, is highly 
appropriate for a near term, early phase 
implementation strategy. Traffi  c engineers 
found that one lane in each direction is 
ample to accommodate the reduced number 
of vehicles projected to occur aft er the 
bypass is opened. New data from actual 
vehicle counts will be available to confi rm 
the recommendation. A pilot program 
with cones or low cost striping may also be 
useful to address concerns about reducing 
the number of travel lanes. Bike lanes with 
signifi cant painted buff ers can be painted to 
replace the outside lane. Th is facility is ideal 
for recreational riders, commuters, and kids 
getting to school. A center turn lane remains 
in place to allow left  hand turn access into 
driveways and side streets.

An added benefi t of one lane in each direction 
is to keep vehicles moving at the posted 
speed limit. Speeding drivers take advantage 
of unused lanes and their high speeds create 
safety challenges. Another benefi t to drivers 
is the added space to pull out into the vehicle 
lane. Th e bike lane and buff er off ers good 
visibility to approaching cars. 

Th e second typology builds on the fi rst by 
recognizing the opportunity for private 
property owners to enhance their frontages 
with tree and understory planting. Façade 
improvements and connections between the 
front door and sidewalk would contribute 

Typology 3: Ideal Long Term Solution 

Typology 1: Low Cost Solution 

Typology 2: Enhanced Frontage 

Traffi  c Lane

Traffi  c Lane

Traffi  c Lane

Private frontage 
improvements

Private frontage 
improvements

Bicycle Lane

Bicycle Lane

Bicycle Lane

Turning Lane

Turning Lane

Gateway median

Bicycle Buff er

Bicycle Buff er

Bicycle Buff er



59Chapter 3: Design Strategies + Concepts

Center medians create opportunities for planting and help visually breakdown wide roadways. Large trees create a sense of scale that 
tends to reduce the number of high speed vehicles. Maintenance of median planting can be a challenge due to access. Low maintenance 
design and drought tolerant approaches are important.

signifi cantly to the public realm character and 
property value. While street trees are oft en 
planted in the sidewalk, there is not adequate 
space as it exists. Curbs can be moved in 
to widen the sidewalk and allow space for 
planting. However, this improvement is 
quite expensive due to the impacts on storm 
drainage, curbs, and sidewalk. 

Th e third typology is an ideal long term 
confi guration combining extensive 
beautifi cation with mobility enhancements 
for cyclists and pedestrians. Where left  hand 
turn driveway access is less important, a wide 
planted median can be placed in the center 
of the road. Th e width is ample for large trees 
and gateway features such as historic industrial 
artifacts or public art. Caltrans standards 
suggest the width is needed to satisfy criteria 
for highway conditions. As shown, the wide 
median would be strategically located and left  
turn lanes would occur at either end.

Buff ers give space between cyclists and higher speed vehicles. Th is example is from Marin County near San Anselmo where a high speed 
four lane road was modifi ed to accommodate cyclists.

Consistency of vegetation along the corridor helps enhance the character and beautify the street. Unifi ed planting can be especially 
important when buildings are low and set back at diff erent distances with surface parking lots in front. Low hedges help screen parked 
cars and expanses of asphalt.



Willits Main Street Corridor Enhancement Plan60

SPECIFIC RECOMMENDATIONS

During the charrette, specifi c intersections 
were studied in greater detail to identify 
potential improvements. Recommendations 
address safety, character, and expanded access 
for pedestrian and cyclists.

BROWNS CORNER 

Th e fi rst intersection on the approach into 
the southern city limits is Browns Corner. 
Highway 101 (soon to be Highway 20) 
intersects with the southern end of Baechtel 
Road and Muir Mill Road. Th e side streets are 
stop controlled. Residents expressed concern 
about the diffi  culty to make turns into and 
out of Baechtel Road across 101 traffi  c. Speeds 
are high in this location due to the highway 
approach. Sightlines are not ideal due to 
grades. Volumes of vehicles using Baechtel 
Road has increased due to the opening of 
the new hospital making the concerns more 
commonly reported. Th e upward trend is 
expected to continue as planned subdivisions 
are planned in the area and will generate more 
traffi  c at the intersection. 

Th e idea of a roundabout was fi rst discussed 
as part of the Baechtel Road - Railroad Avenue 
Study (2003). Roundabouts help facilitate 
the safe movement of vehicles through an 
intersection. Th e additional benefi t is the 
ability to create a civic gateway, using the 
circular center and surrounding edges for 
planting. Th e community was very supportive 
of the safety improvements and enthusiastic 
about incorporation of sculpture/signage/
industrial relics as part of a town gateway. 

Th e preliminary engineering layout explored 
the feasibility of locating the roundabout. 
Some grading will be required on the 
existing corners and some private property is 
impacted on the northeast corner. However no 
structures are aff ected, including existing gas 
pumps, and impacts appear to be negligible. 

image

A view of the gateway at Brown’s Corner. 

An aerial view of the roundabout. 

Looking towards North Main Street. 

MAIN ST.

M
AI

N 
ST

.



61Chapter 3: Design Strategies + Concepts

Figure 3.9: Remco/Walnut Circulation Diagram 

Figure 3.8: Conceptual Plan of Main Street and North Beachtel Intersection 

NORTH BAECHTEL 
INTERSECTION 

Improvement strategies at the north Bechtel 
intersection focused on vehicle confl icts and 
pedestrian safety. Th e number of vehicles 
making a left  turn on to Baechtel from 
southbound 101 has increased and is expected 
to increase further in the future.  Vehicular 
stack up in the short left  turn lane as drivers 
wait for a break in 101 northbound traffi  c 
and drivers making left  turn out of Baechtel 
to southbound 101. Th e concept prioritizes 
the turn into Baechtel and restricts left  turns 
out. Th is is an alternative to a costly signalized 
intersection which will require studies to 
determine the warrant of a signal. Pedestrian 
access is greatly improved in the concept. 
A safe crosswalk can be added to allow 
pedestrians to cross the highway and take 
refuge half way in a raised center median. 

REMCO/WALNUT SITE 

Th e block segment between Walnut and 
Highway 20 includes the Willits gateway arch, 
a major shopping center destination, a railroad 
crossing, and an industrial site undergoing 
redevelopment. Concerns about traffi  c in 
and out of driveways and congested lanes 
associated with merging for Highway 20 were 
heard during the charrette. Also discussed was 
the number of students crossing the 101 near 
Walnut and heading northeast through the 
Safeway shopping center. Th is study makes 
preliminary recommendations for safety and 
street confi guration while also recommending 
further evaluation of several intersections 
as part of the Remco re-development. A 
pedestrian crossing is recommended near the 
Safeway driveway and arch. It is proposed as 
a well-marked, signal controlled crosswalk 
with either a rectangular rapid fl ashing beacon 
(RRFB) or a pedestrian Hybrid Beacon 
(PHB).  Left  turns into the driveway would be 
redirected to multiple other access points.

SAFEWAY

MAIN STREET

FO
RT

 B
RA

G 
RO

AD

Evaluate reduc  on of 
driveway widths

Channelized turns to reduce 
crosswalk distances and 
accommodate trucks

Futher study of 
intersec  on for Remco 
Project

Bike Lanes

Pedestrian Route

Evaluate midblock 
crosswalk treatments 
(RRFB or PHB)

Pedestrian Route 
to Baechtel 

Middle School

Road Diet

Further study of 
intersec  on for Remco 

Project including 
poten  al traffi  c signal

REMCO





CHAPTER 4: 
IMPLEMENTATION

OVERVIEW

INITIAL PHASE

FUTURE PHASE

DIY STREETSCAPE



Willits Main Street Corridor Enhancement Plan64

Children testing the design interventions at the Living Preview. 



65Chapter 4: Implementation

Overview 
Streets are complex urban places with layers of materials, function, and 
jurisdiction. Th e improvements identifi ed in this plan are conceived 
to be implementable and implemented. Th e Caltrans relinquishment 
project is a fortunate opportunity that makes these initiatives very real. 
However the corridor is multiple miles long and more than half is not 
a part of the planned project. Th erefore multiple phases are necessary. 
A combination of time and persistence, grant writing, collaborative 
partnerships, and layering and leveraging of multiple funding sources 
will be necessary to bring the community’s vision for the Main Street 
corridor from concept to construction. Th is chapter addresses potential 
funding sources that can be pursued by the City of Willits, its funding 
partners, and the community. Th is chapter also addresses costs and 
phasing of the project. 



Willits Main Street Corridor Enhancement Plan66

Initial Phase 
CALTRANS RELINQUISHMENT PLAN 

At the time of writing this document, Caltrans and the City of Willits are 
still negotiating the terms of relinquishment. Th e relinquishment project 
includes Main Street from north of Highway 20 to Sherwood Road --  a 
signifi cant stretch that includes downtown. To be determined is who 
leads the project and funding sources for components the City seeks to 
add to the base level Caltrans project. Th e initial phase components will 
be fi nalized once Caltrans and the City of Willits reach an agreement on 
the relinquishment plans. Th e initial phase should include conceptual 
irrigation plans as well. Some priorities for the fi rst phase have been 
outlined. Th ose priorities include: 

• New sidewalks and roadway repaving, including restriping the 
street with bike lanes and crosswalks

• Widened sidewalks where needed (Note: Not part of the 
relinquishment agreement, however could be performed at the time 
of construction. Futher coordination between the City and Caltrans 
would be needed. 

• ADA accessible crossings 

• New curb extensions for pedestrian safety and traffi  c calming at 
some intersections.

Additional changes that the City of Willits and Caltrans are still 
negotiating include but are not limited to: 

• Street lights  

• Tree wells, structural soil, and planting areas

• Sidewalk enhancements such as special paving

• Irrigation supply, sleeves, and pipe

Special features and components could be added by the City aft er 
completion of the primary construction project include:

• Furnishings such as benches, bike racks

• Public art, artifacts

• Signage, banners

• Street trees and planting

• Irrigation



67Chapter 4: Implementation

Future Phases 
Th e future phase for this project will encompass elements not included 
in the relinquishment plans in the northern section of Main Street and 
all of the interventions in the southern portion of Main Street. 

FUNDING MECHANISMS 

Applying for, securing, and managing grant funding requires eff ort 
and dedication. A variety of strategies can be utilized to pursue the 
funding sources listed below. For example, the City of Willits may wish 
to hire a grant writer or partner with other funding agencies such as the 
Mendocino Council of Governments to submit grant applications. 

Another fundraising strategy that the City may wish to evaluate for 
feasibility is the creation of a Business Improvement District (BID). A 
BID is a defi ned area within which businesses pay an assessment to fund 
district-wide marketing and promotion, maintenance, and design and 
installation of improvements and amenities. Th ese fees provide money 
beyond what the city can provide in that area. Grant funds acquired by 
the city for special programs and/or incentives such as tax abatements 
can be made available to assist businesses or to recruit new business in 
the district.

Another funding strategy that the City may use to evaluate feasibility is 
the creation of a Business Improvement District (BID) BID’s traditional 
funding sources, as well as non-traditional funding mechanisms 
are described in this chapter. BIDs are discussed in more detail on 
subsequent pages in this section. 

ACTIVE TRANSPORTATION PROGRAM 

Th e Active Transportation Program (ATP) was created by the California 
Legislature to encourage increased use of active modes of transportation, 
such as biking and walking. Th e ATP consolidates various federal and 
state transportation programs into one funding stream. Th e ATP is 
administered by Caltrans’ Division of Local Assistance, Offi  ce of Active 
Transportation and Special Programs.

Th e City and the school districts are eligible applicants for ATP funding 
(county and tribal government public works and planning agencies, 
transit agencies, and regional transportation planning agencies are also 
eligible). Many applicants choose to partner with health departments, 
local community-based organizations and advocacy groups to develop 
proposals. Applications for engineering and construction projects 
sometimes require the support of private consultants to develop project 
work scopes and cost estimates.

Eligible projects for ATP funding include:

• Infrastructure – capital improvements, including planning, design 
and construction.

• Non-infrastructure – education, encouragement, enforcement and 
planning activities that further the program’s goals.

• Combined Infrastructure and non-infrastructure activities. 

• Plans, which must be stand-alone.

Project examples include the development of bikeways and 
walkways, installation of crosswalks, traffi  c-control devices and 
lighting that improve safety for non-motorists, bike-share programs, 
bike-carrying facilities on public transit, bike parking and storage 
facilities, landscaping that improves bicycle-and pedestrian safety and 
convenience, trails that serve a transportation purpose projects that 
improve the safety of non-motorized students, and education programs 
to increase walking and biking. Th e minimum request for ATP funds is 
$250,000. Th is minimum does not apply to non-infrastructure projects 
(i.e., funding for plans and programs instead of construction) and Safe 
Routes to Schools projects.

Th e application deadline for the third cycle of ATP grants was June 
2016. Th is cycle included $240 million in funding for the 2019/20 and 
2020/21 fi scal years. Th e fourth cycle has not yet been announced, but 
will likely occur, pending California Transportation Commission and 
legislative approval, in Spring 2018. For more information visit: http://
www.dot.ca.gov/hq/LocalPrograms/atp/

AFFORDABLE HOUSING AND SUSTAINABLE 
COMMUNITIES GRANTS (AHSC) 

Administered by the Strategic Growth Council and implemented by 
the Department of Housing and Community Development, the AHSC 
program provides grants and/or loans to projects that:

• Result in the reduction of greenhouse gas emissions and vehicle 
miles travelled (VMT) through land-use, housing, transportation 
and agricultural-land preservation practices that support infi ll and 
compact development.

• Increase accessibility of housing, employment centers and key 
destinations through low-carbon transportation options such as 
walking, biking and transit.

Th e program specifi es three types of eligible project categories:

• Transit Oriented Development (TOD), which requires high 
frequency public transit (peak period 15 minute headways or less) 



Willits Main Street Corridor Enhancement Plan68

and a stop or station within ½ mile of the project to qualify. 

• Integrated Connectivity Project (ICP), which requires public transit 
that departs two or more times during peak hours and a stop or 
station within ½ mile of the project to qualify.

• Rural Innovation Project Areas (RIPA), same as the requirements 
for ICP above, or can be met by availability of fl exible transit (e.g., 
van pool programs or shuttle service).

Projects in Willits might qualify under both the ICP and RIPA 
categories, but would likely be most competitive under the latter. 

In addition to aff ordable housing construction or rehabilitation, a wide 
range of transportation and transit improvements and programs are 
eligible for funding such as, sidewalks, bike lanes, bike paths, pedestrian 
crossings and traffi  c calming, lighting and signage, development or 
improvement of transit stops and stations, and vehicles to expand transit 
service.

Th e City, County, aff ordable housing and mixed-income housing 
developers, school districts, Mendocino COG and Transit Agency 
are among those eligible to apply, either individually or jointly. Th e 
minimum and maximum amounts for projects are $500,000 and $20 
million. 

Th e application deadline for the previous cycle of AHSC grants was 
March 2016, with $320 million available statewide for funding. Th e 
next cycle of AHSC has not yet been announced, but will likely occur 
in Spring 2017. For more information, visit: http://www.hcd.ca.gov/
fi nancial-assistance/aff ordable-housing-and-sustainable-communities/

index.html; http://sgc.ca.gov/Grant-Programs/AHSC-Fast-Facts.html

CALFIRE URBAN AND COMMUNITY FORESTRY 
PROGRAM 

In 2016, CalFire along with California ReLeaf granted $385,000 in 
funding for tree planting projects through the California ReLeaf . 
Individual grants ranged from $18,500 to $70,000.  Concept proposals 
for the next round of funding are due in November 2017. For more 
information, visit: http://calfi re.ca.gov/resource_mgt/resource_mgt_
urbanforestry_grants

CITY OF WILLITS TRANSPORTATION SALES TAX 
IMPROVEMENT PROGRAM 

Th e City of Willits collects a ½ cent sales tax to fund transportation 
projects on local streets and roads. Eligible expenses include main-
tenance, rehabilitation, reconstruction and construction, including 
sidewalks, curbs and gutters, ADA accessibility, and drainage facilities. 
Funds will be applied to local street projects, less administrative expens-
es such as Board of Equalization contract costs, account maintenance 
fees, and fi scal audit costs. 

COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT BLOCK GRANTS 

Under the State CDBG Program, states award grants to smaller units of 
general local government that develop and preserve decent aff ordable 
housing, to provide services to the most vulnerable in our communities, 
and to create and retain jobs. Annually, each State develops funding 
priorities and criteria for selecting projects. Th e following types of 
projects are eligible:

• Acquisition of real property

• Relocation and demolition

• Rehabilitation of residential and non-residential structures

• Construction of public facilities and improvements, such as 
water and sewer facilities, streets, neighborhood centers, and the 
conversion of school buildings for eligible purposes

• Public services, within certain limits

• Activities relating to energy conservation and renewable energy 
resources

• Provision of assistance to nonprofi t and profi t-motivated businesses 
to carry out economic development and job creation/retention 
activities

For more information visit: https://www.hudexchange.info/programs/
cdbg-state/

ENVIRONMENTAL ENHANCEMENT AND 
MITIGATION PROGRAM (EEMP) 

Th e program off ers a total of $7 million each year for grants to local, 
state, and federal governmental agencies and to nonprofi t organizations 
for projects to mitigate the environmental impacts caused by new or 
modifi ed public transportation facilities. Th e EEM Program encourages 
projects that produce multiple benefi ts which reduce greenhouse gas 
emissions, increase water use effi  ciency, reduce risks from climate 
change impacts, and demonstrate collaboration with local, state and 
community entities. EEM Program funds urban forestry projects.



69Chapter 4: Implementation

Th e Guidelines and Application are published by the Natural Resources 
Agency each year. Th e Natural Resources Agency evaluates project 
proposals and provides a list of recommended projects to the California 
Transportation Commission (CTC) for consideration. Th e Department 
of Transportation administers the approved grants. For more 
information visit: http://resources.ca.gov/bonds_and_grants/eemp/

HIGHWAY SAFETY IMPROVEMENT PROGRAM 
(HSIP) 

HSIP is a core federal-aid program to States for the purpose of achieving 
a signifi cant reduction in fatalities and serious injuries on all public 
roads. Th e Caltrans’ Division of Local Assistance (DLA) manages 
California’s local agency share of HSIP funds. California’s Local HSIP 
focuses on infrastructure projects with nationally recognized crash 
reduction factors (CRFs). Local HSIP projects must be identifi ed on 
the basis of crash experience, crash potential, crash rate, or other data-
supported means.

Th is competitive grant program is based on a safety index, collision and 
accident data, and a benefi t/cost ratio. HSIP funds are eligible for work 
on any public road or publicly owned bicycle or pedestrian pathway or 
trail, or on tribal lands for general use of tribal members, that improves 
the safety for its users. HSIP funds projects between $100,000 and $10 
million; this may include costs for preliminary engineering, right of way, 
and construction. Projects involving state highways may be initiated by 
Caltrans or the Local Agency.

Eligible projects include: bicycle and pedestrian facilities, correction 
or improvements to safety in the roadway; traffi  c calming, traffi  c 
signs, sight distance improvements, pavement markings, and roadway 
realignment. HSIP has a special category of funding, with its own 
requirements for High Risk Rural Roads (HR3).

During Cycle 7, HSIP funded $175 million in projects, including 11 
HR3 projects, and a roundabout along Highway 299 in Trinity County. 
Th e application deadline for Cycle 8 of HSIP was in August 2016. 
Information on Cycle 9 has not been released. For more information, 
visit http://www.dot.ca.gov/hq/LocalPrograms/hsip.htm

OFFICE OF TRAFFIC SAFETY GRANTS 

Th e Offi  ce of Traffi  c Safety (OTS) administers traffi  c safety grant funds 
to reduce traffi  c deaths, injuries and economic losses. OTS distributes 
funds statewide in the form of traffi  c safety grants that are awarded 
to political subdivisions of the state based upon certain criteria. OTS 
develops a yearly Highway Safety Plan (HSP) that identifi es the primary 
highway safety problems in the State and provides potential solutions. 

Identifi ed in conjunction with the National Highway Traffi  c Safety 
Administration, OTS has several priority areas for grant funding, 
including Police Traffi  c Services, Emergency Medical Services, 
Roadway Safety, and Pedestrian and Bicycle Safety. In addition to state 
governmental agencies, state colleges, and state universities, subdivisions 
of the state include local city and county government agencies, school 
districts, fi re departments, and public emergency services providers. 
Non-profi t, community-based organizations (CBOs) are eligible to apply 
for funding through a political subdivision of the state. For example, 
a county department may submit a proposal that includes funding 
for CBO participation. Th e CBO funding would be included under 
contractual services in the proposal budget. For more information visit: 
http://www.ots.ca.gov/

STATE TRANSPORTATION IMPROVEMENT 
PROGRAM (STIP)/FEDERAL TRANSPORTATION 
IMPROVEMENT PROGRAM (FTIP) 

Th is program represents the lion’s share of California’s state and federal 
transportation dollars. STIP/FTIP funds can be used for a wide variety 
of projects, including road rehabilitation, intersections, bicycle and 
pedestrian facilities, public transit, and other projects that enhance the 
region’s transportation infrastructure. Funding for this program usually 
occurs every two years. For more information visit: http://www.dot.
ca.gov/hq/LocalPrograms/STIP.htm

USDA-RURAL BUSINESS ENTERPRISE GRANTS 
(RBEG)

Th ese grants are available to rural public entities (towns, communities, 
State agencies, and authorities), Indian tribes and rural private non-
profi t corporations. Th e primary criterion is the creation of jobs and 
economic development, with an emphasis on small business. Th ey can 
be used for training, technical assistance, capital expenditures, parking, 
access streets and roads, façade improvements, and other uses. Th ey 
typically range from $10,000 to $500,000. See website at http://www.
rd.usda.gov/programs-services/rural-business-development-grants.

BUSINESS IMPROVEMENT DISTRICTS

Th e creation of an improvement district is more involved than an 
informal association or non-profi t.  However, it provides both an 
organizational structure and a means for fi nancing improvements in 
collaboration with the city. 

Many communities – large and small – use quasi-governmental entities 
called “business improvement districts,” or BIDs, to secure funding 



Willits Main Street Corridor Enhancement Plan70

to foster growth and revitalization of designated commercial business 
districts. Th ese are commonly property-based (PBID) and business-
based (BBID).

More than 200 PBIDs are operating throughout California. Nationwide, 
more than 2,000 BIDs are being used by communities to support local 
business enhancements. For a PBID, property owners pay an assessment 
determined by some measure of property value. For a BBID, business 
owners pay an assessment typically determined by some measure of 
sales revenue, business size or business license fee.

BIDs provide revenue for a variety of local improvements and 
services that supplement or enhance existing municipal services, 
such as marketing, public safety, enhanced sidewalk and landscaping 
maintenance, signage, and parking management and improvements. 
Under state law, a BID’s boundaries must be contiguous, and the 
improvements and/or services must occur within those boundaries.

A BID is generally self-imposed and self-governed. In most cases, 
property and business owners create a nonprofi t organization (a 
downtown association or community development corporation, for 
example) with its own governing board, which, by contracting with the 
city, manages and directs the funds collected and services provided for 
the BID. Assessments are paid by either the property owner through 
property tax bills (PBID) or by the business owner (BBID). For example, 
a Tourism BID, which focuses specifi cally on tourism-related marketing 
and promotions may assess business owners a percentage of a business’ 
sales or revenues.

• Based on State law, BIDs are fl exible in terms of the activities and 
projects they can fund, except that they cannot be used to replace 
funding for existing municipal services. For example, BIDs may 
fund:

• Management and operations.

• Marketing.

• Special events.

• Public safety.

• Enhanced maintenance (such as sidewalk cleaning, graffi  ti removal 
and landscaping).

• Public art.

• Capital improvements (including street lights, street furniture and 
façade restorations).

• Signage and wayfi nding.

• Advocacy on behalf of BID members.

• Design of BID capital improvements.

• Parking management and improvements.

NON-TRADITIONAL FUNDING 
MECHANISMS

CIVIC CROWDFUNDING

Crowdfunding is a means to collect monetary contributions from a 
large number of people or sources through an online platform to fund 
a project or venture. Civic crowdfunding is very fl exible in the projects 
that can be funded. Examples might include bike racks, community 
gardens, playgrounds, renovation projects, neighborhood markets, 
cultural facilities, parks and recreation facilities, social services and 
conservation-easement purchases.

Examples of civic-specifi c crowdfunding platforms include Ioby 
and Citizinvestor. A platform like Neighbor.ly facilitates individual 
investment in municipal bonds. Larger crowdfunding sites, such as 
Gofundme, Kickstarter and Indiegogo, also have “community” or “civic” 
categories for projects.

Gofundme has allowed more than $1 billion to be raised from 16 
million donors since it launched in 2010. Ioby has recorded donations 
totaling more than $2 million – with approximately 600 civic projects 
successfully funded.

Th e average fundraising goal for an active project is about $7,000, with 
an average donor living within two miles of their project. Ioby also 
has an 87% funding success rate, which is much higher than non-civic 
crowdfunding projects.

Th e lead for a crowdfunding eff ort could be an individual, a community-
based organization, any nonprofi t or a government entity. Th ey would 
use an online platform to initiate a crowdfunding campaign.

Crowdfunding platforms have been generally geared toward raising 
relatively small sums for gap funding, small scale or incremental 
projects, and to help seed larger projects. But larger examples exist. 
In 2014, the San Diego Opera generated more than $2 million in 
crowdfunding contributions to save its company and launch its 2015-16 
season. Nearly half of the donors had never given to the San Diego 
Opera before.



71Chapter 4: Implementation

Some municipalities are experimenting with crowdfunding as a source 
for larger public infrastructure projects. Denver recently crowdfunded 
$12 million worth of mini-bonds. Th e bond off ering, the last phase of a 
$550 million voter-approved bond program to upgrade roads and civic 
buildings, was available only to Colorado residents. Th e bonds were 
priced in aff ordable denominations of $500, versus the typical $5,000 
minimum for municipal bonds. Orders were limited to $20,000 per 
person. Had the bonds been off ered conventionally through Wall Street, 
the average purchase would most likely have been in the $500,000 to $1 
million range, according to the City’s Deputy Mayor. Off ered on-line 
through the City’s web site, the mini-bonds sold out in 16 minutes. 
Offi  cials made refunds to hundreds of people who placed orders aft er 
the bonds sold out.

For more information:

• “Crowdfunding Fans Are Crazy About Denver’s Mini-Bonds,” 
https://nextcity.org/daily/entry/denver-mini-bonds-500-
crowdfunding-cities

• “Putting the Public Back in Public Finance,” New York Times, July 
10, 2015, http://nyti.ms/1dR9AzY

• Citizinvestor.citizinvestor.com

• Gofundme.gofundme.com

• Kickstarter.kickstarter.com

• Ioby.ioby.org

• Neighbor.ly.neighborly.com



Willits Main Street Corridor Enhancement Plan72

DIY Streetscape 
Prior to the initiation of this plan, Willits merchants and community 
members have proposed several interesting ideas for designs along 
Main Street, from museum exhibits, to working locomotives, these 
ideas have led to the creation of a DIY Streetscape section. Several of 
the improvements mentioned in previous chapters including benches, 
artifacts and other sidewalk interventions can be done through a 
more grass roots eff ort along a shorter timeline. Th e following section 
summarizes what some of these DIY projects could be and explains two 
case studies from Memphis, TN and San Francisco, CA. 

SUMMARY 

Working together, the City, business and property owners, residents and 
other organizations and associations could install temporary transfor-
mations and fl exible “pop up” installations to visualize, test, experience 
and promote changes, and attract new public and private investment.  
Sometimes referred to as “tactical urbanism,” “placemaking” or simply 
“pilot projects,” there is a growing number of examples across the nation. 
Sample projects include:

• Converting street edges into enhanced bikeways.

• Converting on-street parking spaces into extended sidewalks 
with outdoor seating and other features, known as parklets or 
streetdecks.

• Adding chairs, landscaping, art and other street furniture on 
existing sidewalks.

• Converting vacant lots into community gardens and play lots.

• Converting off -street parking areas into small plazas or food-
vendor courtyards.

• Improving blank walls with public art and colorful murals.

• Painting intersections and crosswalks for traffi  c calming and 
beautifi cation with community-based art.

Changes are oft en installed with local donated or recycled materials, 
supplies and volunteer labor. Ideas are tested with chalk, temporary 
paint, movable planters and homemade chairs and benches. Th e process 
builds connections, creates civic engagement, and empowers community 
members. Planning, designing and implementing projects create 
opportunities for people to meet their neighbors.

Temporary projects can have a signifi cant impact and help both the 
community and local offi  cials envision a new future for a place, attract 
funding for permanent improvements, or simply allow and invite fl exible 
elements to change and evolve over time. 

Th is gateway off  of Broad Street creates and attractive gateway. 

A mural along Broad Avenue is colorful and engages pedestrians. 



73Chapter 4: Implementation

City offi  cials can use temporary permits and provide technical guidance 
to ensure adequate safety and operations. Th ese pilots help foster 
innovation by residents, while enabling offi  cials to evaluate the success 
of practices before making higher-cost, capital investments or regulatory 
changes.

CASE STUDIES 

Broad Avenue, Memphis, TN 

On Broad Avenue in Memphis, TN,  Livable Memphis, the Broad 
Avenue Arts District, and Binghampton Development Corporation 
worked with volunteers and area business owners to open up 
storefronts and move in pop-up shops and restaurants on the corridor. 
Th ey transformed the street to illustrate how bicycle and pedestrian 
infrastructure could enliven the commercial district. Changes included: 

• Curb extensions for shorter and safer crossings;

• Protected bikes lanes to narrow the street and slow traffi  c while 
buff ering cyclists and pedestrians from traffi  c with parked cars;

• High visibility crosswalks and added pedestrian-crossing street 
signs;

• Added streetlights, benches, bike racks and trees in planters.

Livable Memphis reports, “For a few thousand dollars in paint and 
rollers and a lot of donated time, energy and supplies from people who 
shared the vision, Broad Avenue was transformed. 15,000 people visited 
Broad Avenue that weekend and had a great time exploring the new 
Broad.” Th e temporary street conversion was retained and is awaiting a 
more complete and permanent version with construction of an extended 
bikeway. 

For more information about Broad Avenue: http://www.livablememphis.
org/new-face-for-an-old-broad https://www.ioby.org/blog/case-study-
the-hampline

Parklet Program, San Francisco, California 

Parklets were originally inspired by the fi rst “Park(ing) Day” which took 
place in San Francisco in the Fall of 2005. It was a simple intervention 
of rolled out sod in two parking spaces in San Francisco. Bicycle and 
pedestrian safety advocates along with San Francisco city planners, 
created the Parklet program on a trial basis in 2010 as a way to increase 
open space in the city and allow for businesses to expand into the street. 

All parklets in San Francisco are outside of commercial businesses, with 
one residential park. Applicants submit a parklet proposal, work with 
the city on the design, submit fi nal fees, and install the space. Parklet 

Another view of the San Francisco Parklet shows seating and bicycle storage. 

Th is parklet in San Francisco, designed by WRT, used reclaimed wood timbers. 



Willits Main Street Corridor Enhancement Plan74

designs range from simple wooden platforms or fencing to old canoes 
that are used for seating, to planters and seating made from salvaged 
wood pieces. 

Th e goals of the parklet program include: 

• Reimagine the Potential of City Streets 

• Encourage Non-Motorized Transportation 

• Create Open Spaces Th at Are Publicly Accessible 

Th e parklet concept has spread across the globe with parklets from 
Mexico to Japan. 

For more information about tactical urbanism:

• Mike Lydon and Anthony Garcia, “Tactical Urbanism: Short-term 
Action for Long-term Change,”March 2015, tacticalurbanismguide.
com

• Th e Street Plans Collaborative’s “Tactical Urbanism 2” provides 
an overview of tactical urbanism and examples of types of 
projects and places where they’re being used: issuu.com/
streetplanscollaborative/ docs/tactical_urbanism_vol_2_fi nald

• Project for Pubic Spaces, pps.org/reference/lighterquicker-cheaper

• For tips and a blueprint for how to create a street-redesign pop-
up, see the plans for Oakland’s Telegraph Avenue project: docs.
google.com/ document/d/1mQE5RHAqsDScrlmSzhzKkKJkQNbt
Zl9_Ft1fgK85Ds8/edit

Crosswalk art helps create visibility and allows for the community to showcase its character. 

Yarn bombing, like the intervention shown here in Berkeley, CA is a playful way to infuse art into 
street furniture. 

CASE STUDIES CONT’D 



75Chapter 4: Implementation

PHASING AND FUNDING 

TABLE 1.1: PHASING AND FUNDING OF MAIN STREET 

ZONE ITEM PHASE FUNDING OPTIONS 

NORTH OF HIGHWAY 20 Street Trees Future Phase CALFIRE, EEMP, BID

Pavement Striping Relinquishment Table Text

Planters Future Phase AHSC, TIP, BID 

Rapid Flashing Beacon and 
Median at State Street 

Future Phase AHSC, OTS, TIP 

Plan  ng and Irriga  on Relinquishment* Table Text

Ligh  ng Relinquishment* Table Text

Median Future Phase ATP, TIP, BID 

 Concrete Work Relinquishment 

Gateway Markers Future Phase AHSC, TIP, BID 

Decora  ve Paving Zone Future Phase ATP, AHSC, CITY OF WILLITS, TIP, BID 

Mountable Median Relinquishment* 

Bulbouts Relinquishment*

Street Furniture Future Phase AHSC, TIP 

SOUTH OF HIGHWAY 20 Street Trees Future Phase ATP, TIP 

Pavement Striping Future Phase ATP, CITY OF WILLITS 

Planters Future Phase ATP, TIP 

Plan  ng and Irriga  on Future Phase ATP, TIP 

Ligh  ng Future Phase ATP, TIP 

Median Future Phase ATP, TIP 

Concrete Work Future Phase ATP, CITY OF WILLITS, TIP 

Gateway Marker Future Phase ATP, TIP 

Roundabout Future Phase ATP, CITY OF WILLITS, TIP 

Street Furniture Future Phase ATP, TIP 

Th e table below shows the two main areas of 
interventions and broad items that encompass 
those designs. A more detailed cost estimate 
for the relinquishment portion is included 
in the Technical Appendix. Funding options 
described earlier in this chapter have been 
assigned to certain items, however, non-
traditional planning mechanisms and DIY 
urbanism should be considered for all items. 

* = s  ll in nego  a  on with Caltrans 





TECHNICAL 
APPENDIX

30% DRAWINGS + COST ESTIMATE

CIRCULATION STUDY

CITY COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES

DESIGN CHARRETTE COMMENTS



Scale: SEE PLAN

Drawing No:

Drawing Title:

Job No: 7850

Date: 10/03/2016 Checked By: JG

Drawn By: JNZ

DateRev

Key Plan

Description

CONSULTANTS

SEAL

415.575.4722
fax 215.732.2551

478 Tehama Street, Suite 2B
San Francisco, CA 94103

Planning & Design

L-0

COVER, NOTES AND LEGEND

MAIN STREET CONCEPTUAL DESIGN
WILLITS, CA

KEY MAP AND SHEET INDEX

NOTES LEGEND

CITY OF WILLITS
ROD WILBURN, DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC WORKS
111 E. COMMERCIAL STREET, WILLITS, CA 95490
707.459.4601

CALIFORNIA DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION
MAURICIO SERRANO, WILLITS BYPASS PROJECT MANAGER
2379 GATEWAY OAKS DRIVE, SUITE 150, SACRAMENTO, CA 95833
707.503.7628

LOCAL GOVERNMENT COMMISSION
ALISON PERNELL, PROJECT MANAGER
PO BOX 59, LAYTONVILLE, CA 95454
707.972.1364

WALLACE ROBERTS AND TODD, LLC
JILLIAN NAMETH ZEIGER, PROJECT MANAGER
478 TEHAMA STREET, SUITE 2B, SAN FRANCISCO, CA 94103
415.229.2807

FEHR AND PEERS
DANIEL JACOBSON, PROJECT MANAGER
332 PINE STREET, 4TH FLOOR, SAN FRANCISCO, CA 94104
415.692.7749

GHD
MATT WARGULA, PROJECT MANAGER
2235 MERCURY WAY, SUITE 150, SANTA ROSA, CA 95407
707.523.1010

MAIN STREET
CONCEPTUAL
DESIGN



Scale: SEE PLAN

Drawing No:

Drawing Title:

Job No: 7850

Checked By: JG

Drawn By: JNZ

DateRev

Key Plan

Description

CONSULTANTS

SEAL

415.575.4722
fax 215.732.2551

478 Tehama Street, Suite 2B
San Francisco, CA 94103

Planning & Design

L-1

LAYOUT PLAN

N

00 20' 40'

SCALE: 1" = 20'

Date: 10/03/2016



Scale: SEE PLAN

Drawing No:

Drawing Title:

Job No: 7850

Checked By: JG

Drawn By: JNZ

DateRev

Key Plan

Description

CONSULTANTS

SEAL

415.575.4722
fax 215.732.2551

478 Tehama Street, Suite 2B
San Francisco, CA 94103

Planning & Design

L-2

LAYOUT PLAN

N

00 20' 40'

SCALE: 1" = 20'

Date: 10/03/2016



Scale: SEE PLAN

Drawing No:

Drawing Title:

Job No: 7850

Checked By: JG

Drawn By: JNZ

DateRev

Key Plan

Description

CONSULTANTS

SEAL

415.575.4722
fax 215.732.2551

478 Tehama Street, Suite 2B
San Francisco, CA 94103

Planning & Design

L-3

LAYOUT PLAN

N00 20' 40'

SCALE: 1" = 20'

Date: 10/03/2016



Scale: SEE PLAN

Drawing No:

Drawing Title:

Job No: 7850

Checked By: JG

Drawn By: JNZ

DateRev

Key Plan

Description

CONSULTANTS

SEAL

415.575.4722
fax 215.732.2551

478 Tehama Street, Suite 2B
San Francisco, CA 94103

Planning & Design

L-4

LAYOUT PLAN

N

00 20' 40'

SCALE: 1" = 20'

Date: 10/03/2016



Scale: SEE PLAN

Drawing No:

Drawing Title:

Job No: 7850

Checked By: JG

Drawn By: JNZ

DateRev

Key Plan

Description

CONSULTANTS

SEAL

415.575.4722
fax 215.732.2551

478 Tehama Street, Suite 2B
San Francisco, CA 94103

Planning & Design

L-5

LAYOUT PLAN

N

00 20' 40'

SCALE: 1" = 20'

Date: 10/03/2016



Scale: SEE PLAN

Drawing No:

Drawing Title:

Job No: 7850

Checked By: JG

Drawn By: JNZ

DateRev

Key Plan

Description

CONSULTANTS

SEAL

415.575.4722
fax 215.732.2551

478 Tehama Street, Suite 2B
San Francisco, CA 94103

Planning & Design

L-6

LAYOUT PLAN

N

00 20' 40'

SCALE: 1" = 20'

Date: 10/03/2016



Scale: SEE PLAN

Drawing No:

Drawing Title:

Job No: 7850

Checked By: JG

Drawn By: JNZ

DateRev

Key Plan

Description

CONSULTANTS

SEAL

415.575.4722
fax 215.732.2551

478 Tehama Street, Suite 2B
San Francisco, CA 94103

Planning & Design

L-7

LAYOUT PLAN

N00 20' 40'

SCALE: 1" = 20'

Date: 10/03/2016



Scale: SEE PLAN

Drawing No:

Drawing Title:

Job No: 7850

Date: 10/03/2016 Checked By: JG

Drawn By: JNZ

DateRev

Key Plan

Description

CONSULTANTS

SEAL

415.575.4722
fax 215.732.2551

478 Tehama Street, Suite 2B
San Francisco, CA 94103

Planning & Design

L-8

LAYOUT PLAN

N00 20' 40'

SCALE: 1" = 20'



Scale: SEE PLAN

Drawing No:

Drawing Title:

Job No: 7850

Checked By: JG

Drawn By: JNZ

DateRev

Key Plan

Description

CONSULTANTS

SEAL

415.575.4722
fax 215.732.2551

478 Tehama Street, Suite 2B
San Francisco, CA 94103

Planning & Design

L-9

LAYOUT PLAN

N00 20' 40'

SCALE: 1" = 20'

Date: 10/03/2016



Scale:

Drawing No:

Drawing Title:

Job No:

Checked By:

Drawn By:

DateRev

Key Plan

Description

CONSULTANTS

SEAL

415.575.4722
fax 215.732.2551

478 Tehama Street, Suite 2B
San Francisco, CA 94103

Planning & Design

SL-2

SHERWOOD_L-2

N

Date: 10/03/2016



Scale:

Drawing No:

Drawing Title:

Job No:

Checked By:

Drawn By:

DateRev

Key Plan

Description

CONSULTANTS

SEAL

415.575.4722
fax 215.732.2551

478 Tehama Street, Suite 2B
San Francisco, CA 94103

Planning & Design

SL-3

SHERWOOD_L-3

N

Date: 10/03/2016



Scale:

Drawing No:

Drawing Title:

Job No:

Checked By:

Drawn By:

DateRev

Key Plan

Description

CONSULTANTS

SEAL

415.575.4722
fax 215.732.2551

478 Tehama Street, Suite 2B
San Francisco, CA 94103

Planning & Design

SL-4

SHERWOOD_L-4

Date: 10/03/2016



Scale:

Drawing No:

Drawing Title:

Job No:

Checked By:

Drawn By:

DateRev

Key Plan

Description

CONSULTANTS

SEAL

415.575.4722
fax 215.732.2551

478 Tehama Street, Suite 2B
San Francisco, CA 94103

Planning & Design

SL-5

SHERWOOD_L-5

Date: 10/03/2016



Scale:

Drawing No:

Drawing Title:

Job No:

Checked By:

Drawn By:

DateRev

Key Plan

Description

CONSULTANTS

SEAL

415.575.4722
fax 215.732.2551

478 Tehama Street, Suite 2B
San Francisco, CA 94103

Planning & Design

SL-6

SHERWOOD L6

Date: 10/03/2016



BID ITEM ITEM CODE UNIT PRICE TOTAL TOTAL TOTAL

1 70030 LEAD COMPLIANCE PLAN (PER ZONE) $1,500.00 1 LS 1,500$                0 LS -$                        0 LS -$                        
2 120090 CONSTRUCTION AREA SIGNS (5%) $33,000.00 1 LS 33,000$              0 LS -$                        0 LS -$                        
3 120100 TRAFFIC CONTROL SYSTEM (7%) $46,000.00 1 LS 46,000$              0 LS -$                        0 LS -$                        
4 120159 TEMPORARY TRAFFIC STRIPE (PAINT) $1.00 3,500 LF 3,500$                0 LF -$                        0 LF -$                        
5 128652 PORTABLE CHANGEABLE MESSAGE SIGN (2%) $13,000.00 1 LS 13,000$              0 LS -$                        0 LS -$                        
6 130100 JOB SITE MANAGEMENT (5%) $13,000.00 1 LS 13,000$              0 LS -$                        0 LS -$                        
7 130300-130900 STORM WATER POLLUTION PREVENTION CONTROL $15,000.00 1 LS 15,000$              0 LS -$                        0 LS -$                        
8 1507XX REMOVE THERMO/PAINTED TRAFFIC STRIPE/MARKERS $10,000.00 1 LS 10,000$              0 LS -$                        0 LS -$                        
9 150742/152320 REMOVE AND RESET ROADSIDE SIGN $550.00 7 EA 3,850$                0 EA -$                        0 EA -$                        

10 152469 ADJUST UTILITY COVER TO GRADE $700.00 15 EA 10,500$              0 LS -$                        0 LS -$                        
11 152438 ADJUST FRAME AND COVER TO GRADE $675.00 5 EA 3,375$                0 EA -$                        0 EA -$                        
12 152440 ADJUST MANHOLE TO GRADE $875.00 6 EA 5,250$                0 EA -$                        0 EA -$                        
13 153103 COLD PLANE ASPHALT CONCRETE PAVEMENT $5.50 2,926 SY 16,093$              0 SY -$                        0 SY -$                        
14 153103 REMOVE ASPHALT CONCRETE PAVEMENT $2.50 0 SF -$                        247 SF 618$                   0 SF -$                        
15 153215 REMOVE CONCRETE $4.00 11,065 SF 44,260$              0 SF -$                        0 SF -$                        
16 198250 ROADSIDE CLEARING - REMOVE TREE $2,500.00 0 EA -$                        8 EA 20,000$              0 EA -$                        

REMOVE EXISTING LIGHT STANDARDS $3,500.00 0 EA -$                        2 EA 7,000$                0 EA -$                        
17 204003 PLANTING $5,000.00 0 LS -$                        1 LS 5,000$                0 LS -$                        
18 204035 PLANT TREE WITH TREE WELL $2,000.00 0 EA -$                        19 EA 38,000$              0 EA -$                        
19 204099 PLANT ESTABLISHMENT WORK $5,000.00 0 LS -$                        1 LS 5,000$                0 LS -$                        
20 206XXX IRRIGATION $20,000.00 0 LS -$                        1 LS 20,000$              -1 LS (12,000)$             

     OPTION:  TEMPORARY WATERING BAGS $70.00 0 EA -$                       0 EA -$                       19 EA 1,330$                
21 XXXXXX SITE FURNISHINGS (BENCH PUBLIC ROW) $1,200.00 0 EA -$                        0 EA -$                        0 EA -$                        
22 390132 HOT MIX ASPHALT (TYPE A) $115.00 414 TON 47,653$              0 TON -$                        0 TON -$                        
23 397005 TACK COAT $2,500.00 2 TON 5,000$                0 TON -$                        0 TON -$                        
24 566011 ROADSIDE SIGN - ONE POST $500.00 6 EA 3,000$                0 EA -$                        0 EA -$                        
25 6XXXXX STORM DRAIN MODIFICATIONS $15,000.00 0 EA -$                        0 EA -$                        0 EA -$                        
26 730010 MINOR CONCRETE (CURB) $32.00 0 LF -$                        61 LF 1,952$                0 LF -$                        
27 730070 DETECTABLE WARNING SURFACE   $70.00 0 SF -$                        0 SF -$                        0 SF -$                        
28 731504 MINOR CONCRETE (CURB AND GUTTER) $40.00 933 LF 37,320$              0 LF -$                        0 LF -$                        
29 731511 MINOR CONCRETE (ISLAND PAVING) $14.00 0 SF -$                        247 SF 3,458$                0 SF -$                        
30 731516 MINOR CONCRETE (DRIVEWAY) $14.00 3,330 SF 46,620$              0 SF -$                        0 SF -$                        
31 731521 MINOR CONCRETE (SIDEWALK) $10.00 5,899 SF 58,990$              0 SF -$                        -1,539 SF (15,390)$             

     OPTION:  CONCRETE UNIT PAVER (SIDEWALK) $27.00 0 SF -$                       0 SF -$                       1,539 SF 41,553$              
731519      OPTION:  MINOR CONCRETE (STAMPED CONCRETE) $20.00 0 SF -$                       0 SF -$                       0 SF -$                       

32 731623 MINOR CONCRETE (CURB RAMP) $5,500.00 2 EA 11,000$              0 EA -$                        EA -$                        
33 750030 INLET FRAME AND GRATE $1,000.00 3 EA 3,000$                0 EA -$                        EA -$                        
34 760090 MOBILIZATION, DEMOBILIZATION AND FINAL CLEANUP $59,000.00 1 LS 59,000$              0 LS -$                        LS -$                        
35 840515 THERMOPLASTIC PAVEMENT MARKING $5.50 300 SF 1,650$                0 SF -$                        SF -$                        
36 840501 THERMOPLASTIC TRAFFIC STRIPE $1.50 3,500 LF 5,250$                0 LF -$                        LF -$                        
37 860806 INDUCTIVE LOOP DETECTOR (REPLACE) $750.00 0 EA -$                        0 EA -$                        EA -$                        
38 860401 LIGHT STANDARDS $9,500.00 0 EA -$                        10 EA 95,000$              EA -$                        
39 870400 SIGNAL AND LIGHTING SYSTEM (TRAFFIC SIGNAL MOD) $150,000.00 0 LS -$                        0 LS -$                        LS -$                        

870400      OPTION:  ENHANCED PEDESTRIAN CROSSING (RRFB) $28,000.00 0 LS -$                       0 LS -$                       LS -$                       
A. NORTH ZONE SUBTOTAL (ROUNDED) 497,000$            197,000$            16,000$              

35% CONTINGENCY 173,950$            68,950$              5,600$                
A. NORTH ZONE SUBTOTAL WITH CONTINGENCY (ROUNDED) 670,950$            265,950$            21,600$              

A. NORTH ZONE (BASE + MAIN STREET ADD) (ROUNDED)
A. NORTH ZONE (BASE + MAIN STREET ADD + OPTIONS) (ROUNDED)

ENR Cost Index March 2016 (San Francisco, CA):  11,557.90

Opinion of Probable Construction Costs
City of Willits

Willits Main Street
PRELIMINARY COMPARISON CONSTRUCTION COSTS

DATE PREPARED:  5/16/2016

A. NORTH ZONE

$936,900.00
$958,500.00

BASE PROJECT MAIN STREET ADD OPTIONS
QUANTITY QUANTITY QUANTITY

5/13/2016 G:\111\11121532 WRT Willis Main Street\04-Technical Work\Cost Estimating\2016-05-09 Willits Main Street Op of Cost.xlsx

PRELIM
IN

ARY



BID ITEM ITEM CODE UNIT PRICE TOTAL TOTAL TOTAL

1 70030 LEAD COMPLIANCE PLAN (PER ZONE) $1,500.00 1 LS 1,500$                0 LS -$                        0 LS -$                        
2 120090 CONSTRUCTION AREA SIGNS (5%) $33,000.00 1 LS 33,000$              0 LS -$                        0 LS -$                        
3 120100 TRAFFIC CONTROL SYSTEM (7%) $46,000.00 1 LS 46,000$              0 LS -$                        0 LS -$                        
4 120159 TEMPORARY TRAFFIC STRIPE (PAINT) $1.00 6,000 LF 6,000$                0 LF -$                        0 LF -$                        
5 128652 PORTABLE CHANGEABLE MESSAGE SIGN (2%) $13,000.00 1 LS 13,000$              0 LS -$                        0 LS -$                        
6 130100 JOB SITE MANAGEMENT (5%) $13,000.00 1 LS 13,000$              0 LS -$                        0 LS -$                        
7 130300-130900 STORM WATER POLLUTION PREVENTION CONTROL $15,000.00 1 LS 15,000$              0 LS -$                        0 LS -$                        
8 1507XX REMOVE THERMO/PAINTED TRAFFIC STRIPE/MARKERS $10,000.00 1 LS 10,000$              0 LS -$                        0 LS -$                        
9 150742/152320 REMOVE AND RESET ROADSIDE SIGN $550.00 18 EA 9,900$                0 EA -$                        0 EA -$                        

10 152469 ADJUST UTILITY COVER TO GRADE $700.00 44 EA 30,800$              0 LS -$                        0 LS -$                        
11 152438 ADJUST FRAME AND COVER TO GRADE $675.00 16 EA 10,800$              0 EA -$                        0 EA -$                        
12 152440 ADJUST MANHOLE TO GRADE $875.00 7 EA 6,125$                0 EA -$                        0 EA -$                        
13 153103 COLD PLANE ASPHALT CONCRETE PAVEMENT $5.50 5,600 SY 30,800$              0 SY -$                        0 SY -$                        
14 153103 REMOVE ASPHALT CONCRETE PAVEMENT $2.50 0 SF -$                        5,403 SF 13,508$              0 SF -$                        
15 153215 REMOVE CONCRETE $4.00 21,300 SF 85,200$              0 SF -$                        0 SF -$                        
16 198250 ROADSIDE CLEARING - REMOVE TREE $2,500.00 0 EA -$                        11 EA 27,500$              0 EA -$                        

REMOVE EXISTING LIGHT STANDARDS $3,500.00 0 EA -$                        5 EA 17,500$              0 EA -$                        
17 204003 PLANTING $20,000.00 0 LS -$                        1 LS 20,000$              0 LS -$                        
18 204035 PLANT TREE WITH TREE WELL $2,000.00 0 EA -$                        64 EA 128,000$            0 EA -$                        
19 204099 PLANT ESTABLISHMENT WORK $5,000.00 0 LS -$                        1 LS 5,000$                0 LS -$                        
20 206XXX IRRIGATION $32,000.00 0 LS -$                        1 LS 32,000$              -1 LS (19,200)$             

     OPTION:  TEMPORARY WATERING BAGS $70.00 0 EA -$                       0 EA -$                       64 EA 4,480$                
21 XXXXXX SITE FURNISHINGS (BENCH PUBLIC ROW) $1,200.00 0 EA -$                        12 EA 14,400$              0 EA -$                        
22 390132 HOT MIX ASPHALT (TYPE A) $115.00 800 TON 92,000$              0 TON -$                        0 TON -$                        
23 397005 TACK COAT $2,500.00 3 TON 7,500$                0 TON -$                        0 TON -$                        
24 566011 ROADSIDE SIGN - ONE POST $500.00 6 EA 3,000$                0 EA -$                        0 EA -$                        
25 6XXXXX STORM DRAIN MODIFICATIONS $15,000.00 2 EA 30,000$              6 EA 90,000$              0 EA -$                        
26 730010 MINOR CONCRETE (CURB) $32.00 0 LF -$                        10 LF 320$                   0 LF -$                        
27 730070 DETECTABLE WARNING SURFACE   $70.00 0 SF -$                        128 SF 8,960$                0 SF -$                        
28 731504 MINOR CONCRETE (CURB AND GUTTER) $40.00 1,600 LF 64,000$              175 LF 7,000$                0 LF -$                        
29 731511 MINOR CONCRETE (ISLAND PAVING) $14.00 0 SF -$                        128 SF 1,792$                0 SF -$                        
30 731516 MINOR CONCRETE (DRIVEWAY) $14.00 500 SF 7,000$                0 SF -$                        0 SF -$                        
31 731521 MINOR CONCRETE (SIDEWALK) $10.00 15,700 SF 157,000$            1,285 SF 12,850$              -5,855 SF (58,550)$             

     OPTION:  CONCRETE UNIT PAVER (SIDEWALK) $27.00 0 SF -$                       0 SF -$                       4,425 SF 119,475$            
731519      OPTION:  MINOR CONCRETE (STAMPED CONCRETE) $20.00 0 SF -$                       0 SF -$                       1,430 SF 28,600$              

32 731623 MINOR CONCRETE (CURB RAMP) $5,500.00 12 EA 66,000$              0 EA -$                        EA -$                        
33 750030 INLET FRAME AND GRATE $1,000.00 8 EA 8,000$                0 EA -$                        EA -$                        
34 760090 MOBILIZATION, DEMOBILIZATION AND FINAL CLEANUP $59,000.00 1 LS 59,000$              0 LS -$                        LS -$                        
35 840515 THERMOPLASTIC PAVEMENT MARKING $5.50 3,000 SF 16,500$              0 SF -$                        SF -$                        
36 840501 THERMOPLASTIC TRAFFIC STRIPE $1.50 6,000 LF 9,000$                0 LF -$                        LF -$                        
37 860806 INDUCTIVE LOOP DETECTOR (REPLACE) $750.00 28 EA 21,000$              0 EA -$                        EA -$                        
38 860401 LIGHT STANDARDS $9,500.00 0 EA -$                        20 EA 190,000$            EA -$                        
39 870400 SIGNAL AND LIGHTING SYSTEM (TRAFFIC SIGNAL MOD) $150,000.00 0 LS -$                        1 LS 150,000$            LS -$                        

870400      OPTION:  ENHANCED PEDESTRIAN CROSSING (RRFB) $28,000.00 0 LS -$                       0 LS -$                       1 LS 28,000$              
B. DOWNTOWN CORE:  COMMERCIAL TO WOOD SUBTOTAL (ROUNDED) 852,000$            719,000$            103,000$            

35% CONTINGENCY 298,200$            251,650$            36,050$              
B. DOWNTOWN CORE:  COMMERCIAL TO WOOD SUBTOTAL WITH CONTINGENCY (ROUNDED) 1,150,200$         970,650$            139,050$            

B. DOWNTOWN CORE:  COMMERCIAL TO WOOD (BASE + MAIN STREET ADD) (ROUNDED)
B. DOWNTOWN CORE:  COMMERCIAL TO WOOD (BASE + MAIN STREET ADD + OPTIONS) (ROUNDED)

$2,120,850.00
$2,259,900.00

B. DOWNTOWN CORE:  COMMERCIAL TO WOOD

BASE PROJECT MAIN STREET ADD OPTIONS
QUANTITY QUANTITY QUANTITY

ENR Cost Index March 2016 (San Francisco, CA):  11,557.90

Opinion of Probable Construction Costs
City of Willits

Willits Main Street
PRELIMINARY COMPARISON CONSTRUCTION COSTS

DATE PREPARED:  5/16/2016

5/13/2016 G:\111\11121532 WRT Willis Main Street\04-Technical Work\Cost Estimating\2016-05-09 Willits Main Street Op of Cost.xlsx

PRELIM
IN

ARY



BID ITEM ITEM CODE UNIT PRICE TOTAL TOTAL TOTAL

1 70030 LEAD COMPLIANCE PLAN (PER ZONE) 1,500.00$          1 LS 1,500$                0 LS -$                        0 LS -$                        
2 120090 CONSTRUCTION AREA SIGNS (5%) 22,000.00$         1 LS 22,000$              0 LS -$                        0 LS -$                        
3 120100 TRAFFIC CONTROL SYSTEM (7%) 31,000.00$         1 LS 31,000$              0 LS -$                        0 LS -$                        
4 120159 TEMPORARY TRAFFIC STRIPE (PAINT) 1.00$                 3,000 LF 3,000$                0 LF -$                        0 LF -$                        
5 128652 PORTABLE CHANGEABLE MESSAGE SIGN (2%) 9,000.00$          1 LS 9,000$                0 LS -$                        0 LS -$                        
6 130100 JOB SITE MANAGEMENT (5%) 9,000.00$          1 LS 9,000$                0 LS -$                        0 LS -$                        
7 130300-130900 STORM WATER POLLUTION PREVENTION CONTROL 15,000.00$         1 LS 15,000$              0 LS -$                        0 LS -$                        
8 1507XX REMOVE THERMO/PAINTED TRAFFIC STRIPE/MARKERS 10,000.00$         1 LS 10,000$              0 LS -$                        0 LS -$                        
9 150742/152320 REMOVE AND RESET ROADSIDE SIGN 550.00$             7 EA 3,850$                0 EA -$                        0 EA -$                        

10 152469 ADJUST UTILITY COVER TO GRADE 700.00$             38 EA 26,600$              0 LS -$                        0 LS -$                        
11 152438 ADJUST FRAME AND COVER TO GRADE 675.00$             14 EA 9,450$                0 EA -$                        0 EA -$                        
12 152440 ADJUST MANHOLE TO GRADE 875.00$             2 EA 1,750$                0 EA -$                        0 EA -$                        
13 153103 COLD PLANE ASPHALT CONCRETE PAVEMENT 5.50$                 4,300 SY 23,650$              0 SY -$                        0 SY -$                        
14 153103 REMOVE ASPHALT CONCRETE PAVEMENT 2.50$                 0 SF -$                        4,063 SF 10,158$              0 SF -$                        
15 153215 REMOVE CONCRETE 4.00$                 14,800 SF 59,200$              0 SF -$                        0 SF -$                        
16 198250 ROADSIDE CLEARING - REMOVE TREE 2,500.00$          0 EA -$                        7 EA 17,500$              0 EA -$                        

REMOVE EXISTING LIGHT STANDARDS 3,500.00$          0 EA -$                        5 EA 17,500$              0 EA -$                        
17 204003 PLANTING 10,000.00$         0 LS -$                        1 LS 10,000$              0 LS -$                        
18 204035 PLANT TREE WITH TREE WELL 2,000.00$          0 EA -$                        22 EA 44,000$              0 EA -$                        
19 204099 PLANT ESTABLISHMENT WORK 5,000.00$          0 LS -$                        1 LS 5,000$                0 LS -$                        
20 206XXX IRRIGATION 26,700.00$         0 LS -$                        1 LS 26,700$              -1 LS (16,020)$             

     OPTION:  TEMPORARY WATERING BAGS 70.00$               0 EA -$                       0 EA -$                       22 EA 1,540$                
21 XXXXXX SITE FURNISHINGS (BENCH PUBLIC ROW) 1,200.00$          0 EA -$                        2 EA 2,400$                0 EA -$                        
22 390132 HOT MIX ASPHALT (TYPE A) 115.00$             600 TON 69,000$              0 TON -$                        0 TON -$                        
23 397005 TACK COAT 2,500.00$          2 TON 5,000$                0 TON -$                        0 TON -$                        
24 566011 ROADSIDE SIGN - ONE POST 500.00$             6 EA 3,000$                0 EA -$                        0 EA -$                        
25 6XXXXX STORM DRAIN MODIFICATIONS 10,000.00$         2 EA 20,000$              3 EA 30,000$              0 EA -$                        
26 730010 MINOR CONCRETE (CURB) 32.00$               0 LF -$                        182 LF 5,824$                0 LF -$                        
27 730070 DETECTABLE WARNING SURFACE   70.00$               0 SF -$                        0 SF -$                        0 SF -$                        
28 731504 MINOR CONCRETE (CURB AND GUTTER) 40.00$               1,500 LF 60,000$              78 LF 3,120$                0 LF -$                        
29 731511 MINOR CONCRETE (ISLAND PAVING) 14.00$               0 SF -$                        805 SF 11,270$              0 SF -$                        
30 731516 MINOR CONCRETE (DRIVEWAY) 14.00$               1,900 SF 26,600$              81 SF 1,134$                0 SF -$                        
31 731521 MINOR CONCRETE (SIDEWALK) 10.00$               9,100 SF 91,000$              2,244 SF 22,440$              -1,173 SF (11,730)$             

     OPTION:  CONCRETE UNIT PAVER (SIDEWALK) 27.00$               0 SF -$                       0 SF -$                       353 SF 9,531$                
731519      OPTION:  MINOR CONCRETE (STAMPED CONCRETE) 20.00$               0 SF -$                       0 SF -$                       820 SF 16,400$              

32 731623 MINOR CONCRETE (CURB RAMP) 5,500.00$          4 EA 22,000$              0 EA -$                        EA -$                        
33 750030 INLET FRAME AND GRATE 1,000.00$          3 EA 3,000$                0 EA -$                        EA -$                        
34 760090 MOBILIZATION, DEMOBILIZATION AND FINAL CLEANUP 40,000.00$         1 LS 40,000$              0 LS -$                        LS -$                        
35 840515 THERMOPLASTIC PAVEMENT MARKING 5.50$                 1,000 SF 5,500$                0 SF -$                        SF -$                        
36 840501 THERMOPLASTIC TRAFFIC STRIPE 1.50$                 3,000 LF 4,500$                0 LF -$                        LF -$                        
37 860806 INDUCTIVE LOOP DETECTOR (REPLACE) 750.00$             0 EA -$                        0 EA -$                        EA -$                        
38 860401 LIGHT STANDARDS 9,500.00$          0 EA -$                        15 EA 142,500$            EA -$                        
39 870400 SIGNAL AND LIGHTING SYSTEM (TRAFFIC SIGNAL MOD) 150,000.00$      0 LS -$                        0 LS -$                        LS -$                        

870400      OPTION:  ENHANCED PEDESTRIAN CROSSING (RRFB) 28,000.00$        0 LS -$                       0 LS -$                       LS -$                       
C. DOWNTOWN CORE:  WOOD TO VALLEY SUBTOTAL (ROUNDED) 575,000$            350,000$            (1,000)$               

35% CONTINGENCY 201,250$            122,500$            (350)$                  
C. DOWNTOWN CORE:  WOOD TO VALLEY SUBTOTAL WITH CONTINGENCY (ROUNDED) 777,000$            473,000$            (2,000)$               

C. DOWNTOWN CORE:  WOOD TO VALLEY (BASE + MAIN STREET ADD) (ROUNDED)
C. DOWNTOWN CORE:  WOOD TO VALLEY (BASE + MAIN STREET ADD + OPTIONS) (ROUNDED)

C. DOWNTOWN CORE:  WOOD TO VALLEY

$1,250,000.00
$1,248,000.00

BASE PROJECT MAIN STREET ADD OPTIONS
QUANTITY QUANTITY QUANTITY

ENR Cost Index March 2016 (San Francisco, CA):  11,557.90

Opinion of Probable Construction Costs
City of Willits

Willits Main Street
PRELIMINARY COMPARISON CONSTRUCTION COSTS

DATE PREPARED:  5/16/2016

5/13/2016 G:\111\11121532 WRT Willis Main Street\04-Technical Work\Cost Estimating\2016-05-09 Willits Main Street Op of Cost.xlsx

PRELIM
IN

ARY



BID ITEM ITEM CODE UNIT PRICE TOTAL TOTAL TOTAL

1 70030 LEAD COMPLIANCE PLAN (PER ZONE) 1,500.00$          1 LS 1,500$                0 LS -$                        0 LS -$                        
2 120090 CONSTRUCTION AREA SIGNS 18,000.00$         1 LS 18,000$              0 LS -$                        0 LS -$                        
3 120100 TRAFFIC CONTROL SYSTEM 36,000.00$         1 LS 36,000$              0 LS -$                        0 LS -$                        
4 120159 TEMPORARY TRAFFIC STRIPE (PAINT) 1.00$                 3,500 LF 3,500$                0 LF -$                        0 LF -$                        
5 128652 PORTABLE CHANGEABLE MESSAGE SIGN 8,000.00$          1 LS 8,000$                0 LS -$                        0 LS -$                        
6 130100 JOB SITE MANAGEMENT 18,000.00$         1 LS 18,000$              0 LS -$                        0 LS -$                        
7 130300-130900 STORM WATER POLLUTION PREVENTION CONTROL 15,000.00$         1 LS 15,000$              0 LS -$                        0 LS -$                        
8 1507XX REMOVE THERMO/PAINTED TRAFFIC STRIPE/MARKERS 10,000.00$         1 LS 10,000$              0 LS -$                        0 LS -$                        
9 150742/152320 REMOVE AND RESET ROADSIDE SIGN 550.00$             7 EA 3,850$                0 EA -$                        0 EA -$                        

10 152469 ADJUST UTILITY COVER TO GRADE 700.00$             15 EA 10,500$              0 LS -$                        0 LS -$                        
11 152438 ADJUST FRAME AND COVER TO GRADE 675.00$             5 EA 3,375$                0 EA -$                        0 EA -$                        
12 152440 ADJUST MANHOLE TO GRADE 875.00$             6 EA 5,250$                0 EA -$                        0 EA -$                        
13 153103 COLD PLANE ASPHALT CONCRETE PAVEMENT 5.50$                 2,926 SY 16,093$              0 SY -$                        0 SY -$                        
14 153103 REMOVE ASPHALT CONCRETE PAVEMENT 2.50$                 0 SF -$                        247 SF 618$                   0 SF -$                        
15 ASPHALT DIGOUT AND REPAIR 5.50$                 2,673 SF 14,704$              0 SF -$                        0 SF -$                        
16 153215 REMOVE CONCRETE 4.00$                 11,065 SF 44,260$              0 SF -$                        0 SF -$                        
17 198250 ROADSIDE CLEARING - REMOVE TREE 2,500.00$          0 EA -$                        8 EA 20,000$              0 EA -$                        

REMOVE EXISTING LIGHT STANDARDS 3,500.00$          0 EA -$                        2 EA 7,000$                0 EA -$                        
18 204003 PLANTING 55,980.00$         0 LS -$                        1 LS 55,980$              0 LS -$                        
19 204035 PLANT TREE WITH TREE WELL 3,000.00$          0 EA -$                        19 EA 57,000$              0 EA -$                        
20 204099 PLANT ESTABLISHMENT WORK 5,000.00$          0 LS -$                        1 LS 5,000$                0 LS -$                        
21 206XXX IRRIGATION 20,000.00$         0 LS -$                        1 LS 20,000$              -1 LS (12,000)$             

     OPTION:  TEMPORARY WATERING BAGS 70.00$               0 EA -$                       0 EA -$                       19 EA 1,330$                
22 XXXXXX SITE FURNISHINGS (BENCH PUBLIC ROW) 1,200.00$          0 EA -$                        0 EA -$                        0 EA -$                        
23 390132 HOT MIX ASPHALT (TYPE A) 115.00$             414 TON 47,653$              0 TON -$                        0 TON -$                        
24 397005 TACK COAT 2,500.00$          2 TON 5,000$                0 TON -$                        0 TON -$                        
25 566011 ROADSIDE SIGN - ONE POST 500.00$             6 EA 3,000$                0 EA -$                        0 EA -$                        
26 6XXXXX STORM DRAIN MODIFICATIONS 15,000.00$         0 EA -$                        0 EA -$                        0 EA -$                        
27 730010 MINOR CONCRETE (CURB) 32.00$               0 LF -$                        61 LF 1,952$                0 LF -$                        
28 730070 DETECTABLE WARNING SURFACE   70.00$               0 SF -$                        0 SF -$                        0 SF -$                        
29 731504 MINOR CONCRETE (CURB AND GUTTER) 40.00$               933 LF 37,320$              0 LF -$                        0 LF -$                        
30 731511 MINOR CONCRETE (ISLAND PAVING) 14.00$               0 SF -$                        247 SF 3,458$                0 SF -$                        
31 731516 MINOR CONCRETE (DRIVEWAY) 14.00$               3,330 SF 46,620$              0 SF -$                        0 SF -$                        
32 731521 MINOR CONCRETE (SIDEWALK) 12.00$               5,899 SF 70,788$              0 SF -$                        -1,539 SF (18,468)$             

     OPTION:  CONCRETE UNIT PAVER (SIDEWALK) 27.00$               0 SF -$                       0 SF -$                       1,539 SF 41,553$              
731519      OPTION:  MINOR CONCRETE (STAMPED CONCRETE) 20.00$               0 SF -$                       0 SF -$                       0 SF -$                       

33 731623 MINOR CONCRETE (CURB RAMP) 5,500.00$          2 EA 11,000$              0 EA -$                        EA -$                        
34 750030 INLET FRAME AND GRATE 1,000.00$          3 EA 3,000$                0 EA -$                        EA -$                        
35 760090 MOBILIZATION, DEMOBILIZATION AND FINAL CLEANUP 33,000.00$         1 LS 33,000$              0 LS -$                        LS -$                        
36 840515 THERMOPLASTIC PAVEMENT MARKING 5.50$                 300 SF 1,650$                0 SF -$                        SF -$                        
37 840501 THERMOPLASTIC TRAFFIC STRIPE 1.50$                 3,500 LF 5,250$                0 LF -$                        LF -$                        
38 860806 INDUCTIVE LOOP DETECTOR (REPLACE) 750.00$             0 EA -$                        0 EA -$                        EA -$                        
39 860401 LIGHT STANDARDS 9,500.00$          0 EA -$                        10 EA 95,000$              EA -$                        
40 870400 SIGNAL AND LIGHTING SYSTEM (TRAFFIC SIGNAL MOD) 150,000.00$       0 LS -$                        0 LS -$                        LS -$                        

870400      OPTION:  ENHANCED PEDESTRIAN CROSSING (RRFB) 28,000.00$        0 LS -$                       0 LS -$                       LS -$                       
A. NORTH ZONE SUBTOTAL (ROUNDED) 473,000$            267,000$            13,000$              

35% CONTINGENCY 165,550$            93,450$              4,550$                
A. NORTH ZONE SUBTOTAL WITH CONTINGENCY (ROUNDED) 638,550$            360,450$            17,550$              

A. NORTH ZONE (BASE + MAIN STREET ADD) (ROUNDED)
A. NORTH ZONE (BASE + MAIN STREET ADD + OPTIONS) (ROUNDED)

A. NORTH ZONE

$999,000.00
$1,016,550.00

BASE PROJECT MAIN STREET ADD OPTIONS
QUANTITY QUANTITY QUANTITY

ENR Cost Index March 2016 (San Francisco, CA):  11,557.90

Opinion of Probable Construction Costs

City of Willits
Willits Main Street

PRELIMINARY COMPARISON CONSTRUCTION COSTS
DATE PREPARED:  5/16/2016

5/16/2016 G:\111\11121532 WRT Willis Main Street\04-Technical Work\Cost Estimating\2016-05-09 Willits Main Street Op of Cost.xlsx

PRELIM
IN

ARY



 

332 Pine Street | 4th Floor | San Francisco, CA 94104 | (415) 348-0300 | Fax (415) 773-1790 

www.fehrandpeers.com 

MEMORANDUM 

Date: October 3rd, 2016 

To: Dusty Duley, City of Willits, Alison Pernell, LGC, John Gibbs, WRT, and John Hykes, 

Placeworks 

From: Daniel Jacobson and Kendra Rowley, Fehr & Peers 

Subject: Existing Circulation Assessment and Improvement Evaluation for Main Street 

& Downtown Willits 

SF16-0866 

OVERVIEW 

This memorandum serves as a technical reference for the City of Willits Main Street Corridor 

Enhancement Plan and the Traffic Circulation & Connectivity Study for Downtown Willits Streets 

and Alleys. It evaluates existing conditions and opportunities and constraints within pre-Bypass and 

post-Bypass conditions of Main Street and the Downtown streets network. The study area includes 

Main Street between the northern and southern city limits, as well as the Downtown streets network 

between Valley Street, Commercial Street, the Northwest Pacific Railroad, and School Street. 

The study area is divided into three sub-areas: 

 Main Street (Relinquishment), spanning both the Sherwood Road/High School project 

from the northern City limits to Bittenbender Lane and the Main Street project from 

Bittenbender Lane to Fort Bragg Road (State Route 20). 

 Downtown Streets and Alleys, including Downtown streets between Valley Street, 

Commercial Street, the Northwest Pacific Railroad, and School Street, dnot including 

Main Street. 

 Main Street (Caltrans), spanning the non-relinquishment segment of Main Street from 

the State Route 20 intersection to the southern city limits. 

For each sub-area, this memorandum summarizes existing conditions, including current circulation, 

street design, and collision trends, and well as opportunities and constraints. 



Dusty Duley, Alison Pernell, John Gibbs, and John Hykes 

September 27th, 2016 

Page 2 of 35 

EXISTING CONDITIONS 

PRE- AND POST-BYPASS CONDITIONS  

Main Street (US-101) presently serves as a key 

route for both local and intercity travel as a part 

of the California State Highway system. On a 

typical weekday, Main Street carries about 

15,000 vehicles through Downtown Willits and 

about 23,500 vehicles through southern Willits. 

Main Street serves a variety of transportation 

purposes, including: 

 Access to local businesses, 

residences, schools and 

destinations 

 Crosstown bicycle and pedestrian 

circulation 

 Local and intercity bus services 

 Intercity automobile and freight 

travel 

The Willits Bypass project (scheduled to open 

Fall 2016) will significantly change traffic conditions within the City of Willits. The Bypass is expected 

to reroute most north-south intercity automobile and freight travel around Willits, decreasing traffic 

volumes along Main Street. There is some uncertainty in the magnitude of the total decrease under 

post-Bypass conditions: the Mendocino County Travel Demand Model estimates a 20-25 percent 

decrease through Willits, while the Willits Bypass EIR estimates a 25-35 percent decrease. Table 1 

shows traffic volumes on Main Street under existing (pre-Bypass) and near-term (post-Bypass) 

conditions.  

Inset 1: Main Street at Van Lane, facing north 



Dusty Duley, Alison Pernell, John Gibbs, and John Hykes 

September 27th, 2016 

Page 3 of 35 

  

TABLE 1: EXISTING TRAFFIC VOLUMES (PRE- AND POST-BYPASS) 

Segment 

Pre-Bypass ADT Post-Bypass ADT 

Existing, 2014 

Post-Bypass 

(MCOG 

Model) 

% Change 

(MCOG 

Model) 

Post-Bypass 

(Bypass EIR) 

% Change 

(Bypass EIR) 

Main Street, 

Northern City 

Limits  

7,100 3,300 -57% 12,300 +74% 

Main Street, 

North of SR-20 

Intersection 

15,0002 11,900 -21% 11,300 -25% 

Main Street, 

South of SR 20 
23,500 18,300 -22% 15,300 -35% 

Main Street, 

Southern City 

Limits  

18,300 11,600 -37% N/A N/A 

Notes: 

1. Calculations based on Mendocino County Travel Demand Model (MCOG Model) comparison of 2009 pre-Bypass 

condition with 2020 post-Bypass condition and Willits Bypass EIR comparison of 2002 pre-Bypass condition and 2015 

post-Bypass condition. Volumes adjusted for 2014 base year using Caltrans traffic counts.  

2. 2009 counts presented; 2014 counts unavailable. Traffic volumes within Willits have remained relatively constant 

between these time periods. 

In order to evaluate existing (pre-Bypass) 

intersection operations, PM peak period 

intersection volumes were counted at ten 

intersections during March 2015 and 2016 

(Appendix C). The City of Willits Circulation and 

Parking Improvement Study previously 

observed that the PM peak period experiences 

the highest traffic volumes during a typical 

weekday, and is generally representative of 

typical vehicle conditions between 12:00 PM 

and 6:00 PM – though pedestrian, bicycle and 

turn volumes may vary by time of day (Inset 2). Existing traffic volumes were shown to be higher in 

the southbound direction during the AM peak and higher in the northbound direction during the 

PM peak, but volumes remain relatively balanced in both directions. 

Inset 2: Traffic volumes on Main Street by time of 

day. Source: Willits Circulation & Parking 

Improvement Study, 2003 



Dusty Duley, Alison Pernell, John Gibbs, and John Hykes 

September 27th, 2016 

Page 4 of 35 

MULTIMODAL SAFETY 

Multimodal safety represents a key challenge for Main Street. Main Street serves numerous schools 

and destinations, yet it is presently characterized by heavy traffic volumes, high vehicle speeds, and 

challenging conditions for people walking and biking. Between 2005 and 2014, 77 of the 82 

reported collisions within the City of Willits that resulted in an injury occurred along Main Street. 

Of these 77 collisions, 55 involved only vehicles, 14 involved vehicles and pedestrians, and six 

involved vehicles and bicyclists. Three fatalities occurred during this period, including two 

pedestrians and one bicyclist. Youth under age 18 were disproportionately represented among 

bicycle and pedestrian collisions, comprising seven of 19 collisions and two of three fatalities.  

The most common cause of collisions on Main Street is unsafe speed (28 percent of all collisions). 

Willits experiences a high number of collisions associated with violations of pedestrian right-of-way 

(57 percent of all pedestrian collisions) and bicyclists riding on the wrong side of the road (67 

percent of all bicycle collisions) as well. 

Collisions are evenly distributed between Main Street north and south of the State Route 20 

junction. While collisions periodically occur within the Downtown streets and alleys network, no 

collisions resulted in injuries during the study period along streets outside of Main Street. It is worth 

noting that several improvements have been implemented over the past five years, including the 

signalization of the Main Street/Holly Street intersection and a rapid-rectangular flashing beacon 

at Gregory Lane. Table 2 and Figure 1 provide a summary of collisions by segment.  

TABLE 2: TOTAL INJURY COLLISIONS, 2005-2014 

Study Sub-Area 
Total Injury 

Collisions  

Automobile 

Collisions  

Pedestrian 

Collisions  

Bicycle 

Collisions 

Main Street 

(Relinqushment) 
40 31 5 4 

Downtown Streets  0 0 0 0 

Main Street 

(Caltrans) 
37 24 9 2 

Total 77 55 14 6 

1. Source: SWITRS, via TIMS 



Dusty Duley, Alison Pernell, John Gibbs, and John Hykes 

September 27th, 2016 

Page 5 of 35 

Main Street (Relinquishment) 

Thirty-six collisions occurred along Main Street 

between 2005 and 2014. Table 3 shows 

locations along Main Street which experienced 

more than two injury collisions during this time 

period. The Main Street/Valley Street 

intersection experienced the highest volume of 

collisions, including four automobile collisions, 

two pedestrian collisions, and two bicycle 

collisions. The Main Street/Mendocino Street, 

Main Street/Sherwood Road, and Main 

Street/State Street intersections each 

experienced five injury collisions. 

TABLE 3: MAIN STREET (RELINQUISHMENT) LOCATIONS WITH >2 TOTAL INJURY 

COLLISIONS, 2005-2014 

Main Street 

Intersection 

Total Injury 

Collisions  

Automobile 

Collisions  

Pedestrian 

Collisions  

Bicycle 

Collisions 

Valley Street 8 4 2 2 

Mendocino Avenue 5 4 0 1 

Sherwood Road2 5 5 0 0 

State Street 5 3 2 0 

Other Intersections 17 15 1 1 

Total (All 

Intersections) 
40 31 5 4 

1. Source: SWITRS, via TIMS. Includes reported injury collisions referenced to nearest intersection.  

2. The City plans to install safety improvements at the Main Street/Sherwood Road intersection described in the previous 

subsection.  

In addition to the locations noted above, the Main Street/Commercial Street collisions represents 

another location of concern for collisions. Two injury collisions and several non-injury collisions and 

near misses have occurred at this location, primarily associated with conflicts between left turning 

vehicles and through vehicles and pedestrians along Commercial Street. 

Inset 3: Main Street at Wood Street facing north 



Dusty Duley, Alison Pernell, John Gibbs, and John Hykes 

September 27th, 2016 

Page 6 of 35 

Main Street (Caltrans) 

Thirty-five collisions occurred along Main 

Street (Caltrans) between 2005 and 2014. Table 

4 shows locations along Main Street which 

experienced more than two injury collisions 

during this time period. Recent improvements 

have occurred at the two highest volume 

collision locations, including signalization of 

the Main Street/Holly Street intersection and 

installation of a Rapid Rectangular Flashing 

Beacon and median refuge at Main 

Street/Gregory Lane. Six intersections each 

experienced three injury collisions. In particular, the Main Street/South Baechtel Road/Muir Mill 

Road poses challenges due to limited sight lines and high volumes.   

TABLE 4: MAIN STREET (CALTRANS) LOCATIONS WITH >2 INJURY COLLISIONS, 2005-

2014 

Main Street Intersection 
Total Injury 

Collisions 

Automobile 

Collisions 

Pedestrian 

Collisions  

Bicycle 

Collisions  

Holly Street2 10 4 5 1 

Gregory Lane3 6 4 2 0 

State Route 20 3 3 0 0 

South Baechtel Road/ 

Muir Mill Road 
3 2 1 0 

North Baechtel Road 3 2 1 1 

Walnut Street 3 3 0 0 

Hazel Street 3 3 0 0 

Other Intersections 6 3 0 0 

Total (All Intersections) 37 24 9 2 

1. Source: SWITRS, via TIMS. Includes reported injury collisions referenced to nearest intersection. 

2. Data precedes installation of traffic signal at Holly Street 

3. Data precedes installation of crosswalk enhancements, including Rapid Rectangular Flashing Beacon and median refuge  

 

Inset 4: Main Street near Manor Way facing north 



E Hill Rd

Hearst Rd

Fort Bragg Rd

Lo
cu

st
 S

t

Rd
 A

Exley Rd

Cropley Ln

Center Valley RdE Valley St

E Commercial St

Baechtel Rd

Sherw
ood Rd

Muir M
ill R

d

N
or

th
 S

t

Sh
ell

 Ln

Sa
w

ye
rs

 L
n

Locust L
n

Franklin Ave

Railroad Ave
N

 Lenore Ave

Poplar Ave

Mill Creek Dr
Hearst Willits Rd

Cem
etery Ln

M
argie D

r

H
aehl Creek D

r

Casteel Ln

Ea
sy

 S
t

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!( !(

!(

!(

!(

!(

 

!(
10

!(
5

!(
1

Vehicle Collisions

N
:\P

ro
je

ct
s\

20
16

_P
ro

je
ct

s\
S

F1
6-

08
66

_W
ill

its
 M

ai
n 

S
tre

et
 C

or
rid

or
\G

ra
ph

ic
s\

G
IS

\M
X

D
\V

eh
ic

le
C

ol
lis

io
ns

.m
xd

Figure 1 

Vehicle Collisions



E Hill Rd

Hearst Rd

Fort Bragg Rd

Lo
cu

st
 S

t

Rd
 A

Exley Rd

Cropley Ln

Center Valley RdE Valley St

E Commercial St

Baechtel Rd

Sherw
ood Rd

Muir M
ill R

d

N
or

th
 S

t

Sh
ell

 Ln

Sa
w

ye
rs

 L
n

Locust L
n

Franklin Ave

Railroad Ave
N

 Lenore Ave

Poplar Ave

Mill Creek Dr
Hearst Willits Rd

Cem
etery Ln

M
argie D

r

H
aehl Creek D

r

Casteel Ln

Ea
sy

 S
t

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

Pedestrian Collisions

!(
3 - 5

!(!( 1

!( Bicycle Collision

N
:\P

ro
je

ct
s\

20
16

_P
ro

je
ct

s\
S

F1
6-

08
66

_W
ill

its
 M

ai
n 

S
tre

et
 C

or
rid

or
\G

ra
ph

ic
s\

G
IS

\M
X

D
\V

eh
ic

le
C

ol
lis

io
ns

.m
xd

Figure 2 

Bicycle and Pedestrian Collisions



Dusty Duley, Alison Pernell, John Gibbs, and John Hykes 

September 27th, 2016 

Page 9 of 35 

OPPORTUNITIES AND CONSTRAINTS 

MAIN STREET (RELINQUISHMENT SEGMENT) 

Summary – Main Street’s center left turn lane serves low volumes in the Downtown area and is 

optional under post-Bypass conditions. While on-street parking occupancy along Main Street is 

high in Downtown, occupancy is low to the north and south of Downtown. Unsignalized crosswalks, 

high vehicle speeds, narrow sidewalks, and ADA-inaccessible facilities pose barriers to pedestrian 

circulation. All marked crosswalks present opportunities for enhancement. Lack of bicycle facilities 

and high traffic volumes/speeds serve as barriers to bicycling.   

Vehicle Circulation & Parking 

 Main Street presently carries about 15,000 vehicles per day through Downtown Willits, 

averaging about 1,300-1,500 vehicles per hour during the PM peak hour and about 

750-800 vehicles in the peak direction. Main Street includes one through lane in each 

direction and a center left turn lane. Upon completion of the Willits Bypass project, 

traffic volumes are expected to decrease by about 20-25 percent.  

 Main Street experiences frequent traffic congestion, particularly around the Sherwood 

Road and Commercial Street intersections where traffic signals are present. Vehicles 

making left turns from Main Street or approaching on side streets at unsignalized 

intersections are subject to frequent delays due to infrequent gaps in traffic flow.  

 Free on-street parking is provided along most of the corridor; parking occupancy is 

highest between Commercial Street and Valley Street (about 56 spaces total). Low on-

street parking utilization south of Valley Street encourages higher vehicle speeds. 

 Commercial loading occurs both on and off of Main Street. Some larger trucks park 

in the center left turn lane, which can sometimes pose challenges for emergency 

vehicle access. 

 The center left turn lane in Downtown Willits between the Commercial Street and 

Valley Street intersections serves low traffic volumes (generally ≤30 turns per hour). 

While left turn queues frequently occur, queueing is expected to decrease post-

Bypass. Outside of Downtown, the center turn lane serves very low traffic volumes in 

locations with low-volume (mostly residential) driveways.   

 Existing right turn volumes are low throughout the corridor (generally <60 turns per 

hour) and do not require right turn pockets. 



Dusty Duley, Alison Pernell, John Gibbs, and John Hykes 

September 27th, 2016 

Page 10 of 35 

 The Valley Street intersection presents challenges for vehicle circulation due to its 

offset configuration, limited sight lines, and close proximity to the post office 

driveway. 

 The S-curve between Oak Street and San Francisco Avenue includes limited sight lines 

due to higher speeds, roadway geometry, and limited setbacks of buildings/signage. 

Transit Circulation 

 Mendocino County Transit Routes 1 (Willits Local) and 20 (Willits-Ukiah) serve Main 

Street. Bus stops are provided at the intersections of Main Street and Wood Street 

(Route 1 only), Valley Street, and San Francisco Avenue. Route 1 provides hourly 

service approximately between the hours of 7:00 AM and 6:00 PM. Route 20 provides 

six round-trips to Ukiah between the hours of 7:00 AM and 5:00 PM. Both bus routes 

terminate at the Integrated Service Center on Lenore Avenue between Creekside 

Street and Valley Street, accessed via Commercial Street. 

 Existing transit stops include limited amenities – signage, benches, and shelters are 

generally not provided 

Pedestrian Circulation 

 Sidewalks along Main Street in Downtown Willits are generally 10-12 feet wide. 

Several sidewalk gaps are present between State Street and Willits High School. South 

of Wood Street, sidewalks narrow to less than ten feet, as narrow as 3-5 feet in some 

locations.  

 Marked “ladder” crosswalks are included at nine intersections, including all 

intersections between Sherwood Road and Valley Street. All crosswalk locations are 

unsignalized with the exception of Sherwood Road and Commercial Street, and no 

locations include enhancements such as signage and median refuges. Most 

crosswalks do not include ADA-accessible features such as detectable warnings. While 

crosswalks are frequently spaced in Downtown Willits (approximately every 200 feet), 

distances between crosswalks increase substantially south of Wood Street to 500-900 

feet. 

 PM peak hour pedestrian crossing volumes are highest at the Wood Street, Valley 

Street, and Mendocino Avenue intersections (>80 pedestrians during the PM peak 

hour). The crossing of East Valley Street adjacent to the post office experienced the 

highest individual crosswalk volumes (60 pedestrians during the PM peak hour). Some 

mid-block pedestrian crossings occur between Wood Street and Valley Street. 



Dusty Duley, Alison Pernell, John Gibbs, and John Hykes 

September 27th, 2016 

Page 11 of 35 

 High pedestrian volumes associated with Willits High School were also observed in 

the morning, lunch, and afternoon periods, especially at the Sherwood Road, State 

Street, and Commercial Street intersections. 

TABLE 5: OBSERVED PM PEAK HOUR PEDESTRIAN VOLUMES 

Street 
Pedestrians Crossing Main 

Street 

Pedestrians Crossing Side 

Streets 

Commercial Street 24 18 

Mendocino Avenue 16 47 

Van Lane 3 44 

Wood Street/Wood Alley 42 65 

Valley Street 23 67 

Monroe Street 8 28 

Notes: 

1. Counts conducted on Wednesday, March 30th, 2016 

Bicycle Circulation 

 No bicycle lanes are present along Main Street. Observed bicycle volumes were very 

low (<10 during the PM peak hour at most study intersections). Most bicycle traffic 

along Main Street is associated 

with Willits High School students. 

Existing vehicle speeds and 

volumes provide a high-stress 

environment for bicycling in 

mixed traffic flow. 

 Bicycle racks are present at a few 

locations in the Downtown area, 

but are generally not located in 

high visibility areas.  

 The Willits Bicycle and Pedestrian 

Specific Plan calls for Class II 

bicycle lanes along Main Street as 

it provides direct access to schools, businesses, and destinations.   

Inset 5: Students riding southbound along the Main 

Street sidewalk near California Street 



Dusty Duley, Alison Pernell, John Gibbs, and John Hykes 

September 27th, 2016 

Page 12 of 35 

DOWNTOWN STREETS AND ALLEYS 

Summary – The Main Street/Commercial 

Street intersection presents and provides 

opportunities for enhancement through 

protected left turns and signal timing 

improvements. East Commercial Street serves 

as a key multimodal street for vehicles, 

pedestrians, bicyclists, and buses; however, its 

present design provides limited accomodations 

for people walking and bicycling. The narrow 

width of some Downtown streets limits sight 

lines and circulation, particularly along Van 

Lane and Wood Street.   

Vehicle Circulation & Parking 

 The Downtown circulation network includes five east-west streets and alleys 

(Commercial Street, Van Lane, Mendocino Avenue, Wood Street/Wood Alley, Valley 

Street) and four north-south streets and alleys (School Street, Muir Lane, Main Street, 

and Humboldt Street). With the exception of Commercial Street, most streets in 

Downtown Willits are very narrow: streets are about 28 feet wide (curb-to-curb), while 

alleys are about 15 feet wide.  

 Commercial Street, Valley Street, and Mendocino Avenue (west of Main Street) were 

observed to carry the highest traffic volumes (Table 6). Van Lane experiences very 

little traffic; no vehicles were observed traveling west of Main Street during the PM 

peak hour, and two vehicles were observed traveling east of Main Street.  

TABLE 6: OBSERVED PM PEAK HOUR SEGMENT VOLUMES IN DOWNTOWN WILLITS 

Street 
Segment Volume (West of Main 

Street) 

Segment Volume (East of Main 

Street) 

Commercial Street 275 427 

Mendocino Avenue 95 30 

Van Lane 0 2 

Wood Street/Wood 

Alley 
51 39 

Valley Street 152 166 

Notes: 

1. Counts conducted on Wednesday, March 30th, 2016 

Inset 6: Commercial Street at Muir Lane facing east 



Dusty Duley, Alison Pernell, John Gibbs, and John Hykes 

September 27th, 2016 

Page 13 of 35 

 The Commercial Street 

intersection experiences 

frequent conflicts associated 

with vehicles turning left from 

Commercial onto Main Street 

without signal protection. The 

existing signal timing prioritizes 

Main Street and results in 

queues on Commercial Street 

that sometimes extend to 

Humboldt Street and Muir Lane. 

 About 160 on-street and of-

street spaces are provided within one block of Main Street between Commercial 

Street and Wood Street, excluding School Street and Humboldt Street. Commercial 

Street includes parallel parking on both sides of the street; between School Street 

and Main Street, it includes angled parking on the southern side of the street. Other 

streets typically include parallel parking on only one side of the street. Few on-street 

parking spaces are provided along alleyways. Off street parking is provided at five 

public lots as well as a number of dedicated lots for businesses. No wayfinding 

signage is provided from Main Street to access off-street public parking lots. 

 Wood Street has limited sight lines at Main Street due to its narrowness and limited 

adjacent building setbacks. 

 The Willits Fire Department is located on the north side of Commercial Street between 

Main Street and Humboldt Street. Most trips occur via Commercial, Main, and 

Humboldt Streets.  

Transit Circulation 

 Mendocino County Transit Routes 1 (Willits Local) and 20 (Willits-Ukiah) serve stops 

on Commercial Street at Humboldt Street. Route 1 provides hourly service 

approximately between the hours of 7:00 AM and 6:00 PM. Route 20 provides six 

round-trips to Ukiah between the hours of 7:00 AM and 5:00 PM. Both bus routes 

terminate at the Integrated Service Center on Lenore Avenue between Creekside 

Street and Valley Street. 

 Amtrak Thruway Bus 6318 (Arcata-Martinez) stops adjacent to the Skunk Train 

terminal on Commercial Street. Amtrak provides one daily roundtrip.  

 Existing transit stops include limited amenities – signage, benches, and shelters are 

generally not provided 

Inset 7: Van Lane at Main Street facing west 



Dusty Duley, Alison Pernell, John Gibbs, and John Hykes 

September 27th, 2016 

Page 14 of 35 

Pedestrian Circulation 

 Sidewalks are included along all 

streets in Downtown Willits, but 

are not included along alleys. 

With the exception of Commercial 

Street, which has 8-12 foot 

sidewalks, most sidewalks are 

narrow (about six feet wide). 

Commercial Street also includes 

planters and picnic benches.  

 Pedestrian traffic outside of Main 

Street was primarily observed 

along Commercial Street and 

Valley Street. City Park, City Hall, and the Skunk Train represent major Downtown-area 

pedestrian activity hubs along Commercial Street.  

 Unimproved alleyways and ADA-inaccessible facilities may pose barriers to pedestrian 

circulation around Downtown   

Bicycle Circulation 

 Commercial Street includes Class II bicycle lanes and serves as the primary east-west 

bicycle route across Downtown Willits. However, in some locations, bicycle lane 

markings have faded and are no longer visible. Near the Humboldt Street intersection, 

bicycle lanes share space with angled parking for the fire station. Sufficient space 

generally exists to provide buffered bike lanes. 

 Observed bicycle volumes were 

very low (<5 during the PM peak 

hour at most study intersections).  

 Bicycle parking is provided at 

some locations around 

Downtown Willits, but parking is 

generally not provided on-street 

or in visible locations. 

 Valley Street is designated as a 

Class III bicycle route; however, no 

signage or other bicycle 

improvements are provided.   

Inset 8: Commercial Street at Schmidbauer Lane, 

facing east 

Inset 9: Bicyclists crossing Main Street at 

Mendocino Avenue 



Dusty Duley, Alison Pernell, John Gibbs, and John Hykes 

September 27th, 2016 

Page 15 of 35 

MAIN STREET (CALTRANS SEGMENT) 

Summary – Under post-Bypass conditions, Main Street will include excess vehicle capacity that 

may present an opportuntiy for a road diet to provide traffic calming. Infrequent crosswalks, high 

vehicle speeds, narrow sidewalks, and ADA-inaccessible facilities pose barriers to pedestrian 

circulation. Lack of bicycle facilities and high traffic volumes/speeds serve as a barrier to bicycling. 

Vehicle Circulation & Parking 

 Main Street includes two through 

lanes in each direction and a center 

left turn lane, serving about 23,500 

vehicles daily south of the State 

Route 20 intersection. Main Street 

serves approximately 1,400 

vehicles during the PM peak hour, 

including about 800-850 in the 

peak direction. At the southern city 

limits, Main Street has one through 

lane in each direction and a center 

left turn lane.  

 Upon completion of the Willits Bypass project, traffic volumes are expected to 

decrease by 20-25 percent to about 18,300 vehicles. At these lower volumes, a road 

diet is typically feasible pending additional study. 

 Traffic signals are present at the intersections of State Route 20, Holly Street, and 

Evergreen Village. Infrequent traffic controls, lane widths, and lack of traffic calming 

features support high vehicle speeds. 

 On-street parking is not provided as off-street parking is included at most locations 

along the corridor.  

 The Main Street/Fort Bragg Road (State Route 20) intersection experiences high 

vehicle and pedestrian volumes and frequent traffic congestion. Several adjacent 

driveways exacerbate vehicle conflicts. The northbound left turn lane along Main 

Street was recently extended to alleviate northbound queues; however, this change 

has resulted in challenges for access/egress to the Safeway complex. 

 The Baectel Road/Muir Mill Lane (Brown’s Corner) intersection experiences frequent 

conflicts due to limited sight lines and high vehicle speeds along Main Street. The 

intersection serves as a key route for emergency vehicle access to the Frank R. Howard 

Memorial Hospital.   

Inset 10: Main Street at Baechtel Road South 

(Brown’s Corner), facing north 



Dusty Duley, Alison Pernell, John Gibbs, and John Hykes 

September 27th, 2016 

Page 16 of 35 

Transit Circulation 

 Mendocino County Transit Routes 1 (Willits Local), 20 (Willits-Ukiah), and 65 (Fort 

Bragg-Santa Rosa) serve Main Street. Bus stops are provided at the intersections of 

Walnut Street (Route 65 only), Hazel Street, and South Baechtel Road/Muir Mill Road. 

Route 1 provides hourly service approximately between the hours of 7:00 AM and 6:00 

PM. Route 20 provides six round-trips to Ukiah between the hours of 7:00 AM and 

5:00 PM. Route 65 provides one daily trip in either direction, departing southbound 

toward Santa Rosa around 7:00 AM and northbound toward Fort Bragg around 5:00 

PM.  

 Greyhound Route 607 (Arcata-San Francisco) stops at the McDonalds at the 

intersection of Gregory Lane. Greyhound provides one daily roundtrip. 

 Existing bus stops include limited amenities – signage, benches, and shelters are not 

provided. Bus stops are not always accompanied by a crosswalk across Main Street. 

Pedestrian Circulation 

 Main Street includes sidewalks approximately 6-10 feet in width between State Route 

20 and Evergreen Village. Sidewalks are frequently interrupted by driveways serving 

local businesses. No sidewalks are present south of Evergreen Village.  

 Three crosswalks are present south of State Route 20, located at Holly Street (signal-

protected), Gregory Lane (Rapid Rectangular Flashing Beacon), and Evergreen Village 

(signal protected). Crosswalks are separated by distances of 1,400-2,000 feet; 

consequently, some pedestrians were observed crossing midblock or at unmarked 

crosswalks due to these relatively long distances. 

 Baechtel Grove Middle School represents a major pedestrian generator. Students 

frequently cross Main Street midblock near the southern Safeway driveway. 

 Most crosswalks do not include ADA-accessible features such as detectable warnings.  

Bicycle Circulation 

 No bicycle lanes are present along Main Street. Observed bicycle volumes were very 

low (<10 during the PM peak hour at most study intersections). Existing vehicle speeds 

and volumes provide a high-stress environment for bicycling in mixed traffic flow.  

 Bicycle racks are present at few locations, and are generally not located in high 

visibility areas.  

 The Willits Bicycle and Pedestrian Specific Plan calls for Class II bicycle lanes along 

Main Street as it provides direct access to schools, businesses, and destinations. 



Dusty Duley, Alison Pernell, John Gibbs, and John Hykes 

September 27th, 2016 

Page 17 of 35 

IMPROVEMENT EVALUATION 

This section provides a high-level evaluation of key improvements identified in the Main Street 

Corridor Enhancement Plan and the Traffic Circulation & Connectivity Study for Downtown Willits 

Streets and Alleys.  

Sherwood Road Intersection & Willits High School 

The reconfiguration of the Main 

Street/Sherwood Road intersection by Caltrans 

presents an opportunity to resolve challenging 

roadway geometry and sight line constraints 

while enhancing bicycle and pedestrian 

conditions. Preliminary Caltrans designs 

include a reconstructed Sherwood Road 

approach and ADA-accessible sidewalks and 

curb ramps around Willits High School.  

These designs were reviewed for consistency 

with the Main Street Corridor Enhancement Plan and previous plans including the City of Willits 

Bicycle and Pedestrian Specific Plan and City of Willits Safe Routes to Schools Plan. In reviewing 

these designs, key challenges include facilitating bicycle access/egress from Willits High School to 

the Sherwood Road intersection and Downtown Willits, and providing pedestrian access to the 

shoulder on the north side of Sherwood Road. In order to achieve consistency with these plans and 

resolve these challenges, additional project elements may include: 

 Buffered bicycle lanes using the existing paved shoulder on Main Street, north and south 

of Sherwood Road, connecting to proposed bike lanes south of Bittenbender Lane 

 An off-street bicycle path about 200 feet long along Willits Unified School District 

property to connect the Sherwood Road intersection to on-campus bicycle parking 

 A high-visibility trail crossing treatment across the southern crossing of Main Street at 

Sherwood Road to facilitate bicycle and pedestrian crossings of Main Street 

 A crosswalk across Sherwood Road on the west leg of the intersection to facilitate access 

to the northside shoulder 

 Directional ADA ramps on the southwest corner of the intersection 

Inset 11: Main Street at Sherwood Road, facing 

north 



Dusty Duley, Alison Pernell, John Gibbs, and John Hykes 

September 27th, 2016 

Page 18 of 35 

 A signal head and signal phase for the existing Willits High School driveway to 

accommodate signal-protected egress from the vehicle and school bus parking lot 

Downtown Willits 

The Main Street Corridor Enhancement Plan and Traffic Circulation & Connectivity Study for 

Downtown Willits Streets and Alleys include four key circulation changes in Downtown Willits: 

1. The addition of bike lanes along Main Street and the removal of the center left turn lane. 

2. The addition of protected left turn phasing and dedicated left turn lanes on Commercial 

Street 

3. The conversion of Mendocino Avenue and Wood Street to a one-way couplet. 

4. Changes to vehicle access along Van Lane and SchmidBauer Lane 

Bicycle Lanes and Center Left Turn Lane 

The Willits Bicycle and Pedestrian Specific Plan 

calls for Class II bicycle lanes along Main Street. 

Bicycle lanes can be provided through a 

combination of reallocating space from the 

center left turn lane or parking. The primary 

need of the center left turn lane under existing 

conditions is for left turn vehicle queueing at 

intersections due to limited gaps in vehicle 

streams. The center left turn lane serves low left turn volumes (about 30 vehicles or less during the 

PM peak hour at the Commercial Street, Mendocino Street, and Wood Street intersections). Under 

post-Bypass conditions, queueing will decrease as the forecast reduction in traffic volumes and 

planned retiming of the Main Street/Commercial Street signal will result in more gaps in vehicle 

traffic along Main Street. Since left turn lanes are typically needed in locations where left turn 

volumes exceed 150-200 vehicles during the peak hour, left turns should be adequately 

accommodated without a center left turn lane on Main Street.  

To the north and south of Downtown Willits, the center left turn lane facilitates access to local 

businesses, which include more frequent driveways than Downtown. In these segments, on-street 

parking occupancy levels are lower than in the Downtown section, due to ample off-street parking 

Inset 12: Main Street north of Valley Street, facing 

north 



Dusty Duley, Alison Pernell, John Gibbs, and John Hykes 

September 27th, 2016 

Page 19 of 35 

supply and frequent driveways. Bicycle lanes can be provided in these segments through the 

removal of on-street parking.  

Main Street/Commercial Street Intersection  

The lack of protected left turn phasing and dedicated left turn lanes along Commercial Street at 

Main Street results in conflicts between left turning vehicles and other modes crossing Main Street, 

especially pedestrians. Queues generated by left turning vehicles also can impede the flow of 

through and right-turning vehicles, resulting in delays for both eastbound and westbound traffic 

flow. While space allows for right turning vehicles to merge into existing bike lanes during their 

turn, pavement markings could be clearer to highlight this conflict zone for both bikes and vehicles. 

Several intersection improvements would help address these conflicts and delays: 

 Provide protected left turn phasing and dedicated left turn lanes on Commercial Street 

through the removal of on-street parking adjacent to the intersection 

 Pedestrian bulbouts to shorten crosswalk distances 

 Accomodate eastbound right turns on Commercial Street via a right turn pocket shared 

with the bike lane 

 Bicycle conflict zone markings along both Main Street and Commercial Street 

 Retiming of the signal to serve post-Bypass volumes, including inclusion of pedestrian 

recall  

These changes are expected to reduce delays along Commercial Street, but may increase delays 

along Main Street. However, given the expected decrease in traffic volumes along Main Street, these 

tradeoffs are expected to produce optimal intersection operations as a whole. 

Mendocino Avenue and Wood Street One-Way Couplet 

The existing two-way configuration of Mendocino Avenue and Wood Street poses challenges for 

vehicle circulation due to the narrow widths and limited sight distances. Existing curb-to-curb 

widths are 24 to 28 feet with sidewalks about five feet wide, typically without building setbacks. 

Vehicles traveling eastbound on Mendocino Street have limited sight distance looking south on 

Main Street due to limited building setbacks, creating the potential for conflicts with other vehicles 

as well as pedestrians and bicyclists. Westbound Mendocino Avenue also presents a key route for 

emergency vehicle access, and is sometimes subject to obstructions associated with parking, 



Dusty Duley, Alison Pernell, John Gibbs, and John Hykes 

September 27th, 2016 

Page 20 of 35 

loading, and narrow vehicle lanes. On-street parking is not provided in some locations along 

Mendocino Avenue due to narrow width. 

The conversion of Mendocino Avenue and Wood Street into a one-way couplet presents an 

opportunity to resolve sight distance constraints, reduce conflicts for turns onto and off of Main 

Street, and clarify on-street parking. Between Humboldt Street and School Street, Mendocino 

Avenue would be converted to a one-way street with parallel or angled parking in the westbound 

direction, while Wood Street/Wood Alley would be converted to a one-way street with parallel 

parking in the eastbound direction. Given that these streets experience moderate combined 

volumes of about 150 vehicles during the PM peak hour west of Main Street and 70 vehicles east 

of Main Street, this conversion would be accommodated within the existing street capacity. Coupled 

with improvements at the Main Street/Commercial Street intersection and the introduction of 

wayfinding signage to access off-street parking lots, a one-way couplet is expected to be feasible 

without adversely affecting Downtown circulation. 

Changes to Vehicle Access along Van Lane and SchmidBauer Lane 

The intersection of Main Street and Van Lane represents the one of the primary sources of 

pedestrian and vehicle conflicts in the Downtown alley network due to the narrow width of Van 

Lane (about 15 feet), the volume of vehicle and pedestrian traffic along and crossing Main Street, 

and the limited distance between the intersection and the Main Street/Commercial Street 

intersection. Van Lane experiences very low volumes (less than five vehicles during the PM peak 

hour). In order to reduce these conflicts and enhance walkability, limiting passenger vehicle access 

along Van Lane via movable bollards is recommended. The one-way conversion of SchmidBauer 

Lane in the southbound direction would maintain access to the parking lot adjacent to the Main 

Street Music & Video parking lot, such that vehicles would enter via SchmidBauer Lane from 

Commercial Street, and exit via Van Lane to Humboldt Street. Wayfinding signage and a high-

friction pavement surface could also help facilitate this change and provide traffic calming. 

Change in Parking Supply 

In total, the changes described above are expected to decrease public parking supply from about 

160 spaces to about 140 spaces within the Downtown core (bounded by Commercial Street, Wood 

Street, Humboldt Street, and School Street, excluding on-street supply on Humboldt Street and 

School Street). This corresponds about a 13 percent reduction in public parking supply. Of these, 

approximately five spaces will be removed along Main Street, and approximately 15 spaces within 



Dusty Duley, Alison Pernell, John Gibbs, and John Hykes 

September 27th, 2016 

Page 21 of 35 

the Downtown network (primarily concentrated around Commercial Street and Van Lane. This 

reduction in parking may be mitigated through enhanced wayfinding signage to off-street lots and 

enforcement of existing two hour parking limits along Main Street and Commercial Street. 

Valley Street Intersection & Post Office 

The intersection of Main Street and Valley 

Street experienced the highest number of injury 

collisions (eight) between 2005 and 2014, 

including four vehicle collisions, two vehicle-

pedestrian collisions, and two vehicle-bicycle 

collisions. Key observations at the intersection 

include: 

 The limited size of the Post Office 

parking lot and the short distance 

between its driveway and the 

Main Street/East Valley Street 

intersection result in conflicts, queueing, and blockages of East Valley Street. 

 A portion of vehicle, pedestrian, and bicycle activity along East Valley Street is 

associated with the post office; however, East Valley Street also provides one of 

three continuous east-west connections between Main Street and eastern Willits and 

is designated as a Class III bicycle route. 

 During peak traffic periods, about 80 vehicles were observed traveling westbound 

on East Valley Street approaching Main Street, which carries about 1,500 vehicles per 

hour under Pre-Bypass conditions. Infrequent gaps along Main Street presently 

result in vehicle queueing along East Valley Street. 

 Sight distance is limited on East Valley Street for vehicles and bicyclists approaching 

the intersection . 

 A single marked uncontrolled crosswalk is provided between the two approaches of 

Valley Street, where pedestrians are exposed to numerous conflicts without a 

median refuge, signage, or signal protection. 

 Midblock pedestrian crossings were observed north of the intersection, expected to 

be due to the relatively long distances between crosswalks and challenging 

conditions at the Valley Street crosswalk. 

Inset 13: Pedestrian crossing Main Street at Valley 

Street 



Dusty Duley, Alison Pernell, John Gibbs, and John Hykes 

September 27th, 2016 

Page 22 of 35 

Previous studies, such as the Downtown Specific Plan, recommended prohibiting left turns from 

West Valley Street onto Main Street and constructing a raised median with provisions for 

northbound left turns onto West Valley Street. Given the low peak-hour eastbound through and 

left turn volumes along West Valley Street (16 vehicles), the proposed intersection design changes 

remain reasonable. Additionally, by providing an enhanced crosswalk with a median refuge island 

for pedestrians and bicyclists and traffic calming along Main Street, these improvements will 

facilitate a more walkable and bikeable intersection.  

Should conflicts persist after changes to the intersection’s geometry, the introduction of traffic 

controls may be evaluated. In order to test the possible need for a signal, peak hour warrants were 

assessed per CA-MUTCD Section 4C.04, Warrant 3B (Signal Warrants are provided in Appendix D). 

Under pre-Bypass conditions, existing westbound approach volumes on East Valley Street (81 

vehicles during the peak hour) exceed the minimum threshold for a traffic signal (75 vehicles during 

the peak hour). Under post-Bypass conditions, the intersection may still warrant a signal provided 

that Main Street volumes decrease by 20-25 percent and East Valley Street volumes remain 

constant; if Main Street volumes decrease by greater than 30 percent, or if East Valley Street 

volumes decrease by seven percent, the intersection would no longer meet the signal warrant. 

While a peak hour signal warrant is intended for use under unusual land use cases generating large 

volumes of peak hour trips, the Eight-Hour and Four-Hour Volume warrants (Warrants 1 and 2 in 

the 2014 MUTCD) can also be used for conditions where the volume of the intersecting traffic is 

the primary reason for considering a traffic signal, and an engineering study is required for all 

warrants. If a traffic signal is pursued, further monitoring and engineering study of the post-Bypass 

intersection conditions is recommended to confirm its need. 

All-way stop control presents another potential solution for traffic control at the intersection. The 

existing intersection conditions do not meet the thresholds defined by CA-MUTCD Section 2B.07 

(an average of 200 vehicles, pedestrians, and bicyclists entering the intersection per hour over an 

eight hour period for Valley Street), but all-way stop control may be pursued based on an 

engineering study during post-bypass conditions.  

Changes to the intersection geometry and traffic control will not address underlying issues 

associated with the constrained capacity of the Post Office parking lot. Use of existing on-street 

parking may present the best alternative as limited options exist to modify the design of the parking 

lot. Access restrictions along East Valley Street could be used as a way to develop an expanded 

parking lot on City right-of-way, however this would pose challenges as relatively high traffic 



Dusty Duley, Alison Pernell, John Gibbs, and John Hykes 

September 27th, 2016 

Page 23 of 35 

volumes (about 170 vehicles entering and exiting the intersection during the PM peak hour in 

addition to those throughout the day) would be rerouted to the California Street intersection (which 

has limited sight lines) and nearby Downtown intersections. 

Changes to the geometry of Main Street along this segment will result in a reduction of eight on-

street parking spaces (from 24 to 16) between Wood Street and Valley Street. This reduction in 

parking may be mitigated through enhanced wayfinding signage to off-street public lots and higher 

utilization of the approximately 80 off-street spaces accessible from Main Street for customers of 

local businesses along this segment.  

California Street to Oak Street 

Between California Street and Oak Street, on-street parking occupancy along Main Street is low 

due to ample off-street and side street parking; consequently, the perception of wider lanes 

encourages vehicle speeds in excess of the posted speed limit of 25 MPH. Along this segment, Main 

Street narrows and follows an “S” curve, resulting in limited sight lines of the Monroe Street 

intersection/Mariposa Market driveway and unmarked crosswalks. For northbound traffic, the 

existing condition would meet AASHTO required stopping sight distances for the posted 25 MPH 

speed limit with the relocation of on-street parking; however, for travel speeds of 30 MPH obserfved 

by some vehicles, the curvature in the road limits adequate sight distances either for vehicles 

making a right turn at Monroe St or of pedestrians at the unmarked crosswalk. For southbound 

traffic, adequate visibility of the unmarked crosswalk is limited due to the location and size of the 

Pepperwood Motel sign. This condition also limits the sight distance looking north for vehicles 

making right turns out of the Mariposa parking lot. 

Traffic calming measures would help improve adequate sight lines associated with vehicles turning 

from side streets and driveways and pedestrians crossing at unmarked crosswalks. The continuation 

of buffered bike lanes and installation of medians in select locations would support traffic calming 

along this segment in order to maintain travel speeds consistent with the posted speed limit of 25 

MPH. Medians may also serve as refuges for pedestrians crossing in unmarked crosswalks. The 

relocation of the Pepperwood Motel sign would enhance sight lines and reduce potential for 

conflicts at the Mariposa Market driveway.  

These changes would result in the elimination of about 28 parking spaces along Main Street 

between California Street and Oak Street. However, of these 28 spaces, only three to four spaces 

were observed to be occupied during several site visits between 8:00 AM and 6:00 PM between 



Dusty Duley, Alison Pernell, John Gibbs, and John Hykes 

September 27th, 2016 

Page 24 of 35 

April 18th and 22nd, 2016. Many of these spaces are narrow and present potential sight distance 

concerns given the roadway geometry. Existing off-street and side-street parking supply in this area 

would accommodate the loss of on-street capacity.  

Fort Bragg Road (State Route 20) Intersection 

The Main Street/Fort Bragg Road (State Route 20) intersection and adjacent area serves as the most 

congested and constrained location in Willits. The intersection presently experiences long 

northbound vehicle queues extending to the Northwest Pacific Railway Crossing, and serves as a 

barrier to pedestrians and bicyclists due to long crossing distances and lack of bicycle facilities. The 

density of driveways associated with adjacent streets and land uses exacerbate these conflicts.  

South of the Main Street/Fort Bragg Road intersection, conflicts frequently occur in the Northwest 

Pacific Railway Crossing area between the Willits Arch and the Walnut Street intersection, including 

the area around the southern Safeway driveway. Main Street includes four lanes of traffic and no 

center left turn lane or marked crosswalks in this area. Three primary sources of conflicts occur: 

 Conflicts between vehicles occur entering the Safway lot via southbound Main Street and 

exiting the Safeway lot onto southbound Main Street as no left turn pockets or traffic 

controls are present and infrequent gaps in traffic flow occur along Main Street. 

 Conflicts between vehicles and pedestrians (mostly students from Baechtel Grove Middle 

School) occur as pedestrians cross diagonally midblock into the Safeway parking lot and 

are exposed to multiple-threat conflicts (i.e., when pedestrians cross the two southbound 

lanes) and turning conflicts. 

 Conflicts between vehicles and pedestrians occur as pedestrians cross Main Street at the 

Walnut Street intersection for access to and egress from the northbound Mendocino 

Transit stop. 

The City of Willits Safe Routes to Schools Plan calls for a midblock crosswalk near the Willits Arch 

to accommodate pedestrian travel through the desire line. However, crosswalk placement is 

complicated by the close proximity of the Northwest Pacific Railway Crossing and the Safeway 

driveway. In particular, northbound queueing represents a key challenge as it may interfere with 

the at-grade railway crossing and would necessitate coordination with the California Public Utilities 

Commission (CPUC).  

Further study of improvements is needed for this area under post-Bypass conditions and with 

consideration of future land use changes in the area. A preliminary assessment of existing and 



Dusty Duley, Alison Pernell, John Gibbs, and John Hykes 

September 27th, 2016 

Page 25 of 35 

future conditions suggests the following improvements merit consideration based on a future 

evaluation of post-Bypass traffic volumes: 

 Continuation of a road diet along Main Street providing one northbound lane, one 

southbound lane, a center left turn lane (including a 400 foot northbound left turn lane 

from Main Street onto Fort Bragg Road, and a southbound left turn pocket into the 

southern Safeway Driveway), and bike lanes 

 A reduction of pedestrian crossing distances at the Main Street/Fort Bragg Road 

intersection via a reduction in curb radii and/or the introduction of slow-speed 

channelized right turn islands 

 A mid-block crosswalk at the southern Safeway Driveway, including a median refuge and 

RRFB or Pedestrian Hybrid Beacon (PHB), or a traffic signal to facilitate access to both the 

Safeway complex and the Remco site, and/or a crossing along the southern leg of Walnut 

Street to provide access to the Mendocino Transit bus stop 

 A median refuge and channelized right turn for eastbound traffic on Walnut Street, or a 

median prohibiting left turns in and out of Walnut Street 

 Consolidation of driveway access and restrictions of left turns 

Main Street Road Diet (Caltrans Segment) 

Main Street south of Fort Bragg Road may present an opportunity for a road diet to provide traffic 

calming and reduce conflicts for all modes. Under post-Bypass conditions, it is anticipated that 

traffic volumes on Main Street could be accomodated within three lanes without substantially 

degrading traffic operations, which provides an opportunity to add protected or buffered bike 

lanes, and possibly on-street parking in some locations.  

Road diets are typically most successful on streets that carry up to 18,000 to 22,000 vehicles per 

day.  While the existing pre-Bypass volumes on Main Street (23,500 vehicles per day) exceeds this 

typical threshold, anticipated post-Bypass volumes (15,300-18,300 vehicles per day) are below this 

threshold. The projected peak directional volumes (about 700 vehicles per hour) would not exceed 

the typical directional capacity of a single through lane (about 900 vehicles per hour.  

Road diets can offer benefits to all roadway users.  With a center left turn lane, drivers benefit as 

left-turning vehicles pull out of the through-travel lane to make turns, which reduces the need to 

either wait behind a turning vehicle or make a lane change.  Pedestrians benefit as it reduces the 

number of travel lanes that must be crossed and the risk of multiple-threat crashes, and bicyclists 



Dusty Duley, Alison Pernell, John Gibbs, and John Hykes 

September 27th, 2016 

Page 26 of 35 

benefit as dedicated roadway space is provided for them.  Road diets also moderate travel speeds 

through a corridor, as speeds are governed by the lead vehicle, which not only improves the bicycle 

and pedestrian experience, but in combination with the reduction in vehicle interactions reduces 

crash frequency and severity.  A road diet would accommodate improvements to bicycle and 

pedestrian circulation as identified in the City of Willits Bicycle and Pedestrian Specific Plan (2009), 

which calls for Class II bicycle lanes along Main Street, and the City of Willits Safe Routes to Schools 

Plan (2010) which identifies several traffic calming improvements along Main Street. 

Varying sources of data show a wide range of potential accident rate reductions as a result of road 

diets; a study undertaken by the Federal Highway Administration (Publication number FHWA-HRT-

10-053, June 2010)1 documents a 19 percent crash reduction factor for a suburban corridor, and up 

to a 47 percent reduction for road diets in a rural setting.  

Further monitoring and evaluation under post-Bypass conditions is necessary to determine if a road 

diet is feasible and any special design considerations to limit intersection delays and vehicle queues. 

A road diet and associated improvements may be implemented in coordination with street 

repaving, sidewalk widening, landscaping, and/or the installation of medians.  

Baechtel Road (North) Intersection 

Improvements at the Main Street/Baechtel Road (North) intersection are closely tied to the Brown’s 

Corner Roundabout, which may influence volumes and approach speeds at this location. Under 

existing conditions, left turns are challenging as westbound traffic along Baechtel Road experiences 

limited sight distance facing north with infrequent gaps in northbound traffic to cross Main Street. 

The nearest crosswalk across Main Street is located 600 feet from the intersection in either direction, 

which poses challenges for students at Willits Charter School, as noted by the City of Willits Safe 

Routes to Schools Plan (2009). The City of Willits Circulation and Parking Improvement Plan (2003) 

recommends consideration of a traffic signal at the Main Street/Baechtel Road (North) intersection; 

however, should a roundabout be installed at Brown’s Corner and resulting speeds be reduced, 

changes to the intersection geometry may suffice to manage intersection operations. 

In order to test the possible need for a signal, peak hour warrants were conducted per CA-MUTCD 

Section 4C.04 Warrant 3B (Signal Warrants are provided in Appendix D). Under pre-Bypass 

conditions, existing westbound approach volumes on Baechtel Road (140 vehicles during the AM 

                                                      

1 Document can be accessed here:  http://www.fhwa.dot.gov/publications/research/safety/10053/index.cfm 



Dusty Duley, Alison Pernell, John Gibbs, and John Hykes 

September 27th, 2016 

Page 27 of 35 

peak hour) exceed the minimum threshold for a traffic signal (75 vehicles during the peak hour). 

Under post-Bypass conditions, the intersection may still warrant a signal. While a peak hour signal 

warrant is intended for use under unusual land use cases generating large volumes of peak hour 

trips, the Eight-Hour and Four-Hour Volume warrants (Warrants 1 and 3 in the 2014 MUTCD) can 

also be used for conditions where the volume of the intersecting traffic is the primary reason for 

considering a traffic signal, and an engineering study is required for all warrants.  

Alternatively, conflicts at the intersection may be resolved through the implementation of a road 

diet and installation of a median to prohibit westbound left turns if a roundabout at Brown’s Corner 

is implemented and resulting speeds are reduced through this area. This configuration would 

reroute left turning traffic to the Brown’s Corner roundabout, while maintaining southbound left 

turns from Main Street onto Baechtel Road. A crosswalk including an RRFB and median refuge may 

be provided at the southern leg of the intersection to facilitate pedestrian crossings.   

Brown’s Corner Roundabout 

The intersection of Main Street and Baechtel Road (South) at Brown’s Corner presents an 

opportunity to install a roundabout in order to resolve existing challenges associated with sight 

distance, queueing, side street stop delay, and vehicle speeds. The Baechtel Road-Railroad Avenue 

Corridor Community Design Study (2003, Inset 14) proposed a roundabout at Brown’s Corner to 

provide traffic calming and a gateway into Willits while supporting improved circulation to 

southeast Willits, which has experienced recent growth, including the Frank R. Howard Memorial 

Hospital. Additional growth in southeast Willits will further the need for a roundabout as increased 

traffic volumes will exacerbate existing queueing and delay while increasing volumes at turning 

movements with constrained sight distances (southbound left turns and westbound right and left 

turns).  

A roundabout is generally feasible at Brown’s 

Corner; however, further engineering study is 

needed to clarify additional right-of-way 

needs, if any. A roundabout should be 

pursued in tandem with extensions of 

sidewalks and bike lanes along Main Street 

and Baechtel Road to facilitate walking and 

biking in addition to vehicle circulation. 

Inset 14: Rendering of Roundabout at Brown’s Corner. 

Source: Baechtel Road-Railroad Avenue Corridor 

Community Design Study (2003) 

 



Dusty Duley, Alison Pernell, John Gibbs, and John Hykes 

September 27th, 2016 

Page 28 of 35 

APPENDIX A: REVIEW OF PREVIOUS STUDIES 

OVERVIEW 

This study reviewed the following previous studies: 

 City of Willits Downtown Specific Plan Ciruclation Study, 2000 (DSPCS)  

 City of Willits Circulation and Parking Improvement Study, 2003 (CPIS) 

 Baechtel Road-Railroad Avenue Corridor Community Design Study, 2004 (BRCCDS) 

 City of Willits Bicycle and Pedestrian Specific Plan, 2009 (BPSP) 

 City of Willits Safe Routes to Schools Plan, 2010 (SRTSP) 

 City of Willits Traffic Safety Evaluation, 2010 (TSE)  

A summary of key issues is provided below.  

SUMMARY OF PREVIOUS PLANS – CORRIDOR-WIDE  

Topic Notes from Previous Plans 

Fragmented Street Network 

The SRTSP, CPIS, and DSPCS illustrate how the City 

of Willits’ fragmented street network funnels 

vehicle, bicycle, and pedestrian circulation along 

Main Street, both for north-south and east-west 

travel. The geometry of the City’s street grid 

reinforces Main Street’s importance for all modes 

and amplifies challenges posed by high vehicle 

speeds and uncontrolled crossings. 

Bicycle Circulation 

The BPSP, SRTSP, and CPIS note that Main Street 

serves as the only continuous north-south bicycle 

route connecting northern and southern Willits and 

presents an opportunity for enhancing access to 

schools and Downtown. The BSP recommends 

Class II bike lanes along the entirety of Main Street, 

Class II bike lanes along Commercial Street, and a 

Class III bicycle route along Valley Street. 

ADA Accessibility 

The BPSP notes that ADA-accessiblility is 

challenging along Main Street and within 

Downtown Willits due to the presence of sidewalk 

gaps, a lack of accessible curb cuts, frequent 

unprotected crossings, and numerous driveways. 



Dusty Duley, Alison Pernell, John Gibbs, and John Hykes 

September 27th, 2016 

Page 29 of 35 

SUMMARY OF PREVIOUS PLANS – CORRIDOR-WIDE  

Bicycle Tourism 
The BPSP notes that bicycling may serve as an 

attraction for tourism. 

 

MAIN STREET (RELINQUISHMENT) 

SUMMARY OF PREVIOUS PLANS – RELINQUISHMENT SEGMENT  

Topic Notes from Previous Plans 

Main Street/Commercial Street Intersection 

 

The TSE notes frequent conflicts between vehicles 

and pedestrians at the Main Street/Commercial 

Street. It recommends consideration of a leading 

pedestrian interval to reduce conflicts. 

Main Street/Valley Street Intersection 

 

The DSPCS notes frequent conflicts occur at the 

Main Street/Valley Street Intersection. Frequent 

vehicle, bicycle, and pedestrian activity occurs at 

the intersection associated with the post office. Key 

issues include sight lines, turning conflicts, and 

crosswalk placement. Frequent midblock crossings 

occur between Wood Street and Valley Street as 

well, where crosswalks are not present.  

Recommendations include signalization of the 

Main Street/East Valley Street intersection, 

prohibition of left turns from West Valley Street 

onto Main Street and construction of a raised 

median on main Street between East Valley Street 

and West Valley Street with provisions for left turns 

onto West Valley Street.  



Dusty Duley, Alison Pernell, John Gibbs, and John Hykes 

September 27th, 2016 

Page 30 of 35 

SUMMARY OF PREVIOUS PLANS – RELINQUISHMENT SEGMENT  

School Access 

 

The BPSP and SRTSP highlight the importance of 

Main Street for access to Willits High School and 

Sanhedrin High School. These plans note that Main 

Street lacks continuous sidewalks and youth-

accessible bicycle accommodations. Students 

frequently bike along Main Street facing oncoming 

traffic to avoid traffic approaching from behind 

them and the need to cross the street. Additionally, 

school zone signs for Willits High School do not 

extend to Sanhedrin High School. Main Street also 

poses challenges for students traveling east-west 

to Brookside Elementary and Community Day 

School.  

Recommendations include closing gaps in missing 

sidewalks (including between Bittenbender Lane 

and State Street), relocating school zone signs to 

serve both Willits High School and Sanhedrin High 

School, restriping the crosswalk at State Street with 

yellow paint, and retiming the Main 

Street/Sherwood Road traffic signal to 

accommodate a longer pedestrian phase and 

possibly a leading pedestrian interval. 

DOWNTOWN STREETS AND ALLEYS 

SUMMARY OF PREVIOUS PLANS – DOWNTOWN STREETS AND ALLEYS  

Topic Notes from Previous Plans 

Alley Circulation 

The DSPCS notes that Van Lane and Muir Lane have 

high potential for pedestrian improvements. These 

alleys primarily serve deliveries. It recommends 

pedestrian improvements including a high-friction 

textured pavement, access restrictions for local 

traffic only, and bollards along Main Street. It also 

recommends an extension of Van Lane to create a 

continuous alleyway to the Skunk Train Depot. 

However, the Main Street Music & Video parking 

lot is noted as a challenge for local business access. 



Dusty Duley, Alison Pernell, John Gibbs, and John Hykes 

September 27th, 2016 

Page 31 of 35 

SUMMARY OF PREVIOUS PLANS – DOWNTOWN STREETS AND ALLEYS  

Post Office Circulation 

The DSPCS notes that limited parking supply and 

constrained parking lot design at the Willits Post 

Office causes parking and circulation challenges 

along East Valley Street. Queueing on East Valley 

Street and spillover parking at neighboring lots 

frequently occurs.  

School Access 

The SRTSP notes that Commercial Street serves as a 

key corridor for bicycle and pedestrian access to 

schools including Willits High School, Sanhedrin 

High School, Brookside Elementary School, and 

Community Day School. 

MAIN STREET (CALTRANS) 

SUMMARY OF PREVIOUS PLANS – CALTRANS SEGMENT  

Topic Notes from Previous Plans 

Bicycle/Pedestrian Circulation and School 

Access 

The BPSP and SRTSP note that Main Street 

provides challenges for people walking and 

bicycling due to high vehicle speeds, few 

pedestrian crossings, and lack of bicycle facilities. 

Baechtel Grove Middle School and Willits Charter 

School provide high volumes of students walking 

along Main Street, particularly at the Holly Street 

and Baechtel Road (North) intersections.  

Recommendations include Class II bicycle lanes, 

new crosswalks at Baechtel Road (North), Manor 

Way, and Walnut Street, and closure of sidewalk 

gaps on main Street near Manor Way.  

Northwest Pacific Railroad Crossing 

The SRTSP notes that middle school students 

frequently cross around the Northwest Pacific 

Railroad Crossing, southern Safeway Driveway, and 

Main Street/Walnut Street intersection in order to 

travel to Safeway and northern Willits. Sight 

distances are constrained at this location.  

Main Street/Baechtel Road (North) Intersection 

The TSE notes that sight distances are constrained 

for the Baechtel Road approach. Vehicles often 

creep forward into the crosswalk as a result. It 

recommends monitoring the intersection 

operations to consider a raised median or 

signalization. 



Dusty Duley, Alison Pernell, John Gibbs, and John Hykes 

September 27th, 2016 

Page 32 of 35 

SUMMARY OF PREVIOUS PLANS – CALTRANS SEGMENT  

Main Street/Baechtel Road (South) Intersection 

The BRCCDS recommends a gateway roundabout 

at Brown’s Corner to provide traffic calming and 

improve pedestrian crossings. As an interim 

measure, the study recommends crosswalks with 

median refuge islands at the Manor Way, Baechtel 

Road (North), and Baechtel Road (South) 

intersections. 

 



Dusty Duley, Alison Pernell, John Gibbs, and John Hykes 

September 27th, 2016 

Page 33 of 35 

APPENDIX B: EXISTING TRANSIT SERVICE 

 



Dusty Duley, Alison Pernell, John Gibbs, and John Hykes 

September 27th, 2016 

Page 34 of 35 

APPENDIX C: TRAFFIC COUNTS 



 

Fehr & Peers Associates Inc. : Walnut Creek
One Walnut Creek Center 100 Pringle Ave.  Suite 600

Walnut Creek, California, United States  94596
(925) 930-7100 D.Jacobson@fehrandpeers.com

Count Name: Sherwood AM
Site Code:
Start Date: 03/05/2015
Page No: 3

Turning Movement Peak Hour Data (7:30 AM)

Start Time

North Main Street North Main Street Sherwood Road

Southbound Northbound Eastbound

Right Thru U-Turn Peds App. Total Thru Left U-Turn Peds App. Total Right Right on Red Left U-Turn Peds App. Total Int. Total

7:30 AM 1 68 0 0 69 69 10 0 11 79 124 16 16 0 0 156 304

7:45 AM 4 127 0 0 131 146 17 0 10 163 109 2 40 0 0 151 445

8:00 AM 5 88 0 0 93 78 30 0 5 108 86 30 8 0 0 124 325

8:15 AM 1 56 0 0 57 68 46 0 1 114 72 20 6 0 0 98 269

Total 11 339 0 0 350 361 103 0 27 464 391 68 70 0 0 529 1343

Approach % 3.1 96.9 0.0 - - 77.8 22.2 0.0 - - 73.9 12.9 13.2 0.0 - - -

Total % 0.8 25.2 0.0 - 26.1 26.9 7.7 0.0 - 34.5 29.1 5.1 5.2 0.0 - 39.4 -

PHF 0.550 0.667 0.000 - 0.668 0.618 0.560 0.000 - 0.712 0.788 0.567 0.438 0.000 - 0.848 0.754

Lights 11 319 0 - 330 316 102 0 - 418 389 68 68 0 - 525 1273

% Lights 100.0 94.1 - - 94.3 87.5 99.0 - - 90.1 99.5 100.0 97.1 - - 99.2 94.8

Other Vehicles 0 20 0 - 20 45 1 0 - 46 2 0 2 0 - 4 70

% Other Vehicles 0.0 5.9 - - 5.7 12.5 1.0 - - 9.9 0.5 0.0 2.9 - - 0.8 5.2

Bicycles on Road 0 0 0 - 0 0 0 0 - 0 0 0 0 0 - 0 0

% Bicycles on Road 0.0 0.0 - - 0.0 0.0 0.0 - - 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 - - 0.0 0.0

Bicycles on Crosswalk - - - 0 - - - - 0 - - - - - 0 - -

% Bicycles on Crosswalk - - - - - - - - 0.0 - - - - - - - -

Pedestrians - - - 0 - - - - 27 - - - - - 0 - -

% Pedestrians - - - - - - - - 100.0 - - - - - - - -



 

Fehr & Peers Associates Inc. : Walnut Creek
One Walnut Creek Center 100 Pringle Ave.  Suite 600

Walnut Creek, California, United States  94596
(925) 930-7100 D.Jacobson@fehrandpeers.com

Count Name: Sherwood AM
Site Code:
Start Date: 03/05/2015
Page No: 4

Peak Hour Data

03/05/2015 7:30 AM
Ending At
03/05/2015 8:30 AM

Lights
Other Vehicles
Bicycles on Road
Bicycles on Crosswalk
Pedestrians

North Main Street [N]

Out In Total

384 330 714

47 20 67

0 0 0

0 0 0

0 0 0

431 350 781

11 319 0 0

0 20 0 0

0 0 0 0

0 0 0 0

0 0 0 0

11 339 0 0
R T U P

776 418 1194

22 46 68

0 0 0

0 0 0

0 0 0

798 464 1262
Out In Total

North Main Street [S]

U L T P

0 102 316 0

0 1 45 0

0 0 0 0

0 0 0 0

0 0 0 27

0 103 361 27

S
he

rw
oo

d 
R

oa
d 

[W
]

To
ta

l

63
8 5 0 0 0 64
3

In 52
5 4 0 0 0 52
9

O
ut

11
3 1 0 0 0 11
4

0 0 0 0 0 0 U

68 2 0 0 0 70 L

45
7 2 0 0 0 45
9 R

0 0 0 0 0 0 P

Turning Movement Peak Hour Data Plot (7:30 AM)



 

Fehr & Peers Associates Inc. : Walnut Creek
One Walnut Creek Center 100 Pringle Ave.  Suite 600

Walnut Creek, California, United States  94596
(925) 930-7100 D.Jacobson@fehrandpeers.com

Count Name: Sherwood PM
Site Code:
Start Date: 03/05/2015
Page No: 3

Turning Movement Peak Hour Data (4:45 PM)

Start Time

North Main Street North Main Street Sherwood Road

Southbound Northbound Eastbound

Right Right on
Red Thru U-Turn Peds App. Total Thru Left U-Turn Peds App. Total Right Right on

Red Left U-Turn Peds App. Total Int. Total

4:45 PM 4 1 79 0 0 84 97 112 0 2 209 33 12 0 0 2 45 338

5:00 PM 9 0 108 0 0 117 78 106 0 4 184 7 39 4 0 0 50 351

5:15 PM 8 1 80 0 0 89 81 112 0 0 193 1 55 2 0 0 58 340

5:30 PM 7 1 85 0 0 93 93 112 0 2 205 4 34 5 0 0 43 341

Total 28 3 352 0 0 383 349 442 0 8 791 45 140 11 0 2 196 1370

Approach % 7.3 0.8 91.9 0.0 - - 44.1 55.9 0.0 - - 23.0 71.4 5.6 0.0 - - -

Total % 2.0 0.2 25.7 0.0 - 28.0 25.5 32.3 0.0 - 57.7 3.3 10.2 0.8 0.0 - 14.3 -

PHF 0.778 0.750 0.815 0.000 - 0.818 0.899 0.987 0.000 - 0.946 0.341 0.636 0.550 0.000 - 0.845 0.976

Lights 28 3 321 0 - 352 325 442 0 - 767 45 139 11 0 - 195 1314

% Lights 100.0 100.0 91.2 - - 91.9 93.1 100.0 - - 97.0 100.0 99.3 100.0 - - 99.5 95.9

Buses 0 0 0 0 - 0 1 0 0 - 1 0 0 0 0 - 0 1

% Buses 0.0 0.0 0.0 - - 0.0 0.3 0.0 - - 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 - - 0.0 0.1

Trucks 0 0 31 0 - 31 23 0 0 - 23 0 1 0 0 - 1 55

% Trucks 0.0 0.0 8.8 - - 8.1 6.6 0.0 - - 2.9 0.0 0.7 0.0 - - 0.5 4.0

Bicycles on Road 0 0 0 0 - 0 0 0 0 - 0 0 0 0 0 - 0 0

% Bicycles on Road 0.0 0.0 0.0 - - 0.0 0.0 0.0 - - 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 - - 0.0 0.0

Bicycles on Crosswalk - - - - 0 - - - - 0 - - - - - 0 - -

% Bicycles on Crosswalk - - - - - - - - - 0.0 - - - - - 0.0 - -

Pedestrians - - - - 0 - - - - 8 - - - - - 2 - -

% Pedestrians - - - - - - - - - 100.0 - - - - - 100.0 - -



 

Fehr & Peers Associates Inc. : Walnut Creek
One Walnut Creek Center 100 Pringle Ave.  Suite 600

Walnut Creek, California, United States  94596
(925) 930-7100 D.Jacobson@fehrandpeers.com

Count Name: Sherwood PM
Site Code:
Start Date: 03/05/2015
Page No: 4

Peak Hour Data

03/05/2015 4:45 PM
Ending At
03/05/2015 5:45 PM

Lights
Buses
Trucks
Bicycles on Road
Other

North Main Street [N]

Out In Total

336 352 688

1 0 1

23 31 54

0 0 0

0 0 0

360 383 743

31 321 0 0

0 0 0 0

0 31 0 0

0 0 0 0

0 0 0 0

31 352 0 0
R T U P

505 767 1272

0 1 1

32 23 55

0 0 0

0 0 0

537 791 1328
Out In Total

North Main Street [S]

U L T P

0 442 325 0

0 0 1 0

0 0 23 0

0 0 0 0

0 0 0 8

0 442 349 8

S
he

rw
oo

d 
R

oa
d 

[W
]

To
ta

l

66
8 0 1 0 0 66
9

In 19
5 0 1 0 0 19
6

O
ut

47
3 0 0 0 0 47
3

0 0 0 0 0 0 U

11 0 0 0 0 11 L

18
4 0 1 0 0 18
5 R

0 0 0 0 2 2 P

Turning Movement Peak Hour Data Plot (4:45 PM)



File Name : 101-commercial-p
Site Code : 1
Start Date : 3/30/2016
Page No : 1

CITY OF WILLITS

Latitude: 39.412419
Longitude: -123.354500

Groups Printed- Vehicles Only
MAIN ST (US 101)

Southbound
COMMERCIAL ST

Westbound
MAIN ST (US 101)

Northbound
COMMERCIAL ST

Eastbound
Start Time RT TH LT App. Total RT TH LT App. Total RT TH LT App. Total RT TH LT App. Total Int. Total

16:00 5 136 7 148 12 14 34 60 19 128 4 151 3 13 25 41 400
16:15 5 107 10 122 20 9 31 60 15 144 9 168 7 9 27 43 393
16:30 6 129 8 143 26 11 35 72 9 154 4 167 9 15 15 39 421
16:45 6 138 14 158 18 9 27 54 23 138 8 169 8 14 19 41 422
Total 22 510 39 571 76 43 127 246 66 564 25 655 27 51 86 164 1636

17:00 11 118 14 143 32 9 28 69 21 158 3 182 18 9 17 44 438
17:15 12 123 10 145 13 11 31 55 23 151 11 185 12 17 21 50 435
17:30 7 118 13 138 22 9 29 60 16 164 8 188 5 6 16 27 413
17:45 8 88 11 107 24 10 37 71 11 153 9 173 12 13 16 41 392
Total 38 447 48 533 91 39 125 255 71 626 31 728 47 45 70 162 1678

Grand Total 60 957 87 1104 167 82 252 501 137 1190 56 1383 74 96 156 326 3314
Apprch % 5.4 86.7 7.9  33.3 16.4 50.3  9.9 86 4  22.7 29.4 47.9   

Total % 1.8 28.9 2.6 33.3 5 2.5 7.6 15.1 4.1 35.9 1.7 41.7 2.2 2.9 4.7 9.8

MAIN ST (US 101)
Southbound

COMMERCIAL ST
Westbound

MAIN ST (US 101)
Northbound

COMMERCIAL ST
Eastbound

Start Time RT TH LT App. Total RT TH LT App. Total RT TH LT App. Total RT TH LT App. Total Int. Total
Peak Hour Analysis From 16:00 to 17:45 - Peak 1 of 1
Peak Hour for Entire Intersection Begins at 16:30

16:30 6 129 8 143 26 11 35 72 9 154 4 167 9 15 15 39 421
16:45 6 138 14 158 18 9 27 54 23 138 8 169 8 14 19 41 422
17:00 11 118 14 143 32 9 28 69 21 158 3 182 18 9 17 44 438
17:15 12 123 10 145 13 11 31 55 23 151 11 185 12 17 21 50 435

Total Volume 35 508 46 589 89 40 121 250 76 601 26 703 47 55 72 174 1716
% App. Total 5.9 86.2 7.8  35.6 16 48.4  10.8 85.5 3.7  27 31.6 41.4   

PHF .729 .920 .821 .932 .695 .909 .864 .868 .826 .951 .591 .950 .653 .809 .857 .870 .979

 MAIN ST (US 101) 

 C
O

M
M

E
R

C
IA

L 
S

T 
 C

O
M

M
E

R
C

IA
L S

T 

 MAIN ST (US 101) 

RT
35 

TH
508 

LT
46 

InOut Total
762 589 1351 

R
T89 

TH40 
LT121 

O
ut

Total
In

177 
250 

427 

LT
26 

TH
601 

RT
76 

Out TotalIn
676 703 1379 

LT
72

 
TH

55
 

R
T47

 

To
ta

l
O

ut
In

10
1 

17
4 

27
5 

Peak Hour Begins at 16:30
 
Vehicles Only

Peak Hour Data

North

TRAFFIC COUNTS PLUS
mietekm@comcast.net

925.305.4358



File Name : 101-van-p
Site Code : 2
Start Date : 3/30/2016
Page No : 1

CITY OF WILLITS

Latitude: 39.411900
Longitude: -123.354478

Groups Printed- Vehicles Only
MAIN ST (US 101)

Southbound
VAN LN

Westbound
MAIN ST (US 101)

Northbound
VAN LN

Eastbound
Start Time RT TH LT App. Total RT TH LT App. Total RT TH LT App. Total RT TH LT App. Total Int. Total

16:00 1 175 1 177 0 0 0 0 0 153 1 154 0 155 0 155 486
16:15 0 156 1 157 0 0 0 0 0 166 0 166 0 168 0 168 491
16:30 0 161 0 161 0 0 0 0 1 168 0 169 0 167 0 167 497
16:45 0 175 0 175 0 0 0 0 0 169 0 169 0 167 0 167 511
Total 1 667 2 670 0 0 0 0 1 656 1 658 0 657 0 657 1985

17:00 0 169 0 169 0 0 0 0 0 185 0 185 0 187 0 187 541
17:15 0 163 1 164 0 0 0 0 1 182 0 183 0 180 0 180 527
17:30 0 147 0 147 0 0 0 0 0 191 0 191 0 190 0 190 528
17:45 0 139 0 139 0 0 0 0 1 165 0 166 0 167 0 167 472
Total 0 618 1 619 0 0 0 0 2 723 0 725 0 724 0 724 2068

Grand Total 1 1285 3 1289 0 0 0 0 3 1379 1 1383 0 1381 0 1381 4053
Apprch % 0.1 99.7 0.2  0 0 0  0.2 99.7 0.1  0 100 0   

Total % 0 31.7 0.1 31.8 0 0 0 0 0.1 34 0 34.1 0 34.1 0 34.1

MAIN ST (US 101)
Southbound

VAN LN
Westbound

MAIN ST (US 101)
Northbound

VAN LN
Eastbound

Start Time RT TH LT App. Total RT TH LT App. Total RT TH LT App. Total RT TH LT App. Total Int. Total
Peak Hour Analysis From 16:00 to 17:45 - Peak 1 of 1
Peak Hour for Entire Intersection Begins at 16:45

16:45 0 175 0 175 0 0 0 0 0 169 0 169 0 167 0 167 511
17:00 0 169 0 169 0 0 0 0 0 185 0 185 0 187 0 187 541
17:15 0 163 1 164 0 0 0 0 1 182 0 183 0 180 0 180 527
17:30 0 147 0 147 0 0 0 0 0 191 0 191 0 190 0 190 528

Total Volume 0 654 1 655 0 0 0 0 1 727 0 728 0 724 0 724 2107
% App. Total 0 99.8 0.2  0 0 0  0.1 99.9 0  0 100 0   

PHF .000 .934 .250 .936 .000 .000 .000 .000 .250 .952 .000 .953 .000 .953 .000 .953 .974

 MAIN ST (US 101) 

 V
A

N
 L

N
  V

A
N

 LN
 

 MAIN ST (US 101) 

RT
0 

TH
654 

LT
1 

InOut Total
727 655 1382 

R
T

0 
TH

0 
LT

0 

O
ut

Total
In

726 
0 

726 

LT
0 

TH
727 

RT
1 

Out TotalIn
654 728 1382 

LT
0 

TH72
4 

R
T

0 

To
ta

l
O

ut
In

0 
72

4 
72

4 

Peak Hour Begins at 16:45
 
Vehicles Only

Peak Hour Data

North

TRAFFIC COUNTS PLUS
mietekm@comcast.net

925.305.4358



File Name : 101-mendocino-p
Site Code : 3
Start Date : 3/30/2016
Page No : 1

CITY OF WILLITS

Latitude  39.41128
Longitude  -123.35446

Groups Printed- Vehicles Only
MAIN ST (US 101)

Southbound
MENDOCINO AV

Westbound
MAIN ST (US 101)

Northbound
MENDOCINO AV

Eastbound

Start Time RT TH LT App. Total RT TH LT App. Total RT TH LT App. Total RT TH LT App. Total Int. Total
16:00 4 167 1 172 3 0 0 3 3 150 4 157 18 0 2 20 352
16:15 2 149 2 153 2 0 4 6 1 166 3 170 11 0 0 11 340
16:30 1 161 0 162 5 1 0 6 5 162 5 172 23 0 0 23 363
16:45 2 177 0 179 1 0 4 5 4 166 7 177 13 0 0 13 374
Total 9 654 3 666 11 1 8 20 13 644 19 676 65 0 2 67 1429

17:00 4 163 1 168 2 0 0 2 2 184 6 192 11 0 1 12 374
17:15 1 158 2 161 1 0 1 2 2 178 4 184 14 0 1 15 362
17:30 3 144 1 148 2 0 1 3 5 187 8 200 18 1 1 20 371
17:45 1 139 0 140 2 0 0 2 3 164 4 171 12 0 1 13 326
Total 9 604 4 617 7 0 2 9 12 713 22 747 55 1 4 60 1433

Grand Total 18 1258 7 1283 18 1 10 29 25 1357 41 1423 120 1 6 127 2862
Apprch % 1.4 98.1 0.5  62.1 3.4 34.5  1.8 95.4 2.9  94.5 0.8 4.7   

Total % 0.6 44 0.2 44.8 0.6 0 0.3 1 0.9 47.4 1.4 49.7 4.2 0 0.2 4.4

MAIN ST (US 101)
Southbound

MENDOCINO AV
Westbound

MAIN ST (US 101)
Northbound

MENDOCINO AV
Eastbound

Start Time RT TH LT App. Total RT TH LT App. Total RT TH LT App. Total RT TH LT App. Total Int. Total
Peak Hour Analysis From 16:00 to 17:45 - Peak 1 of 1
Peak Hour for Entire Intersection Begins at 16:45

16:45 2 177 0 179 1 0 4 5 4 166 7 177 13 0 0 13 374
17:00 4 163 1 168 2 0 0 2 2 184 6 192 11 0 1 12 374
17:15 1 158 2 161 1 0 1 2 2 178 4 184 14 0 1 15 362
17:30 3 144 1 148 2 0 1 3 5 187 8 200 18 1 1 20 371

Total Volume 10 642 4 656 6 0 6 12 13 715 25 753 56 1 3 60 1481
% App. Total 1.5 97.9 0.6  50 0 50  1.7 95 3.3  93.3 1.7 5   

PHF .625 .907 .500 .916 .750 .000 .375 .600 .650 .956 .781 .941 .778 .250 .750 .750 .990

 MAIN ST (US 101) 

 M
E

N
D

O
C

IN
O

 A
V

  M
E

N
D

O
C

IN
O

 A
V

 

 MAIN ST (US 101) 

RT
10 

TH
642 

LT
4 

InOut Total
724 656 1380 

R
T

6 
TH

0 
LT

6 

O
ut

Total
In

18 
12 

30 

LT
25 

TH
715 

RT
13 

Out TotalIn
704 753 1457 

LT
3 

TH
1 

R
T56

 

To
ta

l
O

ut
In

35
 

60
 

95
 

Peak Hour Begins at 16:45
 
Vehicles Only

Peak Hour Data

North

TRAFFIC COUNTS PLUS
mietekm@comcast.net

925.305.4358



File Name : 101-wood-p
Site Code : 4
Start Date : 3/30/2016
Page No : 1

CITY OF WILLITS

Latitude  39.410645
Longitude  -123.354429

Groups Printed- Vehicles Only
MAIN ST (US 101)

Southbound
WOOD ALLEY

Westbound
MAIN ST (US 101)

Northbound
WOOD ST
Eastbound

Start Time RT TH LT App. Total RT TH LT App. Total RT TH LT App. Total RT TH LT App. Total Int. Total
16:00 1 181 3 185 0 0 0 0 6 161 8 175 0 0 0 0 360
16:15 5 155 2 162 0 0 0 0 3 167 7 177 0 0 0 0 339
16:30 4 182 3 189 0 0 0 0 8 177 10 195 0 0 0 0 384
16:45 7 184 3 194 0 0 0 0 8 173 8 189 0 0 0 0 383
Total 17 702 11 730 0 0 0 0 25 678 33 736 0 0 0 0 1466

17:00 6 165 1 172 0 0 0 0 8 195 6 209 0 0 0 0 381
17:15 4 164 2 170 1 0 0 1 5 184 6 195 0 0 0 0 366
17:30 5 166 0 171 1 0 0 1 4 191 7 202 0 0 0 0 374
17:45 2 148 3 153 0 0 0 0 4 168 10 182 0 0 0 0 335
Total 17 643 6 666 2 0 0 2 21 738 29 788 0 0 0 0 1456

Grand Total 34 1345 17 1396 2 0 0 2 46 1416 62 1524 0 0 0 0 2922
Apprch % 2.4 96.3 1.2  100 0 0  3 92.9 4.1  0 0 0   

Total % 1.2 46 0.6 47.8 0.1 0 0 0.1 1.6 48.5 2.1 52.2 0 0 0 0

MAIN ST (US 101)
Southbound

WOOD ALLEY
Westbound

MAIN ST (US 101)
Northbound

WOOD ST
Eastbound

Start Time RT TH LT App. Total RT TH LT App. Total RT TH LT App. Total RT TH LT App. Total Int. Total
Peak Hour Analysis From 16:00 to 17:45 - Peak 1 of 1
Peak Hour for Entire Intersection Begins at 16:30

16:30 4 182 3 189 0 0 0 0 8 177 10 195 0 0 0 0 384
16:45 7 184 3 194 0 0 0 0 8 173 8 189 0 0 0 0 383
17:00 6 165 1 172 0 0 0 0 8 195 6 209 0 0 0 0 381
17:15 4 164 2 170 1 0 0 1 5 184 6 195 0 0 0 0 366

Total Volume 21 695 9 725 1 0 0 1 29 729 30 788 0 0 0 0 1514
% App. Total 2.9 95.9 1.2  100 0 0  3.7 92.5 3.8  0 0 0   

PHF .750 .944 .750 .934 .250 .000 .000 .250 .906 .935 .750 .943 .000 .000 .000 .000 .986

 MAIN ST (US 101) 

 W
O

O
D

 S
T 

 W
O

O
D

 A
LLE

Y
 

 MAIN ST (US 101) 

RT
21 

TH
695 

LT
9 

InOut Total
730 725 1455 

R
T

1 
TH

0 
LT

0 

O
ut

Total
In

38 
1 

39 

LT
30 

TH
729 

RT
29 

Out TotalIn
695 788 1483 

LT
0 

TH
0 

R
T

0 

To
ta

l
O

ut
In

51
 

0 
51

 

Peak Hour Begins at 16:30
 
Vehicles Only

Peak Hour Data

North

TRAFFIC COUNTS PLUS
mietekm@comcast.net

925.305.4358



File Name : 101-valley-p
Site Code : 5
Start Date : 3/30/2016
Page No : 1

CITY OF WILLITS

Latitude: 39.409198
Longitude: -123.353669

Groups Printed- Vehicles Only
MAIN ST (US 101)

Southbound
VALLEY ST
Westbound

MAIN ST (US 101)
Northbound

VALLEY ST
Eastbound

Start Time RT TH LT App. Total RT TH LT App. Total RT TH LT App. Total RT TH LT App. Total Int. Total
16:00 5 159 5 169 13 0 3 16 15 187 10 212 9 0 0 9 406
16:15 3 128 6 137 17 1 8 26 17 176 11 204 19 0 2 21 388
16:30 4 139 7 150 10 0 3 13 21 184 7 212 14 0 0 14 389
16:45 3 144 5 152 8 0 1 9 10 171 12 193 11 0 2 13 367
Total 15 570 23 608 48 1 15 64 63 718 40 821 53 0 4 57 1550

17:00 8 147 3 158 17 2 8 27 22 193 9 224 10 4 3 17 426
17:15 4 154 3 161 6 1 3 10 13 207 11 231 14 1 0 15 417
17:30 8 135 7 150 12 1 3 16 13 187 11 211 10 0 5 15 392
17:45 11 134 9 154 18 2 8 28 11 171 21 203 13 1 2 16 401
Total 31 570 22 623 53 6 22 81 59 758 52 869 47 6 10 63 1636

Grand Total 46 1140 45 1231 101 7 37 145 122 1476 92 1690 100 6 14 120 3186
Apprch % 3.7 92.6 3.7  69.7 4.8 25.5  7.2 87.3 5.4  83.3 5 11.7   

Total % 1.4 35.8 1.4 38.6 3.2 0.2 1.2 4.6 3.8 46.3 2.9 53 3.1 0.2 0.4 3.8

MAIN ST (US 101)
Southbound

VALLEY ST
Westbound

MAIN ST (US 101)
Northbound

VALLEY ST
Eastbound

Start Time RT TH LT App. Total RT TH LT App. Total RT TH LT App. Total RT TH LT App. Total Int. Total
Peak Hour Analysis From 16:00 to 17:45 - Peak 1 of 1
Peak Hour for Entire Intersection Begins at 17:00

17:00 8 147 3 158 17 2 8 27 22 193 9 224 10 4 3 17 426
17:15 4 154 3 161 6 1 3 10 13 207 11 231 14 1 0 15 417
17:30 8 135 7 150 12 1 3 16 13 187 11 211 10 0 5 15 392
17:45 11 134 9 154 18 2 8 28 11 171 21 203 13 1 2 16 401

Total Volume 31 570 22 623 53 6 22 81 59 758 52 869 47 6 10 63 1636
% App. Total 5 91.5 3.5  65.4 7.4 27.2  6.8 87.2 6  74.6 9.5 15.9   

PHF .705 .925 .611 .967 .736 .750 .688 .723 .670 .915 .619 .940 .839 .375 .500 .926 .960

 MAIN ST (US 101) 

 V
A

LL
E

Y
 S

T 
 V

A
LLE

Y
 S

T 

 MAIN ST (US 101) 

RT
31 

TH
570 

LT
22 

InOut Total
821 623 1444 

R
T53 

TH
6 

LT22 

O
ut

Total
In

87 
81 

168 

LT
52 

TH
758 

RT
59 

Out TotalIn
639 869 1508 

LT
10

 
TH

6 
R

T47
 

To
ta

l
O

ut
In

89
 

63
 

15
2 

Peak Hour Begins at 17:00
 
Vehicles Only

Peak Hour Data

North

TRAFFIC COUNTS PLUS
mietekm@comcast.net

925.305.4358



File Name : 101-monroe-p
Site Code : 6
Start Date : 3/30/2016
Page No : 1

CITY OF WILLITS

Latitude: 39.406586
Longitude: -123.352159

Groups Printed- Vehicles Only
MAIN ST (US 101)

Southbound
MONROE ST
Westbound

MAIN ST (US 101)
Northbound

MARIPOSA MARKET D/W
Eastbound

Start Time RT TH LT App. Total RT TH LT App. Total RT TH LT App. Total RT TH LT App. Total Int. Total
16:00 4 164 0 168 3 0 0 3 3 199 0 202 1 0 3 4 377
16:15 6 150 0 156 3 0 0 3 5 191 0 196 0 0 1 1 356
16:30 2 195 2 199 2 0 1 3 7 186 0 193 0 0 0 0 395
16:45 9 172 0 181 5 0 0 5 0 195 0 195 1 0 1 2 383
Total 21 681 2 704 13 0 1 14 15 771 0 786 2 0 5 7 1511

17:00 2 170 1 173 5 0 1 6 2 218 0 220 0 0 5 5 404
17:15 2 154 1 157 3 0 1 4 1 200 0 201 1 0 1 2 364
17:30 2 143 0 145 4 0 0 4 2 210 0 212 0 0 0 0 361
17:45 7 140 2 149 2 1 0 3 2 179 1 182 0 0 1 1 335
Total 13 607 4 624 14 1 2 17 7 807 1 815 1 0 7 8 1464

Grand Total 34 1288 6 1328 27 1 3 31 22 1578 1 1601 3 0 12 15 2975
Apprch % 2.6 97 0.5  87.1 3.2 9.7  1.4 98.6 0.1  20 0 80   

Total % 1.1 43.3 0.2 44.6 0.9 0 0.1 1 0.7 53 0 53.8 0.1 0 0.4 0.5

MAIN ST (US 101)
Southbound

MONROE ST
Westbound

MAIN ST (US 101)
Northbound

MARIPOSA MARKET D/W
Eastbound

Start Time RT TH LT App. Total RT TH LT App. Total RT TH LT App. Total RT TH LT App. Total Int. Total
Peak Hour Analysis From 16:00 to 17:45 - Peak 1 of 1
Peak Hour for Entire Intersection Begins at 16:30

16:30 2 195 2 199 2 0 1 3 7 186 0 193 0 0 0 0 395
16:45 9 172 0 181 5 0 0 5 0 195 0 195 1 0 1 2 383
17:00 2 170 1 173 5 0 1 6 2 218 0 220 0 0 5 5 404
17:15 2 154 1 157 3 0 1 4 1 200 0 201 1 0 1 2 364

Total Volume 15 691 4 710 15 0 3 18 10 799 0 809 2 0 7 9 1546
% App. Total 2.1 97.3 0.6  83.3 0 16.7  1.2 98.8 0  22.2 0 77.8   

PHF .417 .886 .500 .892 .750 .000 .750 .750 .357 .916 .000 .919 .500 .000 .350 .450 .957

 MAIN ST (US 101) 

 M
A

R
IP

O
S

A
 M

A
R

K
E

T 
D

/W
 

 M
O

N
R

O
E

 S
T 

 MAIN ST (US 101) 

RT
15 

TH
691 

LT
4 

InOut Total
821 710 1531 

R
T15 

TH
0 

LT
3 

O
ut

Total
In

14 
18 

32 

LT
0 

TH
799 

RT
10 

Out TotalIn
696 809 1505 

LT
7 

TH
0 

R
T

2 

To
ta

l
O

ut
In

15
 

9 
24

 

Peak Hour Begins at 16:30
 
Vehicles Only

Peak Hour Data

North

TRAFFIC COUNTS PLUS
mietekm@comcast.net

925.305.4358



 

Fehr & Peers Associates Inc. : Walnut Creek
One Walnut Creek Center 100 Pringle Ave.  Suite 600

Walnut Creek, California, United States  94596
(925) 930-7100 D.Jacobson@fehrandpeers.com

Count Name: SR 20 AM
Site Code:
Start Date: 03/05/2015
Page No: 3

Turning Movement Peak Hour Data (7:45 AM)

Start Time

South Main Street South Street South Main Street SR 20

Southbound Westbound Northbound Eastbound

Right Right
on Red Thru Left U-Turn Peds App.

Total Right Right
on Red Thru Left U-Turn Peds App.

Total Right Right
on Red Thru Left U-Turn Peds App.

Total Right Right
on Red Thru Left U-Turn Peds App.

Total
Int.

Total

7:45 AM 2 1 148 19 0 0 170 16 8 7 22 0 0 53 27 8 146 14 0 0 195 3 2 14 43 0 1 62 480

8:00 AM 4 1 131 24 0 2 160 12 16 8 16 0 0 52 30 1 202 5 0 1 238 9 3 10 42 0 1 64 514

8:15 AM 7 1 150 19 0 0 177 13 13 4 19 0 2 49 18 2 180 11 0 0 211 10 5 9 49 0 0 73 510

8:30 AM 4 1 106 20 0 0 131 15 15 3 12 0 1 45 7 0 151 16 0 0 174 5 9 6 44 0 1 64 414

Total 17 4 535 82 0 2 638 56 52 22 69 0 3 199 82 11 679 46 0 1 818 27 19 39 178 0 3 263 1918

Approach % 2.7 0.6 83.9 12.9 0.0 - - 28.1 26.1 11.1 34.7 0.0 - - 10.0 1.3 83.0 5.6 0.0 - - 10.3 7.2 14.8 67.7 0.0 - - -

Total % 0.9 0.2 27.9 4.3 0.0 - 33.3 2.9 2.7 1.1 3.6 0.0 - 10.4 4.3 0.6 35.4 2.4 0.0 - 42.6 1.4 1.0 2.0 9.3 0.0 - 13.7 -

PHF 0.607 1.000 0.892 0.854 0.000 - 0.901 0.875 0.813 0.688 0.784 0.000 - 0.939 0.683 0.344 0.840 0.719 0.000 - 0.859 0.675 0.528 0.696 0.908 0.000 - 0.901 0.933

Lights 16 4 486 73 0 - 579 55 50 22 68 0 - 195 80 11 658 45 0 - 794 27 19 36 176 0 - 258 1826

% Lights 94.1 100.0 90.8 89.0 - - 90.8 98.2 96.2 100.0 98.6 - - 98.0 97.6 100.0 96.9 97.8 - - 97.1 100.0 100.0 92.3 98.9 - - 98.1 95.2

Buses 0 0 4 0 0 - 4 0 1 0 0 0 - 1 0 0 5 0 0 - 5 0 0 0 0 0 - 0 10

% Buses 0.0 0.0 0.7 0.0 - - 0.6 0.0 1.9 0.0 0.0 - - 0.5 0.0 0.0 0.7 0.0 - - 0.6 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 - - 0.0 0.5

Trucks 1 0 45 8 0 - 54 1 1 0 1 0 - 3 2 0 14 1 0 - 17 0 0 3 2 0 - 5 79

% Trucks 5.9 0.0 8.4 9.8 - - 8.5 1.8 1.9 0.0 1.4 - - 1.5 2.4 0.0 2.1 2.2 - - 2.1 0.0 0.0 7.7 1.1 - - 1.9 4.1

Bicycles on
Road 0 0 0 1 0 - 1 0 0 0 0 0 - 0 0 0 2 0 0 - 2 0 0 0 0 0 - 0 3

% Bicycles on
Road 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.2 - - 0.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 - - 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.3 0.0 - - 0.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 - - 0.0 0.2

Bicycles on
Crosswalk - - - - - 0 - - - - - - 0 - - - - - - 0 - - - - - - 1 - -

% Bicycles on
Crosswalk - - - - - 0.0 - - - - - - 0.0 - - - - - - 0.0 - - - - - - 33.3 - -

Pedestrians - - - - - 2 - - - - - - 3 - - - - - - 1 - - - - - - 2 - -

% Pedestrians - - - - - 100.0 - - - - - - 100.0 - - - - - - 100.0 - - - - - - 66.7 - -



 

Fehr & Peers Associates Inc. : Walnut Creek
One Walnut Creek Center 100 Pringle Ave.  Suite 600

Walnut Creek, California, United States  94596
(925) 930-7100 D.Jacobson@fehrandpeers.com

Count Name: SR 20 AM
Site Code:
Start Date: 03/05/2015
Page No: 4

Peak Hour Data

03/05/2015 7:45 AM
Ending At
03/05/2015 8:45 AM

Lights
Buses
Trucks
Bicycles on Road
Other

South Main Street [N]

Out In Total

939 579 1518

6 4 10

18 54 72

2 1 3

0 0 0

965 638 1603

20 486 73 0 0

0 4 0 0 0

1 45 8 0 0

0 0 1 0 0

0 0 0 0 2

21 535 82 0 2
R T L U P

214 0 1 13 0 200

O
ut

199 0 0 3 1 195

In

413 0 1 16 1 395

Total

S
outh S

treet [E
]

R 108 0 0 2 1 105

T 22 0 0 0 0 22

L 69 0 0 1 0 68

U 0 0 0 0 0 0

P 3 3 0 0 0 0

600 794 1394

4 5 9

46 17 63

0 2 2

0 0 0

650 818 1468
Out In Total

South Main Street [S]

U L T R P

0 45 658 91 0

0 0 5 0 0

0 1 14 2 0

0 0 2 0 0

0 0 0 0 1

0 46 679 93 1

S
R

 2
0 

[W
]

To
ta

l

34
5 0 7 0 0 35
2

In 25
8 0 5 0 0 26
3

O
ut 87 0 2 0 0 89

0 0 0 0 0 0 U

17
6 0 2 0 0 17
8 L

36 0 3 0 0 39 T

46 0 0 0 0 46 R

0 0 0 0 3 3 P

Turning Movement Peak Hour Data Plot (7:45 AM)

DJacobson
Typewritten Text
SOUTH

DJacobson
Typewritten Text
NORTH

DJacobson
Typewritten Text
EAST

DJacobson
Typewritten Text
WEST



 

Fehr & Peers Associates Inc. : Walnut Creek
One Walnut Creek Center 100 Pringle Ave.  Suite 600

Walnut Creek, California, United States  94596
(925) 930-7100 D.Jacobson@fehrandpeers.com

Count Name: SR 20
Site Code:
Start Date: 03/05/2015
Page No: 3

Turning Movement Peak Hour Data (4:45 PM)

Start Time

South Main Street South Street South Main Street SR 20

Southbound Westbound Northbound Eastbound

Right Right
on Red Thru Left U-Turn Peds App.

Total Right Right
on Red Thru Left U-Turn Peds App.

Total Right Right
on Red Thru Left U-Turn Peds App.

Total Right Right
on Red Thru Left U-Turn Peds App.

Total
Int.

Total

4:45 PM 4 3 162 29 0 2 198 12 14 2 26 0 2 54 9 3 137 15 0 0 164 22 8 16 50 0 4 96 512

5:00 PM 4 0 150 17 0 2 171 24 6 13 36 0 3 79 12 0 145 18 0 0 175 17 7 16 51 0 0 91 516

5:15 PM 6 1 147 28 0 2 182 20 5 5 18 0 6 48 6 5 126 20 0 0 157 11 8 13 47 0 0 79 466

5:30 PM 4 0 170 35 0 2 209 13 3 15 13 0 5 44 9 1 140 12 0 3 162 12 3 14 47 0 3 76 491

Total 18 4 629 109 0 8 760 69 28 35 93 0 16 225 36 9 548 65 0 3 658 62 26 59 195 0 7 342 1985

Approach % 2.4 0.5 82.8 14.3 0.0 - - 30.7 12.4 15.6 41.3 0.0 - - 5.5 1.4 83.3 9.9 0.0 - - 18.1 7.6 17.3 57.0 0.0 - - -

Total % 0.9 0.2 31.7 5.5 0.0 - 38.3 3.5 1.4 1.8 4.7 0.0 - 11.3 1.8 0.5 27.6 3.3 0.0 - 33.1 3.1 1.3 3.0 9.8 0.0 - 17.2 -

PHF 0.750 0.333 0.925 0.779 0.000 - 0.909 0.719 0.500 0.583 0.646 0.000 - 0.712 0.750 0.450 0.945 0.813 0.000 - 0.940 0.705 0.813 0.922 0.956 0.000 - 0.891 0.962

Lights 18 4 611 104 0 - 737 66 27 35 91 0 - 219 35 8 515 64 0 - 622 61 26 58 192 0 - 337 1915

% Lights 100.0 100.0 97.1 95.4 - - 97.0 95.7 96.4 100.0 97.8 - - 97.3 97.2 88.9 94.0 98.5 - - 94.5 98.4 100.0 98.3 98.5 - - 98.5 96.5

Buses 0 0 2 1 0 - 3 0 0 0 0 0 - 0 0 0 0 0 0 - 0 0 0 0 1 0 - 1 4

% Buses 0.0 0.0 0.3 0.9 - - 0.4 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 - - 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 - - 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.5 - - 0.3 0.2

Trucks 0 0 16 4 0 - 20 3 1 0 2 0 - 6 1 1 33 1 0 - 36 1 0 1 2 0 - 4 66

% Trucks 0.0 0.0 2.5 3.7 - - 2.6 4.3 3.6 0.0 2.2 - - 2.7 2.8 11.1 6.0 1.5 - - 5.5 1.6 0.0 1.7 1.0 - - 1.2 3.3

Bicycles on
Road 0 0 0 0 0 - 0 0 0 0 0 0 - 0 0 0 0 0 0 - 0 0 0 0 0 0 - 0 0

% Bicycles on
Road 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 - - 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 - - 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 - - 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 - - 0.0 0.0

Bicycles on
Crosswalk - - - - - 3 - - - - - - 4 - - - - - - 1 - - - - - - 0 - -

% Bicycles on
Crosswalk - - - - - 37.5 - - - - - - 25.0 - - - - - - 33.3 - - - - - - 0.0 - -

Pedestrians - - - - - 5 - - - - - - 12 - - - - - - 2 - - - - - - 7 - -

% Pedestrians - - - - - 62.5 - - - - - - 75.0 - - - - - - 66.7 - - - - - - 100.0 - -



 

Fehr & Peers Associates Inc. : Walnut Creek
One Walnut Creek Center 100 Pringle Ave.  Suite 600

Walnut Creek, California, United States  94596
(925) 930-7100 D.Jacobson@fehrandpeers.com

Count Name: SR 20
Site Code:
Start Date: 03/05/2015
Page No: 4

Peak Hour Data

03/05/2015 4:45 PM
Ending At
03/05/2015 5:45 PM

Lights
Buses
Trucks
Bicycles on Road
Other

South Main Street [N]

Out In Total

800 737 1537

1 3 4

39 20 59

0 0 0

0 0 0

840 760 1600

22 611 104 0 0

0 2 1 0 0

0 16 4 0 0

0 0 0 0 0

0 0 0 0 8

22 629 109 0 8
R T L U P

213 0 0 7 1 205

O
ut

225 0 0 6 0 219

In

438 0 0 13 1 424

Total

S
outh S

treet [E
]

R 97 0 0 4 0 93

T 35 0 0 0 0 35

L 93 0 0 2 0 91

U 0 0 0 0 0 0

P 16 16 0 0 0 0

789 622 1411

2 0 2

19 36 55

0 0 0

0 0 0

810 658 1468
Out In Total

South Main Street [S]

U L T R P

0 64 515 43 0

0 0 0 0 0

0 1 33 2 0

0 0 0 0 0

0 0 0 0 3

0 65 548 45 3

S
R

 2
0 

[W
]

To
ta

l

45
8 1 5 0 0 46
4

In 33
7 1 4 0 0 34
2

O
ut

12
1 0 1 0 0 12
2

0 0 0 0 0 0 U

19
2 1 2 0 0 19
5 L

58 0 1 0 0 59 T

87 0 1 0 0 88 R

0 0 0 0 7 7 P

Turning Movement Peak Hour Data Plot (4:45 PM)

DJacobson
Typewritten Text
SOUTH

DJacobson
Typewritten Text
EAST

DJacobson
Typewritten Text
NORTH

DJacobson
Typewritten Text
WEST



 

Fehr & Peers Associates Inc. : Walnut Creek
One Walnut Creek Center 100 Pringle Ave.  Suite 600

Walnut Creek, California, United States  94596
(925) 930-7100 D.Jacobson@fehrandpeers.com

Count Name: Baechtel North
Site Code:
Start Date: 03/05/2015
Page No: 3

Turning Movement Peak Hour Data (7:45 AM)

Start Time

Southbound St. Westbound St. Northbound St.

Southbound Westbound Northbound

Thru Left U-Turn Peds App. Total Right Left U-Turn Peds App. Total Right Thru U-Turn Peds App. Total Int. Total

7:45 AM 176 33 0 0 209 24 4 0 9 28 6 180 0 0 186 423

8:00 AM 217 23 0 0 240 40 6 0 5 46 5 169 0 0 174 460

8:15 AM 228 28 0 0 256 37 1 0 5 38 6 141 0 1 147 441

8:30 AM 194 23 0 0 217 24 3 0 0 27 3 138 0 0 141 385

Total 815 107 0 0 922 125 14 0 19 139 20 628 0 1 648 1709

Approach % 88.4 11.6 0.0 - - 89.9 10.1 0.0 - - 3.1 96.9 0.0 - - -

Total % 47.7 6.3 0.0 - 53.9 7.3 0.8 0.0 - 8.1 1.2 36.7 0.0 - 37.9 -

PHF 0.894 0.811 0.000 - 0.900 0.781 0.583 0.000 - 0.755 0.833 0.872 0.000 - 0.871 0.929

Lights 794 104 0 - 898 111 6 0 - 117 19 566 0 - 585 1600

% Lights 97.4 97.2 - - 97.4 88.8 42.9 - - 84.2 95.0 90.1 - - 90.3 93.6

Buses 4 0 0 - 4 2 0 0 - 2 0 2 0 - 2 8

% Buses 0.5 0.0 - - 0.4 1.6 0.0 - - 1.4 0.0 0.3 - - 0.3 0.5

Trucks 17 3 0 - 20 11 8 0 - 19 1 60 0 - 61 100

% Trucks 2.1 2.8 - - 2.2 8.8 57.1 - - 13.7 5.0 9.6 - - 9.4 5.9

Bicycles on Road 0 0 0 - 0 1 0 0 - 1 0 0 0 - 0 1

% Bicycles on Road 0.0 0.0 - - 0.0 0.8 0.0 - - 0.7 0.0 0.0 - - 0.0 0.1

Bicycles on Crosswalk - - - 0 - - - - 2 - - - - 0 - -

% Bicycles on Crosswalk - - - - - - - - 10.5 - - - - 0.0 - -

Pedestrians - - - 0 - - - - 17 - - - - 1 - -

% Pedestrians - - - - - - - - 89.5 - - - - 100.0 - -



 

Fehr & Peers Associates Inc. : Walnut Creek
One Walnut Creek Center 100 Pringle Ave.  Suite 600

Walnut Creek, California, United States  94596
(925) 930-7100 D.Jacobson@fehrandpeers.com

Count Name: Baechtel North
Site Code:
Start Date: 03/05/2015
Page No: 4

Peak Hour Data

03/05/2015 7:45 AM
Ending At
03/05/2015 8:45 AM

Lights
Buses
Trucks
Bicycles on Road
Other

Southbound St. [N]

Out In Total

677 898 1575

4 4 8

71 20 91

1 0 1

0 0 0

753 922 1675

794 104 0 0

4 0 0 0

17 3 0 0

0 0 0 0

0 0 0 0

815 107 0 0
T L U P

127 0 0 4 0 123

O
ut

139 0 1 19 2 117

In

266 0 1 23 2 240

Total

W
estbound S

t. [E
]

R 125 0 1 11 2 111

L 14 0 0 8 0 6

U 0 0 0 0 0 0

P 19 19 0 0 0 0

800 585 1385

4 2 6

25 61 86

0 0 0

0 0 0

829 648 1477
Out In Total

Northbound St. [S]

U T R P

0 566 19 0

0 2 0 0

0 60 1 0

0 0 0 0

0 0 0 1

0 628 20 1

Turning Movement Peak Hour Data Plot (7:45 AM)



File Name : 101-beachtel-p
Site Code : 7
Start Date : 3/30/2016
Page No : 1

CITY OF WILLITS

Latitude: 39.387757
Longitude: -123.345285

Groups Printed- Vehicles Only
MAIN ST (US 101)

Southbound
BEACHTEL RD

Westbound
MAIN ST (US 101)

Northbound
MUIR MILL RD

Eastbound
Start Time RT TH LT App. Total RT TH LT App. Total RT TH LT App. Total RT TH LT App. Total Int. Total

16:00 4 172 19 195 21 0 8 29 23 151 1 175 3 0 1 4 403
16:15 5 165 16 186 13 0 16 29 19 157 2 178 1 0 2 3 396
16:30 3 151 14 168 17 1 20 38 17 152 0 169 0 0 0 0 375
16:45 6 143 16 165 14 1 16 31 26 161 3 190 1 1 2 4 390
Total 18 631 65 714 65 2 60 127 85 621 6 712 5 1 5 11 1564

17:00 3 161 15 179 14 0 15 29 23 171 3 197 4 1 0 5 410
17:15 1 147 16 164 13 0 12 25 16 171 0 187 0 0 1 1 377
17:30 4 139 14 157 12 0 9 21 24 166 1 191 0 1 2 3 372
17:45 2 116 9 127 16 1 15 32 16 141 0 157 1 2 1 4 320
Total 10 563 54 627 55 1 51 107 79 649 4 732 5 4 4 13 1479

Grand Total 28 1194 119 1341 120 3 111 234 164 1270 10 1444 10 5 9 24 3043
Apprch % 2.1 89 8.9  51.3 1.3 47.4  11.4 88 0.7  41.7 20.8 37.5   

Total % 0.9 39.2 3.9 44.1 3.9 0.1 3.6 7.7 5.4 41.7 0.3 47.5 0.3 0.2 0.3 0.8

MAIN ST (US 101)
Southbound

BEACHTEL RD
Westbound

MAIN ST (US 101)
Northbound

MUIR MILL RD
Eastbound

Start Time RT TH LT App. Total RT TH LT App. Total RT TH LT App. Total RT TH LT App. Total Int. Total
Peak Hour Analysis From 16:00 to 17:45 - Peak 1 of 1
Peak Hour for Entire Intersection Begins at 16:15

16:15 5 165 16 186 13 0 16 29 19 157 2 178 1 0 2 3 396
16:30 3 151 14 168 17 1 20 38 17 152 0 169 0 0 0 0 375
16:45 6 143 16 165 14 1 16 31 26 161 3 190 1 1 2 4 390
17:00 3 161 15 179 14 0 15 29 23 171 3 197 4 1 0 5 410

Total Volume 17 620 61 698 58 2 67 127 85 641 8 734 6 2 4 12 1571
% App. Total 2.4 88.8 8.7  45.7 1.6 52.8  11.6 87.3 1.1  50 16.7 33.3   

PHF .708 .939 .953 .938 .853 .500 .838 .836 .817 .937 .667 .931 .375 .500 .500 .600 .958

 MAIN ST (US 101) 

 M
U

IR
 M

IL
L 

R
D

  B
E

A
C

H
TE

L R
D

 

 MAIN ST (US 101) 

RT
17 

TH
620 

LT
61 

InOut Total
703 698 1401 

R
T58 

TH
2 

LT67 

O
ut

Total
In

148 
127 

275 

LT
8 

TH
641 

RT
85 

Out TotalIn
693 734 1427 

LT
4 

TH
2 

R
T

6 

To
ta

l
O

ut
In

27
 

12
 

39
 

Peak Hour Begins at 16:15
 
Vehicles Only

Peak Hour Data

North

TRAFFIC COUNTS PLUS
mietekm@comcast.net

925.305.4358



Dusty Duley, Alison Pernell, John Gibbs, and John Hykes 

September 27th, 2016 

Page 35 of 35 

APPENDIX D: SIGNAL WARRANTS 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Project
Major Street Main Street Scenario Pre-Bypass (2016)
Minor Street East Valley Street Peak Hour PM

Turn Movement Volumes Major Street Direction
NB SB EB WB

Left 0 22 0 53 x North/South
Through 758 570 0 0 East/West
Right 59 0 0 28
Total 817 592 0 81

Circulation Study for Main Street 
and Downtown Willits

Major Street Minor Street Warrant Met
Main Street East Valley Street

* Note:   Traffic Volume for Major Street is Total Volume of Both Approches.
             Traffic Volume for Minor Street is the Volume of High Volume Approach.

Traffic Volume (VPH) * 1,409 81

1 1
YES

Number of Approach Lanes

0

100

200

300

400

500

300 400 500 600 700 800 900 1000 1100 1200 1300 1400 1500

M
in

or
 S

tr
ee

t H
ig

he
r V

ol
um

e 
Ap

pr
oa

ch
 -

VP
H

Major Street - Total of Both Approaches - Vehicle Per Hour (VPH)

Figure 4C-4.  Warrant 3B, Peak Hour (70% Factor)
(COMMUNITY LESS THAN 10,000 POPULATION OR 

ABOVE 40 MPH ON MAJOR STREET

100*
75*

* Note:   100 vph applies as the lower threshold volume for a minor-street 
approach with two or more lanes and 75 vph applies as the lower

threshold volume for a minor-street approach with one lane.

Source: California Manual on Uniform Traffic Control Devices, Caltrans, 2014

2 or More Lanes & 2 or More Lanes

1 Lane & 1 Lane

2 or More Lanes & 1 Lane 



Project
Major Street Main Street Scenario Post-Bypass (2020)
Minor Street East Valley Street Peak Hour PM

Turn Movement Volumes Major Street Direction
NB SB EB WB

Left 0 22 0 53 x North/South
Through 599 450 0 0 East/West
Right 59 0 0 28
Total 658 472 0 81

Circulation Study for Main Street 
and Downtown Willits

* Note:   Traffic Volume for Major Street is Total Volume of Both Approches.
             Traffic Volume for Minor Street is the Volume of High Volume Approach.

Traffic Volume (VPH) * 1,130 81

1 1
YES

Number of Approach Lanes

Major Street Minor Street Warrant Met
Main Street East Valley Street

0

100

200

300

400

500

300 400 500 600 700 800 900 1000 1100 1200 1300 1400 1500

M
in

or
 S

tr
ee

t H
ig

he
r V

ol
um

e 
Ap

pr
oa

ch
 -

VP
H

Major Street - Total of Both Approaches - Vehicle Per Hour (VPH)

Figure 4C-4.  Warrant 3B, Peak Hour (70% Factor)
(COMMUNITY LESS THAN 10,000 POPULATION OR 

ABOVE 40 MPH ON MAJOR STREET

100*
75*

* Note:   100 vph applies as the lower threshold volume for a minor-street 
approach with two or more lanes and 75 vph applies as the lower

threshold volume for a minor-street approach with one lane.

Source: California Manual on Uniform Traffic Control Devices, Caltrans, 2014

2 or More Lanes & 2 or More Lanes

1 Lane & 1 Lane

2 or More Lanes & 1 Lane 



Project

Major Street Main Street Scenario Pre-Bypass (2016)

Minor Street North Baechtel Road Peak Hour AM

Turn Movement Volumes Major Street Direction

NB SB EB WB

Left 0 107 0 14 x North/South

Through 628 815 0 0 East/West

Right 20 0 0 126

Total 648 922 0 140

03 The need for a traffic control signal shall be considered if an engineering study finds that the criteria in

either of the following two categories are met:

A. If all three of the following conditions exist for the same 1 hour (any four consecutive 15-minute

periods) of an average day:

1. The total stopped time delay experienced by the traffic on one minor-street approach (one direction

only) controlled by a STOP sign equals or exceeds: 4 vehicle-hours for a one-lane approach or 5

vehicle-hours for a two-lane approach; and

2. The volume on the same minor-street approach (one direction only) equals or exceeds 100 vehicles

per hour for one moving lane of traffic or 150 vehicles per hour for two moving lanes; and

3. The total entering volume serviced during the hour equals or exceeds 650 vehicles per hour for

intersections with three approaches or 800 vehicles per hour for intersections with four or more

approaches.

B. The plotted point representing the vehicles per hour on the major street (total of both approaches)

and the corresponding vehicles per hour on the higher-volume minor-street approach (one direction

only) for 1 hour (any four consecutive 15-minute periods) of an average day falls above the applicable

curve in Figure 4C-3 for the existing combination of approach lanes.

Circulation Study for Main Street 

and Downtown Willits

Major Street Minor Street
Warrant Met

Main Street North Baechtel Road

* Note:   Traffic Volume for Major Street is Total Volume of Both Approches.

             Traffic Volume for Minor Street is the Volume of High Volume Approach.

Traffic Volume (VPH) * 1,570 140

1 1

YES

Number of Approach Lanes

0

100

200

300

400

500

300 400 500 600 700 800 900 1000 1100 1200 1300 1400 1500 1600

M
in

o
r 

S
tr

e
e

t 
H

ig
h

e
r 

V
o

lu
m

e
 A

p
p

ro
a

c
h

 -
V

P
H

Major Street - Total of Both Approaches - Vehicle Per Hour (VPH)

Figure 4C-4.  Warrant 3B, Peak Hour (70% Factor)
(COMMUNITY LESS THAN 10,000 POPULATION OR 

ABOVE 40 MPH ON MAJOR STREET

100*
75*

* Note:   100 vph applies as the lower threshold volume for a minor-street 
approach with two or more lanes and 75 vph applies as the lower

threshold volume for a minor-street approach with one lane.

Source: California Manual on Uniform Traffic Control Devices, Caltrans, 2014

2 or More Lanes & 2 or More Lanes

1 Lane & 1 Lane

2 or More Lanes & 1 Lane 



Project

Major Street Main Street Scenario Post-Bypass (2016)

Minor Street North Baechtel Road Peak Hour AM

Turn Movement Volumes Major Street Direction

NB SB EB WB

Left 0 107 0 14 x North/South

Through 490 636 0 0 East/West

Right 20 0 0 126

Total 510 743 0 140

03 The need for a traffic control signal shall be considered if an engineering study finds that the criteria in

either of the following two categories are met:

A. If all three of the following conditions exist for the same 1 hour (any four consecutive 15-minute

periods) of an average day:

1. The total stopped time delay experienced by the traffic on one minor-street approach (one direction

only) controlled by a STOP sign equals or exceeds: 4 vehicle-hours for a one-lane approach or 5

vehicle-hours for a two-lane approach; and

2. The volume on the same minor-street approach (one direction only) equals or exceeds 100 vehicles

per hour for one moving lane of traffic or 150 vehicles per hour for two moving lanes; and

3. The total entering volume serviced during the hour equals or exceeds 650 vehicles per hour for

intersections with three approaches or 800 vehicles per hour for intersections with four or more

approaches.

B. The plotted point representing the vehicles per hour on the major street (total of both approaches)

and the corresponding vehicles per hour on the higher-volume minor-street approach (one direction

only) for 1 hour (any four consecutive 15-minute periods) of an average day falls above the applicable

curve in Figure 4C-3 for the existing combination of approach lanes.

Circulation Study for Main Street 

and Downtown Willits

Major Street Minor Street
Warrant Met

Main Street North Baechtel Road

* Note:   Traffic Volume for Major Street is Total Volume of Both Approches.

             Traffic Volume for Minor Street is the Volume of High Volume Approach.

Traffic Volume (VPH) * 1,253 140

1 1

YES

Number of Approach Lanes

0

100

200

300

400

500

300 400 500 600 700 800 900 1000 1100 1200 1300 1400 1500 1600

M
in

o
r 

S
tr

e
e

t 
H

ig
h

e
r 

V
o

lu
m

e
 A

p
p

ro
a

c
h

 -
V

P
H

Major Street - Total of Both Approaches - Vehicle Per Hour (VPH)

Figure 4C-4.  Warrant 3B, Peak Hour (70% Factor)
(COMMUNITY LESS THAN 10,000 POPULATION OR 

ABOVE 40 MPH ON MAJOR STREET

100*
75*

* Note:   100 vph applies as the lower threshold volume for a minor-street 
approach with two or more lanes and 75 vph applies as the lower

threshold volume for a minor-street approach with one lane.

Source: California Manual on Uniform Traffic Control Devices, Caltrans, 2014

2 or More Lanes & 2 or More Lanes

1 Lane & 1 Lane

2 or More Lanes & 1 Lane 



81Technical Appendix

THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK.



Willits Main Street Corridor Enhancement Plan78Design Charrette Comments 



79Technical Appendix



Willits Main Street Corridor Enhancement Plan80



81Technical Appendix

THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK.





Item No. 3b 
Meeting Date: October 26, 2016 

 
AGENDA SUMMARY REPORT 

 
To:   Honorable Mayor and Council Members 

From:  Dusty Duley, City Planner 

Agenda Title: PRESENTATION, DISCUSSION AND POSSIBLE DIRECTION REGARDING THE 
DOWNTOWN WILLITS STREETS & ALLEY CONNECTIVITY STUDY 

Type:  Presentation    Consent    Regular Agenda    Public Hearing    Urgent   Time: 60 min. 

Summary of Request:  Staff is seeking City Council and public input on the public draft version of the 
Downtown Willits Streets & Alleys Connectivity Study. 

The City retained the consulting services of PlaceWorks and Fehr and Peers to conduct a traffic circulation 
and connectivity study to assess existing traffic circulation and safety for all modes of transportation in our 
downtown area as well as make recommendations for enhancing the connectivity in downtown consistent 
with the Study goals as follows: 

1. Beautify and enhance downtown. 

2. Provide better accessibility for pedestrians and bicyclists. 

3. Maintain parking and provide loading zones for downtown merchants. 

4. Encourage local and regional bicycle and pedestrian mobility. 

5. Improve public gathering spaces in downtown. 

6. Improve traffic safety and visibility for motorists. 

7. Improve lighting, wayfinding signage and landscaping throughout downtown. 

The area addressed by this Study focuses on Downtown Willits. The boundaries of this area are State 
Street to the north; School Street to the west; California Street to the south; and the Northwestern Pacific 
Railroad tracks to the east. Staff envisions being able to use concepts and designs identified in this Study 
and apply them to other areas of the City at large. Although the entire study area was analyzed, areas of 
specific focus include Commercial Street, Mendocino and Wood Streets, as well as the downtown alley 
network including Van Lane, Muir Lane and Schmidbauer Lane. 

A number of improvements within downtown have been identified to help accomplish Study goals such as 
establishing protected left turn lanes, signal timing improvements, changes to street travel direction, 
crosswalk enhancements, public spaces, additional lighting, wayfinding signage, landscaping and new 
loading zones. 

Public input received through several Advisory Group meetings, two public workshops, as well the Main 
Street Corridor Planning Fair has shaped the ideas and concepts found in the Plan. Staff anticipates 
receiving further public input and Council direction at this meeting. Upon completing any revisions to the 
draft Plan as directed by the Council, a final Downtown Willits Streets & Alleys Connectivity Study shall be 
brought back to the Council for approval consideration. 

The draft Downtown Willits Streets & Alleys Connectivity Study and appendices, including the Existing 
Circulation Assessment and project Cost Estimate Tables are attached. 
 



Recommended Action:  Staff recommends the Council receive a presentation on the Downtown Willits 
Streets & Alleys Connectivity Study and provide opportunity for public comment. 
 

Alternative(s):  None recommended. 
 

Fiscal Impact:  There is no fiscal impact associated with the Study itself. The Study was prepared utilizing 
funds that were made available through the Mendocino Council of Governments' Transportation Planning 
Work Program. 

Personnel Impact:  Staff time as necessary to facilitate completion of the Study. 

Reviewed by:     City Manager    City Attorney    Finance Director    Human Resources    Risk 
 

Council Action:    Approved    Denied    Other: ________________________________________ 

Records:  Agreement    Resolution #_________    Ordinance #_________    Other _________ 

 



 

DOWNTOWN WILLITS STREETS & ALLEYS 

CONNECTIVITY STUDY 
 

 

CITY OF WILLITS 
 
 
 
 

D R A F T  R E P O R T  

O c t o b e r  1 4 ,  2 0 1 6  
  



 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

1. INTRODUCTION ....................................................................................................................................................................................... 1 

2. EXISTING CONDITIONS ........................................................................................................................................................................... 3 

3. OUTREACH ............................................................................................................................................................................................ 15 

4. PROJECT GOALS .................................................................................................................................................................................... 21 

5. PROJECT DESIGN RECOMMENDATIONS .............................................................................................................................................. 25 

6. COST ESTIMATES & FUNDING .............................................................................................................................................................. 47 

 

 
APPENDIX A  TECHNICAL MEMORANDUM: EXISTING CIRCULATION ASSESSMENT AND IMPROVEMENT EVALUATION (BY FEHR & PEERS) 
APPENDIX B  COMMUNITY WORKSHOP ATTENDANCE ROSTERS 
APPENDIX C  COST ESTIMATE  

  



D O W N T O W N  W I L L I T S  S T R E E T S  &  A L L E Y S  C O N N E C T I V I T Y  S T U D Y  
DRAFT PLAN REPORT  

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS 

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS 

Thank you to all who participated. 

The preparation of this report was programmed through the Mendocino Council of Governments’ Transportation Planning Work Program with State 
Planning, Programming, and Monitoring (PPM) funds.  

Technical Advisory Group (TAG) 

CITY OF WILLITS 
Evelyn Fisher, community member 
Linda Matz, community member 
Tony Madrigal, community member 
Lisa Epstein, community member 
Dusty Duley, City Planner 
Adrienne Moore, City Manager 
Rod Wilburn, Public Works 
Jeremy Ronco, Public Works 
Alan Fallari, retired community development director 

MCOG 
Phil Dow, Executive Director 
Loretta Ellard, Assistant Executive Director 

Project Team 

PLACEWORKS 
Bruce Brubaker, Associate Principal  
John Hykes, Associate Principal 
Cliff Lau, Project Urban Designer/Planner 

FEHR & PEERS, INC.  
Daniel Jacobson, Senior Transportation Planner 
Kendra Rowley, Transportation Planner 
 
Special thanks to: 

WRT WALLACE ROBERTS & TODD, LLC 
John Gibbs, Principal 
Jillian Nameth Zeiger, Landscape Designer 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT COMMISSION  
Alison Pernell, Project Manager 
Paul Zykovsky 

 



 

1. Introduction      1 

 INTRODUCTION  1. 

The Downtown Willits Streets and Alleys Connectivity Study has been 
prepared for the City of Willits to study and provide recommendations 
for improving connectivity throughout their downtown. 

NEED AND PURPOSE 

In 2016, Caltrans will transfer ownership of the current segment of US 
Highway 101 that passes through Downtown to the City of Willits. In 
anticipation of this transition, the City sought services to develop 
recommendations for improvements to traffic circulation, safety, 
parking, and aesthetics, as well as proposals for several “shovel-ready” 
projects. These recommendations and projects were prepared with the 
expectation they would be implemented in conjunction with the 
separate but directly-related Willits Main Street Corridor Enhancement 
Plan. 

 

 

 
GOALS 

The Downtown Willits Streets and Alleys Connectivity Study seeks to 
achieve the following goals for enhancing the connectivity in downtown.  
Though these goals were prepared for downtown, opportunities to 
achieve them in other areas of the City could be explored in future 
planning efforts: 

1. Beautify and enhance downtown. 

2. Provide better accessibility for pedestrians and bicyclists. 

3. Maintain parking and provide loading zones for downtown 
merchants. 

4. Encourage local and regional bicycle and pedestrian mobility. 

5. Improve public gathering spaces in downtown. 

6. Improve traffic safety and visibility for motorists. 

7. Improve lighting, wayfinding signage and landscaping throughout 
downtown. 

 
  



D O W N T O W N  W I L L I T S  S T R E E T S  &  A L L E Y S  C O N N E C T I V I T Y  S T U D Y  
DRAFT PLAN REPORT  

2      1. Introduction 

 



 

2. Existing Conditions      3 

 EXISTING CONDITIONS  2. 

This chapter provides a summary of the previous planning efforts and 
existing conditions of the Streets and Alleys study area for Willits. 

The area addressed by this plan focuses on Downtown Willits. The 
boundaries of this area are State Street to the north; School Street to 
the west; California Street to the south; and the Northwestern Pacific 
Railroad tracks to the east. The spine of the downtown study area is 
Main Street and to the north an intersection with Commercial Street. 
See Figure 2-1 for the plan area of this study. 

Major locations in Downtown Willits include City Hall, Willits Library, 
Post Office, Fire Department, and Willits Justice Center. Destinations 
within and outside of the downtown area include Skunk Train Depot, 
Mendocino County Museum, Roots of Motive Power, Bud Snyder 
Memorial Park, Vietnam War Memorial, Recreation Grove Park, Willits 
Community Theater, and Noyo Theater. Numerous other retail, 
restaurants, and services also operate in the area. 
 

Figure 2-1: Study Area Boundary   



D O W N T O W N  W I L L I T S  S T R E E T S  &  A L L E Y S  C O N N E C T I V I T Y  S T U D Y  
DRAFT PLAN REPORT  

4      2. Existing Conditions 

RELEVANT PLANNING EFFORTS 

Recent planning documents covering the study area along with relevant 
concurrent planning efforts are summarized below in terms of the work 
completed to date and how it impacts the Streets and Alleys 
Connectivity Study.  

Willits Downtown Specific Plan and Circulation Element 
(2000) 

The Willits Downtown Specific Plan and Circulation Element provides an 
overall strategy for expansion, reuse, and revitalization of Downtown 
Willits via parking strategies, placemaking, and design ideas. Strategies 
and design ideas for downtown in this specific plan include identifying 
potential development sites along downtown Main Street to develop 
public gathering spaces as well as opportunities for bulbouts and 
intersection improvements at the Post Office, at Main and Wood Street, 
and improved crosswalks on Main and Commercial Street. 

Willits Circulation and Parking Improvement Study 
(2002) 

This study evaluates traffic safety conditions throughout Willits and 
recommends measures for improving traffic safety across the city’s 
circulation network including locations that demonstrate high-incident 
collisions and concern for pedestrian safety. A parking study surveys the 
city’s existing public parking stock and provides parking demand 
projections with a recommended approach for meeting new demand. 

Baechtel Road – Railroad Avenue Corridor Community 
Design Study (2003) 

This study proposes a conceptual design for the construction of a new 
road that would connect Baechtel Road and Railroad Avenue along the 
east side of Willits, a chief goal of which is to alleviate traffic congestion 
along US Highway 101. A facilitated charrette gathered 
recommendations from residents to generate a list of improvements for 
the area and the proposed road. 

City of Willits Bicycle and Pedestrian Specific Plan 
(2009) 

The Bicycle and Pedestrian Specific Plan provides strategies for 
increasing accommodations of bicycle and pedestrian-friendly 
circulation throughout Willits. The plan provides a list of projects, design 
measures, and implementation strategies to improve bicycle and 
pedestrian facilities, safety, and access. 

City of Willits Safe Routes to School Plan (2009) 

The Safe Routes to School Plan provides recommendations for 
improvements in safety and quality of the Willits streetscape 
environments to increase accommodations for local students to walk 
and bike to area-wide schools. 

 



D O W N T O W N  W I L L I T S  S T R E E T S  &  A L L E Y S  C O N N E C T I V I T Y  S T U D Y  
DRAFT PLAN REPORT 

2. Existing Conditions      5 

Willits Traffic Safety Evaluation (2010) 

The purpose of this evaluation is to improve traffic safety throughout 
the City of Willits. The data-driven report puts forward conceptual 
recommendations based on best practices in traffic engineering and 
enforcement to address the city’s safety issues and guide decision-
making for future safety improvement projects in the city. 

Main Street Corridor Enhancement Plan (Forthcoming 
2016) 

The Willits Main Street Corridor Enhancement Plan seeks to develop a 
plan and vision for the three miles of US Highway 101 (Main Street), 
located within the city limits. Caltrans is scheduled to open a US 
Highway 101 bypass in November 2016. Caltrans will relinquish 
ownership of the section of the highway that will remain as Willits’ Main 
Street. The plan envisions transforming Main Street into a walkable and 
bicycle-friendly corridor that supports local businesses and incorporates 
community gathering areas, landscaping, green streets concepts, traffic 
calming measures, increased bicycle facilities, and other community-
oriented features. 

The planning process involved a weeklong design charrette and a live 
“Sneak Preview” to showcase some of the plan’s proposed measures 
and solicit input from the community. The enhancement plan aims to 
include as many improvement projects as possible in the relinquishment 
construction project by Caltrans. Remaining projects will be 
implemented on a later timeline as part of a long-term vision for Main 
Street. 

The Main Street Corridor Enhancement Plan has been concurrently 
developed alongside the Downtown Willits Streets and Alleys 
Connectivity Study. 

Pacific Gas & Electric (PG&E) Electric Undergrounding 
Program 

The City of Willits has the opportunity to acquire funding for 
undergrounding its overhead electrical facilities through PG&E’s Electric 
Undergrounding Program. PG&E converts many miles of overhead 
electric facilities to underground annually. This work is completed by 
following the California Public Utilities Commission (CPUC) Rule 20 
guideline that is an electric distribution tariff. 

Mendocino County Rail-with-Trail Corridor Plan (2012) 

In 2012, the Mendocino Council of Governments developed a corridor 
plan to provide a comprehensive approach for transforming the 
Northwestern Pacific Railroad (NWP) right-of-way into a transportation 
route that includes non-motorized connections to population centers in 
Mendocino County. Driven by community input, the corridor plan 
envisions the rail corridor to be pedestrian- and bicycle-friendly with the 
goal of preserving the corridor’s function as a key transportation route 
that will include rail, walking, and bicycling options. The City of Willits is 
located within the Central Section of the Rail-with-Trail plan area and 
has the largest yard on the NWP corridor (eight tracks), a turning wye, a 
refueling facility, and a connection with the Mendocino Railway (Skunk 
Train). 



D O W N T O W N  W I L L I T S  S T R E E T S  &  A L L E Y S  C O N N E C T I V I T Y  S T U D Y  
DRAFT PLAN REPORT  

6      2. Existing Conditions 

CONTEXT 

The study area is comprised of a series of arterials, collectors, and local 
roads, exclusive of Main Street. Arterials provide the highest level of 
service at the greatest speed for the longest uninterrupted distance; 
collectors provide a less highly developed level of service at a lower 
speed for shorter distances and collect traffic and connect to arterials. 
Local Roads (includes “alleys”) provide access to land with little or no 
through movement. The Existing Conditions and Opportunities diagram 
(Figure 2-2) illustrates the conditions of the existing street network in 
Downtown, showing existing crosswalk locations, street travel 
directions, transit lines, bicycle facilities, and destinations. 

Though the study area is exclusive of Main Street, it is affected by Main 
Street activity and traffic volumes. Main Street (US-101) presently 
serves as a key route for both local and intercity travel as a part of the 
California State Highway system. On a typical weekday, Main Street 
carries about 15,000 vehicles through Downtown Willits. Post-Bypass, 
Main Street is estimated to carry a traffic volume of 11,900 vehicles 
through Downtown Willits, a near 20% reduction (Caltrans, Willits 
Bypass EIR, 2006). 

The Main Street/Commercial Street intersection presents and provides 
opportunities for enhancement through protected left turns and signal 
timing improvements. East Commercial Street serves as a key 
multimodal street for vehicles, pedestrians, bicyclists, and buses; 
however, its present design provides limited accommodations for 
walking and bicycling. The narrow width of some Downtown streets 
limits sight lines and circulation, particularly along Van Lane and Wood 
Street. Existing conditions of key streets and alleys within the study area 
are described in the following pages. 

 
Figure 2-2: Existing Conditions & Opportunities Diagram  



D O W N T O W N  W I L L I T S  S T R E E T S  &  A L L E Y S  C O N N E C T I V I T Y  S T U D Y  
DRAFT PLAN REPORT 

2. Existing Conditions      7 

Commercial Street 

Commercial Street is a 56-foot wide east-west arterial. Numerous civic 
and commercial uses are located along this arterial at the north-end of 
the downtown and the study area, including City Hall, Willits Justice 
Center, Noyo Theater, Snyder Park, Baseball fields, and Skunk Train 
Depot by the Northwestern Pacific Railroad tracks. In addition, 
Commercial Street is a major link to other city amenities east of the 
study area such as Willits Library, Mendocino County Museum, Roots of 
Motive Power, Recreation Grove Park, Skatepark, and Rodeo Grounds. 

Much of Commercial Street is comprised of two travel lanes, existing 
Class II bicycle facilities, and street parking on either side. Along the 
south edge of Commercial between School Street and Main Street, 
there is front-in diagonal parking. The sidewalks are twelve feet wide 
throughout. The City implemented several improvements on West 
Commercial Street, which include the angled parking; restriping; raised 
crosswalks; and striping off bulbouts at corners and intersections. Since 
these bulbouts are not actually curbed, planters were provided as a 
barrier between these striped zones and the travel lane. 

 
Existing Condition: East Commercial Street by Skunk Train Depot 

 

 
Existing Section: West Commercial Street 

 

 
Existing Section: East Commercial Street 



D O W N T O W N  W I L L I T S  S T R E E T S  &  A L L E Y S  C O N N E C T I V I T Y  S T U D Y  
DRAFT PLAN REPORT  

8      2. Existing Conditions 

Van, Muir, and Schmidbauer Lanes 

Van, Muir, and Schmidbauer Lanes are existing local roads that currently 
accommodate numerous activities and functions, including pedestrian 
traffic, vehicular traffic, parking, loading, trash pickup, and building 
access. 

Van Lane is an east-west local road located between Commercial Street 
and Mendocino Avenue that spans from School Street to Madden 
Street. The width ranges from 15 feet to 24 feet. The intersection of Van 
Lane and Main Street is a key pedestrian crossing which currently has 
two crosswalks. West of Main Street is mostly used for vehicular traffic, 
trash pickup, and commercial loading. The lane provides access to 
several buildings including the Willits Community Theater, an apartment 
building, garages, and several businesses. Van Lane east of Main Street 
provides access to a public parking lot of approximately 15 spaces. 
Further east past Humboldt Street, the lane is the access to a paved 
business parking lot and is blocked by a chain link fence that cordons off 
a restricted area of City Hall and the adjacent Justice Center. The lane 
continues east of the Justice Center building between Marin and 
Madden Streets, terminating at Madden Street.  

Muir Lane is a north-south local road located between School Street and 
Main Street. It spans from Commercial Street at its north end to Wood 
Street at its south end. The width of Muir Lane varies between 16 feet 
to 24 feet. Between Commercial Street and Mendocino Avenue, the 
lane provides access to an apartment building, single-family residence, 
functions as a loading area, is an exit point for the parking lot adjacent 
to the vacant Rexall’s building, and is largely unpaved. Community art 
murals and private gardens can be found in this alley. Between 
Mendocino Avenue and Wood Street, the lane is mostly paved and 
primarily provides access to several parking lots and utilitarian access to 
several businesses. 

 

 
West Van Lane by Willits Community Theater at Muir Lane intersection 

 
Schmidbauer Lane at Van Lane looking north towards Commercial Street 



D O W N T O W N  W I L L I T S  S T R E E T S  &  A L L E Y S  C O N N E C T I V I T Y  S T U D Y  
DRAFT PLAN REPORT 

2. Existing Conditions      9 

Schmidbauer Lane is a north-south local road located between Main 
Street and Humboldt Street and adjacent to the Noyo Theater. It is a 
short lane of approximately 135 feet in length spanning between 
Commercial Street and East Van Lane with an average width of 
approximately 24 feet. The lane provides access to businesses for trash 
pickup; several parking spaces used by business owners; and the public 
parking lot located on East Van Lane. 

Mendocino Avenue and Wood Street 

Mendocino Avenue and Wood Street are east-west collector streets. 
These streets provide access to public parking lots, businesses, to the 
frontages of several single-family residences, street parking, and some 
loading zones. However, a majority of the street frontage along both 
streets is not of active use; only a few businesses have street frontages. 

Mendocino Avenue is a two-way street west of Main Street. Wood 
Street is one-way westbound. East of Main Street, it is Wood Alley, an 
eastbound diagonal parking lot. The diagonal parking accessed by Wood 
Alley is privately-owned, while the 20- to 24-foot wide travel lane itself 
is a public right-of-way. 

 

 
West Mendocino Avenue looking east 

 
Existing Street Section: Mendocino Avenue looking west. 
 

 

 Existing Street Section: Wood Street looking west.  



D O W N T O W N  W I L L I T S  S T R E E T S  &  A L L E Y S  C O N N E C T I V I T Y  S T U D Y  
DRAFT PLAN REPORT  

10      2. Existing Conditions 

CIRCULATION ANALYSIS 

The Downtown circulation network includes five east-west streets and 
alleys (Commercial Street, Van Lane, Mendocino Avenue, Wood 
Street/Wood Alley, and Valley Street) and five north-south streets and 
alleys (School Street, Muir Lane, Main Street, Humboldt Street and 
Madden Street). With the exception of Commercial Street, most streets 
in Downtown Willits are very narrow: streets are about 28 feet wide 
(curb-to-curb), while alleys are about 15 feet wide.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Commercial Street at Muir Lane looking east. 

 
Van Lane at Main Street looking west. 



D O W N T O W N  W I L L I T S  S T R E E T S  &  A L L E Y S  C O N N E C T I V I T Y  S T U D Y  
DRAFT PLAN REPORT 

2. Existing Conditions      11 

 Vehicular Circulation 

Commercial Street, Valley Street, and Mendocino Avenue (west of Main 
Street) were observed to carry the highest traffic volumes (Table 2-1). 
Van Lane experiences very little traffic; no vehicles were observed 
traveling west of Main Street during the PM peak hour, and two vehicles 
were observed traveling east of Main Street.  
 
TABLE 2-1: OBSERVED PM PEAK HOUR SEGMENT VOLUMES IN DOWNTOWN WILLITS 

Street 
Segment Volume  

(West of Main Street) 
Segment Volume  

(East of Main Street) 
Commercial Street 275 427 
Mendocino Avenue 95 30 
Van Lane 0 2 
Wood Street/Wood Alley 51 39 
Valley Street 152 166 
Note: Counts conducted on Wednesday, March 30, 2016. 

The Commercial Street intersection experiences frequent conflicts 
associated with vehicles turning left from Commercial onto Main Street 
without signal protection. The existing signal timing prioritizes Main 
Street and results in queues on Commercial Street that sometimes 
extend to Humboldt Street and Muir Lane. 

 

 

 

Parking 

On-street parking is limited due to narrow street widths. Commercial 
Street includes parallel parking on both sides of the street; between 
School Street and Main Street, it includes angled parking on the 
southern side of the street. Other streets typically include parallel 
parking on only one side of the street. Few on-street parking spaces are 
provided along alleyways.  

Off street parking is provided at five public lots as well as a number of 
dedicated lots for businesses. No wayfinding signage is provided from 
Main Street to access off-street public parking lots. 

Wood Street has limited sight lines at Main Street due to its narrowness 
and limited adjacent building setbacks. 

The Willits Fire Department is located on the north side of Commercial 
Street between Main Street and Humboldt Street. Most trips occur via 
Commercial, Main, and Humboldt Streets. 

 
Surface parking lot at Mendocino Avenue and School Street.  



D O W N T O W N  W I L L I T S  S T R E E T S  &  A L L E Y S  C O N N E C T I V I T Y  S T U D Y  
DRAFT PLAN REPORT  

12      2. Existing Conditions 

Transit Circulation 

Mendocino County Transit Routes 1 (Willits Local) and 20 (Willits-Ukiah) 
serve stops on Commercial Street at Humboldt Street. Route 1 provides 
hourly service approximately between the hours of 7:00 AM and 6:00 
PM. Route 20 provides six round-trips to Ukiah between the hours of 
7:00 AM and 5:00 PM. Both bus routes terminate at the Integrated 
Service Center on Lenore Avenue between Creekside Street and Valley 
Street. 

Amtrak Thruway Bus 6318 (Arcata-Martinez) stops adjacent to the 
Skunk Train terminal on Commercial Street. Amtrak provides one daily 
roundtrip.  

Existing transit stops include limited amenities – signage, benches, and 
shelters are generally not provided. 

 
Bus along Main Street. 

Pedestrian Circulation 

Sidewalks are included along all streets in Downtown Willits, but are not 
included along alleys. With the exception of Commercial Street, which 
has 8- to 12-foot sidewalks, most sidewalks are narrow (about 6 feet 
wide). Commercial Street also includes planters and street furnishings.  

Pedestrian traffic outside of Main Street was primarily observed along 
Commercial Street and Valley Street. City Park, City Hall, and the Skunk 
Train represent major Downtown-area pedestrian activity hubs along 
Commercial Street.  

Unimproved alleyways and ADA-inaccessible facilities may pose barriers 
to pedestrian circulation around Downtown. 

 

 
Commercial Street at Schmidbauer Lane, looking east. 



D O W N T O W N  W I L L I T S  S T R E E T S  &  A L L E Y S  C O N N E C T I V I T Y  S T U D Y  
DRAFT PLAN REPORT 

2. Existing Conditions      13 

 Bicycle Circulation 

Commercial Street includes Class II bicycle lanes and serves as the 
primary east-west bicycle route across Downtown Willits. However, in 
some locations, bicycle lane markings have faded and are no longer 
visible. Near the Humboldt Street intersection, bicycle lanes share space 
with angled parking for the fire station. Sufficient space generally exists 
to provide buffered bike lanes. 

Observed bicycle volumes were very low (<5 during the PM peak hour at 
most study intersections).  

Bicycle parking is provided at some locations around Downtown Willits, 
but parking is generally not provided on-street or in visible locations. 

Valley Street is designated as a Class III bicycle route; however, no 
signage or other bicycle improvements are provided. 1 

                                                             

1 Existing Circulation Assessment and Improvement Evaluation for Main 
Street & Downtown Willits, Fehr & Peers, August 19th, 2016 

 
Pedestrian crossing at Main Street and Mendocino Avenue intersection  
  



D O W N T O W N  W I L L I T S  S T R E E T S  &  A L L E Y S  C O N N E C T I V I T Y  S T U D Y  
DRAFT PLAN REPORT  

14      2. Existing Conditions 

 
.



 

3. Outreach      15 

 OUTREACH 3. 

The outreach process for the Streets and Alleys Connectivity Study 
sought to gather information to inform how the improvements of the 
streets and alleys could be most beneficial to community members and 
businesses alike. The process included two main components; the 
Technical Advisory Group and two Community Workshops. 

TECHNICAL ADVISORY GROUP 

 

PlaceWorks and the City initiated the community outreach process for 
the Connectivity Study by forming a Technical Advisory Group (TAG) 
comprised of City staff, business owners, residents, and members from 
the consultant team for the Main Street Corridor Enhancement Project. 
The TAG convened a total of four times: 

Technical Advisory Group Meeting #1  

The first TAG meeting introduced the TAG members to one another and 
the project to identify preliminary key issues. A facilitated walking tour 
highlighted key issues to understand the existing conditions and 
opportunities in the Downtown streets, alleys, and public spaces. 

Technical Advisory Group Meeting #2  

At the second TAG meeting, PlaceWorks presented and reviewed the 
existing conditions diagram and six preliminary project areas to the TAG. 
The goal of this meeting was to discuss key issues and goals of each 
project area and arrive at a prioritized list of project areas to focus on 
out of the six proposed. 

Technical Advisory Group Meeting #3  

At the third TAG meeting, PlaceWorks presented drafts of the design 
concept alternatives for each of the three prioritized project areas. The 
purpose of this meeting was to solicit input from TAG members of each 
design concept prior to presenting them at the first community 
workshop. 

Technical Advisory Group Meeting #4 

The fourth TAG meeting was held to present the preferred concept 
alternatives developed for the three prioritized projects and to receive 
preliminary feedback from the group prior to the second workshop. 



D O W N T O W N  W I L L I T S  S T R E E T S  &  A L L E Y S  C O N N E C T I V I T Y  S T U D Y  
DRAFT PLAN REPORT  

16      3. Outreach 

COMMUNITY WORKSHOPS 

Community meetings were held to invite the community to learn, 
analyze, comment, and provide input on key issues, goals, and options 
for the Connectivity Study’s design concepts. Public notices of each 
workshop were given in the form of flyers, newspaper advertisements, 
and email outreach. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Workshop outreach flyer 

Workshops 

Main Street Corridor Enhancement Plan Design Charrette 

PlaceWorks joined and supported the kickoff event of the design 
charrette for the Main Street Corridor Enhancement Project during the 
week of April 18 to 22, 2016. PlaceWorks was present on April 17th and 
18th to: 

 Display a board showcasing the Downtown Willits Streets and Alleys 
Connectivity study area and receive feedback from community 
members interested in the study. 

 Lead a walking tour through the downtown area and facilitate brief 
discussions with community members to gather input on concerns 
and potential priorities for the study. 

 



D O W N T O W N  W I L L I T S  S T R E E T S  &  A L L E Y S  C O N N E C T I V I T Y  S T U D Y  
DRAFT PLAN REPORT 

3. Outreach      17 

Community Workshop #1:  June 16, 2016 
PlaceWorks and City staff facilitated a community workshop on June 16, 
2016, and presented the design concepts and alternatives for the 
project areas before approximately 35 community members. The goal of 
this meeting was to seek consensus and choose an alternative for each 
project to develop. After the presentation, PlaceWorks and City staff 
facilitated a round-robin style discussion for each of the three projects, 
where feedback was recorded on flipchart pads. Community members 
were invited to comment and make suggestions on the following: 

1. Pros and cons of each project areas alternative. 

2. Provide input on specific design recommendations, including lane 
reconfiguration on Commercial Street in relation to bicycle lanes; 
the pedestrian crossing at the intersection of Van Lane and Main 
Street; and public gathering space locations and environmental 
qualities. 

3. Suggestions and additional comments for how the original 
alternatives could be improved. 

Attendees were asked to fill out comment cards in addition to the group 
discussion. A total of ten cards were collected at the end of the 
workshop. 

Councilmembers attended and participated in the discussion. Both the 
local newspapers, Willits News and Willits Weekly, reported on the 
event. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



D O W N T O W N  W I L L I T S  S T R E E T S  &  A L L E Y S  C O N N E C T I V I T Y  S T U D Y  
DRAFT PLAN REPORT  

18      3. Outreach 

Community Workshop #2:  August 25, 2016  
PlaceWorks and City staff facilitated a community workshop on August 
25, 2016, and presented the preferred concept alternatives for each of 
the three prioritized projects. PlaceWorks presented the projects and 
facilitated a discussion of each one with the community.  There were 
approximately 26 people present at the meeting. 

1. Mendocino & Wood 
The community members at the meeting raised concerns regarding the 
change in direction of travel associated with the concept overall.  Many 
of the concerns stemmed from the following: 

 Ability of wayfinding to navigate to the public parking lot between 
Mendocino Avenue and Wood Street. 

 Truck turning radii associated with the new design and the potential 
additional parking removal on School Street at the corners 
associated with the new truck turns. It was discussed that the 
turning analysis would be done with further design development to 
assess potential additional loss of parking on School Street. 

 Change in travel direction on Wood Street from west bound to east 
bound. Community members cited this change would relocate 
existing parking at the north west corner of Wood Street to the 
south west corner, further removing the existing 2-3 parking spots 
away from adjacent businesses. However the concept increases 
parking on the street overall. 

 Maintaining access to Brookside Elementary with change in travel 
direction on Mendocino Avenue. Brookside Elementary is located 
west of the study area and Mendocino Avenue is a major connector 
to the school. It was discussed that the westbound orientation of 
Mendocino Avenue from Main Street to North Street would not 
alter current trips to Brookside.  Return trips would still take 

Mendocino Avenue eastbound, head south at School Street and 
continue to access Main Street via eastbound Main Street. 

 Desire to keep existing Liquidambar trees on north side of 
Mendocino Avenue from Main Street to Muir Lane. The 
recommended sidewalk extension on the north side of the street at 
the Rexall parking lot generated some discussion regarding these 
existing trees on private property, which currently buckle the 
sidewalk. The Public Works Department currently intends to 
remove the trees and extend the sidewalk into Mendocino Avenue 
(as shown) to increase the planter strip for new trees and reduce 
impacts to the new sidewalk. Community members were concerned 
about removing these trees. It was discussed that the extended 
sidewalk could potentially provide the existing trees with additional 
space to save the trees from removal but that this was a decision 
for Public Works as it impacted the condition of the public sidewalk. 

 Mendocino Avenue between Humboldt Street and Main Street: 
Plans to improve the sidewalk condition on the southside were met 
with approval. Currently, this segment of Mendocino Avenue is 
narrow and has a rolled curb condition.  Community members 
expressed concerns at plans to introduce diagonal parking on the 
north side of the street as it requires a 2-foot easement into private 
property to maintain a 6-foot sidewalk in the configuration. The loss 
of two parking stalls at Ardella's was seen as a negative, but 
consideration for continuing diagonal parking to the Humboldt 
Street on the north side was a potentially positive design change. 

 Wood Alley remained eastbound and there was little discussion 
about this street. 

  



D O W N T O W N  W I L L I T S  S T R E E T S  &  A L L E Y S  C O N N E C T I V I T Y  S T U D Y  
DRAFT PLAN REPORT 

3. Outreach      19 

2. Van Lane, Muir Lane and Schmidbauer 
The proposal concept for the lane was met with general approval.  
There was a concern about the loss of parking associated with the public 
lot and the ability to provide adequate way finding for the restricted 
access to east bound Van Lane.  Consideration for emergency vehicle 
access as well as a discussion with the local waste management division 
for the restricted access to West Van Lane from Main Street was also an 
issue.  It was pointed out that access from Muir Lane would remain as it 
is today, and trash enclosure for businesses directly off Main Street on 
West Van Lane were consolidated and accessible from Main Street. 

In general the community members present were in favor of the new 
lighting, re-paving project, under grounding of existing overhead power 
lines and beautification efforts associated with the Community Theater 
and Gateway treatments, including the consolidated crosswalks at Van 
Lane. 

3. Commercial Street 
The community members in attendance were in favor of the proposal 
for Commercial Street. Community members wanted to maintain 
diagonal parking option from School Street to Muir Lane. The 
reconfiguration of the intersection at Main Street was seen as a positive 
improvement to allow for the dedicated left turn lanes in both 
directions.  East commercial improvements were met with general 
approval of the buffered bike lanes, bulbout design and landscaping.  
Community members had concerns with making sure the relocated fire 
department parking spots in the current City Hall lot were adequately 
sized for volunteer firefighters vehicles.  In addition, it was noted to 
relocate the existing bus stop located at the City Hall parking lot to the 
far side of the intersection at Marin. 



D O W N T O W N  W I L L I T S  S T R E E T S  &  A L L E Y S  C O N N E C T I V I T Y  S T U D Y  
DRAFT PLAN REPORT  

20      3. Outreach 

 



 

4. Project Goals      21 

 PROJECT GOALS 4. 

Project goals were developed to initiate the planning process to create a 
safer, more accessible, and more pedestrian-friendly downtown 
environment with direct input from the TAG. 

PROJECT GOALS   

Project goals comprise the strategy for how the design concepts for the 
project areas were developed and center around creating a pedestrian-
friendly downtown. These were developed and represented in the form 
of diagrams, street sections, and visual simulations. The following goals 
guided the designs in the Streets and Alleys Connectivity Study: 

1. Beautify and enhance downtown. The study seeks to improve the 
experience of downtown by prioritizing the pedestrian as well 
bicyclist experience and identifying opportunities to provide shared 
street environments, new public gathering spaces, improved safety, 
and a more accessible environment. 

2. Provide better accessibility for pedestrians and bicyclists. The study 
seeks to create an accessible and safe downtown for pedestrians 
and bicyclists and identifies opportunities for sidewalk widenings, 
safer crossings, accessibility improvements, and traffic calming. 

3. Maintain parking and provide loading zones for downtown 
merchants. The study seeks to maintain the existing parking supply 
where possible, identify opportunities where new parking supply 
could be located, and provide designated loading zones for 
downtown merchants. 

4. Encourage local and regional bicycle and pedestrian mobility. The 
study seeks to improve the existing bicycle facilities within 
downtown to encourage bicycle mobility. 

5. Improve public gathering spaces in downtown. The study seeks to 
improve existing public gathering spaces as well as identify 
opportunities for new public gathering spaces. Potential areas 
identified are the northeast corner of Mendocino Avenue and Main 
Street and the area in front of the Willits Community Theater by 
Van and Muir Lanes.  

6. Improve traffic safety and visibility for motorists. The study seeks to 
improve traffic safety throughout the area, including the 
intersection of Commercial Street and Main Street. 

7. Improve lighting, wayfinding signage and landscaping throughout 
downtown. The study seeks to increase and identify opportunities 
for lighting, wayfinding, and landscaping throughout downtown. 

  



D O W N T O W N  W I L L I T S  S T R E E T S  &  A L L E Y S  C O N N E C T I V I T Y  S T U D Y  
DRAFT PLAN REPORT  

22      4. Project Goals 

PROJECT AREAS 

During the initial stages of the Connectivity Study, PlaceWorks identified 
opportunities and constraints throughout downtown through site tours 
examining existing conditions and conversations with City staff, 
community members and consultant team members at the Main Street 
Corridor Enhancement Project design charrette, and Technical Advisory 
Group members in the first TAG meeting. These opportunities and 
constraints were compiled in the Existing Conditions Diagram (Fig. 2-2). 

Based on this diagram, PlaceWorks initially identified six potential 
project areas. At the second TAG meeting with City staff present, 
PlaceWorks presented the Existing Conditions Diagram followed by the 
Prioritization Map and asked the members to vote on three to four 
projects to prioritize. Votes were cast after discussion of goals, issues, 
and concerns between TAG members and City staff. 

The TAG elected to develop the Commercial Street project area; the 
combined project areas of Van, Muir, and Schmidbauer Lanes; and the 
Mendocino Avenue/Wood Street project area. The Valley Street project 
area was not selected because the Main Street Corridor Enhancement 
Project already proposed a new design for the intersection which would 
slow vehicular speeds and improve pedestrian safety. The School and 
Marin Streets project area did not contain as much potential for 
improvements and therefore was also not selected. 

These preliminary project areas later reduced to three focus areas, 
compiled in a Priority Project Areas Map (Fig. 4-1) and presented in the 
second TAG meeting. For these three areas, concepts were developed. 
They are briefly listed below and described further in Chapter 5: 

 

1. Commercial Street: A key east-west arterial with existing bicycle 
facilities, commercial travel routes, business frontages, and civic 
locations, focus on Commercial Street was seen by City staff and 
TAG members as critical to the study. 

2. West Van Lane & Muir Lane: These two lanes posed potential as 
primary pedestrian thoroughfares west of Main Street with the 
Willits Community Theater as a destination and considered as a key 
project area for supporting a pedestrian-friendly downtown.  

3. East Van Lane & Schmidbauer Lane: East Van and Schmidbauer 
Lanes also have potential to be primary pedestrian routes, with East 
Van Lane as a primary east-west connection from Main Street to 
the Skunk Train Depot and Northwest Pacific Railroad tracks to the 
east. An existing constraint, however, is the chain link fenced area 
located between City Hall and the Justice Center, creates a gap in 
East Van Lane between Humboldt and Marin Streets. 

4. Mendocino Avenue & Wood Street: As two main east-west 
connectors located south of Commercial Street, this project 
considers changing traveling directions to create more efficient 
traffic flow through downtown as well as improved parking supply, 
loading areas, accessibility, and streetscape improvements. 

5. Valley Street: The primary issue which this project area would be 
concerned with is reconfiguring the U.S. Post Office parking lot 
and/or the Valley Street intersection to provide safer crossings for 
pedestrians as well as reduce vehicular collisions that occur 
between vehicles coming off Main Street and vehicles exiting the 
parking lot. 

6. School Street & Madden Street: This project would primarily 
consider accessibility improvements to create a continuous path of 
pedestrian travel, address any accessibility gaps throughout these 
streets, and calm traffic on Madden for any cut through traffic 
existing or as a result of the Railroad to Baechtel Road connection. 



D O W N T O W N  W I L L I T S  S T R E E T S  &  A L L E Y S  C O N N E C T I V I T Y  S T U D Y  
DRAFT PLAN REPORT 

4. Project Goals      23 

 

PRIORITY PROJECT AREAS 

PlaceWorks worked with City staff and the TAG to prioritize the 
following areas: 

 Commercial Street: As a major east-west arterial, Commercial Street 
is envisioned to be a quality environment with improved conditions 
more amenable to pedestrians and bicyclists alike as well as 
supportive of businesses and vehicular traffic. This project area 
covers Commercial Street from School Street to the Northwest 
Pacific Railroad tracks. 

 Van Lane, Muir Lane, and Schmidbauer Lane: A series of lanes that 
provides informal bypass routes for both pedestrians and vehicles 
around downtown. Traffic here is infrequent, and the close 
proximity of buildings, narrow lane width, and removed setting 
relative to main arterials gives it a quiet and secluded atmosphere. 
This project would focus on improving lane surfaces, accessibility, 
lighting, safety, and increasing pedestrian-friendliness. This project 
area covers Van Lane from School Street to Humboldt Street along 
with the full extents of both Muir and Schmidbauer Lanes. 

 Mendocino Avenue and Wood Street: Improvement of these two 
side streets that provide access off Main Street to parking, 
commercial loading zones, and residential areas adjacent to 
downtown will focus on re-orienting travel directions to facilitate 
more efficient and safer traffic flow through downtown; 
maintaining on-street parking; dedicating loading zones for 
commercial vehicles; and improving pedestrian accessibility. This 
project area covers the stretch of Mendocino Avenue between 
School Street and Humboldt Street; Wood Street between School 
Street and Main Street; and Wood Alley. 

  
Figure 4-1: Priority Project Areas Map 



D O W N T O W N  W I L L I T S  S T R E E T S  &  A L L E Y S  C O N N E C T I V I T Y  S T U D Y  
DRAFT PLAN REPORT  

24      4. Project Goals 

 

 



 

5. Project Design Recommendations      25 

 PROJECT DESIGN 5. 
RECOMMENDATIONS 

This section describes the project prioritization process, the concept 
development for each project, and a description of recommendations. 

PROJECT DESIGN CONCEPTS 

PlaceWorks developed the concepts for each priority project area with 
the goal of creating a quality, pedestrian-oriented environment 
throughout Downtown while finding opportunities to improve bicycle 
facilities, vehicular traffic flow, and parking supply. These concepts were 
developed with City staff and based on input provided by TAG and 
community members.  

The Streets & Alleys Connectivity Study developed AutoCAD drawings to 
illustrate the proposed changes throughout the downtown. The project 
was developed using City provided GIS survey information. Additional 
survey will be required to continue to consider opportunities associated 
with these concepts. The layout plans essentially serves as a 10 percent 
completed design that the City of Willits can use to assist with 
acquisition of funding and move into further design development.  

The following discussion describes project improvements. Illustrative 
concept drawings are included. 

Commercial Street 

The overall concept for Commercial Street seeks to balance the nature 
of the street as a major vehicular corridor and aims to achieve the 
following: 

 Improve pedestrian safety and experience. 

 Maintain and improve existing bicycle facilities. 

 Reconfigure lanes to ameliorate traffic stacking and provide 
smoother flow of traffic. 

Main Street/Commercial Street intersection 
The Main Street/Commercial Street intersection presents and provides 
opportunities for enhancement through protected left turns and signal 
timing improvements. The lack of protected left turn phasing and 
dedicated left turn lanes along Commercial Street at Main Street results 
in conflicts between left turning vehicles and other modes crossing Main 
Street, especially pedestrians. Queues generated by left turning vehicles 
also can impede the flow of through and right-turning vehicles, resulting 
in delays for both eastbound and westbound traffic flow. While space 
allows for right turning vehicles to merge into existing bike lanes during 
their turn, pavement markings could be clearer to highlight this conflict 
zone for both bikes and vehicles. Several intersection improvements 
would help address these conflicts and delays: 

 Protected left turn phasing and dedicated left turn lanes on 
Commercial Street through the removal of on-street parking 
adjacent to the intersection 

 Pedestrian bulbouts to shorten crosswalk distances 

 Eastbound right turns on Commercial Street accommodated via a 
right turn pocket shared with the bike lane 



D O W N T O W N  W I L L I T S  S T R E E T S  &  A L L E Y S  C O N N E C T I V I T Y  S T U D Y  
DRAFT PLAN REPORT  

26      5. Project Design Recommendations 

 Bicycle conflict zone markings along both Main Street and 
Commercial Street 

 Retiming of the signal to serve post-Bypass volumes, including 
inclusion of pedestrian recall  

These changes are expected to reduce delays along Commercial Street, 
but may increase delays along Main Street. However, given the 
expected decrease in traffic volumes along Main Street, these tradeoffs 
are expected to produce optimal intersection operations as a whole and 
will improve pedestrian safety.2 

West Commercial Street 
 Lane reconfiguration: As illustrated in Figure  5-2, recommend lane 

reconfiguration and intersection improvements by: 

 Restriping existing westbound Class II bicycle lane to run along 
north curb between Main Street and Muir Lane, removing street 
parking (approximately four to six spaces). 

 Removing existing diagonal parking along southside of 
Commercial Street and replace with new parallel parking (loss of 
three spaces). 

 Diagonal Parking Alternative: Replacing existing diagonal parking 
spaces between School Street and Muir Lane with new back-in 
diagonal parking spaces. Provide new parallel parking between 
Muir Lane and Main Street. (loss of two spaces, see Figure 5-3). 

 Curb extensions: Provide new curb extensions and bulbouts at the 
following locations: 

                                                             

2 Existing Circulation Assessment and Improvement Evaluation for Main 
Street & Downtown Willits, Fehr & Peers, August 19th, 2016 

 Southwest intersection corner at Main Street and Commercial 
Street. 

 Mid-block crosswalk at Muir Lane and Main Street. 

 Southeast corner of Commercial Street and School Street. 

 Existing striped pedestrian refuges, currently buffered by 
planters, by formalizing them into bulbouts. Study southwest 
corner of Commercial Street at Main Street intersection for 
feasibility of bulbouts in relation to truck turning radius and 
pedestrian safety. 

 West of Muir Lane: Maintain existing on-street parking on northside 
and existing bicycle facilities. Provide new 3-foot buffer for bicycle 
lanes. Remove existing diagonal parking on southside of 
Commercial Street. 

 Landscaping: Recommend tree plantings and landscaping where 
feasible to beautify street, including new bulbout areas.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Figure 5-1: Proposed Commercial Street Section 



D O W N T O W N  W I L L I T S  S T R E E T S  &  A L L E Y S  C O N N E C T I V I T Y  S T U D Y  
DRAFT PLAN REPORT 

5. Project Design Recommendations      27 

Figure 5-2: Commercial Street at Main Street Intersection (West Commercial Street with Parallel Parking) 
 
 



D O W N T O W N  W I L L I T S  S T R E E T S  &  A L L E Y S  C O N N E C T I V I T Y  S T U D Y  
DRAFT PLAN REPORT 

28      5. Project Design Recommendations 

 
Figure 5-3: Alternative – West Commercial Street at Main Street Intersection with Back-in Diagonal Parking 
 
 



D O W N T O W N  W I L L I T S  S T R E E T S  &  A L L E Y S  C O N N E C T I V I T Y  S T U D Y  
DRAFT PLAN REPORT 

5. Project Design Recommendations      29 

East Commercial Street 

East Commercial Street serves as a key multimodal street for vehicles, 
pedestrians, bicyclists, and buses; however, its present design provides 
limited accommodations for people walking and bicycling. 

 Lane reconfiguration: The concept, illustrated in Figures 5-4 and 5-5, 
recommends an alternative lane configuration combined with 
traffic signaling that would reduce traffic queuing times and permit 
smoother flow of traffic from both directions through the 
intersection: 

 New southbound dedicated left-turn lane; and westbound thru- 
and right-turn lane at Main Street. 

 Shift westbound bicycle lane at curb west of Fire Department 
and remove northside on-street parking (loss of four to five 
spaces). 

 Maintain existing eastbound travel lane, shift slightly to 
accommodate new 2-foot buffer for existing eastbound bicycle 
lane. 

 Relocate on-street parking along southside to accommodate 
new curb extension (loss of three to four spaces). 

 Relocate four diagonal parking spaces reserved for better bicycle 
facility and additional public parallel parking spaces (gain of two 
to three spaces). 

 Curb Extensions / Bulbouts: Provide new bulbouts at all corners at 
each intersection. The configuration of each varies and should 
accommodate turning radii of commercial vehicles, fire engines, 
and school buses. Provide bulbout along southside from Main 
Street to slightly past Schmidbauer Lane to accommodate street 
trees and furnishings and entrance to Schmidbauer. Provide 

extended bulbouts for transit with improved bus stop facilities at 
the northeast corner of Commercial and Humboldt Streets 
intersection. Relocate existing bus stop in front of the Justice Center 
west of Marin Street to southeast corner of Commercial and Marin 
Street intersection. 

 East of Humboldt Street: Maintain existing on-street parking and 
bicycle facilities. Provide new 2-foot buffer for both eastbound and 
westbound lanes. Provide striping at conflict zones where needed. 
(See Figure 5-1). 

 New Pedestrian Crossing: Provide new pedestrian crossings over 
Northwest Pacific Railroad tracks along both north and south sides 
of Commercial Street. 

 Landscaping: Recommend tree plantings, landscaping, and rain 
gardens to beautify street, including new bulbout and curb 
extension areas. 



D O W N T O W N  W I L L I T S  S T R E E T S  &  A L L E Y S  C O N N E C T I V I T Y  S T U D Y  
DRAFT PLAN REPORT 

30      5. Project Design Recommendations 

 
Figure 5-4: East Commercial Street Illustrative Plan 



D O W N T O W N  W I L L I T S  S T R E E T S  &  A L L E Y S  C O N N E C T I V I T Y  S T U D Y  
DRAFT PLAN REPORT 

5. Project Design Recommendations      31 

 
Figure 5-5: East Commercial Street Illustrative Plan 



D O W N T O W N  W I L L I T S  S T R E E T S  &  A L L E Y S  C O N N E C T I V I T Y  S T U D Y  
DRAFT PLAN REPORT 

32      5. Project Design Recommendations 

The Lanes: Van, Muir, and Schmidbauer 

Van, Muir, and Schmidbauer Lanes are envisioned to be shared streets, 
accommodating pedestrian activity, slow-moving vehicular traffic, 
bicyclists, and utility services. The intersection of Main Street and Van 
Lane is a major site of pedestrian and vehicle conflicts within Downtown 
streets and alleys network due to the narrow width of Van Lane (about 
15 feet), the high volume of vehicle and pedestrian traffic along and 
crossing Main Street, and the close proximity of the pedestrian 
crosswalks at this intersection to the Main Street/Commercial Street 
intersection. Van Lane experiences very low traffic volumes (less than 
five vehicles during the PM peak hour). In order to reduce these 
conflicts and enhance walkability, limiting passenger vehicle access 
along Van Lane via movable bollards is recommended. Maintaining one-
way access on Muir Lane in the southbound direction would maintain 
access to the residential uses and Mendocino Avenue to the south, such 
that vehicles would enter via Muir Lane from Commercial Street, and 
exit via Van Lane to School Street or further south to Mendocino 
Avenue.3 The proposed recommendations are described below. 

West Van Lane and Muir Lane 

The concepts for West Van Lane and Muir Lane are illustrated in Figure 
5-6 propose the following: 

 Pedestrian Paseo: Recommended between Main Street and the 
apartment garage slightly east of Muir Lane. Create a pedestrian-
only area between Main Street and Muir Lane, just before the 
privately-owned garage at the northeast corner. Proposed 

                                                             

3 Existing Circulation Assessment and Improvement Evaluation for Main 
Street & Downtown Willits, Fehr & Peers, August 19th, 2016 

furnishings are to be moveable to maintain emergency vehicle 
access at Main Street. 

 Vehicular Access: Provide westbound-only access between Muir 
Lane and School Street with one-way westbound travel direction. 
Maintain southbound-only direction and formalize parking 
configuration and access. 

 Public Plaza at Willits Community Theater: Recommend a new public 
gathering space with trees, planters, and seating to promote the 
Willits Community Theater as a destination and further activate the 
lanes as pedestrian-friendly areas. See Figure 5-9. 

 Underground powerlines: Through the PG&E Electric 
Undergrounding Program, recommend undergrounding of existing 
overhead utilities (five poles on West Van Lane and Muir Lane). 

 High-Friction Paving, Resurfacing, and Accessibility: Provide high-
friction paving throughout and pave areas previously unpaved. For 
pedestrian-only plazas and pathways, utilize fine-grain paving 
patterns to promote a human scale. Implement repairs to meet 
accessibility requirements throughout. 

 Lighting: Provide new pedestrian-scaled lighting in lanes to create 
safer environments for pedestrians and motorists alike. 

 New Trash Enclosure: Consolidate and conceal private trash bins 
into a new trash enclosure attached to the north face of the 
building at the intersection of West Van Lane and Main Street.  

 Public Art: Recommend public art and murals be provided on blank 
building facades to activate a pedestrian-oriented environment. 

 Gateway / Raised Crosswalk at Main Street: Consistent with the Main 
Street Corridor Enhancement Plan, provide a raised crosswalk at the 
intersection with Main Street to replace the two existing crosswalks. 
Provide gateway at the entrance of West Van Lan. See Figure 5-8. 



D O W N T O W N  W I L L I T S  S T R E E T S  &  A L L E Y S  C O N N E C T I V I T Y  S T U D Y  
DRAFT PLAN REPORT 

5. Project Design Recommendations      33 

 
Figure 5-6: Van, Muir, and Schmidbauer Lanes Illustrative Plan 



D O W N T O W N  W I L L I T S  S T R E E T S  &  A L L E Y S  C O N N E C T I V I T Y  S T U D Y  
DRAFT PLAN REPORT  

34      5. Project Design Recommendations 

East Van Lane and Schmidbauer Lane 

The one-way conversion of Schmidbauer Lane in the southbound 
direction would maintain access to the parking lot adjacent to East Van 
Lane, such that vehicles would enter via Schmidbauer Lane from 
Commercial Street, and exit via Van Lane to Humboldt Street. 
Wayfinding signage and a high-friction pavement surface could also help 
facilitate this change and provide traffic calming.4 The following are 
proposed for East Van Lane and Schmidbauer Lane and illustrated in 
Figure 5-7: 

 Pedestrian-Only Access: Restrict access to Van Lane between Main 
Street and Schmidbauer Lane to vehicular access and provide 
pedestrian-only access. 

 Travel Directions: Orient Schmidbauer Lane to be southbound-only 
and maintain East Van Lane as eastbound only. 

 Develop Pedestrian Parklet/Plaza at Entrance to East Van Lane at 
Main Street: Recommend a new public gathering space with trees, 
planters, and seating to provide a centralized resting spot for 
pedestrians traveling along Main Street. Expand this space into the 
existing public parking lot to create a more effective plaza space. 

 Study Reconfiguration of Public Parking Lot: Reconfigure the existing 
public parking lot located by East Van and Schmidbauer Lanes. 
Provide options for access from Schmidbauer Lane. Recommend 
new planting buffers with landscaping and trees to support a shared 
street environment and reduce impervious surfaces. 

                                                             

4 Existing Circulation Assessment and Improvement Evaluation for Main 
Street & Downtown Willits, Fehr & Peers, August 19th, 2016 

 High-Friction Paving, Resurfacing, and Accessibility: Provide high-
friction paving throughout and pave areas previously unpaved. For 
pedestrian-only plazas and pathways, utilize fine-grain paving 
patterns to promote a human scale. Implement repairs to meet 
accessibility requirements throughout. 

 Lighting: Provide new pedestrian-scaled lighting in lanes to create 
safer environments for pedestrians and motorists alike. 

 Gateway Concepts: Provide alternative concepts for a gateway at 
the entrance of East Van Lane at Main Street. 

 Schmidbauer Lane Improvements: Provide vertical vegetation along 
the wall of Noyo Theater as well as seek opportunity for public art 
on the wall. Provide formal parking spaces along west side of lane. 
See Figure 5-10. 

 Underground powerlines: Through the PG&E Electric 
Undergrounding Program, the project could also consider 
undergrounding of overhead utilities on the east side of Main Street 
in the alleys (3 poles on East Van Lane and Schmidbauer). 

 Public Art: Recommend public art and murals be provided on blank 
building facades to activate and support a pedestrian-oriented 
environment. 



D O W N T O W N  W I L L I T S  S T R E E T S  &  A L L E Y S  C O N N E C T I V I T Y  S T U D Y  
DRAFT PLAN REPORT 

5. Project Design Recommendations      35 

 
Figure 5-7: Van, Muir, and Schmidbauer Lanes Illustrative Plan 



D O W N T O W N  W I L L I T S  S T R E E T S  &  A L L E Y S  C O N N E C T I V I T Y  S T U D Y  
DRAFT PLAN REPORT  

36      5. Project Design Recommendations 

Figure 5-8: Rendering of proposed intersection at Van Lane and Main Street. 
 
  



D O W N T O W N  W I L L I T S  S T R E E T S  &  A L L E Y S  C O N N E C T I V I T Y  S T U D Y  
DRAFT PLAN REPORT 

5. Project Design Recommendations      37 

 
Figure 5-9: Rendering of West Van Lane by Willits Community Theater. 



D O W N T O W N  W I L L I T S  S T R E E T S  &  A L L E Y S  C O N N E C T I V I T Y  S T U D Y  
DRAFT PLAN REPORT  

38      5. Project Design Recommendations 

 
Figure 5-10: Rendering of Schmidbauer Lane.



D O W N T O W N  W I L L I T S  S T R E E T S  &  A L L E Y S  C O N N E C T I V I T Y  S T U D Y  
DRAFT PLAN REPORT  

5. Project Design Recommendations      39 

Mendocino Avenue, Wood Street, and Wood Alley 

Recommendations for the Mendocino Avenue, Wood Street, and Wood 
Alley project area focus on improving the accessibility, aesthetic 
qualities, and utility functions of these east-west local neighborhood 
streets within the project area. The existing two-way configuration of 
Mendocino Avenue and Wood Street poses challenges for vehicle 
circulation due to the narrow widths and limited sight distances. Existing 
curb-to-curb widths are 24 to 28 feet with sidewalks about five feet 
wide, typically without building setbacks. Vehicles traveling eastbound 
on Mendocino Street have limited sight distance looking south on Main 
Street due to limited building setbacks, creating the potential for 
conflicts with other vehicles as well as pedestrians and bicyclists. 
Westbound Mendocino Avenue also presents a key route for emergency 
vehicle access, and is sometimes subject to obstructions associated with 
parking, loading, and narrow vehicle lanes. On-street parking is not 
provided in some locations along Mendocino Avenue due to narrow 
width. 

The conversion of Mendocino Avenue into a one-way street to  work in 
conjunction with the proposed reversed-direction, one-way Wood 
Street presents an opportunity to resolve sight distance constraints, 
reduce conflicts for turns onto and off of Main Street, and clarify on-
street parking. Between Humboldt Street and School Street, Mendocino 
Avenue would be converted to a one-way street with parallel or angled 
parking in the westbound direction, while Wood Street/Wood Alley 
would have parallel parking with an eastbound travel direction. Given 
that these streets experience moderate combined volumes of about 
150 vehicles during the PM peak hour west of Main Street and 70 
vehicles east of Main Street, this conversion would be accommodated 
within the existing street capacity. Coupled with improvements at the 
Main Street/Commercial Street intersection and the introduction of 
wayfinding signage to access off-street parking lots, a one-way couplet 

is expected to be feasible without adversely affecting Downtown 
circulation.5 The concept for this project area is illustrated in Figures 5-
11 through 5-16 and proposes the following: 

 Restrict Access on Mendocino Avenue to One-Way Westbound Only: 
Orient Mendocino Avenue to be westbound only from Humboldt 
Street to North Street west of the project area. Provide new 
entrance into parking lot by old Rexall’s building. 

 Incorporate Loading Zone with Existing Parking (Mendocino Avenue): 
Provide on-street parking along north side only. Provide commercial 
loading zone on Mendocino Avenue along north side between Main 
Street and Muir Lane. 

 Travel Directions on Wood Street and Wood Alley: Orient Wood 
Street to be eastbound only. Maintain eastbound-only access for 
Wood Alley. 

 Incorporate Loading Zone with Existing Parking (Wood Street): 
Provide on-street parking along south side only. Provide commercial 
loading zone on Wood Street along south side between Main Street 
and Muir Lane. Relocating parking to the southside of the street 
increases parking by approximately 8-9 spaces from School Street to 
Main Street. 

 Reconfigure Parking Lot into Private/Public Plaza (Mendocino Avenue 
& Main Street): Recommend new private/public gathering space at 
northeast corner of Mendocino Avenue intersection with Main 
Street. Remove existing perpendicular parking at this lot. Replace 
with six diagonal parking spots and create sidewalk via easement 
into private/public gathering space. 

                                                             

5 Existing Circulation Assessment and Improvement Evaluation for Main 
Street & Downtown Willits, Fehr & Peers, August 19th, 2016 



D O W N T O W N  W I L L I T S  S T R E E T S  &  A L L E Y S  C O N N E C T I V I T Y  S T U D Y  
DRAFT PLAN REPORT  

40      5.Project Design Recommendations 

 Improve Pedestrian Access and Accessibility: Provide bulbouts, 
widen sidewalks, and reduce curb cuts to improve connectivity. 
Widen north sidewalk along Mendocino Avenue between Main 
Street and Muir Lane to accommodate growth of existing trees. 
Provide sidewalks and curb ramps where needed to provide 
continuous accessible path of travel. Extend sidewalk along north 
side of Wood Alley to connect with Humboldt Street. 

 

Overall Parking Modifications 

In total, the changes described above are expected to decrease public 
parking supply from about 160 spaces to about 140 spaces within the 
Downtown core (bounded by Commercial Street, Wood Street, 
Humboldt Street, and School Street, excluding on-street supply on 
Humboldt Street and School Street). This corresponds about a 13 
percent reduction in public parking supply. Of these, approximately five 
spaces will be removed along Main Street, and approximately 15 spaces 
within the Downtown network (primarily concentrated around 
Commercial Street and Van Lane). This reduction in parking may be 
mitigated through enhanced wayfinding signage to off-street lots and 
enforcement of existing two hour parking limits along Main Street and 
Commercial Street.6 

 

                                                             

6 Existing Circulation Assessment and Improvement Evaluation for Main 
Street & Downtown Willits, Fehr & Peers, August 19th, 2016 



D O W N T O W N  W I L L I T S  S T R E E T S  &  A L L E Y S  C O N N E C T I V I T Y  S T U D Y  
DRAFT PLAN REPORT 

5. Project Design Recommendations      41 

 
Figure 5-11: Mendocino Avenue and Wood Street/Alley Conceptual Diagram. 
 



D O W N T O W N  W I L L I T S  S T R E E T S  &  A L L E Y S  C O N N E C T I V I T Y  S T U D Y  
DRAFT PLAN REPORT 

42      5. Project Design Recommendations 

 
Figure 5-12: Mendocino Avenue and Wood Street/Alley Illustrative Plan 
  



D O W N T O W N  W I L L I T S  S T R E E T S  &  A L L E Y S  C O N N E C T I V I T Y  S T U D Y  
DRAFT PLAN REPORT 

5. Project Design Recommendations      43 

 
Figure 5-13: Mendocino Avenue and Wood Street/Alley Illustrative Plan 
 



D O W N T O W N  W I L L I T S  S T R E E T S  &  A L L E Y S  C O N N E C T I V I T Y  S T U D Y  
DRAFT PLAN REPORT 

44      5. Project Design Recommendations 

  
Figure 5-14: Proposed West Mendocino Avenue Section Figure 5-15: Proposed Wood Street Section 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Figure 5-16: Proposed East Mendocino Avenue Section 



D O W N T O W N  W I L L I T S  S T R E E T S  &  A L L E Y S  C O N N E C T I V I T Y  S T U D Y  
DRAFT PLAN REPORT 

5. Project Design Recommendations      45 

Wayfinding and Signage 

Wayfinding and signage would provide direction to orient residents and 
visitors to destinations throughout Downtown Willits including: 

 City Hall  Snyder Park 
 Willits Community Theater  Mendocino County Museum 
 Roots of Motive Power  Recreation Grove Park 
 Dog Park/Skate Park  Willits Library 
 Noyo Theater  Little Lake Grange 
 Skunk Train Depot  Vietnam War Memorial 

The recommended wayfinding signage throughout Downtown Willits is 
located in Figure 5-17 and includes the following: 

 Information kiosk featuring a map of Downtown Willits, located 
by intersection of Van Lane and Main Street; 

 Directional signage directing people to public spaces, civic 
destinations, and businesses; 

 Public parking signage directing vehicles to public parking lots; 
 Welcome signs indicating entry into Downtown Willits. 

 
Example of a wayfinding signage package (by Axia Design) Figure 5-17: Proposed Wayfinding Diagram in Downtown Willits. 

  



D O W N T O W N  W I L L I T S  S T R E E T S  &  A L L E Y S  C O N N E C T I V I T Y  S T U D Y  
DRAFT PLAN REPORT 

46      5. Project Design Recommendations 

This page intentionally left blank. 



 

6. Cost Estimates & Funding       47 

 COST ESTIMATES & FUNDING  6. 

PlaceWorks developed a cost estimate to consider funding and phasing 
of the project recommendations. This concept proposal would have no 
impact to the City of Willits General Fund.  

ORDER OF MAGNITUDE COSTS 

The cost estimates for recommended improvements are divided roughly 
by segments. For instance, Segment 1 concerns projected costs for 
Commercial Street; Segment 2 estimates costs for Muir and West Van 
Lanes together. Conceptual estimates show order of magnitude costs at 
a total of almost $2.6 million. The costs are broken out by section in 
Table 6-1. Included cost assumptions are listed below:  

 Curb Extensions. Curb extensions include demolition, repaving, new 
concrete curb and gutter, ADA ramps, and storm drain 
modifications.  

 Concrete Pavers. Concrete paver construction includes pavement 
demolition. 

 Ladder Crosswalks. Assumes “Standard Crosswalk” with 2-foot 
ladder rungs spaced 2 feet apart. 

 Street Trees. Street trees include 24-inch box, 4-foot by 4-foot tree 
wells, trenching, barriers, and connection to irrigation. 

 2016 Costs. The estimates were generated based on 2016 costs. 

  
 

TABLE 6-1 OVERALL COMBINED SEGMENT ESTIMATE 

Project Segment Total 

Segment #1. Commercial Street (School Street to Skunk Train) $572,476 

Segment #2. Muir Lane (Commercial to Mendocino Avenue) and 
West Van Lane (School Street to Main Street) 

$922,407 

Segment #3. Schmidbauer Lane (Commercial to E Van Lane) and 
East Van Lane (Main Street to Humboldt Street) 

$568,874 

Segment #4. West and East Mendocino Avenue (School Street to 
Humboldt Street)  

$110,590 

Segment #5. Wood Street $28,782 

Entire Study Area (Segments 1-5) $2,203,129 

Mobilization, Traffic Control, SWPPP (10%) $220,313 

Design Contingency (10%) $220,313 

Total Bid Price $2,643,755 

Construction Contingency (10%) $264,375 

Plans, Specifications and Estimates (PS&E) $264,375 

Project Total  $3,172,506 
Notes: 
1. Costs are rough estimates and should be confirmed for accuracy. 
2. All items listed include installation costs. 

  

  



D O W N T O W N  W I L L I T S  S T R E E T S  &  A L L E Y S  C O N N E C T I V I T Y  S T U D Y  
DRAFT PLAN REPORT 

48      6. Cost Estimates & Funding 

POTENTIAL FUNDING OPPORTUNITIES 

The cost to implement this projects recommended in this study could be 
secured from a variety of funding sources, and the projects could be 
phased as the monies are obtained. City staff would prioritize pursuing 
these outside funding sources as a primary means of funding the 
project. 

State Funding Sources 

The following describes state funds that could be used for streetscape 
improvements that were identified in this Plan. Each of the fund sources 
requires a competitive grant application process. Funds for 
transportation-related projects are available from the Transportation 
Development Act (TDA) and from various state programs and agencies, 
including the California Department of Transportation (Caltrans) and the 
California Office of Traffic Safety (OTS). 

Transportation Development Act Article 3  
TDA funds generated from a ¼-cent of the general state sales tax are 
returned to the source counties to fund transportation projects, 
focusing on public transit. TDA Article 3 provides for 2 percent of TDA 
funds to be set aside for bicycle and pedestrian projects. Eligible 
projects include right-of-way acquisition; planning, design, and 
engineering; and construction of bicycle and pedestrian infrastructure, 
including retrofitting to meet ADA requirements; and related facilities. 
City and county government agencies are eligible to apply for TDA 
funds. TDA Article 3 funds are non-competitive grant funds and 
allocated to cities based on population. 

Active Transportation Program  
In September 2013, the state created the Active Transportation 
Program (ATP), consolidating existing federal and state transportation 
programs, including the Transportation Alternatives (TAs) Program, the 
Bicycle Transportation Account (BTA), and the state Safe Routes to 
School (SR2S), summaries of which are outlined below for reference. 
The ATP is intended to promote the use of active modes of 
transportation, such as walking and biking. The program budget is 
allocated by the California Transportation Commission (CTC). Fifty 
percent of ATP funds are distributed on a competitive statewide basis, 
40 percent is provided to urban municipalities, and the final 10 percent 
goes to rural communities with populations less than 200,000.  

More info available: 
http://www.dot.ca.gov/hq/LocalPrograms/atp/index.html 

Transportation Alternatives Program  
This is a federal program that provides funding for projects that improve 
non-driver transportation, including SR2S projects. See TAs in Federal 
Funding Sources below for more information.  

Bicycle Transportation Account  
Until consolidated into the ATP in 2013, the Caltrans Bicycle 
Transportation Account (BTA) provided state funds on a competitive 
basis for city and county projects that improve safety and convenience 
for bicycle commuters, including design, engineering, and construction 
of bicycle lanes and paths.  

Safe Routes to School  
Until consolidated into the ATP in 2013, this program provided funding 
for SR2S project, including sidewalk improvements, traffic calming and 
speed reduction measures, pedestrian and bicycle crossing 

http://www.dot.ca.gov/hq/LocalPrograms/atp/index.html


D O W N T O W N  W I L L I T S  S T R E E T S  &  A L L E Y S  C O N N E C T I V I T Y  S T U D Y  
DRAFT PLAN REPORT 

6. Cost Estimates & Funding      49 

improvements, on-street and off-street bicycle facilities, and traffic 
diversion improvements on a competitive basis.  

Sustainable Transportation Planning Grant Program – 
Sustainable Communities 
The Sustainable Transportation Planning Grant is a new program 
consolidating and realigning previous Caltrans funding programs. 
Caltrans Environmental Justice & Community-Based Transportation 
Planning Grants, and Transit Planning Grants merged into one program, 
“Sustainable Communities.” Similar to the previous programs, 
transportation planning projects that are intended to improve a 
multimodal transportation network and reduce greenhouse gas (GHG) 
emissions, such as complete street plans and pedestrian and bicycle 
safety enhancement plans, are eligible. Construction and maintenance 
projects are not eligible. Eligible applicants include Metropolitan 
Planning Organizations and Regional Transportation Planning Agencies 
(MPO/RTPAs), Transit Agencies, Cities, Counties, and Native American 
Tribal Governments.  

More info available: http://www.dot.ca.gov/hq/tpp/grants.html  

Office of Traffic Safety Grants  
The Office of Traffic Safety (OTS) administers federal traffic safety grant 
funds that are apportioned to California under the National Highway 
Safety Act. The OTS has several priority areas for grant funding, 
including alcohol and other drugs, police traffic services, occupant 
protection, traffic records, emergency medical services, roadway safety, 
pedestrian and bicycle safety (including education, enforcement, and 
engineering), and motorcycle safety. The OTS supports a wide variety of 
traffic safety programs, including pedestrian and bicycle safety 
programs for children; child passenger safety outreach; and support for 
increased law enforcement services and resources, such as safety 

helmet distribution, and court diversion programs for safety helmet 
violators. State government agencies, state colleges, and state 
universities, local city and county government agencies, school districts, 
fire departments, and public emergency services providers are eligible 
to apply for and receive OTS grant funding. Grants are awarded on a 
competitive basis. 

More info available: 
http://www.ots.ca.gov/ots_and_traffic_safety/About_OTS.asp  

Environmental Enhancement and Mitigation Program  
The Environmental Enhancement and Mitigation Program (EEMP) is a 
state fund established by Caltrans to mitigate the effects of 
transportation projects. It offers up to $7 million each year for grants to 
local, state, and federal government agencies and to nonprofit 
organizations for projects to mitigate the environmental impacts caused 
by new or modified public transportation facilities. Eligible projects must 
be directly or indirectly related to the environmental impact of the 
modification of an existing transportation facility or construction of a 
new transportation facility. Typical grants range from $200,000 to 
$250,000. Up to 25 percent local matching is usually required. Grants 
are awarded in the categories of urban forestry, resource lands, and 
mitigation projects beyond the scope of the lead agency. Grants are 
awarded on a competitive basis. 

More info available: http://resources.ca.gov/bonds_and_grants/eemp/ 

Urban and Community Forestry Grants 

The California Department of Forestry and Fire Protection (CAL FIRE) 
administers the Urban & Community Forestry Grant Program to fund 
urban forestry projects that focus on reducing GHG emissions, including 
urban tree planting, urban forest management for GHG reduction, 
urban wood and biomass utilization, reclamation of blighted urban 

http://www.dot.ca.gov/hq/tpp/grants.html
http://www.ots.ca.gov/ots_and_traffic_safety/About_OTS.asp
http://resources.ca.gov/bonds_and_grants/eemp/


D O W N T O W N  W I L L I T S  S T R E E T S  &  A L L E Y S  C O N N E C T I V I T Y  S T U D Y  
DRAFT PLAN REPORT 

50      6. Cost Estimates & Funding 

lands, and green innovations projects. On-going management or 
maintenance activities are not eligible. 

More info available: 
http://calfire.ca.gov/resource_mgt/downloads/CALFIRE_UFGrants_Proc
eduralGuide2014_2015.pdf 

Federal Funding Sources 

The primary sources of federal funding for bicycle and pedestrian 
facilities are from the US Department of Transportation (DOT) and the 
US Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD).  

The Safe, Accountable, Flexible, Efficient Transportation Equity Act: A 
Legacy for Users (SAFETEA-LU), authorized surface transportation 
investment and had supplied various funding programs until it expired in 
September 2009. President Obama signed the new two-year 
transportation authorization bill, Moving Ahead for Progress in the 21st 
Century (MAP-21), into law in July 2012. MAP-21 took effect on October 
1, 2012. Specific funding programs under MAP-21 are outlined below.  

EPA Environmental Education Grants  
Environmental Education (EE) Grants fund environmental education and 
training projects, including SR2S education projects that seek to 
promote public health, and better air quality, and to encourage walking 
and biking over driving. Construction projects or outreach programs that 
do not include any educational component are not eligible. The EE 
Grant program requires non-federal matching funds of at least 25 
percent of the total cost of the project. Colleges, universities, school 
districts, and local or state government entities and public agencies that 
conduct educational and environmental programs are eligible to apply 
for and receive EE grant funding.  

More info available: http://www2.epa.gov/education/environmental-
education-ee-grants  

http://calfire.ca.gov/resource_mgt/downloads/CALFIRE_UFGrants_ProceduralGuide2014_2015.pdf
http://calfire.ca.gov/resource_mgt/downloads/CALFIRE_UFGrants_ProceduralGuide2014_2015.pdf
http://www2.epa.gov/education/environmental-education-ee-grants
http://www2.epa.gov/education/environmental-education-ee-grants


D O W N T O W N  W I L L I T S  S T R E E T S  &  A L L E Y S  C O N N E C T I V I T Y  S T U D Y  
DRAFT PLAN REPORT 

6. Cost Estimates & Funding      51 

 

 
  



D O W N T O W N  W I L L I T S  S T R E E T S  &  A L L E Y S  C O N N E C T I V I T Y  S T U D Y  
DRAFT PLAN REPORT 

52      6. Cost Estimates & Funding 

 



 

       

 
APPENDIX A 
TECHNICAL MEMORANDUM: EXISTING CIRCULATION ASSESSMENT AND 
IMPROVEMENT EVALUATION FOR MAIN STREET AND DOWNTOWN WILLITS 

by Fehr and Peers 

  



D O W N T O W N  W I L L I T S  S T R E E T S  &  A L L E Y S  C O N N E C T I V I T Y  S T U D Y  
DRAFT PLAN REPORT 

       

 

This page intentionally left blank. 



 

       

APPENDIX B 
COMMUNITY WORKSHOP ATTENDANCE ROSTERS 

  



D O W N T O W N  W I L L I T S  S T R E E T S  &  A L L E Y S  C O N N E C T I V I T Y  S T U D Y  
DRAFT PLAN REPORT 

       

This page intentionally left blank. 



 

       

APPENDIX C 
COST ESTIMATE TABLES 

  



D O W N T O W N  W I L L I T S  S T R E E T S  &  A L L E Y S  C O N N E C T I V I T Y  S T U D Y  
DRAFT PLAN REPORT 

       

This page intentionally left blank. 



332 Pine Street | 4th Floor | San Francisco, CA 94104 | (415) 348-0300 | Fax (415) 773-1790 

www.fehrandpeers.com 

MEMORANDUM 

Date: October 3rd, 2016 

To: Dusty Duley, City of Willits, Alison Pernell, LGC, John Gibbs, WRT, and John Hykes, 

Placeworks 

From: Daniel Jacobson and Kendra Rowley, Fehr & Peers 

Subject: Existing Circulation Assessment and Improvement Evaluation for Main Street 

& Downtown Willits 

SF16-0866 

OVERVIEW 

This memorandum serves as a technical reference for the City of Willits Main Street Corridor 

Enhancement Plan and the Traffic Circulation & Connectivity Study for Downtown Willits Streets 

and Alleys. It evaluates existing conditions and opportunities and constraints within pre-Bypass and 

post-Bypass conditions of Main Street and the Downtown streets network. The study area includes 

Main Street between the northern and southern city limits, as well as the Downtown streets network 

between Valley Street, Commercial Street, the Northwest Pacific Railroad, and School Street. 

The study area is divided into three sub-areas: 

 Main Street (Relinquishment), spanning both the Sherwood Road/High School project

from the northern City limits to Bittenbender Lane and the Main Street project from

Bittenbender Lane to Fort Bragg Road (State Route 20).

 Downtown Streets and Alleys, including Downtown streets between Valley Street,

Commercial Street, the Northwest Pacific Railroad, and School Street, dnot including

Main Street.

 Main Street (Caltrans), spanning the non-relinquishment segment of Main Street from

the State Route 20 intersection to the southern city limits.

For each sub-area, this memorandum summarizes existing conditions, including current circulation, 

street design, and collision trends, and well as opportunities and constraints. 

APPENDIX "A"



Dusty Duley, Alison Pernell, John Gibbs, and John Hykes 

September 27th, 2016 

Page 2 of 35 

EXISTING CONDITIONS 

PRE- AND POST-BYPASS CONDITIONS  

Main Street (US-101) presently serves as a key 

route for both local and intercity travel as a part 

of the California State Highway system. On a 

typical weekday, Main Street carries about 

15,000 vehicles through Downtown Willits and 

about 23,500 vehicles through southern Willits. 

Main Street serves a variety of transportation 

purposes, including: 

 Access to local businesses, 

residences, schools and 

destinations 

 Crosstown bicycle and pedestrian 

circulation 

 Local and intercity bus services 

 Intercity automobile and freight 

travel 

The Willits Bypass project (scheduled to open 

Fall 2016) will significantly change traffic conditions within the City of Willits. The Bypass is expected 

to reroute most north-south intercity automobile and freight travel around Willits, decreasing traffic 

volumes along Main Street. There is some uncertainty in the magnitude of the total decrease under 

post-Bypass conditions: the Mendocino County Travel Demand Model estimates a 20-25 percent 

decrease through Willits, while the Willits Bypass EIR estimates a 25-35 percent decrease. Table 1 

shows traffic volumes on Main Street under existing (pre-Bypass) and near-term (post-Bypass) 

conditions.  

Inset 1: Main Street at Van Lane, facing north 



Dusty Duley, Alison Pernell, John Gibbs, and John Hykes 

September 27th, 2016 

Page 3 of 35 

  

TABLE 1: EXISTING TRAFFIC VOLUMES (PRE- AND POST-BYPASS) 

Segment 

Pre-Bypass ADT Post-Bypass ADT 

Existing, 2014 

Post-Bypass 

(MCOG 

Model) 

% Change 

(MCOG 

Model) 

Post-Bypass 

(Bypass EIR) 

% Change 

(Bypass EIR) 

Main Street, 

Northern City 

Limits  

7,100 3,300 -57% 12,300 +74% 

Main Street, 

North of SR-20 

Intersection 

15,0002 11,900 -21% 11,300 -25% 

Main Street, 

South of SR 20 
23,500 18,300 -22% 15,300 -35% 

Main Street, 

Southern City 

Limits  

18,300 11,600 -37% N/A N/A 

Notes: 

1. Calculations based on Mendocino County Travel Demand Model (MCOG Model) comparison of 2009 pre-Bypass 

condition with 2020 post-Bypass condition and Willits Bypass EIR comparison of 2002 pre-Bypass condition and 2015 

post-Bypass condition. Volumes adjusted for 2014 base year using Caltrans traffic counts.  

2. 2009 counts presented; 2014 counts unavailable. Traffic volumes within Willits have remained relatively constant 

between these time periods. 

In order to evaluate existing (pre-Bypass) 

intersection operations, PM peak period 

intersection volumes were counted at ten 

intersections during March 2015 and 2016 

(Appendix C). The City of Willits Circulation and 

Parking Improvement Study previously 

observed that the PM peak period experiences 

the highest traffic volumes during a typical 

weekday, and is generally representative of 

typical vehicle conditions between 12:00 PM 

and 6:00 PM – though pedestrian, bicycle and 

turn volumes may vary by time of day (Inset 2). Existing traffic volumes were shown to be higher in 

the southbound direction during the AM peak and higher in the northbound direction during the 

PM peak, but volumes remain relatively balanced in both directions. 

Inset 2: Traffic volumes on Main Street by time of 

day. Source: Willits Circulation & Parking 

Improvement Study, 2003 



Dusty Duley, Alison Pernell, John Gibbs, and John Hykes 

September 27th, 2016 

Page 4 of 35 

MULTIMODAL SAFETY 

Multimodal safety represents a key challenge for Main Street. Main Street serves numerous schools 

and destinations, yet it is presently characterized by heavy traffic volumes, high vehicle speeds, and 

challenging conditions for people walking and biking. Between 2005 and 2014, 77 of the 82 

reported collisions within the City of Willits that resulted in an injury occurred along Main Street. 

Of these 77 collisions, 55 involved only vehicles, 14 involved vehicles and pedestrians, and six 

involved vehicles and bicyclists. Three fatalities occurred during this period, including two 

pedestrians and one bicyclist. Youth under age 18 were disproportionately represented among 

bicycle and pedestrian collisions, comprising seven of 19 collisions and two of three fatalities.  

The most common cause of collisions on Main Street is unsafe speed (28 percent of all collisions). 

Willits experiences a high number of collisions associated with violations of pedestrian right-of-way 

(57 percent of all pedestrian collisions) and bicyclists riding on the wrong side of the road (67 

percent of all bicycle collisions) as well. 

Collisions are evenly distributed between Main Street north and south of the State Route 20 

junction. While collisions periodically occur within the Downtown streets and alleys network, no 

collisions resulted in injuries during the study period along streets outside of Main Street. It is worth 

noting that several improvements have been implemented over the past five years, including the 

signalization of the Main Street/Holly Street intersection and a rapid-rectangular flashing beacon 

at Gregory Lane. Table 2 and Figure 1 provide a summary of collisions by segment.  

TABLE 2: TOTAL INJURY COLLISIONS, 2005-2014 

Study Sub-Area 
Total Injury 

Collisions  

Automobile 

Collisions  

Pedestrian 

Collisions  

Bicycle 

Collisions 

Main Street 

(Relinqushment) 
40 31 5 4 

Downtown Streets  0 0 0 0 

Main Street 

(Caltrans) 
37 24 9 2 

Total 77 55 14 6 

1. Source: SWITRS, via TIMS 



Dusty Duley, Alison Pernell, John Gibbs, and John Hykes 

September 27th, 2016 

Page 5 of 35 

Main Street (Relinquishment) 

Thirty-six collisions occurred along Main Street 

between 2005 and 2014. Table 3 shows 

locations along Main Street which experienced 

more than two injury collisions during this time 

period. The Main Street/Valley Street 

intersection experienced the highest volume of 

collisions, including four automobile collisions, 

two pedestrian collisions, and two bicycle 

collisions. The Main Street/Mendocino Street, 

Main Street/Sherwood Road, and Main 

Street/State Street intersections each 

experienced five injury collisions. 

TABLE 3: MAIN STREET (RELINQUISHMENT) LOCATIONS WITH >2 TOTAL INJURY 

COLLISIONS, 2005-2014 

Main Street 

Intersection 

Total Injury 

Collisions  

Automobile 

Collisions  

Pedestrian 

Collisions  

Bicycle 

Collisions 

Valley Street 8 4 2 2 

Mendocino Avenue 5 4 0 1 

Sherwood Road2 5 5 0 0 

State Street 5 3 2 0 

Other Intersections 17 15 1 1 

Total (All 

Intersections) 
40 31 5 4 

1. Source: SWITRS, via TIMS. Includes reported injury collisions referenced to nearest intersection.  

2. The City plans to install safety improvements at the Main Street/Sherwood Road intersection described in the previous 

subsection.  

In addition to the locations noted above, the Main Street/Commercial Street collisions represents 

another location of concern for collisions. Two injury collisions and several non-injury collisions and 

near misses have occurred at this location, primarily associated with conflicts between left turning 

vehicles and through vehicles and pedestrians along Commercial Street. 

Inset 3: Main Street at Wood Street facing north 



Dusty Duley, Alison Pernell, John Gibbs, and John Hykes 

September 27th, 2016 

Page 6 of 35 

Main Street (Caltrans) 

Thirty-five collisions occurred along Main 

Street (Caltrans) between 2005 and 2014. Table 

4 shows locations along Main Street which 

experienced more than two injury collisions 

during this time period. Recent improvements 

have occurred at the two highest volume 

collision locations, including signalization of 

the Main Street/Holly Street intersection and 

installation of a Rapid Rectangular Flashing 

Beacon and median refuge at Main 

Street/Gregory Lane. Six intersections each 

experienced three injury collisions. In particular, the Main Street/South Baechtel Road/Muir Mill 

Road poses challenges due to limited sight lines and high volumes.   

TABLE 4: MAIN STREET (CALTRANS) LOCATIONS WITH >2 INJURY COLLISIONS, 2005-

2014 

Main Street Intersection 
Total Injury 

Collisions 

Automobile 

Collisions 

Pedestrian 

Collisions  

Bicycle 

Collisions  

Holly Street2 10 4 5 1 

Gregory Lane3 6 4 2 0 

State Route 20 3 3 0 0 

South Baechtel Road/ 

Muir Mill Road 
3 2 1 0 

North Baechtel Road 3 2 1 1 

Walnut Street 3 3 0 0 

Hazel Street 3 3 0 0 

Other Intersections 6 3 0 0 

Total (All Intersections) 37 24 9 2 

1. Source: SWITRS, via TIMS. Includes reported injury collisions referenced to nearest intersection. 

2. Data precedes installation of traffic signal at Holly Street 

3. Data precedes installation of crosswalk enhancements, including Rapid Rectangular Flashing Beacon and median refuge  

 

Inset 4: Main Street near Manor Way facing north 



E Hill Rd

Hearst Rd

Fort Bragg Rd

Lo
cu

st
 S

t

Rd
 A

Exley Rd

Cropley Ln

Center Valley RdE Valley St

E Commercial St

Baechtel Rd

Sherw
ood Rd

Muir M
ill R

d

N
or

th
 S

t

Sh
ell

 Ln

Sa
w

ye
rs

 L
n

Locust L
n

Franklin Ave

Railroad Ave
N

 Lenore Ave

Poplar Ave

Mill Creek Dr
Hearst Willits Rd

Cem
etery Ln

M
argie D

r

H
aehl Creek D

r

Casteel Ln

Ea
sy

 S
t

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!( !(

!(

!(

!(

!(

 

!(
10

!(
5

!(
1

Vehicle Collisions

N
:\P

ro
je

ct
s\

20
16

_P
ro

je
ct

s\
S

F1
6-

08
66

_W
ill

its
 M

ai
n 

S
tre

et
 C

or
rid

or
\G

ra
ph

ic
s\

G
IS

\M
X

D
\V

eh
ic

le
C

ol
lis

io
ns

.m
xd

Figure 1 

Vehicle Collisions



E Hill Rd

Hearst Rd

Fort Bragg Rd

Lo
cu

st
 S

t

Rd
 A

Exley Rd

Cropley Ln

Center Valley RdE Valley St

E Commercial St

Baechtel Rd

Sherw
ood Rd

Muir M
ill R

d

N
or

th
 S

t

Sh
ell

 Ln

Sa
w

ye
rs

 L
n

Locust L
n

Franklin Ave

Railroad Ave
N

 Lenore Ave

Poplar Ave

Mill Creek Dr
Hearst Willits Rd

Cem
etery Ln

M
argie D

r

H
aehl Creek D

r

Casteel Ln

Ea
sy

 S
t

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

Pedestrian Collisions

!(
3 - 5

!(!( 1

!( Bicycle Collision

N
:\P

ro
je

ct
s\

20
16

_P
ro

je
ct

s\
S

F1
6-

08
66

_W
ill

its
 M

ai
n 

S
tre

et
 C

or
rid

or
\G

ra
ph

ic
s\

G
IS

\M
X

D
\V

eh
ic

le
C

ol
lis

io
ns

.m
xd

Figure 2 

Bicycle and Pedestrian Collisions



Dusty Duley, Alison Pernell, John Gibbs, and John Hykes 

September 27th, 2016 

Page 9 of 35 

OPPORTUNITIES AND CONSTRAINTS 

MAIN STREET (RELINQUISHMENT SEGMENT) 

Summary – Main Street’s center left turn lane serves low volumes in the Downtown area and is 

optional under post-Bypass conditions. While on-street parking occupancy along Main Street is 

high in Downtown, occupancy is low to the north and south of Downtown. Unsignalized crosswalks, 

high vehicle speeds, narrow sidewalks, and ADA-inaccessible facilities pose barriers to pedestrian 

circulation. All marked crosswalks present opportunities for enhancement. Lack of bicycle facilities 

and high traffic volumes/speeds serve as barriers to bicycling.   

Vehicle Circulation & Parking 

 Main Street presently carries about 15,000 vehicles per day through Downtown Willits, 

averaging about 1,300-1,500 vehicles per hour during the PM peak hour and about 

750-800 vehicles in the peak direction. Main Street includes one through lane in each 

direction and a center left turn lane. Upon completion of the Willits Bypass project, 

traffic volumes are expected to decrease by about 20-25 percent.  

 Main Street experiences frequent traffic congestion, particularly around the Sherwood 

Road and Commercial Street intersections where traffic signals are present. Vehicles 

making left turns from Main Street or approaching on side streets at unsignalized 

intersections are subject to frequent delays due to infrequent gaps in traffic flow.  

 Free on-street parking is provided along most of the corridor; parking occupancy is 

highest between Commercial Street and Valley Street (about 56 spaces total). Low on-

street parking utilization south of Valley Street encourages higher vehicle speeds. 

 Commercial loading occurs both on and off of Main Street. Some larger trucks park 

in the center left turn lane, which can sometimes pose challenges for emergency 

vehicle access. 

 The center left turn lane in Downtown Willits between the Commercial Street and 

Valley Street intersections serves low traffic volumes (generally ≤30 turns per hour). 

While left turn queues frequently occur, queueing is expected to decrease post-

Bypass. Outside of Downtown, the center turn lane serves very low traffic volumes in 

locations with low-volume (mostly residential) driveways.   

 Existing right turn volumes are low throughout the corridor (generally <60 turns per 

hour) and do not require right turn pockets. 



Dusty Duley, Alison Pernell, John Gibbs, and John Hykes 

September 27th, 2016 

Page 10 of 35 

 The Valley Street intersection presents challenges for vehicle circulation due to its 

offset configuration, limited sight lines, and close proximity to the post office 

driveway. 

 The S-curve between Oak Street and San Francisco Avenue includes limited sight lines 

due to higher speeds, roadway geometry, and limited setbacks of buildings/signage. 

Transit Circulation 

 Mendocino County Transit Routes 1 (Willits Local) and 20 (Willits-Ukiah) serve Main 

Street. Bus stops are provided at the intersections of Main Street and Wood Street 

(Route 1 only), Valley Street, and San Francisco Avenue. Route 1 provides hourly 

service approximately between the hours of 7:00 AM and 6:00 PM. Route 20 provides 

six round-trips to Ukiah between the hours of 7:00 AM and 5:00 PM. Both bus routes 

terminate at the Integrated Service Center on Lenore Avenue between Creekside 

Street and Valley Street, accessed via Commercial Street. 

 Existing transit stops include limited amenities – signage, benches, and shelters are 

generally not provided 

Pedestrian Circulation 

 Sidewalks along Main Street in Downtown Willits are generally 10-12 feet wide. 

Several sidewalk gaps are present between State Street and Willits High School. South 

of Wood Street, sidewalks narrow to less than ten feet, as narrow as 3-5 feet in some 

locations.  

 Marked “ladder” crosswalks are included at nine intersections, including all 

intersections between Sherwood Road and Valley Street. All crosswalk locations are 

unsignalized with the exception of Sherwood Road and Commercial Street, and no 

locations include enhancements such as signage and median refuges. Most 

crosswalks do not include ADA-accessible features such as detectable warnings. While 

crosswalks are frequently spaced in Downtown Willits (approximately every 200 feet), 

distances between crosswalks increase substantially south of Wood Street to 500-900 

feet. 

 PM peak hour pedestrian crossing volumes are highest at the Wood Street, Valley 

Street, and Mendocino Avenue intersections (>80 pedestrians during the PM peak 

hour). The crossing of East Valley Street adjacent to the post office experienced the 

highest individual crosswalk volumes (60 pedestrians during the PM peak hour). Some 

mid-block pedestrian crossings occur between Wood Street and Valley Street. 



Dusty Duley, Alison Pernell, John Gibbs, and John Hykes 

September 27th, 2016 

Page 11 of 35 

 High pedestrian volumes associated with Willits High School were also observed in 

the morning, lunch, and afternoon periods, especially at the Sherwood Road, State 

Street, and Commercial Street intersections. 

TABLE 5: OBSERVED PM PEAK HOUR PEDESTRIAN VOLUMES 

Street 
Pedestrians Crossing Main 

Street 

Pedestrians Crossing Side 

Streets 

Commercial Street 24 18 

Mendocino Avenue 16 47 

Van Lane 3 44 

Wood Street/Wood Alley 42 65 

Valley Street 23 67 

Monroe Street 8 28 

Notes: 

1. Counts conducted on Wednesday, March 30th, 2016 

Bicycle Circulation 

 No bicycle lanes are present along Main Street. Observed bicycle volumes were very 

low (<10 during the PM peak hour at most study intersections). Most bicycle traffic 

along Main Street is associated 

with Willits High School students. 

Existing vehicle speeds and 

volumes provide a high-stress 

environment for bicycling in 

mixed traffic flow. 

 Bicycle racks are present at a few 

locations in the Downtown area, 

but are generally not located in 

high visibility areas.  

 The Willits Bicycle and Pedestrian 

Specific Plan calls for Class II 

bicycle lanes along Main Street as 

it provides direct access to schools, businesses, and destinations.   

Inset 5: Students riding southbound along the Main 

Street sidewalk near California Street 



Dusty Duley, Alison Pernell, John Gibbs, and John Hykes 

September 27th, 2016 

Page 12 of 35 

DOWNTOWN STREETS AND ALLEYS 

Summary – The Main Street/Commercial 

Street intersection presents and provides 

opportunities for enhancement through 

protected left turns and signal timing 

improvements. East Commercial Street serves 

as a key multimodal street for vehicles, 

pedestrians, bicyclists, and buses; however, its 

present design provides limited accomodations 

for people walking and bicycling. The narrow 

width of some Downtown streets limits sight 

lines and circulation, particularly along Van 

Lane and Wood Street.   

Vehicle Circulation & Parking 

 The Downtown circulation network includes five east-west streets and alleys 

(Commercial Street, Van Lane, Mendocino Avenue, Wood Street/Wood Alley, Valley 

Street) and four north-south streets and alleys (School Street, Muir Lane, Main Street, 

and Humboldt Street). With the exception of Commercial Street, most streets in 

Downtown Willits are very narrow: streets are about 28 feet wide (curb-to-curb), while 

alleys are about 15 feet wide.  

 Commercial Street, Valley Street, and Mendocino Avenue (west of Main Street) were 

observed to carry the highest traffic volumes (Table 6). Van Lane experiences very 

little traffic; no vehicles were observed traveling west of Main Street during the PM 

peak hour, and two vehicles were observed traveling east of Main Street.  

TABLE 6: OBSERVED PM PEAK HOUR SEGMENT VOLUMES IN DOWNTOWN WILLITS 

Street 
Segment Volume (West of Main 

Street) 

Segment Volume (East of Main 

Street) 

Commercial Street 275 427 

Mendocino Avenue 95 30 

Van Lane 0 2 

Wood Street/Wood 

Alley 
51 39 

Valley Street 152 166 

Notes: 

1. Counts conducted on Wednesday, March 30th, 2016 

Inset 6: Commercial Street at Muir Lane facing east 



Dusty Duley, Alison Pernell, John Gibbs, and John Hykes 

September 27th, 2016 

Page 13 of 35 

 The Commercial Street 

intersection experiences 

frequent conflicts associated 

with vehicles turning left from 

Commercial onto Main Street 

without signal protection. The 

existing signal timing prioritizes 

Main Street and results in 

queues on Commercial Street 

that sometimes extend to 

Humboldt Street and Muir Lane. 

 About 160 on-street and of-

street spaces are provided within one block of Main Street between Commercial 

Street and Wood Street, excluding School Street and Humboldt Street. Commercial 

Street includes parallel parking on both sides of the street; between School Street 

and Main Street, it includes angled parking on the southern side of the street. Other 

streets typically include parallel parking on only one side of the street. Few on-street 

parking spaces are provided along alleyways. Off street parking is provided at five 

public lots as well as a number of dedicated lots for businesses. No wayfinding 

signage is provided from Main Street to access off-street public parking lots. 

 Wood Street has limited sight lines at Main Street due to its narrowness and limited 

adjacent building setbacks. 

 The Willits Fire Department is located on the north side of Commercial Street between 

Main Street and Humboldt Street. Most trips occur via Commercial, Main, and 

Humboldt Streets.  

Transit Circulation 

 Mendocino County Transit Routes 1 (Willits Local) and 20 (Willits-Ukiah) serve stops 

on Commercial Street at Humboldt Street. Route 1 provides hourly service 

approximately between the hours of 7:00 AM and 6:00 PM. Route 20 provides six 

round-trips to Ukiah between the hours of 7:00 AM and 5:00 PM. Both bus routes 

terminate at the Integrated Service Center on Lenore Avenue between Creekside 

Street and Valley Street. 

 Amtrak Thruway Bus 6318 (Arcata-Martinez) stops adjacent to the Skunk Train 

terminal on Commercial Street. Amtrak provides one daily roundtrip.  

 Existing transit stops include limited amenities – signage, benches, and shelters are 

generally not provided 

Inset 7: Van Lane at Main Street facing west 



Dusty Duley, Alison Pernell, John Gibbs, and John Hykes 

September 27th, 2016 

Page 14 of 35 

Pedestrian Circulation 

 Sidewalks are included along all 

streets in Downtown Willits, but 

are not included along alleys. 

With the exception of Commercial 

Street, which has 8-12 foot 

sidewalks, most sidewalks are 

narrow (about six feet wide). 

Commercial Street also includes 

planters and picnic benches.  

 Pedestrian traffic outside of Main 

Street was primarily observed 

along Commercial Street and 

Valley Street. City Park, City Hall, and the Skunk Train represent major Downtown-area 

pedestrian activity hubs along Commercial Street.  

 Unimproved alleyways and ADA-inaccessible facilities may pose barriers to pedestrian 

circulation around Downtown   

Bicycle Circulation 

 Commercial Street includes Class II bicycle lanes and serves as the primary east-west 

bicycle route across Downtown Willits. However, in some locations, bicycle lane 

markings have faded and are no longer visible. Near the Humboldt Street intersection, 

bicycle lanes share space with angled parking for the fire station. Sufficient space 

generally exists to provide buffered bike lanes. 

 Observed bicycle volumes were 

very low (<5 during the PM peak 

hour at most study intersections).  

 Bicycle parking is provided at 

some locations around 

Downtown Willits, but parking is 

generally not provided on-street 

or in visible locations. 

 Valley Street is designated as a 

Class III bicycle route; however, no 

signage or other bicycle 

improvements are provided.   

Inset 8: Commercial Street at Schmidbauer Lane, 

facing east 

Inset 9: Bicyclists crossing Main Street at 

Mendocino Avenue 



Dusty Duley, Alison Pernell, John Gibbs, and John Hykes 

September 27th, 2016 

Page 15 of 35 

MAIN STREET (CALTRANS SEGMENT) 

Summary – Under post-Bypass conditions, Main Street will include excess vehicle capacity that 

may present an opportuntiy for a road diet to provide traffic calming. Infrequent crosswalks, high 

vehicle speeds, narrow sidewalks, and ADA-inaccessible facilities pose barriers to pedestrian 

circulation. Lack of bicycle facilities and high traffic volumes/speeds serve as a barrier to bicycling. 

Vehicle Circulation & Parking 

 Main Street includes two through 

lanes in each direction and a center 

left turn lane, serving about 23,500 

vehicles daily south of the State 

Route 20 intersection. Main Street 

serves approximately 1,400 

vehicles during the PM peak hour, 

including about 800-850 in the 

peak direction. At the southern city 

limits, Main Street has one through 

lane in each direction and a center 

left turn lane.  

 Upon completion of the Willits Bypass project, traffic volumes are expected to 

decrease by 20-25 percent to about 18,300 vehicles. At these lower volumes, a road 

diet is typically feasible pending additional study. 

 Traffic signals are present at the intersections of State Route 20, Holly Street, and 

Evergreen Village. Infrequent traffic controls, lane widths, and lack of traffic calming 

features support high vehicle speeds. 

 On-street parking is not provided as off-street parking is included at most locations 

along the corridor.  

 The Main Street/Fort Bragg Road (State Route 20) intersection experiences high 

vehicle and pedestrian volumes and frequent traffic congestion. Several adjacent 

driveways exacerbate vehicle conflicts. The northbound left turn lane along Main 

Street was recently extended to alleviate northbound queues; however, this change 

has resulted in challenges for access/egress to the Safeway complex. 

 The Baectel Road/Muir Mill Lane (Brown’s Corner) intersection experiences frequent 

conflicts due to limited sight lines and high vehicle speeds along Main Street. The 

intersection serves as a key route for emergency vehicle access to the Frank R. Howard 

Memorial Hospital.   

Inset 10: Main Street at Baechtel Road South 

(Brown’s Corner), facing north 



Dusty Duley, Alison Pernell, John Gibbs, and John Hykes 

September 27th, 2016 

Page 16 of 35 

Transit Circulation 

 Mendocino County Transit Routes 1 (Willits Local), 20 (Willits-Ukiah), and 65 (Fort 

Bragg-Santa Rosa) serve Main Street. Bus stops are provided at the intersections of 

Walnut Street (Route 65 only), Hazel Street, and South Baechtel Road/Muir Mill Road. 

Route 1 provides hourly service approximately between the hours of 7:00 AM and 6:00 

PM. Route 20 provides six round-trips to Ukiah between the hours of 7:00 AM and 

5:00 PM. Route 65 provides one daily trip in either direction, departing southbound 

toward Santa Rosa around 7:00 AM and northbound toward Fort Bragg around 5:00 

PM.  

 Greyhound Route 607 (Arcata-San Francisco) stops at the McDonalds at the 

intersection of Gregory Lane. Greyhound provides one daily roundtrip. 

 Existing bus stops include limited amenities – signage, benches, and shelters are not 

provided. Bus stops are not always accompanied by a crosswalk across Main Street. 

Pedestrian Circulation 

 Main Street includes sidewalks approximately 6-10 feet in width between State Route 

20 and Evergreen Village. Sidewalks are frequently interrupted by driveways serving 

local businesses. No sidewalks are present south of Evergreen Village.  

 Three crosswalks are present south of State Route 20, located at Holly Street (signal-

protected), Gregory Lane (Rapid Rectangular Flashing Beacon), and Evergreen Village 

(signal protected). Crosswalks are separated by distances of 1,400-2,000 feet; 

consequently, some pedestrians were observed crossing midblock or at unmarked 

crosswalks due to these relatively long distances. 

 Baechtel Grove Middle School represents a major pedestrian generator. Students 

frequently cross Main Street midblock near the southern Safeway driveway. 

 Most crosswalks do not include ADA-accessible features such as detectable warnings.  

Bicycle Circulation 

 No bicycle lanes are present along Main Street. Observed bicycle volumes were very 

low (<10 during the PM peak hour at most study intersections). Existing vehicle speeds 

and volumes provide a high-stress environment for bicycling in mixed traffic flow.  

 Bicycle racks are present at few locations, and are generally not located in high 

visibility areas.  

 The Willits Bicycle and Pedestrian Specific Plan calls for Class II bicycle lanes along 

Main Street as it provides direct access to schools, businesses, and destinations. 



Dusty Duley, Alison Pernell, John Gibbs, and John Hykes 

September 27th, 2016 

Page 17 of 35 

IMPROVEMENT EVALUATION 

This section provides a high-level evaluation of key improvements identified in the Main Street 

Corridor Enhancement Plan and the Traffic Circulation & Connectivity Study for Downtown Willits 

Streets and Alleys.  

Sherwood Road Intersection & Willits High School 

The reconfiguration of the Main 

Street/Sherwood Road intersection by Caltrans 

presents an opportunity to resolve challenging 

roadway geometry and sight line constraints 

while enhancing bicycle and pedestrian 

conditions. Preliminary Caltrans designs 

include a reconstructed Sherwood Road 

approach and ADA-accessible sidewalks and 

curb ramps around Willits High School.  

These designs were reviewed for consistency 

with the Main Street Corridor Enhancement Plan and previous plans including the City of Willits 

Bicycle and Pedestrian Specific Plan and City of Willits Safe Routes to Schools Plan. In reviewing 

these designs, key challenges include facilitating bicycle access/egress from Willits High School to 

the Sherwood Road intersection and Downtown Willits, and providing pedestrian access to the 

shoulder on the north side of Sherwood Road. In order to achieve consistency with these plans and 

resolve these challenges, additional project elements may include: 

 Buffered bicycle lanes using the existing paved shoulder on Main Street, north and south 

of Sherwood Road, connecting to proposed bike lanes south of Bittenbender Lane 

 An off-street bicycle path about 200 feet long along Willits Unified School District 

property to connect the Sherwood Road intersection to on-campus bicycle parking 

 A high-visibility trail crossing treatment across the southern crossing of Main Street at 

Sherwood Road to facilitate bicycle and pedestrian crossings of Main Street 

 A crosswalk across Sherwood Road on the west leg of the intersection to facilitate access 

to the northside shoulder 

 Directional ADA ramps on the southwest corner of the intersection 

Inset 11: Main Street at Sherwood Road, facing 

north 



Dusty Duley, Alison Pernell, John Gibbs, and John Hykes 

September 27th, 2016 

Page 18 of 35 

 A signal head and signal phase for the existing Willits High School driveway to 

accommodate signal-protected egress from the vehicle and school bus parking lot 

Downtown Willits 

The Main Street Corridor Enhancement Plan and Traffic Circulation & Connectivity Study for 

Downtown Willits Streets and Alleys include four key circulation changes in Downtown Willits: 

1. The addition of bike lanes along Main Street and the removal of the center left turn lane. 

2. The addition of protected left turn phasing and dedicated left turn lanes on Commercial 

Street 

3. The conversion of Mendocino Avenue and Wood Street to a one-way couplet. 

4. Changes to vehicle access along Van Lane and SchmidBauer Lane 

Bicycle Lanes and Center Left Turn Lane 

The Willits Bicycle and Pedestrian Specific Plan 

calls for Class II bicycle lanes along Main Street. 

Bicycle lanes can be provided through a 

combination of reallocating space from the 

center left turn lane or parking. The primary 

need of the center left turn lane under existing 

conditions is for left turn vehicle queueing at 

intersections due to limited gaps in vehicle 

streams. The center left turn lane serves low left turn volumes (about 30 vehicles or less during the 

PM peak hour at the Commercial Street, Mendocino Street, and Wood Street intersections). Under 

post-Bypass conditions, queueing will decrease as the forecast reduction in traffic volumes and 

planned retiming of the Main Street/Commercial Street signal will result in more gaps in vehicle 

traffic along Main Street. Since left turn lanes are typically needed in locations where left turn 

volumes exceed 150-200 vehicles during the peak hour, left turns should be adequately 

accommodated without a center left turn lane on Main Street.  

To the north and south of Downtown Willits, the center left turn lane facilitates access to local 

businesses, which include more frequent driveways than Downtown. In these segments, on-street 

parking occupancy levels are lower than in the Downtown section, due to ample off-street parking 

Inset 12: Main Street north of Valley Street, facing 

north 



Dusty Duley, Alison Pernell, John Gibbs, and John Hykes 

September 27th, 2016 

Page 19 of 35 

supply and frequent driveways. Bicycle lanes can be provided in these segments through the 

removal of on-street parking.  

Main Street/Commercial Street Intersection  

The lack of protected left turn phasing and dedicated left turn lanes along Commercial Street at 

Main Street results in conflicts between left turning vehicles and other modes crossing Main Street, 

especially pedestrians. Queues generated by left turning vehicles also can impede the flow of 

through and right-turning vehicles, resulting in delays for both eastbound and westbound traffic 

flow. While space allows for right turning vehicles to merge into existing bike lanes during their 

turn, pavement markings could be clearer to highlight this conflict zone for both bikes and vehicles. 

Several intersection improvements would help address these conflicts and delays: 

 Provide protected left turn phasing and dedicated left turn lanes on Commercial Street 

through the removal of on-street parking adjacent to the intersection 

 Pedestrian bulbouts to shorten crosswalk distances 

 Accomodate eastbound right turns on Commercial Street via a right turn pocket shared 

with the bike lane 

 Bicycle conflict zone markings along both Main Street and Commercial Street 

 Retiming of the signal to serve post-Bypass volumes, including inclusion of pedestrian 

recall  

These changes are expected to reduce delays along Commercial Street, but may increase delays 

along Main Street. However, given the expected decrease in traffic volumes along Main Street, these 

tradeoffs are expected to produce optimal intersection operations as a whole. 

Mendocino Avenue and Wood Street One-Way Couplet 

The existing two-way configuration of Mendocino Avenue and Wood Street poses challenges for 

vehicle circulation due to the narrow widths and limited sight distances. Existing curb-to-curb 

widths are 24 to 28 feet with sidewalks about five feet wide, typically without building setbacks. 

Vehicles traveling eastbound on Mendocino Street have limited sight distance looking south on 

Main Street due to limited building setbacks, creating the potential for conflicts with other vehicles 

as well as pedestrians and bicyclists. Westbound Mendocino Avenue also presents a key route for 

emergency vehicle access, and is sometimes subject to obstructions associated with parking, 



Dusty Duley, Alison Pernell, John Gibbs, and John Hykes 

September 27th, 2016 

Page 20 of 35 

loading, and narrow vehicle lanes. On-street parking is not provided in some locations along 

Mendocino Avenue due to narrow width. 

The conversion of Mendocino Avenue and Wood Street into a one-way couplet presents an 

opportunity to resolve sight distance constraints, reduce conflicts for turns onto and off of Main 

Street, and clarify on-street parking. Between Humboldt Street and School Street, Mendocino 

Avenue would be converted to a one-way street with parallel or angled parking in the westbound 

direction, while Wood Street/Wood Alley would be converted to a one-way street with parallel 

parking in the eastbound direction. Given that these streets experience moderate combined 

volumes of about 150 vehicles during the PM peak hour west of Main Street and 70 vehicles east 

of Main Street, this conversion would be accommodated within the existing street capacity. Coupled 

with improvements at the Main Street/Commercial Street intersection and the introduction of 

wayfinding signage to access off-street parking lots, a one-way couplet is expected to be feasible 

without adversely affecting Downtown circulation. 

Changes to Vehicle Access along Van Lane and SchmidBauer Lane 

The intersection of Main Street and Van Lane represents the one of the primary sources of 

pedestrian and vehicle conflicts in the Downtown alley network due to the narrow width of Van 

Lane (about 15 feet), the volume of vehicle and pedestrian traffic along and crossing Main Street, 

and the limited distance between the intersection and the Main Street/Commercial Street 

intersection. Van Lane experiences very low volumes (less than five vehicles during the PM peak 

hour). In order to reduce these conflicts and enhance walkability, limiting passenger vehicle access 

along Van Lane via movable bollards is recommended. The one-way conversion of SchmidBauer 

Lane in the southbound direction would maintain access to the parking lot adjacent to the Main 

Street Music & Video parking lot, such that vehicles would enter via SchmidBauer Lane from 

Commercial Street, and exit via Van Lane to Humboldt Street. Wayfinding signage and a high-

friction pavement surface could also help facilitate this change and provide traffic calming. 

Change in Parking Supply 

In total, the changes described above are expected to decrease public parking supply from about 

160 spaces to about 140 spaces within the Downtown core (bounded by Commercial Street, Wood 

Street, Humboldt Street, and School Street, excluding on-street supply on Humboldt Street and 

School Street). This corresponds about a 13 percent reduction in public parking supply. Of these, 

approximately five spaces will be removed along Main Street, and approximately 15 spaces within 



Dusty Duley, Alison Pernell, John Gibbs, and John Hykes 

September 27th, 2016 

Page 21 of 35 

the Downtown network (primarily concentrated around Commercial Street and Van Lane. This 

reduction in parking may be mitigated through enhanced wayfinding signage to off-street lots and 

enforcement of existing two hour parking limits along Main Street and Commercial Street. 

Valley Street Intersection & Post Office 

The intersection of Main Street and Valley 

Street experienced the highest number of injury 

collisions (eight) between 2005 and 2014, 

including four vehicle collisions, two vehicle-

pedestrian collisions, and two vehicle-bicycle 

collisions. Key observations at the intersection 

include: 

 The limited size of the Post Office 

parking lot and the short distance 

between its driveway and the 

Main Street/East Valley Street 

intersection result in conflicts, queueing, and blockages of East Valley Street. 

 A portion of vehicle, pedestrian, and bicycle activity along East Valley Street is 

associated with the post office; however, East Valley Street also provides one of 

three continuous east-west connections between Main Street and eastern Willits and 

is designated as a Class III bicycle route. 

 During peak traffic periods, about 80 vehicles were observed traveling westbound 

on East Valley Street approaching Main Street, which carries about 1,500 vehicles per 

hour under Pre-Bypass conditions. Infrequent gaps along Main Street presently 

result in vehicle queueing along East Valley Street. 

 Sight distance is limited on East Valley Street for vehicles and bicyclists approaching 

the intersection . 

 A single marked uncontrolled crosswalk is provided between the two approaches of 

Valley Street, where pedestrians are exposed to numerous conflicts without a 

median refuge, signage, or signal protection. 

 Midblock pedestrian crossings were observed north of the intersection, expected to 

be due to the relatively long distances between crosswalks and challenging 

conditions at the Valley Street crosswalk. 

Inset 13: Pedestrian crossing Main Street at Valley 

Street 



Dusty Duley, Alison Pernell, John Gibbs, and John Hykes 

September 27th, 2016 

Page 22 of 35 

Previous studies, such as the Downtown Specific Plan, recommended prohibiting left turns from 

West Valley Street onto Main Street and constructing a raised median with provisions for 

northbound left turns onto West Valley Street. Given the low peak-hour eastbound through and 

left turn volumes along West Valley Street (16 vehicles), the proposed intersection design changes 

remain reasonable. Additionally, by providing an enhanced crosswalk with a median refuge island 

for pedestrians and bicyclists and traffic calming along Main Street, these improvements will 

facilitate a more walkable and bikeable intersection.  

Should conflicts persist after changes to the intersection’s geometry, the introduction of traffic 

controls may be evaluated. In order to test the possible need for a signal, peak hour warrants were 

assessed per CA-MUTCD Section 4C.04, Warrant 3B (Signal Warrants are provided in Appendix D). 

Under pre-Bypass conditions, existing westbound approach volumes on East Valley Street (81 

vehicles during the peak hour) exceed the minimum threshold for a traffic signal (75 vehicles during 

the peak hour). Under post-Bypass conditions, the intersection may still warrant a signal provided 

that Main Street volumes decrease by 20-25 percent and East Valley Street volumes remain 

constant; if Main Street volumes decrease by greater than 30 percent, or if East Valley Street 

volumes decrease by seven percent, the intersection would no longer meet the signal warrant. 

While a peak hour signal warrant is intended for use under unusual land use cases generating large 

volumes of peak hour trips, the Eight-Hour and Four-Hour Volume warrants (Warrants 1 and 2 in 

the 2014 MUTCD) can also be used for conditions where the volume of the intersecting traffic is 

the primary reason for considering a traffic signal, and an engineering study is required for all 

warrants. If a traffic signal is pursued, further monitoring and engineering study of the post-Bypass 

intersection conditions is recommended to confirm its need. 

All-way stop control presents another potential solution for traffic control at the intersection. The 

existing intersection conditions do not meet the thresholds defined by CA-MUTCD Section 2B.07 

(an average of 200 vehicles, pedestrians, and bicyclists entering the intersection per hour over an 

eight hour period for Valley Street), but all-way stop control may be pursued based on an 

engineering study during post-bypass conditions.  

Changes to the intersection geometry and traffic control will not address underlying issues 

associated with the constrained capacity of the Post Office parking lot. Use of existing on-street 

parking may present the best alternative as limited options exist to modify the design of the parking 

lot. Access restrictions along East Valley Street could be used as a way to develop an expanded 

parking lot on City right-of-way, however this would pose challenges as relatively high traffic 



Dusty Duley, Alison Pernell, John Gibbs, and John Hykes 

September 27th, 2016 

Page 23 of 35 

volumes (about 170 vehicles entering and exiting the intersection during the PM peak hour in 

addition to those throughout the day) would be rerouted to the California Street intersection (which 

has limited sight lines) and nearby Downtown intersections. 

Changes to the geometry of Main Street along this segment will result in a reduction of eight on-

street parking spaces (from 24 to 16) between Wood Street and Valley Street. This reduction in 

parking may be mitigated through enhanced wayfinding signage to off-street public lots and higher 

utilization of the approximately 80 off-street spaces accessible from Main Street for customers of 

local businesses along this segment.  

California Street to Oak Street 

Between California Street and Oak Street, on-street parking occupancy along Main Street is low 

due to ample off-street and side street parking; consequently, the perception of wider lanes 

encourages vehicle speeds in excess of the posted speed limit of 25 MPH. Along this segment, Main 

Street narrows and follows an “S” curve, resulting in limited sight lines of the Monroe Street 

intersection/Mariposa Market driveway and unmarked crosswalks. For northbound traffic, the 

existing condition would meet AASHTO required stopping sight distances for the posted 25 MPH 

speed limit with the relocation of on-street parking; however, for travel speeds of 30 MPH obserfved 

by some vehicles, the curvature in the road limits adequate sight distances either for vehicles 

making a right turn at Monroe St or of pedestrians at the unmarked crosswalk. For southbound 

traffic, adequate visibility of the unmarked crosswalk is limited due to the location and size of the 

Pepperwood Motel sign. This condition also limits the sight distance looking north for vehicles 

making right turns out of the Mariposa parking lot. 

Traffic calming measures would help improve adequate sight lines associated with vehicles turning 

from side streets and driveways and pedestrians crossing at unmarked crosswalks. The continuation 

of buffered bike lanes and installation of medians in select locations would support traffic calming 

along this segment in order to maintain travel speeds consistent with the posted speed limit of 25 

MPH. Medians may also serve as refuges for pedestrians crossing in unmarked crosswalks. The 

relocation of the Pepperwood Motel sign would enhance sight lines and reduce potential for 

conflicts at the Mariposa Market driveway.  

These changes would result in the elimination of about 28 parking spaces along Main Street 

between California Street and Oak Street. However, of these 28 spaces, only three to four spaces 

were observed to be occupied during several site visits between 8:00 AM and 6:00 PM between 



Dusty Duley, Alison Pernell, John Gibbs, and John Hykes 

September 27th, 2016 

Page 24 of 35 

April 18th and 22nd, 2016. Many of these spaces are narrow and present potential sight distance 

concerns given the roadway geometry. Existing off-street and side-street parking supply in this area 

would accommodate the loss of on-street capacity.  

Fort Bragg Road (State Route 20) Intersection 

The Main Street/Fort Bragg Road (State Route 20) intersection and adjacent area serves as the most 

congested and constrained location in Willits. The intersection presently experiences long 

northbound vehicle queues extending to the Northwest Pacific Railway Crossing, and serves as a 

barrier to pedestrians and bicyclists due to long crossing distances and lack of bicycle facilities. The 

density of driveways associated with adjacent streets and land uses exacerbate these conflicts.  

South of the Main Street/Fort Bragg Road intersection, conflicts frequently occur in the Northwest 

Pacific Railway Crossing area between the Willits Arch and the Walnut Street intersection, including 

the area around the southern Safeway driveway. Main Street includes four lanes of traffic and no 

center left turn lane or marked crosswalks in this area. Three primary sources of conflicts occur: 

 Conflicts between vehicles occur entering the Safway lot via southbound Main Street and 

exiting the Safeway lot onto southbound Main Street as no left turn pockets or traffic 

controls are present and infrequent gaps in traffic flow occur along Main Street. 

 Conflicts between vehicles and pedestrians (mostly students from Baechtel Grove Middle 

School) occur as pedestrians cross diagonally midblock into the Safeway parking lot and 

are exposed to multiple-threat conflicts (i.e., when pedestrians cross the two southbound 

lanes) and turning conflicts. 

 Conflicts between vehicles and pedestrians occur as pedestrians cross Main Street at the 

Walnut Street intersection for access to and egress from the northbound Mendocino 

Transit stop. 

The City of Willits Safe Routes to Schools Plan calls for a midblock crosswalk near the Willits Arch 

to accommodate pedestrian travel through the desire line. However, crosswalk placement is 

complicated by the close proximity of the Northwest Pacific Railway Crossing and the Safeway 

driveway. In particular, northbound queueing represents a key challenge as it may interfere with 

the at-grade railway crossing and would necessitate coordination with the California Public Utilities 

Commission (CPUC).  

Further study of improvements is needed for this area under post-Bypass conditions and with 

consideration of future land use changes in the area. A preliminary assessment of existing and 



Dusty Duley, Alison Pernell, John Gibbs, and John Hykes 

September 27th, 2016 

Page 25 of 35 

future conditions suggests the following improvements merit consideration based on a future 

evaluation of post-Bypass traffic volumes: 

 Continuation of a road diet along Main Street providing one northbound lane, one 

southbound lane, a center left turn lane (including a 400 foot northbound left turn lane 

from Main Street onto Fort Bragg Road, and a southbound left turn pocket into the 

southern Safeway Driveway), and bike lanes 

 A reduction of pedestrian crossing distances at the Main Street/Fort Bragg Road 

intersection via a reduction in curb radii and/or the introduction of slow-speed 

channelized right turn islands 

 A mid-block crosswalk at the southern Safeway Driveway, including a median refuge and 

RRFB or Pedestrian Hybrid Beacon (PHB), or a traffic signal to facilitate access to both the 

Safeway complex and the Remco site, and/or a crossing along the southern leg of Walnut 

Street to provide access to the Mendocino Transit bus stop 

 A median refuge and channelized right turn for eastbound traffic on Walnut Street, or a 

median prohibiting left turns in and out of Walnut Street 

 Consolidation of driveway access and restrictions of left turns 

Main Street Road Diet (Caltrans Segment) 

Main Street south of Fort Bragg Road may present an opportunity for a road diet to provide traffic 

calming and reduce conflicts for all modes. Under post-Bypass conditions, it is anticipated that 

traffic volumes on Main Street could be accomodated within three lanes without substantially 

degrading traffic operations, which provides an opportunity to add protected or buffered bike 

lanes, and possibly on-street parking in some locations.  

Road diets are typically most successful on streets that carry up to 18,000 to 22,000 vehicles per 

day.  While the existing pre-Bypass volumes on Main Street (23,500 vehicles per day) exceeds this 

typical threshold, anticipated post-Bypass volumes (15,300-18,300 vehicles per day) are below this 

threshold. The projected peak directional volumes (about 700 vehicles per hour) would not exceed 

the typical directional capacity of a single through lane (about 900 vehicles per hour.  

Road diets can offer benefits to all roadway users.  With a center left turn lane, drivers benefit as 

left-turning vehicles pull out of the through-travel lane to make turns, which reduces the need to 

either wait behind a turning vehicle or make a lane change.  Pedestrians benefit as it reduces the 

number of travel lanes that must be crossed and the risk of multiple-threat crashes, and bicyclists 



Dusty Duley, Alison Pernell, John Gibbs, and John Hykes 

September 27th, 2016 

Page 26 of 35 

benefit as dedicated roadway space is provided for them.  Road diets also moderate travel speeds 

through a corridor, as speeds are governed by the lead vehicle, which not only improves the bicycle 

and pedestrian experience, but in combination with the reduction in vehicle interactions reduces 

crash frequency and severity.  A road diet would accommodate improvements to bicycle and 

pedestrian circulation as identified in the City of Willits Bicycle and Pedestrian Specific Plan (2009), 

which calls for Class II bicycle lanes along Main Street, and the City of Willits Safe Routes to Schools 

Plan (2010) which identifies several traffic calming improvements along Main Street. 

Varying sources of data show a wide range of potential accident rate reductions as a result of road 

diets; a study undertaken by the Federal Highway Administration (Publication number FHWA-HRT-

10-053, June 2010)1 documents a 19 percent crash reduction factor for a suburban corridor, and up 

to a 47 percent reduction for road diets in a rural setting.  

Further monitoring and evaluation under post-Bypass conditions is necessary to determine if a road 

diet is feasible and any special design considerations to limit intersection delays and vehicle queues. 

A road diet and associated improvements may be implemented in coordination with street 

repaving, sidewalk widening, landscaping, and/or the installation of medians.  

Baechtel Road (North) Intersection 

Improvements at the Main Street/Baechtel Road (North) intersection are closely tied to the Brown’s 

Corner Roundabout, which may influence volumes and approach speeds at this location. Under 

existing conditions, left turns are challenging as westbound traffic along Baechtel Road experiences 

limited sight distance facing north with infrequent gaps in northbound traffic to cross Main Street. 

The nearest crosswalk across Main Street is located 600 feet from the intersection in either direction, 

which poses challenges for students at Willits Charter School, as noted by the City of Willits Safe 

Routes to Schools Plan (2009). The City of Willits Circulation and Parking Improvement Plan (2003) 

recommends consideration of a traffic signal at the Main Street/Baechtel Road (North) intersection; 

however, should a roundabout be installed at Brown’s Corner and resulting speeds be reduced, 

changes to the intersection geometry may suffice to manage intersection operations. 

In order to test the possible need for a signal, peak hour warrants were conducted per CA-MUTCD 

Section 4C.04 Warrant 3B (Signal Warrants are provided in Appendix D). Under pre-Bypass 

conditions, existing westbound approach volumes on Baechtel Road (140 vehicles during the AM 

                                                      

1 Document can be accessed here:  http://www.fhwa.dot.gov/publications/research/safety/10053/index.cfm 



Dusty Duley, Alison Pernell, John Gibbs, and John Hykes 

September 27th, 2016 

Page 27 of 35 

peak hour) exceed the minimum threshold for a traffic signal (75 vehicles during the peak hour). 

Under post-Bypass conditions, the intersection may still warrant a signal. While a peak hour signal 

warrant is intended for use under unusual land use cases generating large volumes of peak hour 

trips, the Eight-Hour and Four-Hour Volume warrants (Warrants 1 and 3 in the 2014 MUTCD) can 

also be used for conditions where the volume of the intersecting traffic is the primary reason for 

considering a traffic signal, and an engineering study is required for all warrants.  

Alternatively, conflicts at the intersection may be resolved through the implementation of a road 

diet and installation of a median to prohibit westbound left turns if a roundabout at Brown’s Corner 

is implemented and resulting speeds are reduced through this area. This configuration would 

reroute left turning traffic to the Brown’s Corner roundabout, while maintaining southbound left 

turns from Main Street onto Baechtel Road. A crosswalk including an RRFB and median refuge may 

be provided at the southern leg of the intersection to facilitate pedestrian crossings.   

Brown’s Corner Roundabout 

The intersection of Main Street and Baechtel Road (South) at Brown’s Corner presents an 

opportunity to install a roundabout in order to resolve existing challenges associated with sight 

distance, queueing, side street stop delay, and vehicle speeds. The Baechtel Road-Railroad Avenue 

Corridor Community Design Study (2003, Inset 14) proposed a roundabout at Brown’s Corner to 

provide traffic calming and a gateway into Willits while supporting improved circulation to 

southeast Willits, which has experienced recent growth, including the Frank R. Howard Memorial 

Hospital. Additional growth in southeast Willits will further the need for a roundabout as increased 

traffic volumes will exacerbate existing queueing and delay while increasing volumes at turning 

movements with constrained sight distances (southbound left turns and westbound right and left 

turns).  

A roundabout is generally feasible at Brown’s 

Corner; however, further engineering study is 

needed to clarify additional right-of-way 

needs, if any. A roundabout should be 

pursued in tandem with extensions of 

sidewalks and bike lanes along Main Street 

and Baechtel Road to facilitate walking and 

biking in addition to vehicle circulation. 

Inset 14: Rendering of Roundabout at Brown’s Corner. 

Source: Baechtel Road-Railroad Avenue Corridor 

Community Design Study (2003) 

 



Dusty Duley, Alison Pernell, John Gibbs, and John Hykes 

September 27th, 2016 

Page 28 of 35 

APPENDIX A: REVIEW OF PREVIOUS STUDIES 

OVERVIEW 

This study reviewed the following previous studies: 

 City of Willits Downtown Specific Plan Ciruclation Study, 2000 (DSPCS)  

 City of Willits Circulation and Parking Improvement Study, 2003 (CPIS) 

 Baechtel Road-Railroad Avenue Corridor Community Design Study, 2004 (BRCCDS) 

 City of Willits Bicycle and Pedestrian Specific Plan, 2009 (BPSP) 

 City of Willits Safe Routes to Schools Plan, 2010 (SRTSP) 

 City of Willits Traffic Safety Evaluation, 2010 (TSE)  

A summary of key issues is provided below.  

SUMMARY OF PREVIOUS PLANS – CORRIDOR-WIDE  

Topic Notes from Previous Plans 

Fragmented Street Network 

The SRTSP, CPIS, and DSPCS illustrate how the City 

of Willits’ fragmented street network funnels 

vehicle, bicycle, and pedestrian circulation along 

Main Street, both for north-south and east-west 

travel. The geometry of the City’s street grid 

reinforces Main Street’s importance for all modes 

and amplifies challenges posed by high vehicle 

speeds and uncontrolled crossings. 

Bicycle Circulation 

The BPSP, SRTSP, and CPIS note that Main Street 

serves as the only continuous north-south bicycle 

route connecting northern and southern Willits and 

presents an opportunity for enhancing access to 

schools and Downtown. The BSP recommends 

Class II bike lanes along the entirety of Main Street, 

Class II bike lanes along Commercial Street, and a 

Class III bicycle route along Valley Street. 

ADA Accessibility 

The BPSP notes that ADA-accessiblility is 

challenging along Main Street and within 

Downtown Willits due to the presence of sidewalk 

gaps, a lack of accessible curb cuts, frequent 

unprotected crossings, and numerous driveways. 



Dusty Duley, Alison Pernell, John Gibbs, and John Hykes 

September 27th, 2016 

Page 29 of 35 

SUMMARY OF PREVIOUS PLANS – CORRIDOR-WIDE  

Bicycle Tourism 
The BPSP notes that bicycling may serve as an 

attraction for tourism. 

 

MAIN STREET (RELINQUISHMENT) 

SUMMARY OF PREVIOUS PLANS – RELINQUISHMENT SEGMENT  

Topic Notes from Previous Plans 

Main Street/Commercial Street Intersection 

 

The TSE notes frequent conflicts between vehicles 

and pedestrians at the Main Street/Commercial 

Street. It recommends consideration of a leading 

pedestrian interval to reduce conflicts. 

Main Street/Valley Street Intersection 

 

The DSPCS notes frequent conflicts occur at the 

Main Street/Valley Street Intersection. Frequent 

vehicle, bicycle, and pedestrian activity occurs at 

the intersection associated with the post office. Key 

issues include sight lines, turning conflicts, and 

crosswalk placement. Frequent midblock crossings 

occur between Wood Street and Valley Street as 

well, where crosswalks are not present.  

Recommendations include signalization of the 

Main Street/East Valley Street intersection, 

prohibition of left turns from West Valley Street 

onto Main Street and construction of a raised 

median on main Street between East Valley Street 

and West Valley Street with provisions for left turns 

onto West Valley Street.  



Dusty Duley, Alison Pernell, John Gibbs, and John Hykes 

September 27th, 2016 

Page 30 of 35 

SUMMARY OF PREVIOUS PLANS – RELINQUISHMENT SEGMENT  

School Access 

 

The BPSP and SRTSP highlight the importance of 

Main Street for access to Willits High School and 

Sanhedrin High School. These plans note that Main 

Street lacks continuous sidewalks and youth-

accessible bicycle accommodations. Students 

frequently bike along Main Street facing oncoming 

traffic to avoid traffic approaching from behind 

them and the need to cross the street. Additionally, 

school zone signs for Willits High School do not 

extend to Sanhedrin High School. Main Street also 

poses challenges for students traveling east-west 

to Brookside Elementary and Community Day 

School.  

Recommendations include closing gaps in missing 

sidewalks (including between Bittenbender Lane 

and State Street), relocating school zone signs to 

serve both Willits High School and Sanhedrin High 

School, restriping the crosswalk at State Street with 

yellow paint, and retiming the Main 

Street/Sherwood Road traffic signal to 

accommodate a longer pedestrian phase and 

possibly a leading pedestrian interval. 

DOWNTOWN STREETS AND ALLEYS 

SUMMARY OF PREVIOUS PLANS – DOWNTOWN STREETS AND ALLEYS  

Topic Notes from Previous Plans 

Alley Circulation 

The DSPCS notes that Van Lane and Muir Lane have 

high potential for pedestrian improvements. These 

alleys primarily serve deliveries. It recommends 

pedestrian improvements including a high-friction 

textured pavement, access restrictions for local 

traffic only, and bollards along Main Street. It also 

recommends an extension of Van Lane to create a 

continuous alleyway to the Skunk Train Depot. 

However, the Main Street Music & Video parking 

lot is noted as a challenge for local business access. 



Dusty Duley, Alison Pernell, John Gibbs, and John Hykes 

September 27th, 2016 

Page 31 of 35 

SUMMARY OF PREVIOUS PLANS – DOWNTOWN STREETS AND ALLEYS  

Post Office Circulation 

The DSPCS notes that limited parking supply and 

constrained parking lot design at the Willits Post 

Office causes parking and circulation challenges 

along East Valley Street. Queueing on East Valley 

Street and spillover parking at neighboring lots 

frequently occurs.  

School Access 

The SRTSP notes that Commercial Street serves as a 

key corridor for bicycle and pedestrian access to 

schools including Willits High School, Sanhedrin 

High School, Brookside Elementary School, and 

Community Day School. 

MAIN STREET (CALTRANS) 

SUMMARY OF PREVIOUS PLANS – CALTRANS SEGMENT  

Topic Notes from Previous Plans 

Bicycle/Pedestrian Circulation and School 

Access 

The BPSP and SRTSP note that Main Street 

provides challenges for people walking and 

bicycling due to high vehicle speeds, few 

pedestrian crossings, and lack of bicycle facilities. 

Baechtel Grove Middle School and Willits Charter 

School provide high volumes of students walking 

along Main Street, particularly at the Holly Street 

and Baechtel Road (North) intersections.  

Recommendations include Class II bicycle lanes, 

new crosswalks at Baechtel Road (North), Manor 

Way, and Walnut Street, and closure of sidewalk 

gaps on main Street near Manor Way.  

Northwest Pacific Railroad Crossing 

The SRTSP notes that middle school students 

frequently cross around the Northwest Pacific 

Railroad Crossing, southern Safeway Driveway, and 

Main Street/Walnut Street intersection in order to 

travel to Safeway and northern Willits. Sight 

distances are constrained at this location.  

Main Street/Baechtel Road (North) Intersection 

The TSE notes that sight distances are constrained 

for the Baechtel Road approach. Vehicles often 

creep forward into the crosswalk as a result. It 

recommends monitoring the intersection 

operations to consider a raised median or 

signalization. 



Dusty Duley, Alison Pernell, John Gibbs, and John Hykes 

September 27th, 2016 

Page 32 of 35 

SUMMARY OF PREVIOUS PLANS – CALTRANS SEGMENT  

Main Street/Baechtel Road (South) Intersection 

The BRCCDS recommends a gateway roundabout 

at Brown’s Corner to provide traffic calming and 

improve pedestrian crossings. As an interim 

measure, the study recommends crosswalks with 

median refuge islands at the Manor Way, Baechtel 

Road (North), and Baechtel Road (South) 

intersections. 

 



Dusty Duley, Alison Pernell, John Gibbs, and John Hykes 

September 27th, 2016 

Page 33 of 35 

APPENDIX B: EXISTING TRANSIT SERVICE 

 



Dusty Duley, Alison Pernell, John Gibbs, and John Hykes 

September 27th, 2016 

Page 34 of 35 

APPENDIX C: TRAFFIC COUNTS 



 

Fehr & Peers Associates Inc. : Walnut Creek
One Walnut Creek Center 100 Pringle Ave.  Suite 600

Walnut Creek, California, United States  94596
(925) 930-7100 D.Jacobson@fehrandpeers.com

Count Name: Sherwood AM
Site Code:
Start Date: 03/05/2015
Page No: 3

Turning Movement Peak Hour Data (7:30 AM)

Start Time

North Main Street North Main Street Sherwood Road

Southbound Northbound Eastbound

Right Thru U-Turn Peds App. Total Thru Left U-Turn Peds App. Total Right Right on Red Left U-Turn Peds App. Total Int. Total

7:30 AM 1 68 0 0 69 69 10 0 11 79 124 16 16 0 0 156 304

7:45 AM 4 127 0 0 131 146 17 0 10 163 109 2 40 0 0 151 445

8:00 AM 5 88 0 0 93 78 30 0 5 108 86 30 8 0 0 124 325

8:15 AM 1 56 0 0 57 68 46 0 1 114 72 20 6 0 0 98 269

Total 11 339 0 0 350 361 103 0 27 464 391 68 70 0 0 529 1343

Approach % 3.1 96.9 0.0 - - 77.8 22.2 0.0 - - 73.9 12.9 13.2 0.0 - - -

Total % 0.8 25.2 0.0 - 26.1 26.9 7.7 0.0 - 34.5 29.1 5.1 5.2 0.0 - 39.4 -

PHF 0.550 0.667 0.000 - 0.668 0.618 0.560 0.000 - 0.712 0.788 0.567 0.438 0.000 - 0.848 0.754

Lights 11 319 0 - 330 316 102 0 - 418 389 68 68 0 - 525 1273

% Lights 100.0 94.1 - - 94.3 87.5 99.0 - - 90.1 99.5 100.0 97.1 - - 99.2 94.8

Other Vehicles 0 20 0 - 20 45 1 0 - 46 2 0 2 0 - 4 70

% Other Vehicles 0.0 5.9 - - 5.7 12.5 1.0 - - 9.9 0.5 0.0 2.9 - - 0.8 5.2

Bicycles on Road 0 0 0 - 0 0 0 0 - 0 0 0 0 0 - 0 0

% Bicycles on Road 0.0 0.0 - - 0.0 0.0 0.0 - - 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 - - 0.0 0.0

Bicycles on Crosswalk - - - 0 - - - - 0 - - - - - 0 - -

% Bicycles on Crosswalk - - - - - - - - 0.0 - - - - - - - -

Pedestrians - - - 0 - - - - 27 - - - - - 0 - -

% Pedestrians - - - - - - - - 100.0 - - - - - - - -



 

Fehr & Peers Associates Inc. : Walnut Creek
One Walnut Creek Center 100 Pringle Ave.  Suite 600

Walnut Creek, California, United States  94596
(925) 930-7100 D.Jacobson@fehrandpeers.com

Count Name: Sherwood AM
Site Code:
Start Date: 03/05/2015
Page No: 4

Peak Hour Data

03/05/2015 7:30 AM
Ending At
03/05/2015 8:30 AM

Lights
Other Vehicles
Bicycles on Road
Bicycles on Crosswalk
Pedestrians

North Main Street [N]

Out In Total

384 330 714

47 20 67

0 0 0

0 0 0

0 0 0

431 350 781

11 319 0 0

0 20 0 0

0 0 0 0

0 0 0 0

0 0 0 0

11 339 0 0
R T U P

776 418 1194

22 46 68

0 0 0

0 0 0

0 0 0

798 464 1262
Out In Total

North Main Street [S]

U L T P

0 102 316 0

0 1 45 0

0 0 0 0

0 0 0 0

0 0 0 27

0 103 361 27

S
he

rw
oo

d 
R

oa
d 

[W
]

To
ta

l

63
8 5 0 0 0 64
3

In 52
5 4 0 0 0 52
9

O
ut

11
3 1 0 0 0 11
4

0 0 0 0 0 0 U

68 2 0 0 0 70 L

45
7 2 0 0 0 45
9 R

0 0 0 0 0 0 P

Turning Movement Peak Hour Data Plot (7:30 AM)



 

Fehr & Peers Associates Inc. : Walnut Creek
One Walnut Creek Center 100 Pringle Ave.  Suite 600

Walnut Creek, California, United States  94596
(925) 930-7100 D.Jacobson@fehrandpeers.com

Count Name: Sherwood PM
Site Code:
Start Date: 03/05/2015
Page No: 3

Turning Movement Peak Hour Data (4:45 PM)

Start Time

North Main Street North Main Street Sherwood Road

Southbound Northbound Eastbound

Right Right on
Red Thru U-Turn Peds App. Total Thru Left U-Turn Peds App. Total Right Right on

Red Left U-Turn Peds App. Total Int. Total

4:45 PM 4 1 79 0 0 84 97 112 0 2 209 33 12 0 0 2 45 338

5:00 PM 9 0 108 0 0 117 78 106 0 4 184 7 39 4 0 0 50 351

5:15 PM 8 1 80 0 0 89 81 112 0 0 193 1 55 2 0 0 58 340

5:30 PM 7 1 85 0 0 93 93 112 0 2 205 4 34 5 0 0 43 341

Total 28 3 352 0 0 383 349 442 0 8 791 45 140 11 0 2 196 1370

Approach % 7.3 0.8 91.9 0.0 - - 44.1 55.9 0.0 - - 23.0 71.4 5.6 0.0 - - -

Total % 2.0 0.2 25.7 0.0 - 28.0 25.5 32.3 0.0 - 57.7 3.3 10.2 0.8 0.0 - 14.3 -

PHF 0.778 0.750 0.815 0.000 - 0.818 0.899 0.987 0.000 - 0.946 0.341 0.636 0.550 0.000 - 0.845 0.976

Lights 28 3 321 0 - 352 325 442 0 - 767 45 139 11 0 - 195 1314

% Lights 100.0 100.0 91.2 - - 91.9 93.1 100.0 - - 97.0 100.0 99.3 100.0 - - 99.5 95.9

Buses 0 0 0 0 - 0 1 0 0 - 1 0 0 0 0 - 0 1

% Buses 0.0 0.0 0.0 - - 0.0 0.3 0.0 - - 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 - - 0.0 0.1

Trucks 0 0 31 0 - 31 23 0 0 - 23 0 1 0 0 - 1 55

% Trucks 0.0 0.0 8.8 - - 8.1 6.6 0.0 - - 2.9 0.0 0.7 0.0 - - 0.5 4.0

Bicycles on Road 0 0 0 0 - 0 0 0 0 - 0 0 0 0 0 - 0 0

% Bicycles on Road 0.0 0.0 0.0 - - 0.0 0.0 0.0 - - 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 - - 0.0 0.0

Bicycles on Crosswalk - - - - 0 - - - - 0 - - - - - 0 - -

% Bicycles on Crosswalk - - - - - - - - - 0.0 - - - - - 0.0 - -

Pedestrians - - - - 0 - - - - 8 - - - - - 2 - -

% Pedestrians - - - - - - - - - 100.0 - - - - - 100.0 - -



 

Fehr & Peers Associates Inc. : Walnut Creek
One Walnut Creek Center 100 Pringle Ave.  Suite 600

Walnut Creek, California, United States  94596
(925) 930-7100 D.Jacobson@fehrandpeers.com

Count Name: Sherwood PM
Site Code:
Start Date: 03/05/2015
Page No: 4

Peak Hour Data

03/05/2015 4:45 PM
Ending At
03/05/2015 5:45 PM

Lights
Buses
Trucks
Bicycles on Road
Other

North Main Street [N]

Out In Total

336 352 688

1 0 1

23 31 54

0 0 0

0 0 0

360 383 743

31 321 0 0

0 0 0 0

0 31 0 0

0 0 0 0

0 0 0 0

31 352 0 0
R T U P

505 767 1272

0 1 1

32 23 55

0 0 0

0 0 0

537 791 1328
Out In Total

North Main Street [S]

U L T P

0 442 325 0

0 0 1 0

0 0 23 0

0 0 0 0

0 0 0 8

0 442 349 8

S
he

rw
oo

d 
R

oa
d 

[W
]

To
ta

l

66
8 0 1 0 0 66
9

In 19
5 0 1 0 0 19
6

O
ut

47
3 0 0 0 0 47
3

0 0 0 0 0 0 U

11 0 0 0 0 11 L

18
4 0 1 0 0 18
5 R

0 0 0 0 2 2 P

Turning Movement Peak Hour Data Plot (4:45 PM)



File Name : 101-commercial-p
Site Code : 1
Start Date : 3/30/2016
Page No : 1

CITY OF WILLITS

Latitude: 39.412419
Longitude: -123.354500

Groups Printed- Vehicles Only
MAIN ST (US 101)

Southbound
COMMERCIAL ST

Westbound
MAIN ST (US 101)

Northbound
COMMERCIAL ST

Eastbound
Start Time RT TH LT App. Total RT TH LT App. Total RT TH LT App. Total RT TH LT App. Total Int. Total

16:00 5 136 7 148 12 14 34 60 19 128 4 151 3 13 25 41 400
16:15 5 107 10 122 20 9 31 60 15 144 9 168 7 9 27 43 393
16:30 6 129 8 143 26 11 35 72 9 154 4 167 9 15 15 39 421
16:45 6 138 14 158 18 9 27 54 23 138 8 169 8 14 19 41 422
Total 22 510 39 571 76 43 127 246 66 564 25 655 27 51 86 164 1636

17:00 11 118 14 143 32 9 28 69 21 158 3 182 18 9 17 44 438
17:15 12 123 10 145 13 11 31 55 23 151 11 185 12 17 21 50 435
17:30 7 118 13 138 22 9 29 60 16 164 8 188 5 6 16 27 413
17:45 8 88 11 107 24 10 37 71 11 153 9 173 12 13 16 41 392
Total 38 447 48 533 91 39 125 255 71 626 31 728 47 45 70 162 1678

Grand Total 60 957 87 1104 167 82 252 501 137 1190 56 1383 74 96 156 326 3314
Apprch % 5.4 86.7 7.9  33.3 16.4 50.3  9.9 86 4  22.7 29.4 47.9   

Total % 1.8 28.9 2.6 33.3 5 2.5 7.6 15.1 4.1 35.9 1.7 41.7 2.2 2.9 4.7 9.8

MAIN ST (US 101)
Southbound

COMMERCIAL ST
Westbound

MAIN ST (US 101)
Northbound

COMMERCIAL ST
Eastbound

Start Time RT TH LT App. Total RT TH LT App. Total RT TH LT App. Total RT TH LT App. Total Int. Total
Peak Hour Analysis From 16:00 to 17:45 - Peak 1 of 1
Peak Hour for Entire Intersection Begins at 16:30

16:30 6 129 8 143 26 11 35 72 9 154 4 167 9 15 15 39 421
16:45 6 138 14 158 18 9 27 54 23 138 8 169 8 14 19 41 422
17:00 11 118 14 143 32 9 28 69 21 158 3 182 18 9 17 44 438
17:15 12 123 10 145 13 11 31 55 23 151 11 185 12 17 21 50 435

Total Volume 35 508 46 589 89 40 121 250 76 601 26 703 47 55 72 174 1716
% App. Total 5.9 86.2 7.8  35.6 16 48.4  10.8 85.5 3.7  27 31.6 41.4   

PHF .729 .920 .821 .932 .695 .909 .864 .868 .826 .951 .591 .950 .653 .809 .857 .870 .979

 MAIN ST (US 101) 

 C
O

M
M

E
R

C
IA

L 
S

T 
 C

O
M

M
E

R
C

IA
L S

T 

 MAIN ST (US 101) 

RT
35 

TH
508 

LT
46 

InOut Total
762 589 1351 

R
T89 

TH40 
LT121 

O
ut

Total
In

177 
250 

427 

LT
26 

TH
601 

RT
76 

Out TotalIn
676 703 1379 

LT
72

 
TH

55
 

R
T47

 

To
ta

l
O

ut
In

10
1 

17
4 

27
5 

Peak Hour Begins at 16:30
 
Vehicles Only

Peak Hour Data

North

TRAFFIC COUNTS PLUS
mietekm@comcast.net

925.305.4358



File Name : 101-van-p
Site Code : 2
Start Date : 3/30/2016
Page No : 1

CITY OF WILLITS

Latitude: 39.411900
Longitude: -123.354478

Groups Printed- Vehicles Only
MAIN ST (US 101)

Southbound
VAN LN

Westbound
MAIN ST (US 101)

Northbound
VAN LN

Eastbound
Start Time RT TH LT App. Total RT TH LT App. Total RT TH LT App. Total RT TH LT App. Total Int. Total

16:00 1 175 1 177 0 0 0 0 0 153 1 154 0 155 0 155 486
16:15 0 156 1 157 0 0 0 0 0 166 0 166 0 168 0 168 491
16:30 0 161 0 161 0 0 0 0 1 168 0 169 0 167 0 167 497
16:45 0 175 0 175 0 0 0 0 0 169 0 169 0 167 0 167 511
Total 1 667 2 670 0 0 0 0 1 656 1 658 0 657 0 657 1985

17:00 0 169 0 169 0 0 0 0 0 185 0 185 0 187 0 187 541
17:15 0 163 1 164 0 0 0 0 1 182 0 183 0 180 0 180 527
17:30 0 147 0 147 0 0 0 0 0 191 0 191 0 190 0 190 528
17:45 0 139 0 139 0 0 0 0 1 165 0 166 0 167 0 167 472
Total 0 618 1 619 0 0 0 0 2 723 0 725 0 724 0 724 2068

Grand Total 1 1285 3 1289 0 0 0 0 3 1379 1 1383 0 1381 0 1381 4053
Apprch % 0.1 99.7 0.2  0 0 0  0.2 99.7 0.1  0 100 0   

Total % 0 31.7 0.1 31.8 0 0 0 0 0.1 34 0 34.1 0 34.1 0 34.1

MAIN ST (US 101)
Southbound

VAN LN
Westbound

MAIN ST (US 101)
Northbound

VAN LN
Eastbound

Start Time RT TH LT App. Total RT TH LT App. Total RT TH LT App. Total RT TH LT App. Total Int. Total
Peak Hour Analysis From 16:00 to 17:45 - Peak 1 of 1
Peak Hour for Entire Intersection Begins at 16:45

16:45 0 175 0 175 0 0 0 0 0 169 0 169 0 167 0 167 511
17:00 0 169 0 169 0 0 0 0 0 185 0 185 0 187 0 187 541
17:15 0 163 1 164 0 0 0 0 1 182 0 183 0 180 0 180 527
17:30 0 147 0 147 0 0 0 0 0 191 0 191 0 190 0 190 528

Total Volume 0 654 1 655 0 0 0 0 1 727 0 728 0 724 0 724 2107
% App. Total 0 99.8 0.2  0 0 0  0.1 99.9 0  0 100 0   

PHF .000 .934 .250 .936 .000 .000 .000 .000 .250 .952 .000 .953 .000 .953 .000 .953 .974

 MAIN ST (US 101) 

 V
A

N
 L

N
  V

A
N

 LN
 

 MAIN ST (US 101) 

RT
0 

TH
654 

LT
1 

InOut Total
727 655 1382 

R
T

0 
TH

0 
LT

0 

O
ut

Total
In

726 
0 

726 

LT
0 

TH
727 

RT
1 

Out TotalIn
654 728 1382 

LT
0 

TH72
4 

R
T

0 

To
ta

l
O

ut
In

0 
72

4 
72

4 

Peak Hour Begins at 16:45
 
Vehicles Only

Peak Hour Data

North

TRAFFIC COUNTS PLUS
mietekm@comcast.net

925.305.4358



File Name : 101-mendocino-p
Site Code : 3
Start Date : 3/30/2016
Page No : 1

CITY OF WILLITS

Latitude  39.41128
Longitude  -123.35446

Groups Printed- Vehicles Only
MAIN ST (US 101)

Southbound
MENDOCINO AV

Westbound
MAIN ST (US 101)

Northbound
MENDOCINO AV

Eastbound

Start Time RT TH LT App. Total RT TH LT App. Total RT TH LT App. Total RT TH LT App. Total Int. Total
16:00 4 167 1 172 3 0 0 3 3 150 4 157 18 0 2 20 352
16:15 2 149 2 153 2 0 4 6 1 166 3 170 11 0 0 11 340
16:30 1 161 0 162 5 1 0 6 5 162 5 172 23 0 0 23 363
16:45 2 177 0 179 1 0 4 5 4 166 7 177 13 0 0 13 374
Total 9 654 3 666 11 1 8 20 13 644 19 676 65 0 2 67 1429

17:00 4 163 1 168 2 0 0 2 2 184 6 192 11 0 1 12 374
17:15 1 158 2 161 1 0 1 2 2 178 4 184 14 0 1 15 362
17:30 3 144 1 148 2 0 1 3 5 187 8 200 18 1 1 20 371
17:45 1 139 0 140 2 0 0 2 3 164 4 171 12 0 1 13 326
Total 9 604 4 617 7 0 2 9 12 713 22 747 55 1 4 60 1433

Grand Total 18 1258 7 1283 18 1 10 29 25 1357 41 1423 120 1 6 127 2862
Apprch % 1.4 98.1 0.5  62.1 3.4 34.5  1.8 95.4 2.9  94.5 0.8 4.7   

Total % 0.6 44 0.2 44.8 0.6 0 0.3 1 0.9 47.4 1.4 49.7 4.2 0 0.2 4.4

MAIN ST (US 101)
Southbound

MENDOCINO AV
Westbound

MAIN ST (US 101)
Northbound

MENDOCINO AV
Eastbound

Start Time RT TH LT App. Total RT TH LT App. Total RT TH LT App. Total RT TH LT App. Total Int. Total
Peak Hour Analysis From 16:00 to 17:45 - Peak 1 of 1
Peak Hour for Entire Intersection Begins at 16:45

16:45 2 177 0 179 1 0 4 5 4 166 7 177 13 0 0 13 374
17:00 4 163 1 168 2 0 0 2 2 184 6 192 11 0 1 12 374
17:15 1 158 2 161 1 0 1 2 2 178 4 184 14 0 1 15 362
17:30 3 144 1 148 2 0 1 3 5 187 8 200 18 1 1 20 371

Total Volume 10 642 4 656 6 0 6 12 13 715 25 753 56 1 3 60 1481
% App. Total 1.5 97.9 0.6  50 0 50  1.7 95 3.3  93.3 1.7 5   

PHF .625 .907 .500 .916 .750 .000 .375 .600 .650 .956 .781 .941 .778 .250 .750 .750 .990

 MAIN ST (US 101) 

 M
E

N
D

O
C

IN
O

 A
V

  M
E

N
D

O
C

IN
O

 A
V

 

 MAIN ST (US 101) 

RT
10 

TH
642 

LT
4 

InOut Total
724 656 1380 

R
T

6 
TH

0 
LT

6 

O
ut

Total
In

18 
12 

30 

LT
25 

TH
715 

RT
13 

Out TotalIn
704 753 1457 

LT
3 

TH
1 

R
T56

 

To
ta

l
O

ut
In

35
 

60
 

95
 

Peak Hour Begins at 16:45
 
Vehicles Only

Peak Hour Data

North

TRAFFIC COUNTS PLUS
mietekm@comcast.net

925.305.4358



File Name : 101-wood-p
Site Code : 4
Start Date : 3/30/2016
Page No : 1

CITY OF WILLITS

Latitude  39.410645
Longitude  -123.354429

Groups Printed- Vehicles Only
MAIN ST (US 101)

Southbound
WOOD ALLEY

Westbound
MAIN ST (US 101)

Northbound
WOOD ST
Eastbound

Start Time RT TH LT App. Total RT TH LT App. Total RT TH LT App. Total RT TH LT App. Total Int. Total
16:00 1 181 3 185 0 0 0 0 6 161 8 175 0 0 0 0 360
16:15 5 155 2 162 0 0 0 0 3 167 7 177 0 0 0 0 339
16:30 4 182 3 189 0 0 0 0 8 177 10 195 0 0 0 0 384
16:45 7 184 3 194 0 0 0 0 8 173 8 189 0 0 0 0 383
Total 17 702 11 730 0 0 0 0 25 678 33 736 0 0 0 0 1466

17:00 6 165 1 172 0 0 0 0 8 195 6 209 0 0 0 0 381
17:15 4 164 2 170 1 0 0 1 5 184 6 195 0 0 0 0 366
17:30 5 166 0 171 1 0 0 1 4 191 7 202 0 0 0 0 374
17:45 2 148 3 153 0 0 0 0 4 168 10 182 0 0 0 0 335
Total 17 643 6 666 2 0 0 2 21 738 29 788 0 0 0 0 1456

Grand Total 34 1345 17 1396 2 0 0 2 46 1416 62 1524 0 0 0 0 2922
Apprch % 2.4 96.3 1.2  100 0 0  3 92.9 4.1  0 0 0   

Total % 1.2 46 0.6 47.8 0.1 0 0 0.1 1.6 48.5 2.1 52.2 0 0 0 0

MAIN ST (US 101)
Southbound

WOOD ALLEY
Westbound

MAIN ST (US 101)
Northbound

WOOD ST
Eastbound

Start Time RT TH LT App. Total RT TH LT App. Total RT TH LT App. Total RT TH LT App. Total Int. Total
Peak Hour Analysis From 16:00 to 17:45 - Peak 1 of 1
Peak Hour for Entire Intersection Begins at 16:30

16:30 4 182 3 189 0 0 0 0 8 177 10 195 0 0 0 0 384
16:45 7 184 3 194 0 0 0 0 8 173 8 189 0 0 0 0 383
17:00 6 165 1 172 0 0 0 0 8 195 6 209 0 0 0 0 381
17:15 4 164 2 170 1 0 0 1 5 184 6 195 0 0 0 0 366

Total Volume 21 695 9 725 1 0 0 1 29 729 30 788 0 0 0 0 1514
% App. Total 2.9 95.9 1.2  100 0 0  3.7 92.5 3.8  0 0 0   

PHF .750 .944 .750 .934 .250 .000 .000 .250 .906 .935 .750 .943 .000 .000 .000 .000 .986

 MAIN ST (US 101) 

 W
O

O
D

 S
T 

 W
O

O
D

 A
LLE

Y
 

 MAIN ST (US 101) 

RT
21 

TH
695 

LT
9 

InOut Total
730 725 1455 

R
T

1 
TH

0 
LT

0 

O
ut

Total
In

38 
1 

39 

LT
30 

TH
729 

RT
29 

Out TotalIn
695 788 1483 

LT
0 

TH
0 

R
T

0 

To
ta

l
O

ut
In

51
 

0 
51

 

Peak Hour Begins at 16:30
 
Vehicles Only

Peak Hour Data

North

TRAFFIC COUNTS PLUS
mietekm@comcast.net

925.305.4358



File Name : 101-valley-p
Site Code : 5
Start Date : 3/30/2016
Page No : 1

CITY OF WILLITS

Latitude: 39.409198
Longitude: -123.353669

Groups Printed- Vehicles Only
MAIN ST (US 101)

Southbound
VALLEY ST
Westbound

MAIN ST (US 101)
Northbound

VALLEY ST
Eastbound

Start Time RT TH LT App. Total RT TH LT App. Total RT TH LT App. Total RT TH LT App. Total Int. Total
16:00 5 159 5 169 13 0 3 16 15 187 10 212 9 0 0 9 406
16:15 3 128 6 137 17 1 8 26 17 176 11 204 19 0 2 21 388
16:30 4 139 7 150 10 0 3 13 21 184 7 212 14 0 0 14 389
16:45 3 144 5 152 8 0 1 9 10 171 12 193 11 0 2 13 367
Total 15 570 23 608 48 1 15 64 63 718 40 821 53 0 4 57 1550

17:00 8 147 3 158 17 2 8 27 22 193 9 224 10 4 3 17 426
17:15 4 154 3 161 6 1 3 10 13 207 11 231 14 1 0 15 417
17:30 8 135 7 150 12 1 3 16 13 187 11 211 10 0 5 15 392
17:45 11 134 9 154 18 2 8 28 11 171 21 203 13 1 2 16 401
Total 31 570 22 623 53 6 22 81 59 758 52 869 47 6 10 63 1636

Grand Total 46 1140 45 1231 101 7 37 145 122 1476 92 1690 100 6 14 120 3186
Apprch % 3.7 92.6 3.7  69.7 4.8 25.5  7.2 87.3 5.4  83.3 5 11.7   

Total % 1.4 35.8 1.4 38.6 3.2 0.2 1.2 4.6 3.8 46.3 2.9 53 3.1 0.2 0.4 3.8

MAIN ST (US 101)
Southbound

VALLEY ST
Westbound

MAIN ST (US 101)
Northbound

VALLEY ST
Eastbound

Start Time RT TH LT App. Total RT TH LT App. Total RT TH LT App. Total RT TH LT App. Total Int. Total
Peak Hour Analysis From 16:00 to 17:45 - Peak 1 of 1
Peak Hour for Entire Intersection Begins at 17:00

17:00 8 147 3 158 17 2 8 27 22 193 9 224 10 4 3 17 426
17:15 4 154 3 161 6 1 3 10 13 207 11 231 14 1 0 15 417
17:30 8 135 7 150 12 1 3 16 13 187 11 211 10 0 5 15 392
17:45 11 134 9 154 18 2 8 28 11 171 21 203 13 1 2 16 401

Total Volume 31 570 22 623 53 6 22 81 59 758 52 869 47 6 10 63 1636
% App. Total 5 91.5 3.5  65.4 7.4 27.2  6.8 87.2 6  74.6 9.5 15.9   

PHF .705 .925 .611 .967 .736 .750 .688 .723 .670 .915 .619 .940 .839 .375 .500 .926 .960

 MAIN ST (US 101) 

 V
A

LL
E

Y
 S

T 
 V

A
LLE

Y
 S

T 

 MAIN ST (US 101) 

RT
31 

TH
570 

LT
22 

InOut Total
821 623 1444 

R
T53 

TH
6 

LT22 

O
ut

Total
In

87 
81 

168 

LT
52 

TH
758 

RT
59 

Out TotalIn
639 869 1508 

LT
10

 
TH

6 
R

T47
 

To
ta

l
O

ut
In

89
 

63
 

15
2 

Peak Hour Begins at 17:00
 
Vehicles Only

Peak Hour Data

North

TRAFFIC COUNTS PLUS
mietekm@comcast.net

925.305.4358



File Name : 101-monroe-p
Site Code : 6
Start Date : 3/30/2016
Page No : 1

CITY OF WILLITS

Latitude: 39.406586
Longitude: -123.352159

Groups Printed- Vehicles Only
MAIN ST (US 101)

Southbound
MONROE ST
Westbound

MAIN ST (US 101)
Northbound

MARIPOSA MARKET D/W
Eastbound

Start Time RT TH LT App. Total RT TH LT App. Total RT TH LT App. Total RT TH LT App. Total Int. Total
16:00 4 164 0 168 3 0 0 3 3 199 0 202 1 0 3 4 377
16:15 6 150 0 156 3 0 0 3 5 191 0 196 0 0 1 1 356
16:30 2 195 2 199 2 0 1 3 7 186 0 193 0 0 0 0 395
16:45 9 172 0 181 5 0 0 5 0 195 0 195 1 0 1 2 383
Total 21 681 2 704 13 0 1 14 15 771 0 786 2 0 5 7 1511

17:00 2 170 1 173 5 0 1 6 2 218 0 220 0 0 5 5 404
17:15 2 154 1 157 3 0 1 4 1 200 0 201 1 0 1 2 364
17:30 2 143 0 145 4 0 0 4 2 210 0 212 0 0 0 0 361
17:45 7 140 2 149 2 1 0 3 2 179 1 182 0 0 1 1 335
Total 13 607 4 624 14 1 2 17 7 807 1 815 1 0 7 8 1464

Grand Total 34 1288 6 1328 27 1 3 31 22 1578 1 1601 3 0 12 15 2975
Apprch % 2.6 97 0.5  87.1 3.2 9.7  1.4 98.6 0.1  20 0 80   

Total % 1.1 43.3 0.2 44.6 0.9 0 0.1 1 0.7 53 0 53.8 0.1 0 0.4 0.5

MAIN ST (US 101)
Southbound

MONROE ST
Westbound

MAIN ST (US 101)
Northbound

MARIPOSA MARKET D/W
Eastbound

Start Time RT TH LT App. Total RT TH LT App. Total RT TH LT App. Total RT TH LT App. Total Int. Total
Peak Hour Analysis From 16:00 to 17:45 - Peak 1 of 1
Peak Hour for Entire Intersection Begins at 16:30

16:30 2 195 2 199 2 0 1 3 7 186 0 193 0 0 0 0 395
16:45 9 172 0 181 5 0 0 5 0 195 0 195 1 0 1 2 383
17:00 2 170 1 173 5 0 1 6 2 218 0 220 0 0 5 5 404
17:15 2 154 1 157 3 0 1 4 1 200 0 201 1 0 1 2 364

Total Volume 15 691 4 710 15 0 3 18 10 799 0 809 2 0 7 9 1546
% App. Total 2.1 97.3 0.6  83.3 0 16.7  1.2 98.8 0  22.2 0 77.8   

PHF .417 .886 .500 .892 .750 .000 .750 .750 .357 .916 .000 .919 .500 .000 .350 .450 .957

 MAIN ST (US 101) 

 M
A

R
IP

O
S

A
 M

A
R

K
E

T 
D

/W
 

 M
O

N
R

O
E

 S
T 

 MAIN ST (US 101) 

RT
15 

TH
691 

LT
4 

InOut Total
821 710 1531 

R
T15 

TH
0 

LT
3 

O
ut

Total
In

14 
18 

32 

LT
0 

TH
799 

RT
10 

Out TotalIn
696 809 1505 

LT
7 

TH
0 

R
T

2 

To
ta

l
O

ut
In

15
 

9 
24

 

Peak Hour Begins at 16:30
 
Vehicles Only

Peak Hour Data

North

TRAFFIC COUNTS PLUS
mietekm@comcast.net

925.305.4358



 

Fehr & Peers Associates Inc. : Walnut Creek
One Walnut Creek Center 100 Pringle Ave.  Suite 600

Walnut Creek, California, United States  94596
(925) 930-7100 D.Jacobson@fehrandpeers.com

Count Name: SR 20 AM
Site Code:
Start Date: 03/05/2015
Page No: 3

Turning Movement Peak Hour Data (7:45 AM)

Start Time

South Main Street South Street South Main Street SR 20

Southbound Westbound Northbound Eastbound

Right Right
on Red Thru Left U-Turn Peds App.

Total Right Right
on Red Thru Left U-Turn Peds App.

Total Right Right
on Red Thru Left U-Turn Peds App.

Total Right Right
on Red Thru Left U-Turn Peds App.

Total
Int.

Total

7:45 AM 2 1 148 19 0 0 170 16 8 7 22 0 0 53 27 8 146 14 0 0 195 3 2 14 43 0 1 62 480

8:00 AM 4 1 131 24 0 2 160 12 16 8 16 0 0 52 30 1 202 5 0 1 238 9 3 10 42 0 1 64 514

8:15 AM 7 1 150 19 0 0 177 13 13 4 19 0 2 49 18 2 180 11 0 0 211 10 5 9 49 0 0 73 510

8:30 AM 4 1 106 20 0 0 131 15 15 3 12 0 1 45 7 0 151 16 0 0 174 5 9 6 44 0 1 64 414

Total 17 4 535 82 0 2 638 56 52 22 69 0 3 199 82 11 679 46 0 1 818 27 19 39 178 0 3 263 1918

Approach % 2.7 0.6 83.9 12.9 0.0 - - 28.1 26.1 11.1 34.7 0.0 - - 10.0 1.3 83.0 5.6 0.0 - - 10.3 7.2 14.8 67.7 0.0 - - -

Total % 0.9 0.2 27.9 4.3 0.0 - 33.3 2.9 2.7 1.1 3.6 0.0 - 10.4 4.3 0.6 35.4 2.4 0.0 - 42.6 1.4 1.0 2.0 9.3 0.0 - 13.7 -

PHF 0.607 1.000 0.892 0.854 0.000 - 0.901 0.875 0.813 0.688 0.784 0.000 - 0.939 0.683 0.344 0.840 0.719 0.000 - 0.859 0.675 0.528 0.696 0.908 0.000 - 0.901 0.933

Lights 16 4 486 73 0 - 579 55 50 22 68 0 - 195 80 11 658 45 0 - 794 27 19 36 176 0 - 258 1826

% Lights 94.1 100.0 90.8 89.0 - - 90.8 98.2 96.2 100.0 98.6 - - 98.0 97.6 100.0 96.9 97.8 - - 97.1 100.0 100.0 92.3 98.9 - - 98.1 95.2

Buses 0 0 4 0 0 - 4 0 1 0 0 0 - 1 0 0 5 0 0 - 5 0 0 0 0 0 - 0 10

% Buses 0.0 0.0 0.7 0.0 - - 0.6 0.0 1.9 0.0 0.0 - - 0.5 0.0 0.0 0.7 0.0 - - 0.6 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 - - 0.0 0.5

Trucks 1 0 45 8 0 - 54 1 1 0 1 0 - 3 2 0 14 1 0 - 17 0 0 3 2 0 - 5 79

% Trucks 5.9 0.0 8.4 9.8 - - 8.5 1.8 1.9 0.0 1.4 - - 1.5 2.4 0.0 2.1 2.2 - - 2.1 0.0 0.0 7.7 1.1 - - 1.9 4.1

Bicycles on
Road 0 0 0 1 0 - 1 0 0 0 0 0 - 0 0 0 2 0 0 - 2 0 0 0 0 0 - 0 3

% Bicycles on
Road 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.2 - - 0.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 - - 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.3 0.0 - - 0.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 - - 0.0 0.2

Bicycles on
Crosswalk - - - - - 0 - - - - - - 0 - - - - - - 0 - - - - - - 1 - -

% Bicycles on
Crosswalk - - - - - 0.0 - - - - - - 0.0 - - - - - - 0.0 - - - - - - 33.3 - -

Pedestrians - - - - - 2 - - - - - - 3 - - - - - - 1 - - - - - - 2 - -

% Pedestrians - - - - - 100.0 - - - - - - 100.0 - - - - - - 100.0 - - - - - - 66.7 - -



 

Fehr & Peers Associates Inc. : Walnut Creek
One Walnut Creek Center 100 Pringle Ave.  Suite 600

Walnut Creek, California, United States  94596
(925) 930-7100 D.Jacobson@fehrandpeers.com

Count Name: SR 20 AM
Site Code:
Start Date: 03/05/2015
Page No: 4

Peak Hour Data

03/05/2015 7:45 AM
Ending At
03/05/2015 8:45 AM

Lights
Buses
Trucks
Bicycles on Road
Other

South Main Street [N]

Out In Total

939 579 1518

6 4 10

18 54 72

2 1 3

0 0 0

965 638 1603

20 486 73 0 0

0 4 0 0 0

1 45 8 0 0

0 0 1 0 0

0 0 0 0 2

21 535 82 0 2
R T L U P

214 0 1 13 0 200

O
ut

199 0 0 3 1 195

In

413 0 1 16 1 395

Total

S
outh S

treet [E
]

R 108 0 0 2 1 105

T 22 0 0 0 0 22

L 69 0 0 1 0 68

U 0 0 0 0 0 0

P 3 3 0 0 0 0

600 794 1394

4 5 9

46 17 63

0 2 2

0 0 0

650 818 1468
Out In Total

South Main Street [S]

U L T R P

0 45 658 91 0

0 0 5 0 0

0 1 14 2 0

0 0 2 0 0

0 0 0 0 1

0 46 679 93 1

S
R

 2
0 

[W
]

To
ta

l

34
5 0 7 0 0 35
2

In 25
8 0 5 0 0 26
3

O
ut 87 0 2 0 0 89

0 0 0 0 0 0 U

17
6 0 2 0 0 17
8 L

36 0 3 0 0 39 T

46 0 0 0 0 46 R

0 0 0 0 3 3 P

Turning Movement Peak Hour Data Plot (7:45 AM)

DJacobson
Typewritten Text
SOUTH

DJacobson
Typewritten Text
NORTH

DJacobson
Typewritten Text
EAST

DJacobson
Typewritten Text
WEST



 

Fehr & Peers Associates Inc. : Walnut Creek
One Walnut Creek Center 100 Pringle Ave.  Suite 600

Walnut Creek, California, United States  94596
(925) 930-7100 D.Jacobson@fehrandpeers.com

Count Name: SR 20
Site Code:
Start Date: 03/05/2015
Page No: 3

Turning Movement Peak Hour Data (4:45 PM)

Start Time

South Main Street South Street South Main Street SR 20

Southbound Westbound Northbound Eastbound

Right Right
on Red Thru Left U-Turn Peds App.

Total Right Right
on Red Thru Left U-Turn Peds App.

Total Right Right
on Red Thru Left U-Turn Peds App.

Total Right Right
on Red Thru Left U-Turn Peds App.

Total
Int.

Total

4:45 PM 4 3 162 29 0 2 198 12 14 2 26 0 2 54 9 3 137 15 0 0 164 22 8 16 50 0 4 96 512

5:00 PM 4 0 150 17 0 2 171 24 6 13 36 0 3 79 12 0 145 18 0 0 175 17 7 16 51 0 0 91 516

5:15 PM 6 1 147 28 0 2 182 20 5 5 18 0 6 48 6 5 126 20 0 0 157 11 8 13 47 0 0 79 466

5:30 PM 4 0 170 35 0 2 209 13 3 15 13 0 5 44 9 1 140 12 0 3 162 12 3 14 47 0 3 76 491

Total 18 4 629 109 0 8 760 69 28 35 93 0 16 225 36 9 548 65 0 3 658 62 26 59 195 0 7 342 1985

Approach % 2.4 0.5 82.8 14.3 0.0 - - 30.7 12.4 15.6 41.3 0.0 - - 5.5 1.4 83.3 9.9 0.0 - - 18.1 7.6 17.3 57.0 0.0 - - -

Total % 0.9 0.2 31.7 5.5 0.0 - 38.3 3.5 1.4 1.8 4.7 0.0 - 11.3 1.8 0.5 27.6 3.3 0.0 - 33.1 3.1 1.3 3.0 9.8 0.0 - 17.2 -

PHF 0.750 0.333 0.925 0.779 0.000 - 0.909 0.719 0.500 0.583 0.646 0.000 - 0.712 0.750 0.450 0.945 0.813 0.000 - 0.940 0.705 0.813 0.922 0.956 0.000 - 0.891 0.962

Lights 18 4 611 104 0 - 737 66 27 35 91 0 - 219 35 8 515 64 0 - 622 61 26 58 192 0 - 337 1915

% Lights 100.0 100.0 97.1 95.4 - - 97.0 95.7 96.4 100.0 97.8 - - 97.3 97.2 88.9 94.0 98.5 - - 94.5 98.4 100.0 98.3 98.5 - - 98.5 96.5

Buses 0 0 2 1 0 - 3 0 0 0 0 0 - 0 0 0 0 0 0 - 0 0 0 0 1 0 - 1 4

% Buses 0.0 0.0 0.3 0.9 - - 0.4 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 - - 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 - - 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.5 - - 0.3 0.2

Trucks 0 0 16 4 0 - 20 3 1 0 2 0 - 6 1 1 33 1 0 - 36 1 0 1 2 0 - 4 66

% Trucks 0.0 0.0 2.5 3.7 - - 2.6 4.3 3.6 0.0 2.2 - - 2.7 2.8 11.1 6.0 1.5 - - 5.5 1.6 0.0 1.7 1.0 - - 1.2 3.3

Bicycles on
Road 0 0 0 0 0 - 0 0 0 0 0 0 - 0 0 0 0 0 0 - 0 0 0 0 0 0 - 0 0

% Bicycles on
Road 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 - - 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 - - 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 - - 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 - - 0.0 0.0

Bicycles on
Crosswalk - - - - - 3 - - - - - - 4 - - - - - - 1 - - - - - - 0 - -

% Bicycles on
Crosswalk - - - - - 37.5 - - - - - - 25.0 - - - - - - 33.3 - - - - - - 0.0 - -

Pedestrians - - - - - 5 - - - - - - 12 - - - - - - 2 - - - - - - 7 - -

% Pedestrians - - - - - 62.5 - - - - - - 75.0 - - - - - - 66.7 - - - - - - 100.0 - -



 

Fehr & Peers Associates Inc. : Walnut Creek
One Walnut Creek Center 100 Pringle Ave.  Suite 600

Walnut Creek, California, United States  94596
(925) 930-7100 D.Jacobson@fehrandpeers.com

Count Name: SR 20
Site Code:
Start Date: 03/05/2015
Page No: 4

Peak Hour Data

03/05/2015 4:45 PM
Ending At
03/05/2015 5:45 PM

Lights
Buses
Trucks
Bicycles on Road
Other

South Main Street [N]

Out In Total

800 737 1537

1 3 4

39 20 59

0 0 0

0 0 0

840 760 1600

22 611 104 0 0

0 2 1 0 0

0 16 4 0 0

0 0 0 0 0

0 0 0 0 8

22 629 109 0 8
R T L U P

213 0 0 7 1 205

O
ut

225 0 0 6 0 219

In

438 0 0 13 1 424

Total

S
outh S

treet [E
]

R 97 0 0 4 0 93

T 35 0 0 0 0 35

L 93 0 0 2 0 91

U 0 0 0 0 0 0

P 16 16 0 0 0 0

789 622 1411

2 0 2

19 36 55

0 0 0

0 0 0

810 658 1468
Out In Total

South Main Street [S]

U L T R P

0 64 515 43 0

0 0 0 0 0

0 1 33 2 0

0 0 0 0 0

0 0 0 0 3

0 65 548 45 3

S
R

 2
0 

[W
]

To
ta

l

45
8 1 5 0 0 46
4

In 33
7 1 4 0 0 34
2

O
ut

12
1 0 1 0 0 12
2

0 0 0 0 0 0 U

19
2 1 2 0 0 19
5 L

58 0 1 0 0 59 T

87 0 1 0 0 88 R

0 0 0 0 7 7 P

Turning Movement Peak Hour Data Plot (4:45 PM)

DJacobson
Typewritten Text
SOUTH

DJacobson
Typewritten Text
EAST

DJacobson
Typewritten Text
NORTH

DJacobson
Typewritten Text
WEST



 

Fehr & Peers Associates Inc. : Walnut Creek
One Walnut Creek Center 100 Pringle Ave.  Suite 600

Walnut Creek, California, United States  94596
(925) 930-7100 D.Jacobson@fehrandpeers.com

Count Name: Baechtel North
Site Code:
Start Date: 03/05/2015
Page No: 3

Turning Movement Peak Hour Data (7:45 AM)

Start Time

Southbound St. Westbound St. Northbound St.

Southbound Westbound Northbound

Thru Left U-Turn Peds App. Total Right Left U-Turn Peds App. Total Right Thru U-Turn Peds App. Total Int. Total

7:45 AM 176 33 0 0 209 24 4 0 9 28 6 180 0 0 186 423

8:00 AM 217 23 0 0 240 40 6 0 5 46 5 169 0 0 174 460

8:15 AM 228 28 0 0 256 37 1 0 5 38 6 141 0 1 147 441

8:30 AM 194 23 0 0 217 24 3 0 0 27 3 138 0 0 141 385

Total 815 107 0 0 922 125 14 0 19 139 20 628 0 1 648 1709

Approach % 88.4 11.6 0.0 - - 89.9 10.1 0.0 - - 3.1 96.9 0.0 - - -

Total % 47.7 6.3 0.0 - 53.9 7.3 0.8 0.0 - 8.1 1.2 36.7 0.0 - 37.9 -

PHF 0.894 0.811 0.000 - 0.900 0.781 0.583 0.000 - 0.755 0.833 0.872 0.000 - 0.871 0.929

Lights 794 104 0 - 898 111 6 0 - 117 19 566 0 - 585 1600

% Lights 97.4 97.2 - - 97.4 88.8 42.9 - - 84.2 95.0 90.1 - - 90.3 93.6

Buses 4 0 0 - 4 2 0 0 - 2 0 2 0 - 2 8

% Buses 0.5 0.0 - - 0.4 1.6 0.0 - - 1.4 0.0 0.3 - - 0.3 0.5

Trucks 17 3 0 - 20 11 8 0 - 19 1 60 0 - 61 100

% Trucks 2.1 2.8 - - 2.2 8.8 57.1 - - 13.7 5.0 9.6 - - 9.4 5.9

Bicycles on Road 0 0 0 - 0 1 0 0 - 1 0 0 0 - 0 1

% Bicycles on Road 0.0 0.0 - - 0.0 0.8 0.0 - - 0.7 0.0 0.0 - - 0.0 0.1

Bicycles on Crosswalk - - - 0 - - - - 2 - - - - 0 - -

% Bicycles on Crosswalk - - - - - - - - 10.5 - - - - 0.0 - -

Pedestrians - - - 0 - - - - 17 - - - - 1 - -

% Pedestrians - - - - - - - - 89.5 - - - - 100.0 - -



 

Fehr & Peers Associates Inc. : Walnut Creek
One Walnut Creek Center 100 Pringle Ave.  Suite 600

Walnut Creek, California, United States  94596
(925) 930-7100 D.Jacobson@fehrandpeers.com

Count Name: Baechtel North
Site Code:
Start Date: 03/05/2015
Page No: 4

Peak Hour Data

03/05/2015 7:45 AM
Ending At
03/05/2015 8:45 AM

Lights
Buses
Trucks
Bicycles on Road
Other

Southbound St. [N]

Out In Total

677 898 1575

4 4 8

71 20 91

1 0 1

0 0 0

753 922 1675

794 104 0 0

4 0 0 0

17 3 0 0

0 0 0 0

0 0 0 0

815 107 0 0
T L U P

127 0 0 4 0 123

O
ut

139 0 1 19 2 117

In

266 0 1 23 2 240

Total

W
estbound S

t. [E
]

R 125 0 1 11 2 111

L 14 0 0 8 0 6

U 0 0 0 0 0 0

P 19 19 0 0 0 0

800 585 1385

4 2 6

25 61 86

0 0 0

0 0 0

829 648 1477
Out In Total

Northbound St. [S]

U T R P

0 566 19 0

0 2 0 0

0 60 1 0

0 0 0 0

0 0 0 1

0 628 20 1

Turning Movement Peak Hour Data Plot (7:45 AM)



File Name : 101-beachtel-p
Site Code : 7
Start Date : 3/30/2016
Page No : 1

CITY OF WILLITS

Latitude: 39.387757
Longitude: -123.345285

Groups Printed- Vehicles Only
MAIN ST (US 101)

Southbound
BEACHTEL RD

Westbound
MAIN ST (US 101)

Northbound
MUIR MILL RD

Eastbound
Start Time RT TH LT App. Total RT TH LT App. Total RT TH LT App. Total RT TH LT App. Total Int. Total

16:00 4 172 19 195 21 0 8 29 23 151 1 175 3 0 1 4 403
16:15 5 165 16 186 13 0 16 29 19 157 2 178 1 0 2 3 396
16:30 3 151 14 168 17 1 20 38 17 152 0 169 0 0 0 0 375
16:45 6 143 16 165 14 1 16 31 26 161 3 190 1 1 2 4 390
Total 18 631 65 714 65 2 60 127 85 621 6 712 5 1 5 11 1564

17:00 3 161 15 179 14 0 15 29 23 171 3 197 4 1 0 5 410
17:15 1 147 16 164 13 0 12 25 16 171 0 187 0 0 1 1 377
17:30 4 139 14 157 12 0 9 21 24 166 1 191 0 1 2 3 372
17:45 2 116 9 127 16 1 15 32 16 141 0 157 1 2 1 4 320
Total 10 563 54 627 55 1 51 107 79 649 4 732 5 4 4 13 1479

Grand Total 28 1194 119 1341 120 3 111 234 164 1270 10 1444 10 5 9 24 3043
Apprch % 2.1 89 8.9  51.3 1.3 47.4  11.4 88 0.7  41.7 20.8 37.5   

Total % 0.9 39.2 3.9 44.1 3.9 0.1 3.6 7.7 5.4 41.7 0.3 47.5 0.3 0.2 0.3 0.8

MAIN ST (US 101)
Southbound

BEACHTEL RD
Westbound

MAIN ST (US 101)
Northbound

MUIR MILL RD
Eastbound

Start Time RT TH LT App. Total RT TH LT App. Total RT TH LT App. Total RT TH LT App. Total Int. Total
Peak Hour Analysis From 16:00 to 17:45 - Peak 1 of 1
Peak Hour for Entire Intersection Begins at 16:15

16:15 5 165 16 186 13 0 16 29 19 157 2 178 1 0 2 3 396
16:30 3 151 14 168 17 1 20 38 17 152 0 169 0 0 0 0 375
16:45 6 143 16 165 14 1 16 31 26 161 3 190 1 1 2 4 390
17:00 3 161 15 179 14 0 15 29 23 171 3 197 4 1 0 5 410

Total Volume 17 620 61 698 58 2 67 127 85 641 8 734 6 2 4 12 1571
% App. Total 2.4 88.8 8.7  45.7 1.6 52.8  11.6 87.3 1.1  50 16.7 33.3   

PHF .708 .939 .953 .938 .853 .500 .838 .836 .817 .937 .667 .931 .375 .500 .500 .600 .958

 MAIN ST (US 101) 

 M
U

IR
 M

IL
L 

R
D

  B
E

A
C

H
TE

L R
D

 

 MAIN ST (US 101) 

RT
17 

TH
620 

LT
61 

InOut Total
703 698 1401 

R
T58 

TH
2 

LT67 

O
ut

Total
In

148 
127 

275 

LT
8 

TH
641 

RT
85 

Out TotalIn
693 734 1427 

LT
4 

TH
2 

R
T

6 

To
ta

l
O

ut
In

27
 

12
 

39
 

Peak Hour Begins at 16:15
 
Vehicles Only

Peak Hour Data

North

TRAFFIC COUNTS PLUS
mietekm@comcast.net

925.305.4358



Dusty Duley, Alison Pernell, John Gibbs, and John Hykes 

September 27th, 2016 

Page 35 of 35 

APPENDIX D: SIGNAL WARRANTS 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Project
Major Street Main Street Scenario Pre-Bypass (2016)
Minor Street East Valley Street Peak Hour PM

Turn Movement Volumes Major Street Direction
NB SB EB WB

Left 0 22 0 53 x North/South
Through 758 570 0 0 East/West
Right 59 0 0 28
Total 817 592 0 81

Circulation Study for Main Street 
and Downtown Willits

Major Street Minor Street Warrant Met
Main Street East Valley Street

* Note:   Traffic Volume for Major Street is Total Volume of Both Approches.
             Traffic Volume for Minor Street is the Volume of High Volume Approach.

Traffic Volume (VPH) * 1,409 81

1 1
YES

Number of Approach Lanes

0

100

200

300

400

500

300 400 500 600 700 800 900 1000 1100 1200 1300 1400 1500

M
in

or
 S

tr
ee

t H
ig

he
r V

ol
um

e 
Ap

pr
oa

ch
 -

VP
H

Major Street - Total of Both Approaches - Vehicle Per Hour (VPH)

Figure 4C-4.  Warrant 3B, Peak Hour (70% Factor)
(COMMUNITY LESS THAN 10,000 POPULATION OR 

ABOVE 40 MPH ON MAJOR STREET

100*
75*

* Note:   100 vph applies as the lower threshold volume for a minor-street 
approach with two or more lanes and 75 vph applies as the lower

threshold volume for a minor-street approach with one lane.

Source: California Manual on Uniform Traffic Control Devices, Caltrans, 2014

2 or More Lanes & 2 or More Lanes

1 Lane & 1 Lane

2 or More Lanes & 1 Lane 



Project
Major Street Main Street Scenario Post-Bypass (2020)
Minor Street East Valley Street Peak Hour PM

Turn Movement Volumes Major Street Direction
NB SB EB WB

Left 0 22 0 53 x North/South
Through 599 450 0 0 East/West
Right 59 0 0 28
Total 658 472 0 81

Circulation Study for Main Street 
and Downtown Willits

* Note:   Traffic Volume for Major Street is Total Volume of Both Approches.
             Traffic Volume for Minor Street is the Volume of High Volume Approach.

Traffic Volume (VPH) * 1,130 81

1 1
YES

Number of Approach Lanes

Major Street Minor Street Warrant Met
Main Street East Valley Street

0

100

200

300

400

500

300 400 500 600 700 800 900 1000 1100 1200 1300 1400 1500

M
in

or
 S

tr
ee

t H
ig

he
r V

ol
um

e 
Ap

pr
oa

ch
 -

VP
H

Major Street - Total of Both Approaches - Vehicle Per Hour (VPH)

Figure 4C-4.  Warrant 3B, Peak Hour (70% Factor)
(COMMUNITY LESS THAN 10,000 POPULATION OR 

ABOVE 40 MPH ON MAJOR STREET

100*
75*

* Note:   100 vph applies as the lower threshold volume for a minor-street 
approach with two or more lanes and 75 vph applies as the lower

threshold volume for a minor-street approach with one lane.

Source: California Manual on Uniform Traffic Control Devices, Caltrans, 2014

2 or More Lanes & 2 or More Lanes

1 Lane & 1 Lane

2 or More Lanes & 1 Lane 



Project

Major Street Main Street Scenario Pre-Bypass (2016)

Minor Street North Baechtel Road Peak Hour AM

Turn Movement Volumes Major Street Direction

NB SB EB WB

Left 0 107 0 14 x North/South

Through 628 815 0 0 East/West

Right 20 0 0 126

Total 648 922 0 140

03 The need for a traffic control signal shall be considered if an engineering study finds that the criteria in

either of the following two categories are met:

A. If all three of the following conditions exist for the same 1 hour (any four consecutive 15-minute

periods) of an average day:

1. The total stopped time delay experienced by the traffic on one minor-street approach (one direction

only) controlled by a STOP sign equals or exceeds: 4 vehicle-hours for a one-lane approach or 5

vehicle-hours for a two-lane approach; and

2. The volume on the same minor-street approach (one direction only) equals or exceeds 100 vehicles

per hour for one moving lane of traffic or 150 vehicles per hour for two moving lanes; and

3. The total entering volume serviced during the hour equals or exceeds 650 vehicles per hour for

intersections with three approaches or 800 vehicles per hour for intersections with four or more

approaches.

B. The plotted point representing the vehicles per hour on the major street (total of both approaches)

and the corresponding vehicles per hour on the higher-volume minor-street approach (one direction

only) for 1 hour (any four consecutive 15-minute periods) of an average day falls above the applicable

curve in Figure 4C-3 for the existing combination of approach lanes.

Circulation Study for Main Street 

and Downtown Willits

Major Street Minor Street
Warrant Met

Main Street North Baechtel Road

* Note:   Traffic Volume for Major Street is Total Volume of Both Approches.

             Traffic Volume for Minor Street is the Volume of High Volume Approach.

Traffic Volume (VPH) * 1,570 140

1 1

YES

Number of Approach Lanes

0

100

200

300

400

500

300 400 500 600 700 800 900 1000 1100 1200 1300 1400 1500 1600

M
in

o
r 

S
tr

e
e

t 
H

ig
h

e
r 

V
o

lu
m

e
 A

p
p

ro
a

c
h

 -
V

P
H

Major Street - Total of Both Approaches - Vehicle Per Hour (VPH)

Figure 4C-4.  Warrant 3B, Peak Hour (70% Factor)
(COMMUNITY LESS THAN 10,000 POPULATION OR 

ABOVE 40 MPH ON MAJOR STREET

100*
75*

* Note:   100 vph applies as the lower threshold volume for a minor-street 
approach with two or more lanes and 75 vph applies as the lower

threshold volume for a minor-street approach with one lane.

Source: California Manual on Uniform Traffic Control Devices, Caltrans, 2014

2 or More Lanes & 2 or More Lanes

1 Lane & 1 Lane

2 or More Lanes & 1 Lane 



Project

Major Street Main Street Scenario Post-Bypass (2016)

Minor Street North Baechtel Road Peak Hour AM

Turn Movement Volumes Major Street Direction

NB SB EB WB

Left 0 107 0 14 x North/South

Through 490 636 0 0 East/West

Right 20 0 0 126

Total 510 743 0 140

03 The need for a traffic control signal shall be considered if an engineering study finds that the criteria in

either of the following two categories are met:

A. If all three of the following conditions exist for the same 1 hour (any four consecutive 15-minute

periods) of an average day:

1. The total stopped time delay experienced by the traffic on one minor-street approach (one direction

only) controlled by a STOP sign equals or exceeds: 4 vehicle-hours for a one-lane approach or 5

vehicle-hours for a two-lane approach; and

2. The volume on the same minor-street approach (one direction only) equals or exceeds 100 vehicles

per hour for one moving lane of traffic or 150 vehicles per hour for two moving lanes; and

3. The total entering volume serviced during the hour equals or exceeds 650 vehicles per hour for

intersections with three approaches or 800 vehicles per hour for intersections with four or more

approaches.

B. The plotted point representing the vehicles per hour on the major street (total of both approaches)

and the corresponding vehicles per hour on the higher-volume minor-street approach (one direction

only) for 1 hour (any four consecutive 15-minute periods) of an average day falls above the applicable

curve in Figure 4C-3 for the existing combination of approach lanes.

Circulation Study for Main Street 

and Downtown Willits

Major Street Minor Street
Warrant Met

Main Street North Baechtel Road

* Note:   Traffic Volume for Major Street is Total Volume of Both Approches.

             Traffic Volume for Minor Street is the Volume of High Volume Approach.

Traffic Volume (VPH) * 1,253 140

1 1

YES

Number of Approach Lanes

0

100

200

300

400

500

300 400 500 600 700 800 900 1000 1100 1200 1300 1400 1500 1600

M
in

o
r 

S
tr

e
e

t 
H

ig
h

e
r 

V
o

lu
m

e
 A

p
p

ro
a

c
h

 -
V

P
H

Major Street - Total of Both Approaches - Vehicle Per Hour (VPH)

Figure 4C-4.  Warrant 3B, Peak Hour (70% Factor)
(COMMUNITY LESS THAN 10,000 POPULATION OR 

ABOVE 40 MPH ON MAJOR STREET

100*
75*

* Note:   100 vph applies as the lower threshold volume for a minor-street 
approach with two or more lanes and 75 vph applies as the lower

threshold volume for a minor-street approach with one lane.

Source: California Manual on Uniform Traffic Control Devices, Caltrans, 2014

2 or More Lanes & 2 or More Lanes

1 Lane & 1 Lane

2 or More Lanes & 1 Lane 



                     APPENDIX "B"



























































 

MEMORANDUM  

DATE  June 28, 2016 

TO  Dusty Duley, City of Willits 

FROM  Cliff Lau for John Hykes, PlaceWorks 

SUBJECT  Summary of Community Meeting #1 

Community Meeting #1 Details: 

Date/Time:  June 16, 2016, 5:30pm – 7:30pm 

Location:  Willits City Hall Conference Room 
111 East Commercial Street, Willits, CA 
 

Community Meeting #1 Summary 
On  June  16,  PlaceWorks  and  City  staff  held  the  first  community meeting  for  the Downtown Willits 
Streets and Alleys Connectivity Study. PlaceWorks presented preliminary project design concepts and 
facilitated a round robin discussion among meeting attendees with the goals of soliciting feedback on 
the concepts and finding consensus for a preferred alternative in each concept. 

A total of 35 community members attended the meeting. Notable attendees  included the Mayor of 
Willits and other City councilmembers. In addition to the group discussion of each concept, a total of 
10 comment cards were submitted. 

Meeting Summary 

Dusty Duley,  City  Planner  of Willits,  opened  up with  an  introduction  of  the  Connectivity  Study  and 
then introduced John Hykes of PlaceWorks. John gave a presentation about the study’s process thus 
far; an update on the Main Street Enhancement Project; existing conditions in Downtown Willits; and 
the  three  preliminary  design  concepts.  The  concepts  include  the  Commercial  Street  project;  Van, 
Muir, and Schmidbauer Lanes project; and Mendocino Avenue/Wood Alley couplet project. After the 
presentation, the attendees were divided into three groups for a round robin discussion. Each group 
participated in a discussion of one of the projects then rotated three times so that each group had a 
chance to discuss each project. Attendees were encouraged to fill out comment cards as well. After 
the last rotation, the community meeting concluded with a quick announcement of next steps. 

Group Discussion Findings and Results 

During the round robin project concept discussions,  led by John Hykes, Cliff Lau of PlaceWorks, and 
Dusty Duley,  each  group  participated  in  a  discussion  of    project  concepts  and  alternatives  of  each. 



June 28, 2016 | Page 2 

Combined with the comments from the comment cards, the following summarizes the discussion for 
each project: 

Commercial Street 

The discussion on the Commercial Street concept included the following: 

 Support  for  left‐turn  pocket  off  East  Commercial  Street  onto  Main  Street  (southbound). 
Consider providing more access at West Commercial Street with left‐turn lane/pocket. 

 Prefer to have right‐turn lane or pocket off West Commercial Street onto Main Street. 

 Support for signal timing for dedicated left‐turn lane. 

 Support landscaped median past Humboldt Street towards Skunk Train but not between Main 
Street and Humboldt Street. 

 Concern for use of bulbouts and accommodating truck turning radii, especially logging trucks, 
from Main Street onto E. Commercial Street. 

 Concern  for  turning  radius  and  maneuverability  of  buses  on  Commercial  Street  to  Main 
Street. 

 Concern  that having a  single eastbound  lane  serving  simultaneously  as  right‐turn,  left‐turn, 
and thru‐lane on West Commercial Street will cause traffic stacking. More capacity would be 
needed. 

 Concern of centerline alignment between proposed lane configurations of West Commercial 
and East Commercial. 

 Concern of visibility of diagonal parking. 

 Concern of visibility if street trees are provided in medians. 

 Concern of traffic stacking to turn left into Schmidbauer Lane with proposed concept.  

 Consider trailer parking and RV tourism. 

 Consider improved access to bus facilities. (?) 

Van, Muir, and Schmidbauer Lanes 

The discussion of the Van, Muir, and Schmidbauer Lane concept included the following: 

 Majority support for pedestrian‐only zone on West Van Lane until apartment building garage 
and to maintain vehicular access onto East Van Lane off Main Street. 

 Support to maintain access to public parking lot on East Van Lane. 

 Support for proposed spatial design as illustrated in Schmidbauer visual simulation. 

 Some support for pedestrian‐only zone on East Van Lane until Schmidbauer (Alternative #1). 

 Some support for raised crosswalk at Van Lane across Main Street. 

 Concern of duplicate  crosswalks at Van Lane across Main Street being dangerous;  consider 
removal of one. 

 Concern of maintaining vehicular and loading access to several properties with access points 
along West Van Lane if there is pedestrian‐only zone. For  instance, there are loading points 
for the Willits Community Theater off of both West Van Lane and Muir lane. 



June 28, 2016 | Page 3 

 Concern for loitering in front of Willits Community Theater with proposal of gathering space 
in front of it. 

 Concern for traffic stacking if vehicular access into East Van Lane from Main Street is closed 
off. 

 Consider slowing traffic to improve environment for pedestrians. 

 Consider restricting vehicle access onto West Van Lane to residents and theater traffic only, 
use removable bollards. 

Mendocino Avenue and Wood Street 

The discussion of the Mendocino Avenue and Wood Street couplet concept included the following: 

 Consensus on Alternative 1. 

 Concern  about  left  turn  onto Mendocino  Avenue  (from Main  Street)  –  Consider  providing 
left‐turn lanes/pockets onto West Mendocino Avenue off Main Street. 

 Concern of  increased traffic  load  impact on West Commercial with proposal to make Wood 
Street one‐way eastbound. 

 Consider Wood Street as one‐way west. 

 Consider Mendocino Avenue as one‐way east. 

 Consider purchasing property where old dry cleaner is currently located and demolishing the 
building to expand adjacent public parking lot. 

 Consider providing/improving lighting on public parking lots. 

 Consider preparing comprehensive circulation map to better showcase circulation changes to 
allow public to better understand proposed changes. 

 Ice on Muir Lane behind Loose Caboose (?). 

 Back‐up parking at Ardellas 

General/Other 

 Objection  to  removal  of  Main  Street  two‐way  left‐turn  lane;  consider  keeping  left‐turn 
pockets and provide with center median landscaping. 

 Concern for pedestrian safety along Madden Street; provide traffic calming to slow vehicular 
traffic. Cars tend to speed through. 

 Concern of Madden Street use for loading and unloading. 

 Consider providing sidewalks along western edge of Madden Street. 

 Consider School Street or Humboldt Street as a dedicated bike street (question to JH: do you 
remember if this people were suggesting complete streets or bicycle‐only streets?). 

 Consider making Railroad Avenue all the way to Baechtel Avenue as an alternate North‐South 
route. 

 Consider turning South Lenore Avenue and Boscabelle Avenue into one‐way streets. (?) 

 Consider converting other streets outside of downtown into one‐way streets. 

 



June 28, 2016 | Page 4 

Project prioritization from comment cards 

Meeting attendees were asked  to  input on  their  comment cards which project  concept  they would 
like to prioritize along with the preferred alternative in each. There were a total of ten comment cards 
submitted;  it should be noted that not all comment cards were completely  filled out. The  following 
should serve as a polling of what community members wish to happen: 

PROJECT PRIORITIZATION   

Project  1st Priority  2nd Priority  3rd Priority 

Commercial Street  0  2  0 

Van, Muir, and Schmidbauer Lanes  2  0  0 

Mendocino Avenue and Wood Street  1  0  0 

 

 

PROJECT ALTERNATIVE PREFERENCE   

Project  Alternative 1  Alternative 2  Alternative 3 

Commercial Street  2  1  4 

Van, Muir, and Schmidbauer Lanes  4  4  ‐ 

Mendocino Avenue and Wood Street  4  2  1 

 

Next Steps 

PlaceWorks  will  utilize  the  comments  generated  from  the  community  meeting  to  develop  a  next 
iteration  of  alternatives  for  each  project  design  concept  that  reflects  input  from  the  community 
meeting. 



































Downtown Willits Streets Alleys Connectivity Study
Conceptual Cost Estimate

Description Total

Segment #1. Commercial Street (School Street to Skunk Train) $572,476

Segment #2. Muir Lane (Commercial to Mendocino Avenue)and West Van Lane (School 
Street to Main Street)

$922,407

Segment #3. Schmidbauer Lane (Commercial to E Van Lane)and East Van Lane (Main 
Street to Humbolt Street)

$568,874

Segment #4. West and East Mendocino Avenue (School Street to Humbolt Street) $110,590

Segment #5. Wood Street $28,782

Entire Study Area (Segments 1-5) $2,203,129
Mobilization, Traffic Control, SWPPP (10%) $220,313
Design Contingency (10%) $220,313
Total Bid Price $2,643,755

Construction Contingency (10%) $264,375
Plans, Specifications and Estimates (PS&E) (10%) $264,375

Project Total $3,172,506

Notes: Costs are rough estimates and should be confirmed for accuracy.

All items listed include installation costs.

Segments Combined

9/14/2016

     APPENDIX "C"



DownTown Willits Streets Alleys Connectivity Study
Conceptual Cost Estimate

Description Qty. Unit Unit Cost Total

Street Trees & Tree Grate 27 EA $1,000 $27,000

Street Trees 10 EA $500 $5,000
Ladder Crosswalks 644 LF $16.50 $10,626

Curb and Gutter @ Bulbout 1,131 LF $40.00 $45,240

Concrete Paving @ Bulbout 21,000 SF $12.00 $252,000

ADA Curb Ramps 28 EA $1,500 $42,000

New or Modified Storm Drain (Connections) 22 LS $5,000.00 $110,000

White Lane Striping (Including parking ticks) 6,800 LF $2.00 $13,600

Yellow Center Line Striping 1,560 LF $4.00 $6,240

White Striped  Bike Lane Buffers 4,300 SF $4.00 $17,200

Green Painted Bike Facilities 1,005 SF $4.00 $4,020

Class II Markings 30 EA $50.00 $1,500

Vehicular Travel Lane Markings 11 EA $50.00 $550

Bike Rack 13 EA $1,000.00 $13,000

Trash Can 4 EA $3,000.00 $12,000

Bus Shelter 2 EA $5,000.00 $10,000

Bench 1 EA $2,500.00 $2,500

Notes: Costs are rough estimates and should be confirmed for accuracy. $572,476.00

All items listed include installation costs.

Segment #1. Commercial Street (School Street to Skunk Train)

Notes & Assumptions
Includes 24" box trees, 4'x4' tree wells, trenching, and barriers. Includes 
connection to irrigation.
Includes 24" box trees
Assumes "Standard Crosswalk" with 2' latter rungs spaced 2' apart.

Assumes 6" concrete curb.

Includes warning surface pavers, as well as demolition costs and 
repaving asphalt at cuts. 
At curb extension locations. 

Assumes double line

Includes green bike lanes and skip striping through conflict zones.

9/14/2016



Downtown Willits Streets Alleys Connectivity Study 
Conceptual Cost Estimate

Description Qty. Unit Unit Cost Total

Pedestrian Light 18 EA $10,000 $180,000

Street Trees 6 EA $500 $3,000
Curb 524 LF $40.00 $20,960

Concrete Pavers 11,600 SF $23.00 $266,800

Concrete Pavers (Pedestrian) 1,859 SF $23.00 $42,757

Plaza & Parking Pavers 1,350 SF $23.00 $31,050

Storm Drain Line 740 LF $100.00 $74,000

New or Modified Storm Drain (Connections) 4 LS $5,000.00 $20,000

Pedestrian Buffer Striping 1,859 SF $4.00 $7,436

White Lane Striping (Including parking ticks) 77 LF $2.00 $154

Vehicular Travel Lane Markings 5 EA $50.00 $250

Bollards 7 EA $1,000.00 $7,000

Bench 6 EA $2,500.00 $15,000

Gateway Markers 2 EA $2,000.00 $4,000

PG&E Utility Pole Underground 5 EA $50,000.00 $250,000

Notes: Costs are rough estimates and should be confirmed for accuracy. $922,407.00

All items listed include installation costs.

includes pavement demolition

includes pavement demolition

Segment #2. Muir Lane (Commercial to Mendocino Avenue) and West Van Lane (School Street to Main Street)

Notes & Assumptions

Includes 24" box trees
Assumes 6" concrete curb.

includes pavement demolition

At curb extension locations. 

Includes PG&E pole cost, other utility cost, trenching etc..

9/14/2016



Downtown Willits Streets Alleys Connectivity Study
Conceptual Cost Estimate

Description Qty. Unit Unit Cost Total

Pedestrian Light 11 EA $10,000 $110,000

Street Trees & Tree Grate 4 EA $1,000 $4,000

Street Trees 3 EA $500 $1,500
Curb 390 LF $40.00 $15,600
Concrete Pavers 5,700 SF $23.00 $131,100
Concrete Pavers (Pedestrian) 1,554 SF $23.00 $35,742
Plaza Pavers at Main Street 680 $23.00 $15,640
Storm Drain Line 441 LF $100.00 $44,100
New or Modified Storm Drain (Connections) 4 LS $5,000.00 $20,000
Parking Buffer 150 SF $4.00 $600
Pedestrian Buffer Striping 1,554 SF $4.00 $6,216
White Lane Striping (Including parking ticks) 263 LF $2.00 $526
Vehicular Travel Lane Markings 37 EA $50.00 $1,850
Bollards 3 EA $1,000.00 $3,000
Trellis 3 EA $5,000.00 $15,000
Bench 4 EA $2,500.00 $10,000
Gateway Markers 2 EA $2,000.00 $4,000
PG&E Utility Pole Underground 3 EA $50,000.00 $150,000

Notes: Costs are rough estimates and should be confirmed for accuracy. $568,874.00

All items listed include installation costs.

includes pavement demolition
includes pavement demolition

At curb extension locations. 

Includes PG&E pole cost, other utility cost, trenching etc..

Includes 24" box trees

Notes & Assumptions

Segment #3. Schmidbauer Lane (Commercial to E Van Lane) and East Van Lane (Main Street to Humbolt Street)

includes pavement demolition

Includes 24" box trees, 4'x4' tree wells, trenching, and barriers. Includes connection to irrigation.

Assumes 6" concrete curb.

9/14/2016



Downtown Willits Streets Alleys Connectivity Study
Conceptual Cost Estimate

Description Qty. Unit Unit Cost Total

Street Trees & Tree Grate 3 EA $1,000 $3,000

Street Trees 7 EA $500 $3,500
Landscape Area 326 SF $9 $2,934
Ladder Crosswalks 34 LF $16.50 $561

Curb and Gutter 552 LF $40.00 $22,080

Concrete Paving 4,200 SF $12.00 $50,400

Ladder Crosswalks at School Street 22 LF $16.50 $363

ADA Curb Ramps 3 EA $1,500 $4,500

New or Modified Storm Drain (Connections) 4 LS $5,000.00 $20,000

White Lane Striping (Including parking ticks) 326 LF $2.00 $652

Loading Zone Striping 600 SF $4.00 $2,400

Vehicular Travel Lane Markings 4 EA $50.00 $200

Notes: Costs are rough estimates and should be confirmed for accuracy. $110,590.00

All items listed include installation costs.

Assumes "Standard Crosswalk" with 2' latter rungs spaced 2' apart.
Includes warning surface pavers, as well as demolition costs and repaving 
asphalt at cuts. 
At curb extension locations. 

Segment #4. West and East Mendocino Avenue (School Street to Humbolt Street) 

Notes & Assumptions
Includes 24" box trees, 4'x4' tree wells, trenching, and barriers. Includes 
connection to irrigation.
Includes 24" box trees

Assumes "Standard Crosswalk" with 2' latter rungs spaced 2' apart.

Assumes 6" concrete curb.

9/14/2016



Downtown Willits Streets Alleys Connectivity Study Conceptual Cost Estimate

Description Qty. Unit Unit Cost Total
Ladder Crosswalks at School Street 20 LF $16.50 $330
Curb and Gutter 50 LF $40.00 $2,000
Concrete Paving 600 SF $12.00 $7,200
One way signage 4 EA $500.00 $2,000

ADA Curb Ramps 2 EA $1,500 $3,000

New or Modified Storm Drain (Connections) 1 LS $5,000.00 $5,000
White Lane Striping (Including parking ticks) 76 LF $2.00 $152
Loading Zone Striping 750 SF $4.00 $3,000
No Parking Red Striping 1,500 SF $4.00 $6,000
Vehicular Travel Lane Markings 2 EA $50.00 $100

Notes: Costs are rough estimates and should be confirmed for accuracy. $28,782.00

All items listed include installation costs.

Segment #5. Wood Street

Notes & Assumptions
Assumes "Standard Crosswalk" with 2' latter rungs spaced 2' apart.
Assumes 6" concrete curb.

Estimate for corners.

Includes warning surface pavers, as well as demolition costs and repaving
asphalt at cuts. 
At curb extension locations. 

9/14/2016



 111 E. COMMERCIAL STREET 
 WILLITS, CALIFORNIA 95490 

(707) 459-4601 TEL 
(707) 459-1562 FAX 

  
 

  Page 1 of 4 

 
WILLITS CITY COUNCIL 

MINUTES 
WEDNESDAY, OCTOBER 12, 2016 

 
 
Vice Mayor Orenstein called a regular meeting of the City Council to order at 6:30 p.m., in 
Council Chambers. The meeting was preceded by the pledge to the flag. 
 
Roll Call: Councilmembers Larry Stranske, Holly Madrigal, and Vice Mayor Ron Orenstein were 
present. Absent from this meeting were Councilmember Madge Strong and Mayor Bruce 
Burton. 

 
Also present were staff members: Adrienne Moore, City Manager; Jim Lance, City Attorney; 
Gerry Gonzalez, Police Chief; Susie Holmes, Finance Director; Dusty Duley, City Planner; 
Karen Stevenson, Human Resources Analyst; and Cathy Moorhead, City Clerk.  
 
2. PUBLIC COMMUNICATIONS 
None presented. 
 
3A. PRESENTATION OF PROCLAMATION RECOGNIZING “SUPPORT YOUR LOCAL CHAMBER OF 
COMMERCE DAY” ON OCTOBER 19, 2016 
Vice Mayor Orenstein read and presented a proclamation to Lynn Kennelly, Executive Director 
of the Willits Chamber of Commerce. Ms. Kennelly thanked the City Council and City Manager 
Moore for the recognition and invited all to attend there Open House on Wednesday, October 
19th from 2:00 p.m. to 4:00 p.m. At this event the Chamber of Commerce will be (horning their) 
oldest member, Paul Krauss who is 95 this year. Also in attendance were board members, 
Carlin Horger, Pam Baskins, and Ambassador April Tweddell. 
 
No action taken; presentation only 
 
3B. NOTICED PUBLIC HEARING – DISCUSSION AND POSSIBLE ADOPTION OF RESOLUTION 
AMENDING CHANGES IN CERTAIN FEES AND CHARGES, RETROACTIVE TO SEPTEMBER 1, 2016 
 
Public Comment: None. 
 
Moved by Madrigal/Seconded by Stranske and carried (3, with Burton and Strong absent) 
to adopt Resolution (No. 2016-22) approving City Fees and Charges, effective September 
1, 2016.  
 
4. CONSENT CALENDAR 
The following item(s) are recommended for approval:  
a. City Council Minutes: 

 September 14, 2016 – Pulled  
 September 26, 2016 – Special – Approved 

b. Disbursements Journal(s): 
 Warrant Nos. 28753-29086, Totaling $19,663.80 – Approved 
 Warrant Nos. 29248-29329, Totaling $480,967.66 – Approved 



City Council Minutes of October 12, 2016  Page 2 of 4 

c. Authorize City Manager to Finalize and Execute an Early Resignation/Retirement Waiver 
and Release Agreement for Tobey Dale – Approved 

d. Approve Professional Services Contract with Bartle Wells Associates to Conduct Rate and 
Capacity Fee Studies for Water and Wastewater, in an Amount Not to Exceed $45,300 – 
Pulled  

e. Adopt Resolution (No. 2016-23) to Obtain a Permit from Caltrans for the Willits Chamber 
of Commerce to hold the “Supper on the Bypass” Event on Saturday, October 29, 2016 
City Council Minutes – Approved 
 

Moved by Madrigal/Seconded by Stranske and carried (3, with Burton and Strong absent) 
to approve Consent Calendar items (a,b,c, & e) with the removal of the September 14th 
minutes and item 4d, Contract with Bartle Wells, Inc.  
 
5. INFORMATIONAL REPORTS 
Matters that do not require action by the City Council but are of public interest. 
a. Building Inspection Activity Report(s) – September 2016  
b. Business License Activity Report – September 2016 
c. Written Update from Caltrans Regarding the Willits Bypass Project – September 2016 
 
6. RIGHT TO APPEAL 
None presented. 
 
7. COMMISSIONS, AGENCIES AND AUTHORITIES  
None presented. 
 
8A. CITY MANAGER REPORTS 
City Manager Moore reported on the following: 
 Public Works crew is continuing to remove trees at Bud Snider Park, with replacement 

trees arriving mid-month;   
 City Manager Moore, Finance Director Holmes, Human Resources Analyst Stevenson, 

and City Clerk Moorhead visited the offices of RealCare Insurance Group and Redwood 
Empire Municipal Insurance Fund (REMIF) this past week; 

 REMIF was in Willits today conducting classes for City staff;  
 The City has been in discussion with Mark Westerburg, Superintendent of Willits Unified 

School District regarding cost of repairs for the Baechtel Grove Gymnasium, swimming 
pool, and tennis courts;  

 City Planner Duley, Airport Manager Ramsey, and City Manager Moore met to discuss 
the Airport Layout Plan; 

 Assemblyman Jim Wood will be in Willits on October 17th for a meet and great; and 
 Candidates Night will be on October 25th at the Little Lake Grange. 

 
No action taken. 
 
9. DEPARTMENT RECOMMENDATIONS 
a. Administration (including City Clerk, Finance, Human Resources, Legal) 

▪ City Clerk did not report.  
▪ Finance Director Holmes attended the REMIF Board meeting last Thursday in Ukiah; 

November 7th – 10th City Hall will be conducting a server update; auditors will be onsite 
the first week of December; and Finance Director Holmes is working on streamlining a 
variety of payment options for our customers.  

▪ City Manager Moore reported out for Human Resources – Ms. Stevenson has been 
conducting interview with all employees, getting to know them and their positions; 
attending various training classes; working on new programs; and has expressed 
interest in tackling the City’s website.   



City Council Minutes of October 12, 2016  Page 3 of 4 

▪ Legal did not report. 
b. Public Safety 

▪ Police Chief Gonzalez thanked Sergeant Donahue for his efforts with the police log 
each week; commented on the abundance of travelers in Willits at this time of the year; 
and department assisted the Mendocino County Sheriff’s Department with a situation 
in Brooktrails.  

c. Community Development (including Planning, Building, and Code Enforcement) 
▪  City Planner Duley has been working diligently on the Housing Element and Zoning 

Updates to be presented at a future City Council meeting; Willits Municipal Airport has 
completed a Pavement Management Plan; and has also received a draft Airport 
Layout Plan.  

▪  Building Official Sherman has sent a letter of appeal to FEMA regarding the revised 
Flood Insurance Rate Maps. 

d. Public Works & Engineering (including Engineering, Water and Wastewater Systems) 
▪ None presented.  

 
10. CITY COUNCIL AND COMMITTEE REPORTS 
a. Mendocino Council of Governments (MCOG) met,  
b. Local Agency Formation Commission (LAFCO) meeting was canceled. Next regularly 

scheduled meeting will be held on November 7th. 
c. Mendocino Transit Authority (MTA) did not meet. 
d. Mendocino Solid Waste Management Authority-Joint Powers Authority (MSWMA-JPA) 

met, and introduced the new General Manager, Louisa Morris. 
e. League of California Cities met at this year’s annual conference in Long Beach; 

Councilmember Madrigal did not attend, as she will be stepping down from her role as 
Second Vice President for LCC.  

f. Water & Wastewater Systems Committee did not meet. 
g. Revit-ED Committee met, completing a proposed draft Vacant Building Ordinance that will 

be presented to the City Council in the near future; and discussed more highway signage 
promoting Willits.   

h. Finance Committee did not meet. 
i. Ad Hoc Committees none reported. 
j. Other Committee Reports 

  Economic Development and Financing Corporation did not meet. 
  North Coast Railroad Authority (NCRA) met today with Councilmember Madrigal 

attending to discuss a variety of items.   
 
The new Marijuana Working Group has met twice in the last 2 weeks with City staff and are 
arranging a series of public workshops to gather information for the development of commercial 
cannabis policy within City boundaries. Further information regarding these workshops will be 
published in the local paper.  
 
11. COUNCIL MEMBER REPORTS AND RECOMMENDATIONS 
 Councilmember Madrigal informed the community that Willits has 2 vehicle charging 

stations, not one (that was noted in the local newspaper).         
 Vice Mayor Orenstein reported that he toured the Water Plant for the first time in over 10 

years and commented on how impressed he was with both city staff, and the plant. City 
Manager Moore added that the City has very stellar staff.    
 

12. ENACTMENT OF ORDINANCES 
a. Discussion and Possible Adoption of Ordinance Authorizing the Implementation of a 

Community Choice Aggregation Program by Participating with the Sonoma Clean Power 
Authority (Introduced at the City Council special meeting of September 26, 2016) 

 



City Council Minutes of October 12, 2016  Page 4 of 4 

Public Comment: None. 
 
Moved by Madrigal/Seconded by Stranske and carried (3, with Burton and Strong absent) 
to adopt Ordinance (No. 2016-02) Authorizing the Implementation of a Community Choice 
Aggregation Program within the City of Willits by Participating with the Sonoma Clean 
Power Authority. 
 
13. GOOD & WELFARE 
Councilmember Madrigal expressed her disappointment with the loss of the San Francisco 
Giants game, and will now be rooting for the Chicago Cubs. 
 
14. ADJOURNMENT 
Vice Mayor Orenstein adjourned the meeting at 7:30 p.m. 
 
 
 
 

____________________________ 
RON ORENSTEIN, Vice Mayor 

 
ATTEST: 
 
 
_______________________________ 
CATHY MOORHEAD, City Clerk 
 
 
 
 
 
COUNCIL MEETING RECORDINGS: City Council meetings are video recorded and broadcast live on the 2nd and 4th 
Wednesday of each month on Public Access Channel 3 and rebroadcast on Saturday and Sunday at 5:00 p.m. on 
Government Channel 64. DVD’s are available for check-out or may be purchased (with advance notice) for $15.00 at 
City Hall. 



ACCOUNTS PAYABLE SYSTEM                                                                                              CITY OF WILLITS
10/20/2016  11:59:04                                 Disbursements Journal                                 GL540R-V08.03 PAGE      1

WARRANT  DATE   VENDOR                      DESCRIPTION           AMOUNT    CLAIM  INVOICE        PO#    F 9 S ACCOUNT

       GENERAL CHECK FORM

 28757 10/04/16 LEEF/KEVIN             4809 LODGING PSP TRAINING  446.88    527556 160922                P N H 100.1020.2106.000

 28758 10/07/16 AFLAC                  4036 125 PLAN POLICY PRE 1,195.27    527557 322198                P N H 690.246

 28759 10/07/16 MASSMUTUAL RETIREMEN   4870 DEFERRED COMPENSATI 1,158.42    527558 INV27918431154        P N H 690.236

 28760 10/07/16 MENDOCINO CHILD SUPP   1057 PAYROLL DEDUC CHILD S 207.69    527559 161007                P N H 690.233

 28761 10/07/16 PERS                    256 EMPLOYER CONTRIBUT 10,496.19    527560 161007                P N H 690.229
 28761 10/07/16 PERS                    256 EMPLOYEE CONTRIBUTI 7,074.51    527560 161007                P N H 690.230
                                                               17,570.70   *CHECK TOTAL

 29248 09/30/16 ADAM'S TIRE & AUTO S    225 TIRE UNIT 168         100.00CR  527562 160907                P M H 201.2011.2041.000

 29274 09/30/16 GARTON TRACTOR INC     4935 TRACTOR RENTAL      3,189.69CR  527561 RU00511               P N H 501.5013.2095.000

       GENERAL CHECK FORM                           TOTAL      17,289.27



ACCOUNTS PAYABLE SYSTEM                                                                                              CITY OF WILLITS
10/17/2016  17:52:33                                 Disbursements Journal                                 GL540R-V08.03 PAGE      1

WARRANT  DATE   VENDOR                      DESCRIPTION           AMOUNT    CLAIM  INVOICE        PO#    F 9 S ACCOUNT

       GENERAL CHECK FORM

 29330 10/15/16 ALPHA ANALYTICAL LAB      7 WATER TESTING       1,237.00    527467 160930                P N W 503.5033.2061.015
 29330 10/15/16 ALPHA ANALYTICAL LAB      7 SEWER TESTING       5,097.50    527468 160930                P N W 501.5013.2061.015
                                                                6,334.50   *CHECK TOTAL

 29331 10/15/16 AT&T                   4123 POLICE DEPT           557.18    527464 8682358               P N W 100.1020.2015.000
 29331 10/15/16 AT&T                   4123 PUBLIC WORKS           99.77    527464 8682358               P N W 100.1040.2015.000
 29331 10/15/16 AT&T                   4123 ENGINEERING            99.77    527464 8682358               P N W 100.1042.2015.000
 29331 10/15/16 AT&T                   4123 POOL                   16.90    527464 8682358               P N W 100.1030.2015.000
 29331 10/15/16 AT&T                   4123 SEWER PLANT           110.86    527464 8682358               P N W 501.5013.2015.000
 29331 10/15/16 AT&T                   4123 WATER PLANT            70.05    527464 8682358               P N W 503.5030.2015.000
 29331 10/15/16 AT&T                   4123 AIRPORT                37.38    527464 8682358               P N W 500.5001.2110.000
 29331 10/15/16 AT&T                   4123 4601-2-3 40%          415.81    527464 8682358               P N W 100.1002.2015.000
 29331 10/15/16 AT&T                   4123 24%                   249.48    527464 8682358               P N W 265.2650.2015.000
 29331 10/15/16 AT&T                   4123 12%                   124.74    527464 8682358               P N W 265.2650.2015.000
 29331 10/15/16 AT&T                   4123 12%                   124.74    527464 8682358               P N W 100.1015.2015.000
 29331 10/15/16 AT&T                   4123 12%                   124.74    527464 8682358               P N W 100.1010.2015.000
 29331 10/15/16 AT&T                   4123 PLANNING 9341 2/3      24.92    527464 8682358               P N W 265.2650.2015.000
 29331 10/15/16 AT&T                   4123 1/3                    12.46    527464 8682358               P N W 100.1010.2015.000
                                                                2,068.80   *CHECK TOTAL

 29332 10/15/16 AT&T                   4615 WATER                 176.59    527465 160919                P N W 503.5030.2015.000

 29333 10/15/16 AUTO MART AUTO REPAI   4791 VEHICLE MAINT UNIT 254 59.87    527466 20880                 P M W 100.1022.2044.000

 29334 10/15/16 BESLEY/VERON         .09656 WATER DEPOSIT REFUND   54.71    527472 10105590005           P N W 503.111

 29335 10/15/16 BLUE TARP FINANCIAL    4909 SALT SPREADER/SNOW  3,072.06    527479 36212034              P N W 201.2011.4002.000
 29335 10/15/16 BLUE TARP FINANCIAL    4909 SALT SPREADER/SNOW  4,100.00    527479 36212034              P N W 100.1050.4002.000
                                                                7,172.06   *CHECK TOTAL

 29336 10/15/16 BOWERS/JOSH            4239 WEBSITE MAINT         448.50    527471 194                   P M W 100.1002.2081.030

 29337 10/15/16 BOWLDS/DARIN           4732 BOOT ALLOWANCE        200.00    527469 407046                P N W 100.1041.2010.000

 29338 10/15/16 BROOKTRAILS TOWNSHIP    491 AIRPORT WATER & SEWER 154.86    527470 CIT0001               P N W 500.5001.2111.000

 29339 10/15/16 CALDWELL/NICOLE        4749 MILEAGE REIMBURSEMENT 177.55    527554 161017                P N W 501.5013.2105.000
 29339 10/15/16 CALDWELL/NICOLE        4749 PER DIEM               49.00    527554 161017                P N W 501.5013.2105.000
                                                                  226.55   *CHECK TOTAL

 29340 10/15/16 CALIFORNIA BUILDING    4318 BOARD STANDARD FEES    54.00    527528 161011                P N W 600.605

 29341 10/15/16 CALPERS                4985 RETIREMENT OBLIGATION 447.56    527481 161001                P N W 100.1001.1014.000
 29341 10/15/16 CALPERS                4985 RETIREMENT OBLIGATI 1,047.65    527481 161001                P N W 100.1002.1014.000
 29341 10/15/16 CALPERS                4985 RETIREMENT OBLIGATI 2,284.75    527481 161001                P N W 100.1003.1014.000
 29341 10/15/16 CALPERS                4985 RETIREMENT OBLIGATI 1,175.17    527481 161001                P N W 100.1010.1014.000
 29341 10/15/16 CALPERS                4985 RETIREMENT OBLIGATION 597.59    527481 161001                P N W 100.1011.1014.000
 29341 10/15/16 CALPERS                4985 RETIREMENT OBLIGATION 590.08    527481 161001                P N W 100.1015.1014.000
 29341 10/15/16 CALPERS                4985 RETIREMENT OBLIGATION 205.03    527481 161001                P N W 100.1016.1014.000
 29341 10/15/16 CALPERS                4985 RETIREMENT OBLIGATI 5,810.11    527481 161001                P N W 100.1020.1014.000



ACCOUNTS PAYABLE SYSTEM                                                                                              CITY OF WILLITS
10/17/2016  17:52:33                                 Disbursements Journal                                 GL540R-V08.03 PAGE      2

WARRANT  DATE   VENDOR                      DESCRIPTION           AMOUNT    CLAIM  INVOICE        PO#    F 9 S ACCOUNT

       GENERAL CHECK FORM

 29341 10/15/16 CALPERS                4985 RETIREMENT OBLIGATI 2,777.90    527481 161001                P N W 100.1021.1014.000
 29341 10/15/16 CALPERS                4985 RETIREMENT OBLIGAT 15,925.95    527481 161001                P N W 100.1022.1014.000
 29341 10/15/16 CALPERS                4985 RETIREMENT OBLIGATION 312.55    527481 161001                P N W 100.1023.1014.000
 29341 10/15/16 CALPERS                4985 RETIREMENT OBLIGATION 545.08    527481 161001                P N W 100.1041.1014.000
 29341 10/15/16 CALPERS                4985 RETIREMENT OBLIGATION  20.00    527481 161001                P N W 100.1042.1014.000
 29341 10/15/16 CALPERS                4985 RETIREMENT OBLIGATION 240.03    527481 161001                P N W 100.1050.1014.000
 29341 10/15/16 CALPERS                4985 RETIREMENT OBLIGATION 600.09    527481 161001                P N W 201.2010.1014.000
 29341 10/15/16 CALPERS                4985 RETIREMENT OBLIGATI 1,392.70    527481 161001                P N W 201.2011.1014.000
 29341 10/15/16 CALPERS                4985 RETIREMENT OBLIGATION 122.52    527481 161001                P N W 201.2012.1014.000
 29341 10/15/16 CALPERS                4985 RETIREMENT OBLIGATION  82.51    527481 161001                P N W 202.2020.1014.000
 29341 10/15/16 CALPERS                4985 RETIREMENT OBLIGATION  30.00    527481 161001                P N W 265.2650.1014.000
 29341 10/15/16 CALPERS                4985 RETIREMENT OBLIGATION 725.10    527481 161001                P N W 501.5010.1014.000
 29341 10/15/16 CALPERS                4985 RETIREMENT OBLIGATI 1,710.25    527481 161001                P N W 501.5011.1014.000
 29341 10/15/16 CALPERS                4985 RETIREMENT OBLIGATI 1,907.77    527481 161001                P N W 501.5013.1014.000
 29341 10/15/16 CALPERS                4985 RETIREMENT OBLIGATION  37.51    527481 161001                P N W 501.5014.1014.000
 29341 10/15/16 CALPERS                4985 RETIREMENT OBLIGATION  27.50    527481 161001                P N W 501.5015.1014.000
 29341 10/15/16 CALPERS                4985 RETIREMENT OBLIGATI 1,045.15    527481 161001                P N W 503.5030.1014.000
 29341 10/15/16 CALPERS                4985 RETIREMENT OBLIGATI 1,332.69    527481 161001                P N W 503.5031.1014.000
 29341 10/15/16 CALPERS                4985 RETIREMENT OBLIGATI 3,375.49    527481 161001                P N W 503.5033.1014.000
 29341 10/15/16 CALPERS                4985 RETIREMENT OBLIGATO 1,172.67    527481 161001                P N W 503.5034.1014.000
                                                               45,541.40   *CHECK TOTAL

 29342 10/15/16 CANON SOLUTIONS AMER   4988 COPIER MAINT           47.19    527483 4020324765            P N W 503.5033.2055.000

 29343 10/15/16 CERATTO/MICHAEL        4787 CITY HALL JANITORIAL  800.00    527482 161015                P M W 100.1016.2061.020

 29344 10/15/16 COAST HARDWARE           31 MONTHLY STATEMENT      10.34    527484 16930                 P N W 501.5013.2041.000
 29344 10/15/16 COAST HARDWARE           31 MONTHLY STATEMENT      15.72    527484 16930                 P N W 503.5032.2041.000
 29344 10/15/16 COAST HARDWARE           31 MONTHLY STATEMENT     212.85    527484 16930                 P N W 503.5033.2101.034
                                                                  238.91   *CHECK TOTAL

 29345 10/15/16 COUNTY OF MENDOCINO    5004 IT SERVICES           650.00    527473 20167-2               P N W 100.1020.2081.030
 29345 10/15/16 COUNTY OF MENDOCINO    5004 IT SERVICES           650.00    527474 20169-2               P N W 100.1020.2081.030
 29345 10/15/16 COUNTY OF MENDOCINO    5004 IT SERVICES         1,186.10    527475 20168-2               P N W 100.1020.2081.030
 29345 10/15/16 COUNTY OF MENDOCINO    5004 IT SERVICES         2,254.74    527476 20169-6               P N W 100.1007.2050.000
 29345 10/15/16 COUNTY OF MENDOCINO    5004 IT SERVICES         2,917.85    527477 20168-6               P N W 100.1007.2050.000
 29345 10/15/16 COUNTY OF MENDOCINO    5004 IT SERVICES         4,115.29    527478 20167-6               P N W 100.1007.2050.000
                                                               11,773.98   *CHECK TOTAL

 29346 10/15/16 CURRY'S DISCOUNT INC   4198 OFFICE SUPPLIES       622.98    527485 160930                P N W 100.1002.2055.000
 29346 10/15/16 CURRY'S DISCOUNT INC   4198 OFFICE SUPPLIES        64.41    527485 160930                P N W 100.1042.2055.000
 29346 10/15/16 CURRY'S DISCOUNT INC   4198 OFFICE SUPPLIES       199.87    527485 160930                P N W 100.1020.2055.000
                                                                  887.26   *CHECK TOTAL

 29347 10/15/16 D'ORAZIO/RENAULD       4928 LODGING REIMBURSEMENT 542.45    527486 160922                P N W 100.1020.2106.000
 29347 10/15/16 D'ORAZIO/RENAULD       4928 PER DIEM 5 DAYS       200.00    527486 160922                P N W 100.1020.2106.000
                                                                  742.45   *CHECK TOTAL



ACCOUNTS PAYABLE SYSTEM                                                                                              CITY OF WILLITS
10/17/2016  17:52:33                                 Disbursements Journal                                 GL540R-V08.03 PAGE      3

WARRANT  DATE   VENDOR                      DESCRIPTION           AMOUNT    CLAIM  INVOICE        PO#    F 9 S ACCOUNT

       GENERAL CHECK FORM

 29348 10/15/16 DEEP VALLEY SECURITY     40 SECURITY              100.00    527487 301612                P N W 100.1020.2081.030
 29348 10/15/16 DEEP VALLEY SECURITY     40 SECURITY               43.95    527488 302083                P N W 100.1040.2081.030
 29348 10/15/16 DEEP VALLEY SECURITY     40 SECURITY               43.95    527488 302083                P N W 100.1042.2081.030
                                                                  187.90   *CHECK TOTAL

 29349 10/15/16 EEL RIVER FUELS          28 DIESEL                300.87    527489 525592                P N W 100.126
 29349 10/15/16 EEL RIVER FUELS          28 REGULAR FUEL        1,098.80    527489 525592                P N W 100.125
                                                                1,399.67   *CHECK TOTAL

 29350 10/15/16 FEDERAL EXPRESS          50 SHIPPING               22.41    527491 5-555-59550           P N W 100.1015.2055.000

 29351 10/15/16 FIELDS/LES           .09659 REFUND BUS LIC FEE      1.00    527553 42                    P N W 600.614
 29351 10/15/16 FIELDS/LES           .09659 REFUND BUS LIC FEE     20.00    527553 42                    P N W 100.1003.6650.000
                                                                   21.00   *CHECK TOTAL

 29352 10/15/16 FISHER WIRELESS        4105 PD RADIO MAINT         14.33    527490 227213                P N W 100.1020.2041.000

 29353 10/15/16 GAMBLE/LOGAN           4660 BOOT ALLOWANCE        200.00    527496 409360                P N W 100.1041.2010.000

 29354 10/15/16 GARTON TRACTOR INC     4935 TRACTOR REPAIR     14,873.17    527493 SU06190               P N W 501.5013.2095.000
 29354 10/15/16 GARTON TRACTOR INC     4935 RENTAL CREDIT RETUR 4,784.53CR  527494 RU00521               P N W 501.5011.2095.000
                                                               10,088.64   *CHECK TOTAL

 29355 10/15/16 GRAINGER                173 WATER PLANT SUPPLIES  122.79    527492 9236152436            P M W 503.5033.2041.000

 29356 10/15/16 GROUNDWATER & ENVIRO   4939 MONITORING & SAMPLING 245.00    527495 773155                P N W 201.2011.2081.030

 29357 10/15/16 HARRIS/KAREN           4674 ADV DISABILITY PENS 2,926.80    527497 161015                P N W 100.1022.1014.000

 29358 10/15/16 JD REDHOUSE            4223 PD K-9 DOG FOOD        57.30    527498 8797                  P N W 661.6610.2199.000

 29359 10/15/16 L.N. CURTIS & SONS     4716 PD TACTICAL GEAR    2,899.80    527499 INV54028              P N W 651.6510.2199.000

 29360 10/15/16 LANCE/JAMES H.         4054 LEGAL SERVICES      3,412.50    527500 3175                  P M W 100.1004.2081.030

 29361 10/15/16 LES SCHWAB TIRES INC   4015 OIL CHANGE UNIT #247   63.75    527502 63700143722           P N W 100.1022.2044.000

 29362 10/15/16 LITTLE LAKE AUTO PAR     46 EQUIP MAINT            23.37    527501 160930                P N W 201.2011.2041.000
 29362 10/15/16 LITTLE LAKE AUTO PAR     46 AUTO MAINT SUPPLIES   139.47    527501 160930                P N W 100.1020.2041.000
 29362 10/15/16 LITTLE LAKE AUTO PAR     46 AUTO MAINT SUPPLIES    12.95    527501 160930                P N W 100.1041.2041.000
 29362 10/15/16 LITTLE LAKE AUTO PAR     46 EQUIP MAINT PARTS      39.44    527501 160930                P N W 501.5011.2041.000
 29362 10/15/16 LITTLE LAKE AUTO PAR     46 EQUIP MAINT SUPPLIES   23.24    527501 160930                P N W 501.5013.2041.000
 29362 10/15/16 LITTLE LAKE AUTO PAR     46 EQUIP MAINT SUPPLIES   61.49    527501 160930                P N W 503.5031.2041.000
 29362 10/15/16 LITTLE LAKE AUTO PAR     46 AUTO MAINT SUPPLIES     7.23    527501 160930                P N W 100.1050.2045.000
                                                                  307.19   *CHECK TOTAL

 29363 10/15/16 MATTSON/SCOTT          5049 MILEAGE               148.07    527503 161010                P N W 501.5013.2105.000
 29363 10/15/16 MATTSON/SCOTT          5049 PER DIEM               39.00    527503 161010                P N W 501.5013.2105.000
 29363 10/15/16 MATTSON/SCOTT          5049 BRIDGE TOLL             5.00    527503 161010                P N W 501.5013.2105.000
                                                                  192.07   *CHECK TOTAL



ACCOUNTS PAYABLE SYSTEM                                                                                              CITY OF WILLITS
10/17/2016  17:52:33                                 Disbursements Journal                                 GL540R-V08.03 PAGE      4

WARRANT  DATE   VENDOR                      DESCRIPTION           AMOUNT    CLAIM  INVOICE        PO#    F 9 S ACCOUNT

       GENERAL CHECK FORM

 29364 10/15/16 MENDO MILL & LUMBER     101 MONTHLY STATEMENT      16.76    527504 160930                P N W 100.1016.2045.000
 29364 10/15/16 MENDO MILL & LUMBER     101 MONTHLY STATEMENT      44.43    527504 160930                P N W 100.1041.2041.000
 29364 10/15/16 MENDO MILL & LUMBER     101 MONTHLY STATEMENT      73.23    527504 160930                P N W 100.1050.2041.000
 29364 10/15/16 MENDO MILL & LUMBER     101 MONTHLY STATEMENT      45.90    527504 160930                P N W 100.1050.2081.030
 29364 10/15/16 MENDO MILL & LUMBER     101 MONTHLY STATEMENT      17.98    527504 160930                P N W 100.1050.2101.045
 29364 10/15/16 MENDO MILL & LUMBER     101 MONTHLY STATEMENT     151.33    527504 160930                P N W 100.1050.2045.000
 29364 10/15/16 MENDO MILL & LUMBER     101 MONTHLY STATEMENT      59.92    527504 160930                P N W 201.2011.2041.000
 29364 10/15/16 MENDO MILL & LUMBER     101 MONTHLY STATEMENT       6.22    527504 160930                P N W 201.2012.2041.000
 29364 10/15/16 MENDO MILL & LUMBER     101 MONTHLY STATEMENT      16.43    527504 160930                P N W 201.2012.2101.045
 29364 10/15/16 MENDO MILL & LUMBER     101 MONTHLY STATEMENT      67.32    527504 160930                P N W 501.5013.4002.000
 29364 10/15/16 MENDO MILL & LUMBER     101 MONTHLY STATEMENT      43.49    527504 160930                P N W 501.5011.2041.000
 29364 10/15/16 MENDO MILL & LUMBER     101 MONTHLY STATEMENT     138.53    527504 160930                P N W 501.5013.2041.000
 29364 10/15/16 MENDO MILL & LUMBER     101 MONTHLY STATEMENT     829.43    527504 160930                P N W 501.5015.2041.000
 29364 10/15/16 MENDO MILL & LUMBER     101 MONTHLY STATEMENT     444.33    527504 160930                P N W 501.5013.4003.003
 29364 10/15/16 MENDO MILL & LUMBER     101 MONTHLY STATEMENT      55.18    527504 160930                P N W 501.5013.2101.045
 29364 10/15/16 MENDO MILL & LUMBER     101 MONTHLY STATEMENT     147.52    527504 160930                P N W 501.5013.2045.000
 29364 10/15/16 MENDO MILL & LUMBER     101 MONTHLY STATEMENT     211.78    527504 160930                P N W 503.5031.2041.000
 29364 10/15/16 MENDO MILL & LUMBER     101 MONTHLY STATEMENT      42.29    527504 160930                P N W 503.5033.2041.000
 29364 10/15/16 MENDO MILL & LUMBER     101 MONTHLY STATEMENT       4.30    527504 160930                P N W 503.5033.2101.034
                                                                2,416.37   *CHECK TOTAL

 29365 10/15/16 MENDOCINO CONST SERV    714 T-9 TRANSFER          178.75    527506 2549                  P N W 501.5011.2101.035
 29365 10/15/16 MENDOCINO CONST SERV    714 T-9 TRANSFER          178.75    527506 2549                  P N W 503.5031.2101.035
                                                                  357.50   *CHECK TOTAL

 29366 10/15/16 MENDOCINO PUBLIC HEA   4811 MENTORING & LDRSHP  2,000.00    527480 161006                P N W 600.626

 29367 10/15/16 MUNICIPAL CODE CORPO   4530 CODE OF ORDINANCES UP 573.07    527505 276149                P N W 100.1001.2081.030

 29368 10/15/16 NOR-CAL RECYCLED ROC   4067 SLURRY              1,459.20    527508 12248                 P N W 201.2012.2101.045

 29369 10/15/16 NORTHERN AGGREGATES     326 COBBLES               725.95    527507 51140                 P N W 202.2020.2101.035

 29370 10/15/16 O'SHEA/KENAN           5075 BOOT ALLOWANCE        200.00    527509 197063                P N W 100.1041.2010.000

 29371 10/15/16 P G & E COMPANY         114 CITY HALL           1,683.28    527510 160926                P N W 100.1016.2110.000
 29371 10/15/16 P G & E COMPANY         114 PD RADIO               10.51    527510 160926                P N W 100.1020.2110.000
 29371 10/15/16 P G & E COMPANY         114 PUBLIC WORKS          361.63    527510 160926                P N W 100.1040.2110.000
 29371 10/15/16 P G & E COMPANY         114 ENGINEERING           144.46    527510 160926                P N W 100.1042.2110.000
 29371 10/15/16 P G & E COMPANY         114 PARKS               1,510.26    527510 160926                P N W 100.1050.2110.000
 29371 10/15/16 P G & E COMPANY         114 STREET LIGHTS       5,877.38    527510 160926                P N W 201.2010.2110.000
 29371 10/15/16 P G & E COMPANY         114 AIRPORT               375.38    527510 160926                P N W 500.5001.2110.000
 29371 10/15/16 P G & E COMPANY         114 SP COLLECTION          49.07    527510 160926                P N W 501.5011.2110.000
 29371 10/15/16 P G & E COMPANY         114 SEWER              18,573.01    527510 160926                P N W 501.5013.2110.000
 29371 10/15/16 P G & E COMPANY         114 WATER               1,920.88    527510 160926                P N W 503.5033.2110.000
                                                               30,505.86   *CHECK TOTAL

 29372 10/15/16 PABALATE FAMILY TRUS .09657 WATER DEPOSIT REFUND   15.54    527514 10400550003           P N W 503.111



ACCOUNTS PAYABLE SYSTEM                                                                                              CITY OF WILLITS
10/17/2016  17:52:33                                 Disbursements Journal                                 GL540R-V08.03 PAGE      5

WARRANT  DATE   VENDOR                      DESCRIPTION           AMOUNT    CLAIM  INVOICE        PO#    F 9 S ACCOUNT

       GENERAL CHECK FORM

 29373 10/15/16 PACE SUPPLY CORP         12 WATER SUPPLIES        655.10    527516 160925                P N W 503.5031.2041.000
 29373 10/15/16 PACE SUPPLY CORP         12 MAIN ST WTR LINE SUPPL 16.68    527516 160925                P N W 503.5031.4003.003
 29373 10/15/16 PACE SUPPLY CORP         12 SWR PLNT SUPPLIES     621.58    527516 160925                P N W 501.5013.4003.000
 29373 10/15/16 PACE SUPPLY CORP         12 MISC SUPPLIES         154.66    527516 160925                P N W 501.5013.2041.000
 29373 10/15/16 PACE SUPPLY CORP         12 SWR PLANT SUPPLIES     64.42    527516 160925                P N W 501.5011.2041.000
 29373 10/15/16 PACE SUPPLY CORP         12 SEPTAGE RECEIVING      41.60    527516 160925                P N W 501.5015.2041.000
 29373 10/15/16 PACE SUPPLY CORP         12 SWR PLANT SUPPLIES    427.48    527516 160925                P N W 501.5011.2041.000
 29373 10/15/16 PACE SUPPLY CORP         12 MISC SUPPLIES       1,568.93    527516 160925                P N W 201.2012.2101.045
                                                                3,550.45   *CHECK TOTAL

 29374 10/15/16 PACIFIC INTERNET INC   1442 EMAIL SERVICE         275.50    527515 161003                P N W 100.1003.2041.000

 29375 10/15/16 PERPETUAL ENERGY SYS   4254 WATER PLANT SOLAR  17,084.10    527513 WIL-1609              P N W 503.5033.2110.000

 29376 10/15/16 PETERSON                208 BOLTS/NUTS             69.42    527511 PC060134054           P M W 100.1041.2041.000

 29377 10/15/16 PLATT                  4506 SEWER PLANT SUPPLIES  106.37    527512 K202759               P N W 501.5011.2041.000

 29378 10/15/16 RAMSEY/DAN             4773 AIRPORT MGMT SERVIC 1,833.00    527517 160730                P M W 500.5001.2081.030
 29378 10/15/16 RAMSEY/DAN             4773 AIRPORT DAYS REIMBURS 287.75    527517 160730                P M W 500.5001.2101.045
                                                                2,120.75   *CHECK TOTAL

 29379 10/15/16 SANTA ROSA JUNIOR CO   4765 FTO COURSE             66.00    527529 161008                P N W 100.1020.2106.000

 29380 10/15/16 SAVINGS BANK OF MEND   5063 HSA ACCOUNT DEPOSIT 5,200.00    527526 161001                P N W 690.231

 29381 10/15/16 SCOTT'S TANKS          4275 SEPTIC RECEIVING STATI 30.80    527525 34510                 P M W 501.5015.2041.000

 29382 10/15/16 SENERCHIA/SAMUEL     .09658 WATER DEPOSIT REFUND   46.02    527519 10102980007           P N W 503.111

 29383 10/15/16 SOLID WASTE OF WILLI    330 MIXED SOLID WASTE      32.96    527520 18471                 P M W 201.2011.2101.045
 29383 10/15/16 SOLID WASTE OF WILLI    330 MIXED SOLID WASTE      32.96    527521 18419                 P M W 501.5013.2199.000
 29383 10/15/16 SOLID WASTE OF WILLI    330 REFUSE                 27.00    527522 355722                P M W 503.5031.2041.000
 29383 10/15/16 SOLID WASTE OF WILLI    330 BIN SERVICE           216.02    527524 106                   P M W 501.5013.2199.000
                                                                  308.94   *CHECK TOTAL

 29384 10/15/16 SPARETIME SUPPLY INC    124 SUN PEAT MOSS          13.14    527518 160930                P N W 100.1050.2045.000

 29385 10/15/16 STATE BOARD OF EQUAL   4317 USE TAX 3RD QTR        23.00    527555 161017                P N W 501.5011.2041.000
 29385 10/15/16 STATE BOARD OF EQUAL   4317 USE TAX 3RD QTR        43.00    527555 161017                P N W 100.1050.2045.000
 29385 10/15/16 STATE BOARD OF EQUAL   4317 USE TAX 3RD QTR       638.00    527555 161017                P N W 501.5013.2041.000
                                                                  704.00   *CHECK TOTAL

 29386 10/15/16 STATE DEPT OF CONSER    275 STONG MOTION IMPACT F 161.63    527527 161011                P N W 600.607

 29387 10/15/16 STATE OF CALIFORNIA     534 WORK CREW             456.96    527523 136585                P N W 100.1050.2101.045

 29388 10/15/16 STATE WATER RES CONT    468 T3 WTR OPERATOR CERT   90.00    527530 1610132016            P N W 501.5013.2001.002



ACCOUNTS PAYABLE SYSTEM                                                                                              CITY OF WILLITS
10/17/2016  17:52:33                                 Disbursements Journal                                 GL540R-V08.03 PAGE      6

WARRANT  DATE   VENDOR                      DESCRIPTION           AMOUNT    CLAIM  INVOICE        PO#    F 9 S ACCOUNT

       GENERAL CHECK FORM

 29389 10/15/16 TELECOM SERVICES       4691 MAINT CONTRACT        570.00    527532 8432                  P N W 100.1040.2041.000

 29390 10/15/16 THOMSON REUTERS - WE   4122 LEGAL UPDATES         440.81    527531 834817123             P N W 100.1004.2050.000

 29391 10/15/16 TOSHIBA                4263 CITY HALL             932.75    527533 314962614             P N W 100.1002.2095.000
 29391 10/15/16 TOSHIBA                4263 PLANNING               65.77    527533 314962614             P N W 100.1010.2055.000
 29391 10/15/16 TOSHIBA                4263 CODE ENFORCEMENT       65.77    527533 314962614             P N W 100.1011.2055.000
 29391 10/15/16 TOSHIBA                4263 BUILDING               65.77    527533 314962614             P N W 100.1015.2055.000
 29391 10/15/16 TOSHIBA                4263 SA                     65.77    527533 314962614             P N W 265.2650.2055.000
                                                                1,195.83   *CHECK TOTAL

 29392 10/15/16 UNIVAR USA INC          655 WATER PLANT CHEMICA 4,752.00    527540 SJ774677              P N W 503.5033.2101.034
 29392 10/15/16 UNIVAR USA INC          655 WATER PLANT CHEMIC 12,144.00    527541 SJ775488              P N W 503.5033.2101.034
                                                               16,896.00   *CHECK TOTAL

 29393 10/15/16 USA BLUEBOOK           3997 LAB SUPPLIES SEWER PL 262.32    527534 067267                P N W 501.5013.2101.034
 29393 10/15/16 USA BLUEBOOK           3997 HYDROMETER             71.51    527535 067473                P N W 503.5033.2041.000
 29393 10/15/16 USA BLUEBOOK           3997 CULTURE TUBES          38.87    527536 075219                P N W 501.5013.2101.034
 29393 10/15/16 USA BLUEBOOK           3997 CULTURE TUBES         141.65    527537 075218                P N W 501.5013.2101.034
 29393 10/15/16 USA BLUEBOOK           3997 CULTURE TUBES/SOAP/PI 229.56    527538 075100                P N W 501.5013.2101.034
 29393 10/15/16 USA BLUEBOOK           3997 GASKET/WRENCH         187.88    527539 078387                P N W 503.5033.2041.000
                                                                  931.79   *CHECK TOTAL

 29394 10/15/16 WESTERN ALLIANCE BAN   5038 PRINCIPAL 4110482 143,359.51    527552 161015                P N W 501.5018.3001.000
 29394 10/15/16 WESTERN ALLIANCE BAN   5038 INTEREST 411048282 64,338.14    527552 161015                P N W 501.5018.3002.000
                                                              207,697.65   *CHECK TOTAL

 29395 10/15/16 WILLITS HIGH SCHOOL    4441 BOYS SOCCER PROGRAM 2,000.00    527546 161017                P N W 600.626

 29396 10/15/16 WILLITS HIGH SCHOOL    4908 SWIM PROGRAM        2,500.00    527547 160928                P N W 600.626

 29397 10/15/16 WILLITS KIDS CLUB      3981 GUIDANCE & ENRICHME 3,000.00    527543 161003                P N W 600.626
 29397 10/15/16 WILLITS KIDS CLUB      3981 GUIDANCE & ENRICHME 1,155.00    527544 161006                P N W 600.626
 29397 10/15/16 WILLITS KIDS CLUB      3981 PAYROLL DEDUCTION      20.00    527545 161007                P N W 690.248
                                                                4,175.00   *CHECK TOTAL

 29398 10/15/16 WILLITS POWER          1245 MONTHLY STATEMENT     713.57    527551 161001                P M W 100.1050.2081.030
 29398 10/15/16 WILLITS POWER          1245 MONTHLY STATEMENT      86.48    527551 161001                P M W 100.1050.2041.000
 29398 10/15/16 WILLITS POWER          1245 MONTHLY STATEMENT      13.49    527551 161001                P M W 501.5013.4003.003
 29398 10/15/16 WILLITS POWER          1245 MONTHLY STATEMENT     186.25    527551 161001                P M W 503.5033.2041.000
 29398 10/15/16 WILLITS POWER          1245 MONTHLY STATEMENT      42.55    527551 161001                P M W 503.5031.2041.000
                                                                1,042.34   *CHECK TOTAL

 29399 10/15/16 WL FUNDING INC         5053 OFFICE ASSISTANT      292.88    527548 27006858              P N W 100.1003.2081.030
 29399 10/15/16 WL FUNDING INC         5053 OFFICE ASSISTANT      266.25    527549 27006846              P N W 100.1003.2081.030
 29399 10/15/16 WL FUNDING INC         5053 OFFICE ASSISTANT      394.05    527550 27006786              P N W 100.1003.2081.030
                                                                  953.18   *CHECK TOTAL

       GENERAL CHECK FORM                           TOTAL     406,082.95



Item No. 4d 4c 
Meeting Date: October 12, 2016  October 26, 2016 

 
 
 
 

AGENDA SUMMARY REPORT 
 

To:   Honorable Mayor and Council Members 

From:   Susie Holmes, Finance Director, and Scott Herman, Utilities Superintendent 

Agenda Title:  APPROVE AND AWARD A PROFESSIONAL SERVICES CONTRACT WITH BARTLE 
WELLS ASSOCIATES TO CONDUCT RATE AND CAPACITY FEE STUDIES FOR WATER AND 
WASTEWATER, IN AN AMOUNT NOT TO EXCEED $45,300 

Type:  Presentation    Consent    Regular Agenda    Public Hearing    Urgent   Time: N/A 

Summary of Request:  At the July 13th Council meeting, staff was directed to research costs for 
conducting studies to update the water and wastewater rates. Staff requested a proposal from Bartle Wells 
Associates, who have conducted several previous rate studies for the City, involving both Water and 
Wastewater. 

The most recent rates studies were prepared by Bartle Wells Associates, Water Rate Study in 2008 and 
Wastewater Rate Study in 2006. The contract assures that the City rates are based on the cost of providing 
services, are fair and equitable to all customers, are compatible with the City’s billing system and comply 
with the requirements of Proposition 218. 

The contract also includes an evaluation of alternatives for implementing a low-income discount program 
for water and/or wastewater customers. 

Recommended Action: Award a contract to Bartle Wells Associates for an amount not to exceed $45,300 
to conduct rate studies and capacity fee study for water and wastewater. 

Alternative(s):  None recommended. 

Fiscal Impact: $22,650 to the Wastewater Enterprise and $22,650 to the Water Enterprise and moderate 
staff time. 

Reviewed by:     City Manager    City Attorney    Finance Director    Human Resources    Risk 

Council Action:    Approved    Denied    Other: ________________________________________ 

Records:  Agreement    Resolution #_________    Ordinance #_________    Other _________ 

 



 
 
August 18, 2016 
 
Andrea Trincado, City of Willits 
111 East Commercial Street 
Willits, CA 95490 
 
Subject:  Proposal to Update the City of Willits’ Water and Wastewater Rates and Capacity Fees 
 
Dear Andrea, 
 
Bartle Wells Associates (BWA) is pleased to submit this proposal to update the water and 
wastewater rate and capacity fee studies for the City of Willits.  BWA has extensive experience 
working with Willits and is familiar with the City’s unique needs and resources.  The updated 
studies will include the following elements: 

 
• Develop long-range financial plans for the City’s water and wastewater enterprise funds 

that will project both operating and capital revenues and expenses over 5-year and 10-
year horizons. 

• Review financing alternatives for the capital improvements including: pay-as-you-go 
from user charges, capital surcharges, reserves, developer contributions, capacity fees, 
revenue bonds, State Revolving Fund (SRF) loans, USDA grants and loans, funding from 
community facilities district special taxes, and other sources. 

• Evaluate different funding/project scenarios identified by the City, such as various levels 
of capital improvement funding or varied project timing. 

• Review fund balances and fund reserve targets and develop a plan for achieving and 
maintaining an adequate level fund reserves.  

• Evaluate the existing water and wastewater rate structures, and if needed, consider rate 
structure alternatives and make recommendations that best meet the City’s objectives. 

• Identify revenue increases needed over the next 5 years to fund operating and capital 
needs. 

• Recommend a schedule of water and wastewater rates and charges to the City Council 
and assist the City in preparing the Proposition 218 notice for mailing to property owners. 

• Phase in any water and wastewater rate adjustments over time, to the extent possible, to 
minimize the impact on customers. 

• Ensure rates a) are based on the cost of providing service, b) are fair and equitable to all 
customers, c) are compatible with the City’s billing system, and d) comply with the 
requirements of Proposition 218. 



• Optional Task - review and update the City’s water and wastewater capacity fees to 
ensure the fees recover the cost of infrastructure needed to serve new development and 
comply with AB1600. 

• Evaluate alternatives for implementing a low-income discount program for water and/or 
wastewater customers. 

 
We specialize in water and wastewater rates and finance and have developed over 2,500 utility 
rate studies and long-range financing plans for more than 500 California water and wastewater 
agencies.  Our experience with all manner of rate structures is without peer and we have 
provided expert, independent rate analysis throughout California for over 50 years.  We have a 
well-earned reputation for providing our clients with straightforward, practical advice and have a 
strong track record of building consensus for our final recommendations.  All of our lead 
consultants are Certified Independent Public Finance Advisors. 
 
We appreciate the opportunity to assist the City and hope this proposal provides a sound basis for 
our selection.  Please don’t hesitate to contact us if you have any questions or would like any 
additional information. 
 
 
Sincerely, 
 
BARTLE WELLS ASSOCIATES 
 

 
 
Douglas R. Dove, PE, CIPFA 
Principal              
 



 

 
Bartle Wells Associates            1 City of Willits 
 

PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 
 

 Rate & Fee Studies 
 Financial Plans 
 Project Financing 

 

 
Bartle Wells Associates is an independent financial advisor to public agencies with expertise in 
utility rate and fee studies.  Our firm was established in 1964 and is owned and managed by its 
principal consultants.  We have over 50 years of experience advising local governments on the 
complexities and challenges in public finance.  We have advised over 500 public agency clients in 
the western United States and completed over 2,500 assignments.  We have a diversity of abilities 
and experience to evaluate all types of financial issues faced by local governments and to recommend 
the best and most-practical solutions. 
 
Bartle Wells Associates has a stable, well-qualified professional team.  Our education and 
backgrounds include finance, civil engineering, business, public administration, public policy, and 
economics.  The firm is owned and managed by its principal consultants who have been  
with the firm for many years.   
 
BWA specializes in three professional services: utility rate and 
fee studies, financial plans, and project financing.  We are the 
only independent financial advisor providing all three services to 
public agencies. 
 
RATE AND FEE STUDIES   Our rate studies employ a cost-of-service approach and are 
designed to maintain the long-term financial health of a utility enterprise while being fair to all 
customers.  We develop practical recommendations that are easy to implement and often phase in rate 
adjustments over time to minimize the impact on ratepayers.  We also have extensive experience 
developing impact fees that equitably recover the costs of infrastructure required to serve new 
development.  BWA has completed hundreds of water and wastewater rate and fee studies.  We have 
helped communities implement a wide range of water and sewer rate structures and are 
knowledgeable about the legal requirements governing rates and impact fees including Proposition 
218 and Government Code 66000.  We develop clear, effective presentations and have represented 
public agencies at hundreds of public hearings to build consensus for our recommendations.   
 

FINANCIAL PLANS   Our financial plans provide 
agencies with a flexible roadmap for funding long-term 
operating and capital needs.  We evaluate the wide range 
of financing options available, develop a plan that 
recommends the best financing approach, and clearly 
identify the sources of revenue for funding projects and 
repaying any debt.  We also help agencies develop prudent 
financial policies, such as fund reserve targets, to support 
sound financial management.  BWA has developed over 
2,000 water and wastewater enterprise financial plans to 
help public agencies fund their operating and capital 
programs and maintain long-term financial health

Our offices are located in Berkeley, in a circa 1900 
Victorian Building. 

FIRM OVERVIEW 



 

 
Bartle Wells Associates            2 City of Willits 

PROJECT FINANCING  
Our project financing experience includes over 300 bond sales and numerous bank loans, lines of 
credit, and various state and federal grant and loan programs.  We generally recommend issuing debt 
via a competitive sale process to achieve the lowest cost financing possible.  To date, we have helped 
California agencies obtain over $350 million in SRF loans and $4 billion of bond financing.  We 
work only for public agencies; we are independent financial advisors and do not buy, trade, or resell 
bonds.  Our work is concentrated on providing independent advice that enables our clients to finance 
their projects on the most favorable terms—lowest interest rates, smallest issue size, and greatest 
flexibility. 
 
Bartle Wells Associates is a charter member of the National Association of Independent Public 
Finance Advisors (NAIPFA), which establishes strict criteria for independent advisory firms.  Bartle 
Wells Associates is committed to providing value and the best advice to our clients. Our strength is 
quality—the quality of advice, service, and work we do for all our clients. 
 
Business Contact Information 
Bartle Wells Associates 
1889 Alcatraz Ave., Berkeley, CA  94703 
Telephone: 510.653.3399 
Fax: 510.653.3769 
Website: www.bartlewells.com 
 
Staff to be Assigned to Project 
Principal 
Doug Dove, CIPFA 
Tel:  510.653.3399, ext. 110 
E-mail:  ddove@bartlewells.com 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Bartle Wells Associates was established in 1964 and is a California Corporation and certified State of 
California Small Business.  The Federal ID number is 94-1664409.  BWA is also a certified Small, Local, 
Emerging Business by Alameda County; certification number 03-90344. 
 
 

FIRM OVERVIEW 



 

 
Bartle Wells Associates            3 City of Willits 

Over the past five years, Bartle Wells Associates has conducted over 200 utility rate and fee studies 
including development of numerous water and wastewater rate studies, long-term water and 
wastewater enterprise financial plans, water and wastewater capacity fee studies, and cost-of-service 
updates of miscellaneous fees and charges.  We have extensive, directly-applicable experience 
developing similar studies for a wide range of California cities, counties, special districts, and joint 
powers authorities. 
 
BWA was established in 1964 and has been a leader in providing utility rate consulting services to 
California agencies for over 50 years.  Although we consider ourselves a small business with seven 
employees, we are one of the largest utility rate consulting firms in California since we specialize 
exclusively in utility rates and finance.  All of our staff members are knowledgeable about utility 
rates, fees, and finances.  
 

Bartle Wells Associates Staffing Years 
With 
BWA 

Years of 
Professional 
Experience Name Title Academic Background 

Douglas R. Dove President and Principal Consultant Civil Engineering 26 29 

Alex Handlers Principal Consultant Public Administration 16 22 
Alison Lechowicz Vice President Public Administration 6 9 
Fletcher Davis Senior Consultant Business Administration 1 9 
Michael DeGroot Financial Analyst III Business Administration 3 3 
Paul Flaherty Financial Analyst I Finance and Economics 1 1 
Chrissie Love Office Administrator Geography, Management 1 26 

 



 

 
Bartle Wells Associates            4 City of Willits 

 

 
The following section includes descriptions of some recent assignments.  References are listed for 
each agency. 
 
East Bay Municipal Utilities District (EBMUD) 
Bartle Wells Associates has worked with EBMUD on a number of occasions over the last five years.   
 
In 2009, BWA assisted the District in developing a detailed cost-of service water rate study using the 
base-extra capacity method for allocating costs.  Recommended by the American Water Works 
Association (AWWA), this method examines each operating, maintenance, and capital expense for 
all the water system facilities and assigns it to the base (operations and capital to provide service to 
the average demand), extra capacity (to provide service to the peak demand), customer costs, and 
equivalent meter.  The demand characteristics of each customer class are broken down to the base-
extra capacity components.  The results of this study were used to adjust EBMUD’s current FY2009 
rate structure to match the cost of service assigned to each customer class and increased residential 
rates by 7.5% while eliminating the drought surcharge.   
 
In 2011, we assisted the District in evaluating the water capacity fee impacts for a large Oakland-
based institutional customer that wanted to move its operations to a new location within the District. 
In 2013 we updated the District’s wastewater capacity fee (WCF) to accommodate for lower District 
flows.  This also included a performance audit of how the fee is implemented and collected.  The 
District adopted the lower fee and the performance recommendations.   
 
Contact: Richard Lou, Principal Management Analyst: ........................................ 510.287.0399 
 E-mail: ............................................................................................... rlou@ebmud.com 
 
City of Hughson 
BWA has supported the City of Hughson on a number of engagements.  Beginning in 2005, 
BWA successfully completed water and wastewater rate studies.  BWA worked closely with City 
staff and an oversight committee consisting of a Council member and the Mayor.  Both the water 
and wastewater funds were operating in deficit.  BWA developed a comprehensive financing 
plan and recommended multi-year, phased-in rate increases to minimize the impacts on 
ratepayers.  BWA presented the study findings to City Council and the public hearing, and 
prepared the Prop 218 mailers in English and Spanish.  The water and wastewater rates were 
approved by the City Council in October 2005.   
 
In 2008, BWA completed a financing plan and rate analysis for the upgrade of the wastewater 
treatment plant.  The prior plant was at capacity and provided substandard treatment.  After 
completing the planning and design, the City accepted bids in September of 2009 to construct a 
$16 million expansion to the plant.  BWA secured low interest financing through the State 
Revolving Fund and the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 1%, and guided the City 
through adoption of the rates to support the loan.   
 
In 2009, BWA also completed a metered water rate study.  The City had to that point billed only 
a fixed monthly charge for water service.  The City embarked on a metering program some years 
ago and at the time of our study about 1/3 of water connections were metered.  With very little 

PAST EXPERIENCE AND REFERENCES 



 

 
Bartle Wells Associates            5 City of Willits 

water use data, BWA was tasked with developing a water rate structure that allowed the City to 
transition into charging metered water rates while minimizing the risk for large revenue 
fluctuations.  BWA recommended phasing in the metered water rate in five increments, to slowly 
adjust the balance of revenues collected by the water utility towards more variable revenue.    
 
2013 CDPH Small Community Water System Grant and Loan Application Assistance:  
June of 2013, Bartle Wells Associates conducted work for the City of Hughson to assist the City 
in applying for a Small Community Water System Grant and State Revolving Fund Loan through 
the California Department of Public Health. BWA developed a five-year budget projection for 
the City’s application to determine the affordability of Hughson’s proposed $6 million water 
project. Working closely with CDPH program administrators, BWA determined that the City 
may meet income criteria and receive disadvantaged community status. As a disadvantaged 
community, the City qualifies for grants and 0% interest on a State Revolving Fund (SRF) loan.   
 
2015 Water Rate Study:  BWA assisted the City in updating its water rates to cover the cost of 
the SRF loan for the new wells and wellhead treatment projects.  The new rates were adopted by 
Council in August. 
 
Contact: Raul Mendez, City Manager ............................................... 209/883-4054 
 Email .................................................................... rmendez@hughson.org  
 
City of Davis 
For over a year, BWA worked closely with City staff and a 15-member Water Advisory 
Committee (WAC) to review water rate structure alternatives, evaluate various financing 
scenarios, and develop a gradually phased-in set of rate increases to support a surface water 
project.  The WAC recommended implementing a new rate structure called the consumption-
based fixed rate (CBFR) to recover a portion of the fixed costs based on each customer’s actual 
consumption.  Instead of using meter size as the basis for recovering all of the water system’s 
fixed costs, CBFR is structured so that each ratepayer’s proportional share of the fixed costs 
related to water supply and treatment is based on their actual water usage from the previous 
summer months when consumption is typically at its peak.  The 2012 water rate study 
recommended rate increases through 2017/18 to assist the City in obtaining State loans and 
grants as well as other debt financing alternatives.  
 
The approved water rate structure and increases were subjected to a legal challenge posed by 
opponents of the surface water project. In January, 2014, the Yolo County Superior Court ruled 
in favor of the City and found that the water rates do comply with the requirements of the CA 
Constitution (Proposition 218). In June 2014, the citizens of Davis repealed the March 2013 rates 
through a ballot Initiative.  Accordingly, BWA worked with the newly formed Utilities Rate 
Advisory Committee (URAC) to update the projections used in the 2012 study and to develop a 
new water rate structure.  The City Council ultimately decided on a rate structure based on an 87 
percent variable and 13 percent fixed revenue recovery allocation with a uniform block volume 
rate by customer class.  The 2014 update also included a drought surcharge based on the City’s 
Water Shortage Contingency Plan. Bartle Wells is currently working with the City and the 
URAC to update the water system’s capacity fee. 
 
Contact: Bob Clarke, Public Work Director/City Engineer ........... (530) 757-5686 
 Email .................................................................. bclarke@cityofdavis.org 



 

 
Bartle Wells Associates            6 City of Willits 

 
Bartle Wells Associates’ (BWA) general project approach is to work closely with staff and other 
members of the project team, identify objectives, set milestones, have frequent communication, and 
remain flexible to resolve unanticipated issues.  BWA has a long track record of completing 
assignments on-schedule and on-budget. 
 
BWA uses a team approach for all projects, typically assigning two or three consultants to each 
assignment, including at least one principal consultant.  All project staff, from the most senior 
partners to financial analysts are available to assist clients at all times, whether for a phone call or 
meeting.  
 
BWA proposes to assign Doug Dove, president of the firm, as project manager and principal-in-
charge for this engagement.  Doug will be assisted by Paul Flaherty, financial analyst.  Doug’s 
resume is attached.  BWA has extensive experience working with Willits and is familiar with the 
City’s unique needs and resources.  Other BWA staff are available to assist the project team if ever 
needed. 
 

TEAM APPROACH AND QUALIFICATIONS 



 

 
Bartle Wells Associates            7 City of Willits 

DOUGLAS R. DOVE, CIPFA, PE  
Douglas R. Dove is President of Bartle Wells Associates and a principal consultant with over 25 years of 
infrastructure finance experience. He specializes in strategic financial planning, bond marketing, utility rate setting, 
and development impact fees.  Since joining BWA in 1990, he has worked for a wide variety of public agencies and 
developed financing plans to support over 100 public works capital programs. 
 
Mr. Dove assists public agencies in evaluating financing alternatives for capital projects, conducting utility rate and 
development impact fee studies, and in securing project financing including state and federal grants and loans and 
bonds.  He has extensive experience developing rates and charges for water, wastewater, reclaimed water, and 
stormwater enterprises. He has substantial experience representing public agencies as an independent financial 
advisor on the issuance of debt.  He recently finished his term on the board of directors of the National Association 
of Independent Public Finance Advisors. 
 

Recent Assignments 
 El Dorado Irrigation District:  Strategic financial plan for a five-year capital improvement program totaling 

over $280 million.  Developed water, wastewater, and recycled water rates. 
 East Bay Municipal Utility District:  Water system rate study and connection fee review.  Wastewater cost 

allocation study and review of capacity fee, financial evaluation of District’s Resource Recovery Program.  
Review of Wet Weather Facilities Charges collected on county property tax bills. 

 City of Hughson:  Review and update of development impact fees; public workshops with  
 City Council; metered water rate study; WWTP financing plan, and rate study.   
 City of Patterson:  Developed 5-yr water and wastewater financing plan and rate study to fund operating and 

capital needs.  Assisted staff and City Council in reviewing infrastructure funding alternatives. 
 City of Milpitas:  Water, wastewater, stormwater and recycled water financial master plan and rate reviews 
 Union Sanitary District:  Wastewater rates, and long-range financing plan study. 
 City of Ukiah:  Water and wastewater financing plans and rates, $14 million water bond financing and $70 

million wastewater bond financing. 
 City of Davis:  Water and wastewater financial plans and rate studies  
 Association of Bay Area Governments:  Financial advisor for California’s first competitively-sold, pooled 

revenue bond financing program for water and wastewater agencies. 
 South Bay (San Jose Area) Water Recycling Program, Phases 1 & 2:  Financial plan and rate study for 

$200+ million regional wastewater recycling program. 
 California Statewide Communities Development Authority:  Financial advisor for statewide pooled 

revenue bond program (over $170 million issued for over 28 borrowers). 
 Lake Arrowhead Community Services District:  Financial master plan, revenue bond refinancing and 

water and wastewater rate studies. 
 City of Roseville:  Regional wastewater financing plan and connection charge study for over $200 million of 

planned capital improvements. 
 City of Calistoga:  Long range utility financial plan, water and wastewater rates, $6 million SRF loan, $3.5 

million revenue bonds. 
 City of Pacifica:  Revenue program and financing plan for a $53 million wastewater project, assistance with 

procurement of SRF loans and sale of revenue bonds. 
 
Memberships 
 National Association of Independent Public Finance Advisors  
 League of California Cities 
 Association of California Water Agencies 
 California Water Environment Association 
 California Association of Sanitation Agencies 

 
Education 
M.S., Civil Engineering, University of California, Berkeley 

 
Certifications 
Certified Independent Public Finance Advisor (CIPFA), and registered Professional Engineer (PE) in California 
 



 

 
Bartle Wells Associates            8 City of Willits 

 
This section presents a draft scope of services.  A final scope can be developed with input from the 
City to ensure the assignment meets the City’s objectives and scheduling needs.  BWA's general 
project approach is to work closely with staff and other members of the project team, identify objectives, 
communicate frequently, and remain flexible to resolve new issues. 
 
1. Project Team Orientation/Kickoff Meeting 

To initiate our work, hold a meeting with City staff and others as appropriate, to accomplish the 
following: 
 Identify members of City staff and any other consultants and advisors who will participate 

in the project. 
 Determine the roles and responsibilities of all project participants. 
 Discuss key issues related to the study. 
 Establish project schedule and key milestone dates. 
 Confirm the key goals and expectations of the project team. 

 
2. Investigation and Data Collection  

Assemble the information necessary to understand the City’s water and wastewater enterprise 
finances and long-term operating and capital funding needs.   Assistance and cooperation of the 
City staff will be needed to assemble the background information.  Investigation will include, but is 
not limited to, the following areas: 
 Current water and wastewater enterprise budgets 
 Most recent audited financial statement 
 Water and wastewater enterprise operating and capital fund balances 
 Historical financial information in budget format 
 Most recent Capital Improvement Program (CIP) 
 Current water and wastewater rates and connection fees 
 Water use by customer class 
 Projections of any changes to future operating costs 
 Other relevant information identified by City staff. 

 
3. Develop Forecasts & Projections  

Based on the data assembled from the City and other sources, prepare forecasts and projections 
to serve as the basis for the financing plan.  Review projections with City staff for agreements 
on assumptions, interpretation of data, and completeness of approach.  We recommend using 
assumptions that are reasonable and slightly conservative for financial planning purposes.  Key 
assumptions may include: 
 Operating and maintenance costs escalation 
 Capital improvement costs and timing, including estimated construction cost inflation 
 Growth rates and impacts of projected development, if applicable 
 Revenues from future rates, connection fees, interest earnings, and other sources 
 Anticipated changes in operating costs 
 Infrastructure replacement needs and/or an annual placeholder estimate to account for 

future repairs & replacements 
 Debt service and debt service coverage projections 

 
 

SCOPE OF SERVICES 



 

 
Bartle Wells Associates            9 City of Willits 

4. Evaluate Financing Alternatives for Capital Projects 
Identify and evaluate financing alternatives for funding the City’s long-term capital improvement 
needs, including future repairs and replacements.  Recommend the most appropriate and lowest-
cost financing options.  If debt is required, discuss options with City and develop debt service 
projections to incorporate in the cash flow projections.  Basic financing alternatives may include, 
but are not limited to: 
 Pay-as-you-go cash financing 
 Revenue Bonds or Certificates of Participation (COPs) 
 Bank Loans and Lines of Credit 
 State Revolving Fund Loans 
 USDA and other potential state & federal funding programs 
 Other funding sources 

 

5. Develop Cash Flow Projections 
Develop water and wastewater enterprise cash flow projections detailing projected fund balances, 
revenues, expenditures, debt service and debt service coverage.  Key assumptions will be clearly 
identified.  The cash flow projections will identify the annual revenue requirements from the City’s 
water and wastewater rates.  After developing a base-case financial model, the projections can be 
used to evaluate various “what-if” scenarios such as alternative capital program costs or timing, 
alternative growth scenarios, and other financial alternatives.   

 
6. Recommend Minimum Fund Reserve Target 

Review the City’s water and wastewater enterprise fund balances.  Based on evaluation of water 
and wastewater enterprise finances and input from the City’s project team, recommend a minimum 
fund reserve target for both enterprise funds.  Discuss options with the City’s project team.  
Incorporate the fund reserve target into the cash flow projections and develop a plan for the City to 
achieve and maintain the target. 

 
7. Rate Design  

Legal review the City’s existing utility rate structure and discuss advantages and disadvantages 
compared to other rate approaches.  Summarize and discuss finding with the City’s project 
team.  Review the City’s existing rate model and most recent rate update. Evaluate the cost 
allocation and rate design included in the model for compatibility with BWA 
recommendations. Allocate costs to billing parameters. 
 

8. Conduct Regional Rate Survey 
Conduct a survey of regional water and wastewater rates for single family residential customers 
and/or other customer classes.  Present findings in a graph.  Rate surveys should be used for 
informational purposes only; every agency needs to fund its own costs of service, which can vary 
widely from agency to agency based on many factors. 
 

9. Develop Preliminary & Final Rate Recommendations  
Based on the cash flow projections and evaluation of the rate increase options, develop draft 
recommendations for future water and wastewater rates.  Our analysis may develop a few rate 
adjustment alternatives based on input from the City’s project team.  We will evaluate the 
potential of phasing in necessary rate adjustments as gradually as possible, in order to minimize 
the annual impact on ratepayers.   
 
In addition to the basic water and wastewater financing plan and rate study tasks outlined 
above, BWA will also provide the following tasks: 



 

 
Bartle Wells Associates            10 City of Willits 

 
 Review/Update Water and Wastewater Capacity Fees (Optional Task) 

Review the City’s current water and wastewater capacity fees.  Update the fees based on 
current capital cost estimates to ensure that new development is adequately funding the 
costs of infrastructure providing benefit to new connections to the City’s water and 
wastewater system.  
 

 Evaluate a Low-Income Rate Option  
Under Prop 218 one customer class may not subsidize the rates of another customer class.  
However, there are still several ways in which low-income rates can be established that do 
not impact the rates of other ratepayers.  BWA will work with the City to determine the 
best options and evaluate the feasibility of establishing a low-income rate option. 

 
10. Meetings and Presentations 

Meet with the City’s project team to present findings, discuss options, and most importantly to 
receive input as the project proceeds.  Develop a PowerPoint presentation summarizing our key 
findings and recommendations.  Present recommendations and key alternatives to the appropriate 
City staff, and the City Council.  BWA will remain available to meet with key customer groups if 
requested and will plan on holding a workshop with City Council to review and explain the final 
draft report in detail.  

 
11. Prepare Draft & Final Reports 

Submit a draft report to the City that summarizes and clearly explains key findings and rate 
recommendations, as well as key alternatives evaluated.  Based on input received from the City’s 
project team and/or the City Council, develop final recommendations.  Work with City staff to 
develop a plan for implementing the recommendations.  The final report will incorporate 
feedback received from the project team and/or the City Council.  We will present the City with 
final printed reports as well as an electronic version of the report in pdf format. 

 
12. Public Education and Consensus-Building 

Rate and fee adjustments are often controversial.  BWA has extensive experience developing 
clear presentations that facilitate public understanding of the rationale for rate adjustments.  We 
understand the importance of building consensus and public acceptance for our 
recommendations and can assist the City in any outreach efforts, as requested  

 
 
 

  



 

 
Bartle Wells Associates            11 City of Willits 
 

 
The following timeline is an estimate of the project schedule.   This timeline can be adjusted to 
meet the City’s needs, as necessary.   
 
 
Proposed Project Schedule

 PROJECT TASK

TASK A. Project Initiation & Data Collection 1

TASK B. Financial Plan O

TASK C. Cost Allocation 2

TASK D. Rate Design

TASK E. Outreach & Adoption D F 3 4

D - Draft Report; F - Final Report

Proposed meetings numbered -

1 - Kickoff meeting: introduce project team, review goals and objectives, review data collection

2 - Progress Meeting : progress meeting with staff

3 -Presentation to City Council: rate presentation and initiate Proposition 218

O - Meeting for Optional/Additional Task(Connection Fee) 

4 - Final Rate Presentation and Proposition 218 Hearing: public hearing for the adoption of rates (minimum 45 days after 
mailing public hearing notices)

APR

Proposition 218

FEBNOVSEPT OCT DEC JAN MAR

 
 

PROJECT TIMELINE AND PROPOSED SCHEDULE 



 

 
Bartle Wells Associates            12 City of Willits 
 

 

 
The following is the estimated cost required to complete the study as outlined in the Scope of 
Services.  A final budget can be developed with input from the City to ensure the project cost is 
in line with the City’s objectives and expectations. 
 
 
 

D. Dove P. Flaherty

@ $245/hr @105/hr
TASK A. Project Initiation & Data Collection 35 10 25 $5,075
TASK B. Financial Plan 50 10 40 $6,650
TASK C. Cost Allocation 55 15 40 $7,875
TASK D. Rate Design 70 10 60 $8,750
TASK E. Presentation & Reports 70 15 55 $9,450

TOTAL ESTIMATED HOURS 280 60 220 $37,800
Estimated Direct Expenses (travel, printing, etc) $500
TOTAL PROJECT COST WITHOUT OPTIONAL TASK $38,300

D. Dove P. Flaherty
@ $245/hr @105/hr

Optional Task (Connection Fee Study) $7,000

TASK
Estimated 

Hours
Total             
Cost

TASK
Estimated 

Hours
Total             
Cost

 

PROJECT BUDGET ESTIMATE 



 

 
Bartle Wells Associates            13 City of Willits 
 

 
1. Bartle Wells Associates is prepared to begin work upon authorization to proceed.   

2. Bartle Wells Associates will perform all work.  Douglas R. Dove, principal consultant and 
firm’s president, will be placed in charge of the study and will devote the time and effort to 
the project as needed.   

3. BWA will be compensated for the proposed services on a time and expenses basis as shown 
on our Billing Rate Schedule 2016.  The not-to-exceed fee for this proposal is: 
 Water and Wastewater Rate Studies   $38,300  

(including direct expenses)  
 Additional task (Capacity Fees)  $7,000  

 

4. The fee is based on the following assumptions: 

a. Availability of all necessary information, in a timely manner, from the City, its staff, 
attorneys, engineers, and other consultants. 

b. One draft submittal of the water rate study.  Time and expenses in revising tables and 
assumptions due to changes in data from the City, or in preparing additional draft reports, 
constitute additional services. 

c. Five meetings at the City including three meetings with City staff and two 
workshop/outreach/public hearing meetings with City Council. If the optional capacity 
fee task is approved, a sixth meeting will be included in the scope (can be a staff meeting 
or Council session).  

d. Completion of the work within eight months of notice to proceed. 

5. BWA will bill the City as the work proceeds on a time-and-materials basis in accordance 
with our Billing Rate Schedule 2016. 

6. In addition to the services provided under this proposal, the City may authorize BWA to 
perform additional services for which the City will compensate BWA based on consultants' 
hourly rates (Billing Rate Schedule 2016) at the time the work is performed, plus direct 
expenses.  Additional services may include, but are not limited to: 

• Attendance at additional meetings or presentations 

• Changes in project scope 

• Any other services not specified 

7. BWA will maintain in force, during the full term of the assignment, insurance in the amounts 
and coverage as provided in the attached Insurance Schedule. 

8. If the project is terminated for any reason, BWA is to be reimbursed for professional services 
and direct expenses incurred up to the time BWA receives notification of such termination. 

9. This proposal may be withdrawn or amended if not accepted within 90 days of its date. 

10. We would very much like to work for the City on this assignment and hope that this proposal 
will constitute a suitable basis for our serving you.

AVAILABLITY & FEES 



 

 
Bartle Wells Associates            14 City of Willits 
 

 
 
 
 

Billing Rate Schedule 2016 
BARTLE WELLS ASSOCIATES 
Rates Effective 1/1/2016 
Professional Services 
Financial Analyst I .................................................................................... $105 per hour 
Financial Analyst II................................................................................... $125 per hour 
Financial Analyst III ................................................................................. $145 per hour 
Senior Financial Analyst ........................................................................... $175 per hour 
Senior Consultant  ..................................................................................... $205 per hour 
Principal Consultant .................................................................................. $245 per hour 
 
The professional time rates include all overhead and indirect costs.  Bartle Wells Associates does not 
charge for administrative support services and internal computer time.  Expert witness, legal 
testimony, or other special limited assignment will be billed at one and one-half times the 
consultant’s hourly rate. The above rates will be in effect through December 31, 2016 at which 
time they will be subject to change. 
 

Direct Expenses 
Subconsultants will be billed at cost plus ten percent.  Word processing and computer-assisted 
services related to official statement production are charged as direct expenses at $60 per hour.  
Other reimbursable direct expenses incurred on behalf of the agency will be billed at cost plus 
ten percent.  These reimbursable costs include, but are not limited to: 
  Travel, meals, lodging   Automobile mileage 
  Long distance telephone and fax   Messenger services and mailing costs 
  Printing and report binding   Photocopying 
  Special statistical analysis   Graphic design and photography 
  Outside computer services   Special legal services 
  Bond ratings   Legal advertisements 

 

Insurance 
Bartle Wells Associates maintains insurance in the amounts and coverage as provided in the attached 
schedule of insurance.  Additional or special insurance, licensing, or permit requirements beyond 
what is shown on the schedule of insurance are billed in addition to the contract amount. 
 
Payment 
Fees will be billed monthly for the preceding month, and will be payable within 30 days of the 
date of the invoice.  A late charge of 1.0 percent per month may be applied to balances unpaid 
after 60 days.  
 
 
 
 



 

 
Bartle Wells Associates            15 City of Willits 
 

 
The following is a copy of our schedule of insurance.  BWA will maintain the following 
coverage during the full term of the assignment. 
 
SCHEDULE OF INSURANCE
Insured: BARTLE WELLS ASSOCIATES
Bartle Wells Associates will maintain in force, during the full term of the assignment, insurance in the amounts and coverage as provided in this schedule.
If additional insurance is required, and the insurer increases the premium as a result, then the amount of the increase will be added to the contract price .

TYPE OF INSURANCE COMPANY POLICY NUMBER EXP. DATE

Commercial General 
Liability

Hartford Insurance Company Policy 
#35-SBA PA6857
Hartford Insurance Company Policy 
#35-SBA PA6857

6/1/17

Excess/Umbrella Liability Hartford Insurance Company Policy 
#35-SBA PA6857

■ $1,000,000 Aggregate
■ $1,000,000 Each Occurrence

6/1/17

Automobile Liability Hartford Insurance Company 6/1/17

Policy #35-UEC VU2842

Workers Compensation
& Employers' Liability

Hartford Underwriters Insurance 
Company Policy #35-WEC 
FG7858

6/1/17

Professional Liability Chubb & Son, Inc. Solely in the performance of services as municipal financing
81714947 consultants for others for a fee.

Limit:  $2,000,000 Per Occurrence & Aggregate (including defense
Excess Professional ACE costs, charges, and expenses).

G27437606001 Excess Professional.  Limit: $3,000,000 Per Occ. & Aggregate

Workers' Compensation: Statutory Limits for the State of California. 
Employers' Liability:
■ Bodily Injury by Accident - $1,000,000 each accident
■ Bodily Injury by Disease - $1,000,000 each employee
■ Bodily Injury by Disease - $1,000,000 policy limit

6/1/17

COVERAGES AND LIMITS

■$2,000,000 General Aggregate
■ $2,000,000 Products Comp/Op Aggregate
■ $2,000,000 Personal & Advertising Injury
■ $1,000,000 Each Occurrence

■ $1,000,000 Combined Single Limit

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

INSURANCE SCHEDULE 











Item No. 8a 
Meeting Date: October 26, 2016 

 
 

AGENDA SUMMARY REPORT 
 

To:   Honorable Mayor and Council Members 

From:  Adrienne Moore, City Manager, and Scott Herman, Utilities Superintendent 

Agenda Title:  DISCUSSION AND POSSIBLE ACTION TO ADOPT RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE 
EXECUTION OF A SHARED SERVICES AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE CITY OF WILLITS AND 
BROOKTRAILS TOWNSHIP COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT FOR THE PROCUREMENT, USE, 
MAINTENANCE, AND STORAGE OF A ROVVER X CAMERA SYSTEM FOR THE PURPOSES OF 
DETECTING WASTEWATER INFLOW AND INFILTRATION (I&I)  

Type:  Presentation    Consent    Regular Agenda    Public Hearing    Urgent   Time: 10 min. 

Summary of Request:  The ROVVER X camera system is necessary to inspect smaller sewer laterals 
than what can currently be done with existing equipment. The City conducts these inspections in dry 
weather months and Brooktrails conducts inspections in wet weather months. Neither party has enough 
budgeted to purchase the equipment alone. Therefore, in an effort to improve services and provide mutual 
benefits in the performance of certain functions, it makes good sense to partner on this acquisition. 

City staff and Brooktrails Township Community Services District staff have mutually agreed that it is in the 
best interest of our respective ratepayers and taxpayers to enter into a shared services agreement for the 
purchase, use, maintenance and storage of a ROVVER X camera system to aid with our respective Inflow 
and Infiltration (“I&I”) programs. To that end, we have negotiated a shared services agreement (attached). 

Therefore, it is recommended that City Council authorize the City Manager to execute the Shared Services 
Agreement with Brooktrails Township Community Services District for certain shared services involving the 
purchase, use, maintenance, and storage of a ROVVER X camera system. 
 

Recommended Action:  Adopt resolution authorizing the City Manager to execute the Shared Services 
Agreement with Brooktrails Township Community Services District for certain shared services involving the 
purchase, use, maintenance, and storage of a ROVVER X camera system.  

 

Alternative(s):  Authorize the sole purchase of the requested equipment. 
 

Fiscal Impact:  $31,731.25 from Fund 501.5013.4002.000 Sewer Enterprise Fund – Fixed Assets.  

Personnel Impact:  Increased efficiency. 

Reviewed by:     City Manager    City Attorney    Finance Director    Human Resources    Risk 
 

Council Action:    Approved    Denied    Other: ________________________________________ 

Records:  Agreement    Resolution #_________    Ordinance #_________    Other _________ 

 



RESOLUTION NO. 2016-      
 
RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF WILLITS AUTHORIZING THE 
EXECUTION OF A SHARED SERVICES AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE CITY OF WILLITS 
AND BROOKTRAILS TOWNSHIP COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT FOR THE 
PROCUREMENT, USE, MAINTENANCE, AND STORAGE OF A ROVVER X CAMERA 
SYSTEM FOR THE PURPOSES OF DETECTING WASTEWATER INFLOW AND 
INFILTRATION (I&I) 
 
 

WHEREAS, the City of Willits (“City”) and Brooktrails Township Community Services 
District (“Township”)  have determined that it is in the best interest of their respective ratepayers 
and taxpayers to enter into a shared services agreement for the purchase, use, maintenance 
and storage of a ROVVER X camera system to aid with their respective Inflow and Infiltration 
(“I&I”) programs; and  

 
WHEREAS, the parties have negotiated a shared services agreement, a copy of which 

is attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City desires to enter into a shared services agreement for these 

services with the Township in an effort to improve services and provide mutual benefits in 
performing these functions. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the City Council of the City of Willits that 

the City Manager is authorized to execute the Shared Services Agreement with Brooktrails 
Township Community Services District for certain shared services involving the purchase, use, 
maintenance and storage of a ROVVER X camera system as set forth therein. 
 

The above and foregoing Resolution was introduced by Councilmember       
seconded by Councilmember      , and passed and adopted at a regular meeting of the City 
Council of the City of Willits, held on the 26th day of October, 2016, by the following vote: 

 
AYES:  
NOES:  
ABSENT:  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
____________________________ 

__________________________ 
BRUCE BURTON, Mayor 
City Council of the City of Willits 

CATHY MOORHEAD, City Clerk 



 

SHARED SERVICES AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE CITY OF WILLITS AND 
BROOKTRAILS TOWNSHIP COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT FOR THE 
PROCURMENT, USE, MAINTENANCE, AND STORAGE OF A ROVVER X CAMERA 
SYSTEM FOR THE PURPOSES OF DETECTING WASTEWATER INFLOW AND 
INFILTRATION (I&I)  
 
 
This agreement made this ___________ day of _________, 2016, by and between the City of 
Willits (“City”) and Brooktrails Township Community Services District (“Township”), local 
government corporations of the State of California, County of Mendocino, is as follows: 
 

WHEREAS, the parties have a mutual need for certain machinery and equipment 
described below for the purposes of detecting wastewater inflow and infiltration (I&I); and 
 

WHEREAS, the parties wish to provide for their mutual needs jointly through the 
acquisition, operation, and maintenance of such machinery and equipment. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of these premises and mutual covenants and 
other good and valuable considerations recited below, the parties agree as follows: 
 

1. Machinery and Equipment. The parties agree to the acquisition of, and to operate 
pursuant to this agreement, the following: 

 
ROVVER X System or equivalent, hereinafter referred to as “camera” 

 
2. Procurement and Ownership. The Township shall be and is hereby designated as 

the agent responsible for procuring the camera on behalf of the parties and shall 
receive as dedicated revenues for said purpose of one-half of the purchase price 
from the other party within a reasonable time prior to the award of bid/contract. Each 
party shall have an equal ownership interest in the above referenced equipment and 
machinery.  

 
3. Installation.  The camera shall at all times be accessible to the parties. During the 

dry season (May 1st through November 15th) the ‘camera’ shall be housed with the 
City of Willits at 300 N Lenore Street, Willits, California, 95490. During the ‘wet’ 
season (November 16th through April 30th) the ‘camera’ shall be housed with 
Brooktrails Township CSD at 24860 Birch Street, Willits, California, 95490. It is 
understood that should an emergency arise the camera may be used without penalty 
by the other party. 

 
4. Operation:  Operation of the ‘camera’ shall be limited to qualified personnel of the 

parties to be designated by name and title and subject to such supervision and 
scheduling as the parties shall agree in the manner herein after provided. 

 
5. Management Plan / Budget.  The parties shall confer and agree upon an operation 

budget and such other matters concerning the operation of the ‘camera’ as shall be 
foreseeable. At the inception of this agreement and from time-to-time each party 
shall designate one person to represent the party on a supervisory committee which 
shall have primary responsibility to oversee the management and operation of the 
camera within the limitations of the budget. All decisions shall be determined 



 

mutually by the parties or the committee members. Any issue arising at a committee 
meeting which cannot be resolved shall be referred to the executive the executive 
administration of the respective parties for resolution. Should the respective 
executive administration be unable to resolve the issue it may be referred to the 
governing bodies for resolution, if after a reasonable attempt to reach agreement by 
conferring with each other, the matter shall be subject to resolution by a form of 
alternative dispute resolution to be agreed upon by the parties. 

 
6. Costs:  Except as agreed to by the parties, consistent with the budget established 

for such purposes and in furtherance of the objectives of this agreement the 
Township shall be responsible for transacting all day-to-day business with regard to 
the operation and maintenance of the camera, such as procurement of parts and 
service. Each party shall bear one-half of the costs of operation and maintenance of 
the camera regardless of usage. Costs associated with repairs necessitated by 
neglect or misuse shall be incurred by the responsible party. Costs shall include but 
not be limited to insurance, service agreements, and other miscellaneous 
maintenance costs. The Township shall provide a quarterly statement to City as to 
the costs incurred (including costs incurred or advanced by any party) and shall be 
entitled to receive payment of the other party’s share within forty-five days of the 
report. The other party shall have the right to require information in addition to the 
report prior to approving payment. 

 
7. Supervision:  All matters concerning management, operation, maintenance, and 

funding shall be referred to the supervising committee to be composed of the 
designees of each of the parties. The committee shall determine its own rules of 
procedure and resolve in accordance therewith all questions concerning this 
agreement and the management of the joint property; provided, that the committee 
shall have no power to convey or otherwise dispose of the ‘camera’ or to incur any 
liability in excess of the budgetary limitations. Any such proposal shall be referred, 
instead, to the executive administration of the respective parties, each of which shall 
consider the issue and, after consultation, adopt the appropriate measures to resolve 
the issue. 

 
8. Indemnification:  Each party shall bear full responsibility for the conduct of its 

personnel in all aspects of the operation and management of the camera and shall 
defend, indemnify and hold harmless the other parties against claims arising 
therefrom. In any claim arising from a mechanical defect or malfunction of the 
machinery or its maintenance, no one party shall be deemed to be the host, owner or 
proprietor of the camera or the site upon which it is sited for the purposes of 
apportioning a greater percentage of liability or responsibility on said party, such as 
may arise on the theory of host, or premises liability. All parties agree to put their 
liability carriers on notice of this agreement and provide said carriers with a copy of 
the agreement. 

 
9. Sale/Disposal:  The camera may be sold or otherwise disposed of upon such terms 

as shall be agreed upon by the parties, in accordance with California law. Each party 
shall have the right to purchase the camera prior to its offer for sale to any third 
party. After payment of any costs relating to the sale of the camera, the proceeds of 
any sale shall be distributed equally between the parties. 

 



 

10. Term:  The term of this agreement shall be for the life of the camera or until a 
mutually agreed upon sale. 

 
 

The terms and conditions of this Shared Services Agreement are hereby agreed to this 
_____ day of _________________, 2016. 
 
 
 
CITY OF WILLITS BROOKTRAILS TOWNSHIP COMMUNITY 

SERVICES DISTRICT 
 
 
 
______________________________  ___________________________________ 
Adrienne Moore, City Manager   Denise Rose, General Manager 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM:    APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
 
______________________________  ___________________________________ 
H. James Lance, City Attorney   Christopher Neary, District Counsel 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 


	Agenda-Council
	10-26-16 3a-Main St Enhancement Plan  - AS
	10-26-16 3a-WMSCEP_PublicDraft - SD
	10-26-16 3b-Streets & Alleys -AS
	10-26-16 3b-WSACS_PUBLIC DRAFT - SD
	Acknowledgements
	Technical Advisory Group (TAG)
	Project Team

	1.  Introduction
	The Downtown Willits Streets and Alleys Connectivity Study has been prepared for the City of Willits to study and provide recommendations for improving connectivity throughout their downtown.
	NEED AND PURPOSE
	Goals

	2.  Existing Conditions
	RELEVANT Planning Efforts
	Willits Downtown Specific Plan and Circulation Element (2000)
	Willits Circulation and Parking Improvement Study (2002)
	Baechtel Road – Railroad Avenue Corridor Community Design Study (2003)
	City of Willits Bicycle and Pedestrian Specific Plan (2009)
	City of Willits Safe Routes to School Plan (2009)
	Willits Traffic Safety Evaluation (2010)
	Main Street Corridor Enhancement Plan (Forthcoming 2016)
	Pacific Gas & Electric (PG&E) Electric Undergrounding Program
	Mendocino County Rail-with-Trail Corridor Plan (2012)

	CONTEXT
	Commercial Street
	Van, Muir, and Schmidbauer Lanes
	Mendocino Avenue and Wood Street

	CIRCULATION ANALYSIS
	Vehicular Circulation
	Parking
	Transit Circulation
	Pedestrian Circulation
	Bicycle Circulation


	3.  Outreach
	Technical Advisory Group
	Technical Advisory Group Meeting #1
	Technical Advisory Group Meeting #2
	Technical Advisory Group Meeting #3
	Technical Advisory Group Meeting #4

	COMMUNITY WORKSHOPS
	Workshops
	Main Street Corridor Enhancement Plan Design Charrette
	Community Workshop #1:  June 16, 2016
	Community Workshop #2:  August 25, 2016



	4.  Project goals
	project goals
	PROJECT AREAS
	PRIORITY PROJECT AREAS

	5.  PROJECT DESIGN RECOMMENDATIONS
	PROJECT design concepts
	Commercial Street
	Main Street/Commercial Street intersection
	West Commercial Street
	East Commercial Street

	The Lanes: Van, Muir, and Schmidbauer
	West Van Lane and Muir Lane
	East Van Lane and Schmidbauer Lane

	Mendocino Avenue, Wood Street, and Wood Alley
	Overall Parking Modifications
	Wayfinding and Signage


	6.  Cost Estimates & Funding
	Order of Magnitude costs
	Potential Funding Opportunities
	State Funding Sources
	Transportation Development Act Article 3
	Active Transportation Program
	Transportation Alternatives Program
	Bicycle Transportation Account
	Safe Routes to School
	Sustainable Transportation Planning Grant Program – Sustainable Communities
	Office of Traffic Safety Grants
	Environmental Enhancement and Mitigation Program
	Urban and Community Forestry Grants

	Federal Funding Sources
	EPA Environmental Education Grants



	APPENDIX a Technical Memorandum: existing circulation assessment and improvement evaluation for main street and downtown willits
	by Fehr and Peers

	APPENDIX B COMMUNITY WORKSHOP ATTENDANCE ROSTERS
	APPENDIX C COST ESTIMATE TABLES

	10-26-16 3b-APPENDIX A_Willits Circulation Memo - SD
	Overview
	Existing Conditions
	Pre- and Post-Bypass Conditions
	Multimodal Safety
	Main Street (Relinquishment)
	Main Street (Caltrans)


	Opportunities and Constraints
	Main Street (Relinquishment Segment)
	Vehicle Circulation & Parking
	Transit Circulation
	Pedestrian Circulation
	Bicycle Circulation

	Downtown Streets and Alleys
	Vehicle Circulation & Parking
	Transit Circulation
	Pedestrian Circulation
	Bicycle Circulation

	Main Street (Caltrans Segment)
	Vehicle Circulation & Parking
	Transit Circulation
	Pedestrian Circulation
	Bicycle Circulation


	Improvement Evaluation
	Sherwood Road Intersection & Willits High School
	Downtown Willits
	Bicycle Lanes and Center Left Turn Lane
	Main Street/Commercial Street Intersection
	Mendocino Avenue and Wood Street One-Way Couplet
	Change in Parking Supply

	Valley Street Intersection & Post Office
	California Street to Oak Street
	Fort Bragg Road (State Route 20) Intersection
	Main Street Road Diet (Caltrans Segment)
	Baechtel Road (North) Intersection
	Brown’s Corner Roundabout
	Overview
	Main Street (Relinquishment)
	Downtown Streets and Alleys
	Main Street (Caltrans)


	10-26-16 3b-APPENDIX B_COMMUNITY WORKSHOPS - SD
	Sign-in_Sheet_2016-06-16
	Comment_Cards_2016-06-16
	Willits_Streets_Alleys_CommunityMtg_Summary
	APPENDIX B

	10-26-16 3b-APPENDIX C_ Conceptual Cost Estimate - SD
	10-26-16 4a-Minutes-Council - 10-12-16
	10-26-16 4b-Disbursements Journal 10-15-2016 Pre Issue
	Page 1

	10-26-16 4b-Disbursements Journal 10-15-2016
	Page 1
	Page 2
	Page 3
	Page 4
	Page 5
	Page 6

	10-26-16 4c-Award  Contract - Bartle  Wells _Sewer  Water Rate Study 2017 - AS
	10-26-16 4c-BWA Water-Wastewater Rate Study - SD
	Recent Assignments
	Billing Rate Schedule 2016


	10-26-16 5a-Water Usage-Revenue Chart
	10-26-16 8a-WWTP Camera -AS
	10-26-16 8a-WWTP Camera - R
	Resolution No. 2016-     

	10-26-16 8a-WWTP Camera - SD



